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Whoweare

Smurfit Kappa ('SKG)),
aFTSE 100 company, is one
of the leading providers of
paper-based packaging
solutionsin the world.

We operate across 36
countries with approximately
47,000 employeesin over
350 production sites with
revenue of €11.3 billion

iNn 2023.






@ Overview

Our strategic framework

our Purpose Deliveredvia
Our Strategy
At Smurfit Kappa we are proud S
Our objectiveis to develop long-term customer
to Create! prOteCt and care. relationships by providing customers with
innovative, sustainable packaging solutions
that enhance the customers’ prospects
our Vision of successintheir end markets.
To be a gIOba"y admired Our StrategicPriorities

business, dynamically and
sustainably delivering secure @ @ (E:;)
and superior returns for

Market Partner Operational

a" sta kehOIders. Position of Choice Excellence

2

Investment Capital
in People Allocation

Financial Highlights 2023

€11,272 €2,080 18.5

KN
3
B

-12%
2023 €11,272 2023 €2,080

2022 18.

‘]

2022 €12,815 2022 €2,355

Free Cash Flow* Basic Earnings per Share Pre-exceptional Basic Earnings per Share*
(€million) (cent) (cent)

€628 293.5 348.7

+15% -20% -21%
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Supported by
Sustainability Strategy

We are committed to being animpactful
business, supporting a greener, bluer planet.
This means doing the right thing for our people,
our communities and the environment,
through products and processes that make
areal difference for our customers and

across our entire value chain.

e See pages 58 to 95 for more information

Supported by
People Strategy

We want to be recognised as a globally admired
employer of choice. We believe our employees
are at the centre of everythingwe do.

e See pages 96 to 109 for more information

Underpinned by

Our Values

We have a strongand positive
culture based on our values of:
Safety

Loyalty

Integrity

Respect

These values foster the guiding
principles by which we operate:
Teamwork

Entrepreneurship

Inclusion, Diversity and Equality
Rewards and Recognition
Performance Driven Accountability

Net Debt to EBITDA* Profit before Income Tax Operating Profit before Exceptional Items*
(times) (€million) (€million)
1.4x €1,055 €1,403
4 4
-18% -16%

Net Debt* Return on Capital Employed*
(€million) (%)

59 * These financial Key Performance Indicators are
- 0

not defined under International Financial Reporting
Standards. Further informationinrelation to these
Alternative Performance Measures is included
inthe Supplementary Information section
onpages 226 to 231.

2023 €2,840 2023 17.1
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@ Overview

What wedo

A packaging leader
inagrowthindustry

We create innovative and sustainable
paper-based packaging solutions for
our customers, we protect productsin
transit and precious resources for future
generations while caring for each other,
the environment and the planet.

Forests

We own approximately 68k hectares

of forest globally, which are FSC® or PEFC
certified, promoting economic growth,
protection of biodiversity and ecosystems,
and fostering of social equity.

04 Smurfit Kappa Annual Report 2023

Paper

We manufacture a wide range of papers
mainly used for packaging purposes.

Our total global paper and board capacity
is approximately 8.4 million tonnes

per annum.
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Packaging

We design, manufacture and supply
paper-based packaging to package,
promote and protect our customers'
products. We manufacture corrugated
packaging and also produce solidboard,
folding carton and Bag-in-Box.

7
N

Recycling

We provide recycling solutions to ensure
our customers' corrugated packaging and
paper is recycled responsibly, efficiently
andreliably. Our recycling operations handle
some 7.7 million tonnes of recovered paper,
bringing valuable fibres back into the
paper-based packaging production loop.

Annual Report 2023 Smurfit Kappa
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@ Overview

Where we operate

Our global reach

We are one of the largest integrated manufacturers of paper-based
packaging solutions in the world. We are located in 22 countries

in Europe, 13 in the Americas and onein Africa. In Europe, we are
the leader by production volume in corrugated packaging and
containerboard andin Latin America, we are the only large-scale
pan-regional player.

Europe

06 Smurfit Kappa Annual Report 2023

Our operationsin Europe

We are the European leader in the production
of corrugated packaging, containerboard
and Bag-in-Box. The Europe segment
includes mills and plants that primarily
produce containerboard thatis converted
into corrugated containers. In addition,

we produce other types of paper, such as
solidboard, sack kraft paper, MG paper and
graphic paper; other paper-based packaging,
such as honeycomb, solidboard packaging and
folding cartons; and Bag-in-Box packaging.

o Read more onpages 23 to 24

2023 Gross Sales Volume
(milliontonnes)

iy

10.7
L

1. Kraftliner 1.6
2. Recycled containerboard 3.8
3. Otherpaperandboard 0.7
4. Corrugated 4.5
5. Other paper-based packaging 0.1
Revenue

(billion)

€8l5

2022:€9.9

2022 €9.9



. Overview Strategic Report Governance Financial Statements Supplementary Information

Our Scale and Geographic Diversity

Our large manufacturing footprint provides Converting plants Forestry plantations (hectares)
us with a clear point of differentiation because

the corrugated packaging marketis alocalised
market and therefore converting plants need k
to be close to customers (within 300 kms). Our

unique global footprint makes us well placed

toreliably deliver on customer requirements. Other production facilities Fibre sourcing Mills
The Americas Our Operations inthe Americas

The Group’s operations in the Americas
comprise of a system of mills and plants
that primarily produce containerboard
thatis converted into corrugated containers.
Our operations in the Americas also include
forestry; other types of paper, such as
boxboard and sack paper; and paper-based
packaging, such as folding cartons,
honeycomb and paper sacks.

0 Read more on page 24

2023 Gross Sales Volume
(milliontonnes)

\
3.3

B

1. Containerboard 1.4
2. Otherpaperandboard 0.2
3. Corrugated 1.5
4. Other paper-based packaging 0.2
Revenue

(billion)

€z | 8

2022:€2.9

Annual Report 2023 Smurfit Kappa 07
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Our sustainability commitments

Globally, citizens are asking tougher questions and asking for more
transparency, becoming a strong force in the drive for climate and
societal change inrecent years. The focus on how we treat our planet,
how we create amore inclusive world for everyone and support equality
across all communities has never been so high on people’s agendas.

Our Better Planet 2050 (‘BP2050°) Commitments and Progress

off

Category

Y

Climate Change

Target

Net zero

ourambitionis to have atleast net
zero emissions by 2050 witha 55%
reductionin fossil fuel emissions
intensity by 2030

Progressin2023*

43.7

reductionin CO, emissions
since 2005

Link to sustainability
strategy

Link to sustainable
development goals (‘SDGs’)

AFFORDABLE AND
CLEAN ENERGY

AL/
-

RESPONSIBLE 13 CLIMATE
CONSUMPTION ACTION
AND PRODUCTION

© Seepage 59 for more information

N

>95.,

packaging solutions sold as Chain
of Custody certified to customers
by 2025

95.5%

packaging solutions sold as Chain
of Custody certifiedin 2023

13 fonov 15 i

60~

reductionin Chemical Oxygen
Demand intensity by 2025

1

reduction of our water usage
intensity annually

35.7

reductionin Chemical Oxygen
Demand since 2005

1.8%

reduction of our water usage
in2023

CLEAN WATER
AND SANITATION

RESPONSIBLE
CONSUMPTION
AND PRODUCTION

g |cO

*  Formoredetails onourprogress, please see our Sustainable Development Report 2023 which will be available on our website in March 2024.

08 Smurfit Kappa AnnualReport2023
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[

K{01%

reductioninwaste to landfill
intensity by 2025

35.8+

reduction in waste to landfill
since 2013

Health & safety

atleast 5%

reductionin Total Recordable
Injury Rate annually

3.9%

increasein Total Recordable
Injury Ratein 2023

GOOD HEALTH
AND WELL-BEING

e

People

25

of management positions held
by women by 2024

25.1-

of management positions
heldby womenatend of2023

GENDER DEGENT WORK AND 10 REDUCED
EQUALITY ECONOMIC GROWTH INEQUALITIES

Flad | =

Key for Sustainability Strategic Priorities

® ® ©

Planet People Impactful
business

Find out more in our Sustainability
Development Report on our website

Communities

€24 miltion

willbe donated between
2020-2025 to support social,
environmental and community
initiatives

€25.6 million

donated since 2020

DECENT WORK AND 10 REDUCED
ECONOMIC GROWTH INEQUALITIES

-~

(=)

Annual Report 2023 Smurfit Kappa 09
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Our innovative solutions

Innovation unlocks value and drives growth for our customers.
Every day, we help our customers to develop, deliver and scale new
sustainable packaging solutions. Recognising the importance and
the challenges of innovation our approach is both market

and data-driven.

Combining our creativity, learnings taken from over 100,000
supply chains, and the power of new learning technologies
such as Al, we strive to take innovation to the next level.

Crisp, online supermarket
The Benelux

Fresh food delivered
to your doorstep

Crispis anonline supermarket
basedinthe Netherlands that
offers customers a convenient
way to order fresh groceries
every day.

10 Smurfit Kappa Annual Report 2023

As the company rapidly grew and became
more efficient, Crisp needed a new and better
packaging solution to enhance sustainability.
This involved a comprehensive approach
from packaging design, materials sourcing,
to automation, and combined ‘reduce’,
‘reuse’, and ‘recycle’ strategies.

The Challenge:

Crisp faced several challenges along the supply
chain as the internal processes had been
optimised. One of the challenges was to switch
to an automated packaging machine that
required new packaging to be developed.

The Approach:

Although the ‘Crisp delivery box' looked

the same at first sight, subtle and effective
innovations presented a more sustainable
solution by working together. The project team
came up with anew packaging design that
included improvements and efficiencies to suit
their operations and increased the strength of

the carry handles to withstand heavier weights.

More importantly, the new packaging helped
Crisp reduce its use of corrugated packaging
by 27%, using 82% lessink, anincreasein
recycled material by 7%, and achieving 23%
intransport savings and 161 tonnes reduction
in CO; emissions.

The Result:

We worked with Crisp to create a sustainable
packaging solution that suited the company’s
operational needs and represented the
essence of the Crisp brand. The company
also decided to have their food delivery staff
collect the cardboard lids so that they can

be used again.

Justin Koekenbier, Crisp Operational Manager,
shared his satisfaction with the result:

“The smallinnovations made by Smurfit Kappa
were what made the difference.”
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Elcor
Argentina

Eliminating plastic

and increasing sales

Elcor, adairy and food producer
in Argentina with a portfolio

of brands, approached us with
achallengerelated to their
spreadable cheese pots.

Ventolini
Colombia

Sustainable packaging:
the missing cherry
on the cake

Ventolini, arenowned brandin
Colombia, is rooted in the vision
of Giancarlo Ventolini, an Italian
who saw an opportunity to
blend Italian gastronomy with
the richness of Colombian fruits
to create auniqueice cream and
pastry experience.

Their existing packaging involved the use of
plastic trays to transport the cheese through
the production process, which then needed to
be packed and palletised before sending them
outtostore.

The Challenge:

Elcor faced difficulties in maintaining the optimal
temperature for their cheese pots. Thereliance
on plastic trays not only raised environmental
concerns but also hindered the cooling process,
impacting overall production efficiency.

Since 1960 Ventolini's brand has flourished,
diversifyingits portfolio and delighting customers.

The Challenge:

As Ventolini's brand expanded, so did the

need to add anew ingredient: sustainability.
Acknowledging the environmentalimpact of its
operations, Ventolini took the important step
of eliminating single-use packaging, partnering
with Smurfit Kappa to revolutionise their

cake packaging.

The Approach:

Smurfit Kappa rose to the challenge of
developinginnovative primary and secondary
packaging solutions. A folding cardboard for
cakes eliminated single-use materials,
optimised storage, and enhanced brand visibility
through customisation. The secondary packaging,
acustomised cardboard solution, streamlined
logistics by eliminating empty spaces and
facilitating labelling.

The Result:

The results were significant. Ventolini achieved
logistics savings of US$170,000 per year,
doubling warehouse storage capacity,

and increasing cake shipments by 106% for
thelarge cakes, and 71% for the small cakes.
This sustainable shift also led to an 84 tonnes
reductionin plastic usage and a significant
reduction of 47 tonnesin CO, emissions annually.

The Approach:

Working closely with Elcor, Smurfit Kappa
developed a corrugated self-assembling
pyramid-based tray. It was designed with
sloping walls that generate air channels to
improve convection inside to help cool the
products quickly and effectively.

The Result:

The outcome was a 100% recyclable and
sustainable packaging solution. By replacing
plastic trays with our corrugated pyramid-based
tray, Elcor achieved significant reductions

in operating and cooling times. Furthermore,
the environmentally friendly approach allowed
them to eliminate the use of plastic cratesin
their production process.

The successful implementation of the new
packaging solution led Elcor to upgrade its
productionline to increase capacity, leading
toanincreasein product sales by three times.
The new efficiency in the cooling process not
only met Elcor'simmediate needs but also
provided a scalable solution to accommodate
their growing production capacity. Additionally,
the packaging design was extended to various
packs of cheese, showcasing its versatility
across different productlines.

Ventolini's commitment to sustainability

not only improved operational efficiency

and reduced its environmental impact but

also enhanced the customer experience.

The success of this initiative reflects Ventolini's
dedication to creating a sustainable future.

Sustainable packaging

84 tonnes

reductionin plasticusage

47 tonnes

reductionin CO; emissions annually

Annual Report 2023 Smurfit Kappa 11
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Our Innovative Solutions continued

Spadel group

France

Wattwiller, a natural
mineral water with
amission

Spadelis the first family-owned
mineral water group in the world

to obtainaB. Corp certification
across its entire brand portfolio.

12 Smurfit Kappa Annual Report 2023

This reflects the group’s commitment to
the circular economy, biodiversity preservation
and toits carbon footprint reduction.

The Challenge:

To align with its sustainability goals and respond
to evolving consumer preferences for more
eco-friendly and user-friendly packaging,
Spadel embraced the challenge of reimagining
its packaging solution for Wattwiller and finding
amore sustainable alternative to traditional
water packaging.

The Approach:

Spadel embarked on an innovative Bag-in-Box®
partnership forits Wattwiller brand, marking

a significant step forward in the mineral water
industry. This strategic collaboration aimed at
providing consumers with a sustainable and
convenient alternative to traditional water
packaging. The decision to embrace
Bag-in-Box® packaging reflected Spadel's
commitment to reducing plastic waste and
enhancing the overall customer experience.

RECYCLABLE
~—

e
EMBALLAGE

&
FACILE A PORTER

The Result:

Our Bag-in-Box® solution not only fulfils
Spadel's sustainability objectives but also
meets the growing demand of environmentally
conscious consumers and their desire for
more sustainable packaging.

Thisinnovative five litre packaging solution
provides ease of recycling and portability.
Importantly, it delivers a substantial
environmental impact, with a 40% reduction
in carbon emissions and a 60% decrease in
plastic compared to conventional water
packaging. Spadel's move to our Bag-in-Box®
packaging not only showcases its commitment
to sustainability but also sets a precedent

for theindustry.

Bag-in-Box® solution

40

reductionin carbon emissions

60

decreaseinplastic

AU MINERALE

NATURELLE

E

PARC MATUREL REGIONAL
DES BALLONS DES VOSGES
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The North Face

Europe

Accelerating
packaging goals
through collaboration
The North Face has been
aleaderin the high-quality

outdoor clothing industry
for over 50 years.

Rooted in acommitment to making responsible
business choices that extend beyond its
products, the brand's ethos has sustained

its growth and grownits reputation.

The Challenge:

Inalignment with its commitment to
environmental stewardship, The North Face set
an ambitious goal to eliminate single-use plastic
packaging by 2025. Recognising the imperative
to protect the outdoors for future generations,
Amanda Calder-McLaren, Senior Brand
Directorat The North Face, outlined the need
for collaboration to make a substantialimpact.
“We're an outdoor brand, and therefore we have
aresponsibility to future-proof our outdoor
playgrounds so that they can be endured for
generations to come. The only way to truly
make animpactis to collaborate.”

The Approach:

By working collaboratively with Smurfit Kappa,
The North Face has accelerated its sustainable
packaging goal.

The Result:

The collaboration with Smurfit Kappa
marked a significant stride towards
accelerating The North Face's sustainable
packaging goal. By replacing polybags with
eco-friendly paper-based alternatives, the
brand demonstrated its commitment to
minimising environmentalimpact. Amanda
Calder-McLaren explains the importance

of due diligence in supplier selection, stating,
“It's not enough just to be sustainable
ourselves; we have to choose suppliers,
partners, and other associations that also
have arobust promise to reduce theirimpact.
Otherwise, our work becomes negligible.”

@

We were looking for better
sustainable solutions in our
packaging process. We aligned
with that vision, and they
helped us phase out polybags
from our website shipping

and bring in more sustainable
paper-based solutions.

Amanda Calder-McLaren
Senior Brand Director, The North Face

Annual Report 2023 Smurfit Kappa 13
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Our Innovative Solutions continued

Munchmallow
Serbia

Giving a second life—
The Robot Story

Munchmallow, a beloved
brand with arich history over
decades, holds a special
place with consumers over
many generations.

Smurfit Kappa AnnualReport2023

The brand was looking at reuse options

and wanted to create animmersive consumer
experience. The vision was to create arobot
toy reflecting the unique shape of the biscuit
by usingits wrapping and the outer packaging.
As atrusted supplier and packaging partner
for over 40 years, Smurfit Kappa was asked for
help on how they could bring this idea to life.

The Challenge:

Munchmallow faced the challenge of reimagining
its product experience while considering
sustainability and consumer engagement.
The task at hand was to conceptualise and
produce a series of robot toys derived from
the outer packaging, aligning with the unique
characteristics of the Munchmallow brand.
The challenge further extended to optimising
the production process to ensure cost
effectiveness across the robot designs.

The Approach:
Leveraging our extensive design expertise,
we proposed an approach that seamlessly

integrated the packaginginto the creation of the

robot toy. The outer packaging was repurposed
to construct the robots, with detailed assembly
instructions printed on the inside of each pack.
This innovative concept not only aligned with
Munchmallow's vision but also showcased

its commitment to sustainable and

creative solutions.

The Result:

Working collaboratively, the Munchmallow
team enthusiastically embraced the concept,
bringing to life 15 unique robot designs to
captivate and engage consumers. With
optimised production processesin place,
Munchmallow successfully launched a
high-impact marketing campaign to promote
this initiative. The campaign spanned across
various mediums, including television
commercials, social media platforms and
outdoor media. Theresult hasbeena
significant boost in brand engagement and
sales. Consumers are not only enjoying the
tasty biscuits but also eagerly collecting
therobot toys, fostering repeat purchases,
and solidifying Munchmallow's position

as abrand that seamlessly blends creativity,
sustainability and consumer delight.
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Edrington

Mexico

Collaborating
to achieve carbon
reduction for packaging

Edringtonis aninternational
ultra-premium spirits company,
that has worked for more than
160 years to build aresponsible
and sustainable business that
respects the environment.

Edrington has committed to achieving net zero
emissions across its operations, supply chain,
and brands by 2045. To deliver this ambitious
carbon reduction strategy, Edrington partners
with suppliers who can support themon

this journey.

The Challenge:

In collaboration with Edrington, we were tasked
to create aninnovative packaging solution for
their new e-commerce channel. The solution
needed to address several key criteria, including
protecting fragile glass bottles, facilitating a quick
and easy assembly process, and eliminating the
use of plastic film. Moreover, the packaging had
tobe adaptable toaccommodate varying product
sizes, but also recognising the constraints of
limited warehouse space that made managing
different packaging linesimpractical.

The Approach:

By applying our expertise and understanding
the customer’s needs, the design innovation
centred on developing a corrugated box with
aversatile paper-basedinsert. This solution
proved capable of accommodating ten different
product sizes, ensuring adaptability.

The designinnovation of the paper-basedinsert
allowed it to wrap around bottles of various
sizes, streamlining the packing process while
providing essential protection for Edrington’s
premium products throughout the supply chain.

The Result:

The new solution not only addressed the

initial challenge but also streamlined the entire
packing and packaging inventory management
process for Edrington. The 100% paper-based
andrecyclable packaging adheres toits
sustainability goals and also enhances

the unboxing experience for consumers.
Theinclusion of high-quality printed branding
ontheinside of the pack added a premium
touch, reinforcing the brand’s commitment

to excellence.

ShelfSmart Al

Consumer Display
and Al

With 82% of purchasing decisions made on
the shop floor*, it is critical for brands to find
ways to differentiate themselves and engage
shoppers in meaningful ways. Display stands
have the ability to make a brand stand out from
the crowd. For optimum display design, we
draw inspiration from our designers and pair
multiple user-based design iterations with our
Al processing tool. Using authentic shopper
data, ShelfSmart Al delivers key performance
indicators within hours, significantly increasing
our customers’ chance of making that
all-important purchasing connection.

* Basedonastudy of over 3,000 shoppers
—marketingdive.com

Annual Report 2023 Smurfit Kappa 15
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Chair’s Statement

Smurfit Kappa
delivered another
excellent outcome

N 2023

Our performance-led culture continues to drive our industry leading
performance, with our people living our values of Loyalty, Integrity,

Respect and Safety at work.

Highlights for the Year

— Delivered an excellent outcome for the
Group, the second best in our 90 year history

— Delivered on our progressive dividend policy

— Announced our early adoption of the Task
Force on Nature-related Financial
Disclosures (‘TNFD’)

— Announced a proposed combination
with WestRock to create a global leader in
sustainable packaging, Smurfit WestRock

2023 Performance

Smurfit Kappa delivered another excellent
outcome for the Group in 2023 with Revenue
of €11.3 billion, EBITDA of €2,080 million,

and an EBITDA margin of 18.5%. In what has
been a challenging year, this result reflects
the effectiveness of our capital allocation
programme, the security of SKG’s integrated
operating model and the commitment and
dedication of our people in providing our
customers with industry-leading, innovative
and sustainable packaging solutions. On behalf
of the Board and management team, I would
like to record our sincere appreciation to each
and every one of our employees.

Proposed Combination with WestRock
On 12 September 2023, we were pleased

to announce the proposed combination of
Smurfit Kappa and WestRock to create Smurfit
WestRock, a global leader in sustainable
packaging. The Board sees compelling strategic,
commercial and financial rationale for
combining Smurfit Kappa and WestRock’s
highly complementary paper-based packaging
companiesto create a global leader in sustainable
packaging. The proposed combination will
enhance Smurfit Kappa and WestRock’s existing
offerings by creating the global ‘Go-To’ packaging
partner of choice. The proposed combination

is expected to close early July 2024, (subject

to shareholder approval and other closing
conditions of the Smurfit WestRock transaction).

Sustainability

Sustainability is a key part of SKG’s strategy.
Asaresponsible company, operating globally,
Smurfit Kappa has a product thatis naturally
sustainable and a circular process thatis
increasingly sustainable. Our performance-led
culture continues to drive our industry-leading
performance, with our people living our values
of Loyalty, Integrity, Respect and Safety at work
and our purpose to create, protectand care.
SKG understands the challenges facing both
our business and the planet and is committed
to doingits partin resolving these critical issues.

The Group continued to be recognised in

2023 for its leading sustainability credentials.
Having been recognised in 2023 asbotha
Regional Top Rated and Industry Top Rated
company by Morningstar Sustainalytics, SKG
hasretained both honours in 2024 for its strong
ESG credentials and continuous improvement.
SKGis now ranked firstin Paper Packaging for
2024, up from second in 2023 and fourth in 2022.

The Group has always been at the forefront of
ensuring we provide the mostinnovative and
sustainable packaging for our customers as well
as setting ambitious sustainability targets for
ourselves. We continued to make significant
progress towards achieving our sustainability
goals and delivered many sustainability
achievements during 2023. We were also pleased
to announce our early adoption of the Taskforce
on Nature-related Financial Disclosures in
January 2024. This announcement builds on our
existing nature-related reporting and targets
which are included in senior management
incentives and our cost of funding.

Read more about our Sustainability
achievements throughout this Annual Report
and the Sustainability Development Report
which will be published simultaneously with
this Annual Report.

Annual Report 2023 Smurfit Kappa 19
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Chair’s Statement continued

Innovation

SKG’s leadership in innovation and unrivalled
market offering is a defining characteristic of our
business. During 2023, we continued to deliver
the mostinnovative and sustainable packaging
solutions for our customers led by our Better
Planet Packaging initiative. The Group continues
toinvestin research and development to push
theboundaries of paper-based packaging and
our design teams work closely with our
customers to develop bespoke solutions which
optimise functionality, cost-effectiveness and
consumer appeal. Our culture of innovation is
based on our experience, science, creativity and
data, with state-of-the-art facilities that allow
usto help our entire value chain, our customers,
and their consumers, to reduce their carbon
footprintand avoid packaging waste.

Some examples of our recent innovative
solutions developed for our customers across
Europe and the Americas are outlined on
pages 10to 15.

Board Composition

We recognise the importance of continued Board
refreshment and renewal, and the benefit of
bringing fresh perspectives to complement our
longer-tenured Directors. We also recognise the
importance of inclusion, diversity and equality
throughout the organisation and up to Board
level, which includes varying perspectives and
career experience as well as diversity of gender,
ethnicity, nationality and age. Since the
conclusion of the 2023 AGM, the Board has 45%
female representation which is in excess of the
FCA Listing Rules requirements and the FTSE
Women Leaders target of 40% representation

in relation to gender diversity. The Board is
committed to ensuring that gender diversity
continues to be a focus on the Board and senior
management agendas and to increasing the
representation of women within senior
managementroles.

The Board also meets the FCA Listing Rules and
the recommendation of the Parker Review to
have atleast one Board member from an ethnic
minority background and the FCA Listing Rules
requirement to have a senior position held by
awoman.

The Board and the Nomination Committee
considered many aspects of Board and
Committee refreshment during the year.

In January 2023, Mary Lynn Ferguson-McHugh
was appointed as an independent Non-executive
Director bringing significant global operational
experience and fast moving consumer goods
knowledge to the Board. Mary-Lynn also joined
both the Audit Committee and Remuneration
Committee.

Following retirements from the Board in

April 2023, there were changes to the Chair’s

of certain committees: Jorgen Buhl Rasmussen
as Chair of the Remuneration Committee;
Anne Anderson as Chair of the Nomination
Committee; and Kaisa Hietala as Chair of the
Sustainability Committee.
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Europe
Firstindustrial
water treatment
plantin Serbia

In September 2023, we
inaugurated a pioneering
purification and wastewater
treatment plantin Belgrade,
Serbia, thefirst of its kindinthe
country. The state-of-the-art
plantis located on the site of our
Belgrade paper mill, which was
acquiredin 2019.

The €5 millioninvestment in the plant enables
water purification to the highest standards
before it can be returned to the environment.
Purified water can also be partially reusedin
the process, further reducing water
consumption by up to 90%.

This investment underscores our ongoing
commitment to water stewardship and follows
recent similar initiatives across our plantsin
Europe and the Americas.

Speaking at the opening ceremony, Prime
Minister of Serbia, Ana Brnabi¢, said: “Today is
animportant day for environmental protection
in Belgrade and throughout Serbia. Thisis a
day that represents a turning point for the
sustainable development of our country.

By 2025, all companies have a deadline for
introducing wastewater treatment plants.

Smurfit Kappa did this two years ahead

of schedule by building the first industrial
biological plant. This is an example of how all
business people in Serbia should join the policy
of sustainable development.”

Since 2018, we have been a signatory to the
UN Global Compact CEO Water Mandate and
are also members of the Cepi Water Issue
Group which investigates water-specific
industryissues.

o

The opening of this
state-of-the-art facility
demonstrates our ongoing
commitment to sustainable
water management.

We are proud to be the

first company to bring this
innovative purification and
water treatment systemto
Serbia as part of our continued
investment to ensure the
processis as sustainable as
the product. Smurfit Kappa
continues to lead our industry
towards more innovative and
sustainable methods of
water treatment.

Saverio Mayer
CEO of Smurfit Kappa Europe



Overview

@ SstrategicReport Governance

Financial Statements

Supplementary Information

The Board is currently comprised of 11 Directors
who in accordance with the Code will each
retire at the forthcoming AGM and submit
themselves for re-election. For further details
onthe re-election of Directors, please see

page 122. This will include five female Directors
whichisin line with our commitmentto ensure
greater Board diversity. We are also pleased to
have a Board which includes Directors from
seven different countries including Directors
from Europe, North Americaand Latin America,
adiversity of geographic backgrounds which
matches our diverse business.

Aspartof the ongoing development of the
Board, for both new and existing Non-executive
Directors, a training and development
programme continued throughout 2023 with
sessions thatincluded specific business areas,
climate scenario analysis, cyber security,
andlegal and governance.

Governance and Oversight

The UK Corporate Governance Code places

an emphasis on a company’s relationship with
its shareholders and other stakeholders and
highlights the importance of establishing a
corporate culture aligned with business strategy
and one which promotes integrity and diversity.

Aswe reflect on 2023, through our engagement
with our people and our continued commitment
to the environment and the communities we
serve, we truly believe that Smurfit Kappa has
aculture and an approach to business which
aligns with the spirit of the Code and promotes
aninclusive and positive working environment
which recognises the perspectives of all our
stakeholders. Details of this are included
throughout this Annual Reportand in the
Corporate Governance Statement.

Employee Engagement

and Development

Employee engagement is a key consideration

of the executives and Board, and one which

has continuously developed over time.

The Sustainability Committee continues to
hold responsibility for workforce engagement
on behalf of the Board. The Sustainability
Committee assists the Board in understanding
the views of the wider workforce, to ensure that
the voice of the workforce is heard in the
boardroom and the views and interests of
employees are taken into account when making
decisions and to ensure the employee voice is
represented in a manner thatis inclusive and fair.
A detailed update on our employee engagement
including details of our high level of employee
interaction during the year and commentary
from the Chair of the Sustainability Committee,
Kaisa Hietala, isincluded on page 52.

AsaBoard we have always understood the
importance of maintaining a strong people
centric culture and recognise the value of
engaging and listening to the diverse views

of colleagues across the global organisation.
During 2023, the July Board meeting was held
in France which included a visit to our Facture
mill and the October meeting, which was held
in the Dominican Republic, included a visit to
our plantin Santo Domingo.

Aspartofthese visits, we were delighted

to have the opportunity to meet face-to-face
with management and employees and to
experience first-hand the Group’s operations
inthese countries.

AsaBoard we recognise that a central element
to our continued success is the quality of our
people and therefore supporting and developing
the culture and practice of talent management
inthe organisation is essential. In 2023, we have
continued to focus on ensuring that we have the
right people in the right place and at the right
stages of development to fill critical positions
asthey become available. By focusing on talent
through comprehensive and considered
succession plans, we can ensure that we continue
to fill key operational and strategic positions
across the Group. Read more on pages 98 and 99.

Stakeholder Engagement

The Group and the Board have a continued focus
on stakeholder engagement to ensure we build a
culture that fosters engagement and enables us
to develop successful relationships with our
stakeholders. During 2023, we continued to
work collaboratively with our customers,
suppliers, shareholders and the communities in
which we operate.

Our Better Planet Packaging initiative
represents the many ways in which we support
our customers to deliver on their sustainability
agendas. In 2023, we carried out an extensive
customer experience survey with our strategic
accounts. We were delighted to achieve our
highest-ever customer experience score; which
speaks to the strength of our relationships,
quality of our service and innovative packaging
solutions that achieve real and measurable
benefits for our customers.

During the year, we continued to build

and maintain transparent and long-term
relationships with our suppliers. This
partnership approach enables us to work
together on sustainability improvement
processes and provides the opportunity to carry
out audits on compliance with our sustainable
supply chain standards and work together to
improve sustainability in their business where
any shortcomings are identified. We are also
encouraged to observe that our suppliers who
have sustainability programmes in place for
many years see their sustainability programmes
asaninvestment rather than a cost.

Our leadership team and investor relations
team maintain active engagement and dialogue
with the investment community and our
shareholders, to discuss key issues including
strategy, sustainability, capital allocation,
remuneration and governance.

We remained deeply committed to our local
communities during 2023. Despite another
challenging year, our teams across the

world continued to donate their time,

effortand expertise to make a positive and
lasting impact on their local communities.

In 2023, approximately 6,800 of our colleagues
participated in 192 initiatives across 24 countries.

In addition to the direct involvement of our
operationsin our local communities, during
2023 the Group continued to provide all the
funding to the Smurfit Kappa Foundation

(the ‘Foundation’), aregistered charity in
Ireland, which focuses on delivering a positive
impact on the lives of underprivileged people
in our communities. Since being formed in 2011,
the Foundation has supported a total of 260
projects through its donation of €15 million

in 30 countries.

Further details on stakeholder engagement in
2023 is outlined on pages 48 to 57. In the period
ahead, my continued focus as Chair will be on
the further development of engagement with
our key stakeholders.

Dividends

Dividends remain a central component of

the Group’s objective to deliver value for our
shareholders. Our progressive dividend policy
recognises the importance of dividends to our
shareholders. The Board is recommending
a10% increase in the final dividend to

118.4 cent per share, subject to the approval

of shareholders at the AGM in April 2024.

This, in combination with the interim dividend
of 33.5 cent per share paid in October 2023, will
deliver a total dividend of 151.9 cent per share
for 2023. This further increase in the dividend
reflects our continuing confidence in the
strength, quality and performance of the
Smurfit Kappa business.

Outlook

While there are and always will be challenges
inthe macro environment, we look forward to
the year ahead with confidence and excitement.

Irial Finan
Chair
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Group Chief Executive Officer's Statement

Our 2023 results again
demonstrate Smurfit
Kappa's proven capacity
to perform across all
Market conditions

Ourresults, the second best in our 90 year history, reflect the
excellence of our people and their dedication in providing the most
innovative and sustainable packaging solutions for our customers.

Highlights for the year

— EBITDA margin of 18.5% up from 2022

— Invested over €1 billion in our business,
setting a strong platform for future growth

— Return on capital employed of 17.1%

— Recognised as a top employer again in 2023

— Received 74 awards for packaging design,
innovation and sustainability

— Announced the proposed combination
with WestRock to create a global leader
in sustainable packaging

2023 Overview

Revenue for the year decreased by 12%

to€11.3 billion. EBITDA for the full year
was€2,080 million, a 12% decrease over 2022,
with an EBITDA margin of 18.5%, ROCE of 17.1%
and anet debt to EBITDA of 1.4x.

The demand environment for the industry in
2023 was difficult primarily due to destocking
and alack of economic activity in certain
sectors, particularly durable goods. However,
we have seen strong acceleration in demand
for sustainable packaging solutions. While full
year volumes for the Group were down 3.5%,
we saw a progressive improvement in demand
during the year with areturn to growth in the
fourth quarter.

During 2023, we invested over €1 billion in

our business, which together with prior years’
spend, sets a strong platform for future growth
and delivery. Additionally, with the wide
geographic and product diversity that exists
within SKG, we continue to see opportunities
for growth and expansion.

Some examples of this include the development
of our Bag-in-Box business across multiple
geographic regions and our expansion into
Morocco with a new state-of-the-art

corrugated facility.

In September, we announced an agreement

to combine with WestRock to form Smurfit
WestRock. Since then we have had the
opportunity to expand our knowledge of the
WestRock organisation, and its people, and have
visited many of their facilities. With a deeper
understanding of the WestRock business, we are
increasingly excited about the potential this
proposed combination presents.

Europe

The Europe segment is the larger of the Group’s
two segments, accounting for 75% of its revenue
and 77% of its EBITDA in 2023. Our Europe
segmentis highly integrated. Itincludes a
system of mills and plants that primarily
produce a fullline of containerboard that is
converted into corrugated containers. In
addition, the Europe segment also produces
other types of paper, such as solidboard, sack
kraft paper, machine glazed (MG’) and graphic
paper; and other paper-based packaging, such
ashoneycomb, solidboard packaging and
folding cartons; and Bag-in-Box packaging.

EBITDA decreased by 14% to €1,593 million in
2023. The EBITDA margin was 18.8%, up from
18.6% in 2022 with the move reflecting lower box
volumes and lower average box prices, which
were more than compensated by the impact
oflower recovered fibre, energy and other raw
material costs. While box volumes in Europe
were down 3.3% year-on-year, each quarter
showed sequential improvement in demand
and box volumes in the fourth quarter of the
year remained flat compared to the same
period of 2022.

Demand weakness in Western European
markets was partly offset by a more resilient
performance in our operations in Southern
and Eastern Europe.
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Group Chief Executive Officer’s Statement continued

Our European business continued to build

on its strong operating platform during the

year with a number of projects across our paper,
corrugated and specialty divisions. In our paper
division, we approved investments right across
our mill network which will take out costs,
increase efficiencies and enhance the Group’s
leadership position in sustainability. In our
corrugated division, we are investing in
modern, energy efficient equipment, including
upgrades to corrugators, new converting
equipment and expanding capacity in our
Bag-in-Box division. These investments will
allow the Group to increase production, reduce
our environmental footprint and expand our
portfolio of value-added packaging solutions.

Inthe firsthalf of the year, the Group completed its
strategic expansion in Poland with our Pruszkéw
corrugated plant now becoming one of the most
advanced packaging plants in Europe. In the
second half of the year, the Group completed
important sustainability projects including a
pioneering purification and wastewater treatment
plantin Serbia, the first of its kind in the country.

In March, the Group announced thatithad

sold its Russian operations to local management
thereby completing its exit from the Russian
market. In July, the Group opened a new
integrated corrugated plantin Morocco, making
this SKG’s first operation in the attractive growth
market of Africa. Also during the year, the Group
acquired a specialty packaging operation in
Spain and a folding carton business in Poland.

The Americas

Our Americas segmentis also highly integrated.
Like our Europe segment, itincludes a system
of mills and plants that primarily produce a full
line of containerboard that is converted into
corrugated containers. The Americas segment,
which includes a number of Latin American
countries and the United States, also comprises
forestry; other types of paper, such as boxboard
and sack paper; and paper-based packaging, such
asfolding cartons, honeycomb and paper sacks.

EBITDA increased by 1% on 2022 to €557 million.
The EBITDA margin improved to 20.1% from
19.0% in 2022 with Colombia, Mexico and the US
accounting for over 75% of the region’s earnings.
Box volumes in the Americas, excluding
acquisitions, were down by 4.3% compared to
2022 with sequential demand improvement seen
through each quarter and a return to growth
realised in the fourth quarter of 1.6% year-on-year.

The Group continued to investin its Americas
business in 2023 with growth and sustainability
related investments across our forestry, paper
and packaging businesses in Brazil, Colombia,
Mexico and the US. We approved investments

in our paper division to upgrade machines and
increase production efficiencies, investing

in automation in our forestry division to take
out costs, while investing in state-of-the-art
converting equipment in our corrugated division.
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Sustainability Investments

Smurfit Kappa continues to make significant
progress towards achieving its sustainability
goals. An example of an important sustainability
projectundertaken during the year was the
installation of 12,000 solar panels at our
Sangtiiesa paper millin Spain. This solar energy
projectis the latest for Smurfit Kappa which has
launched similar green energy initiatives at
plants in Spain, Colombia, Mexico and most
recently, in our new facility in Morocco.

In 2023 we also completed a €27 million
investmentin a new waste management and
recovery facility at our Nervion paper millin
Turreta, Spain. This investment sees the mill
adopta fully circular production process
involving the biggestlandfill reduction project
that SKG has undertaken to date.

In September, we inaugurated a pioneering
purification and wastewater treatment plant
in Belgrade, Serbia, the first of its kind in the
country. This innovative treatment purifies
water to the highest standards before itcan
be returned to the environment. The purified
water can be partially reused thereby further
reducing water consumption by up to 90%.

During the year, we approved significant
investments to upgrade a combined heatand
power plantin one of our European paper mills
which will further reduce our carbon emissions
alongside upgrading anumber of water treatment
plants and systems right across our operations.

Having been awarded in 2023 as both a Regional
Top Rated and Industry Top Rated company by
Morningstar Sustainalytics, SKG has retained
both honours this year for its strong ESG
credentials and continuous improvement.

Smurfit Kappa continues to be listed on various
environmental, social and governance indices
and disclosure programmes, such as CDP,
FTSE4Good, the Green Economy Mark from the
London Stock Exchange, Euronext Vigeo Europe
120, STOXX Global ESG Leaders, ISS Solactive
and Ethibel’s sustainable investment register.
SKG also performs strongly across a number of
third party certification bodies, including MSCI,
ISSESG and Morningstar Sustainalytics.

Further details on the progress, developments
and investments in sustainability in 2023 are
outlined throughout this Annual Reportand
in the Sustainability section on pages 58 to 95.

Commercial Offering and Innovation
SKG’s leadership in innovation and unrivalled
market offering is a defining characteristic

of our business. With over 1,000 designers
across the Group, supported by a network

of laboratories, design facilities and unique
applications, we continued to deliver the most
innovative and sustainable packaging solutions
for our customers in 2023. The Group continues
toinvestin research and development to push
the boundaries of paper-based packaging and
our design teams work closely with our
customers to develop bespoke solutions which
optimise functionality, cost-effectiveness and
consumer appeal.

Demonstrating our industry leadership,

SKG won 74 awards across a host of categories
including design, safety, sustainability,
community engagement and as a top employer.
Smurfit Kappa was recognised for its technical
innovation and creativity by winning 14 awards
atthe Flexographic Industry Association UK
awards in addition to eight WorldStar 2023
awards. The latter was followed up by winning
animpressive 12 WorldStar 2024 awards in
January of this year, more than any other
entrant. The Group was also the proud winner
of PepsiCo’s prestigious ‘Supplier of the Year’
award. This award recognises excellence across
sustainability, speed to market and overall
business performance and is the latest
milestone in a 15 year partnership during which
PepsiCo and Smurfit Kappa have collaborated
onvarious stand-out projects.

During the year, SKG launched its patented
Vitop Uno tap which is the first tap in the
Bag-in-Box market to have attached tamper
protection. Vitop is the leading provider of
Bag-in-Box closure solutions with over six
billion taps sold worldwide and the Uno tap is
now patented in Europe, the US and a number
of other countries.

€11 -3 bn

Revenue for 2023
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Investment

The Americas
E-commerce
expertiseinthe
Dominican Republic

In January 2023, we launched
anew e-commerce storeinthe
Dominican Republic specialising
in packaging for smalland
medium sized businesses
('SMEs’) and start-ups.

The new store created by Smurfit Kappa

Todo Carton, acts as an online retail packaging
boutique, and serves the ever-growing
packaging market in the Dominican Republic.
This follows on from the success of its
bricks-and-mortar shop in the country which
has been operating for over 25 years.

The online shop specialises in e-commerce
packaging tailored towards SMEs, which
includes an emerging market of influencers
and entrepreneurs, trading via social media
platformsincluding Instagram. The
e-commerce store's portfolio includes a

wide variety of our ‘Better Planet Packaging’
solutions which offer sustainable alternatives
to unsustainable packaging solutions.
Popular productsinclude paper-based
clamshell packaging and packaging for fruit
and vegetables, baked goods and giftware.
Allthe packaging solutions can be customised
to meet the customers’ needs.

The development of the new e-commerce
shop coincided with the 25* anniversary

of the bricks-and-mortar store. The store has
enabled Todo Carton to broadenits customer
base and reach anew audience of small business
owners who are looking for quality sustainable
packaging, butin smaller quantities, and at
affordable prices.

Laurent Sellier, CEO of Smurfit Kappain

the Americas, commented: “We are delighted
to have reached this milestone. We have been
operating in the Dominican Republic since
1997 and pride ourselves on developing
innovative, sustainable and convenient
packaging solutions to meet our customers’
needs, however niche those needs may be.
Our expertise in e-commerce packaging is
applicable to a wide variety of sectors.”

General Manager of Smurfit Kappa Dominican
Republic, Andrés Silva, added: “So many
companies cater only for businesses that can
afford to place bulk orders. At Smurfit Kappa,
we think that small businesses and start-ups
also deserve to be able to afford sustainable
and innovative packaging. Both our
off-the-shelfand customised packaging
products arein great demand, and we are
attracting new customers all the time.”

o

Thanks to the hard work

of our team and our packaging
expertise and experience,

we are thrilled to be the first
Smurfit Kappa storeinthe
region to sell packaging

in small quantities.

Andrés Silva

General Manager of Smurfit Kappa
Dominican Republic

In 2023, the Group announced the expansion

of its Design2Market Factory after a successful
firstyear in operation in the Netherlands. This
unique facility, which provides customers with
tangible packaging prototypes that can be tested
in the marketin just two weeks before moving
into large-scale production, will be replicated
across Germany, Italy, Poland and the UK.

SKG also launched its new digital solution

for our existing SupplySmart application.
With SupplySmart, we create a digital model
of our customers’ supply chains which allows
usto stress-test their processes in a completely
risk-free way. This helps us to optimise their
packaging solutions, enhance efficiencies,
reduce CO, emissions during transportand
drive business growth.

The Group continues to experience strong levels
of pipeline development across our business as
customers strive for more sustainable
packaging solutions.

Our People

Our performance-led culture continues to drive
our industry-leading performance, with our
people living our values of Loyalty, Integrity,
Respectand Safety at work. We have a relentless
focus on quality and delivery for our customers.

Our vision, to be a globally admired business,
dynamically and sustainably delivering secure
and superior returns for all stakeholders, is
something that all of us in Smurfit Kappa aspire
to every day. We believe the only way to achieve
thisis through our people. One of the strengths
of Smurfit Kappa has been, and will continue to
be, the owner/operator type culture that exists
within our company.

We continue to invest in our people and have
developed bespoke programmes with INSEAD
and others ensuring the next generation of
leaders is embedded within the Smurfit Kappa
system and culture.

I'would like to acknowledge the effort

and commitment of all our employees in

the 36 countries in which we operate for their
significant contribution to the results achieved
in 2023. Iwould also like to take this opportunity
to acknowledge the support of the Board for the
continuing development of the Group. Equally,
I'would like to recognise our shareholders
supportover the last number of years.

Conclusion

Our 2023 results, once again, prove our capacity
to perform and deliver. While there are, and will
always be, challenges in the macro environment,
welook forward to the year ahead with confidence
and excitement. The proposed combination is
expected to create a global leader in sustainable
packaging, Smurfit WestRock, which will mark
the nextand exciting phase in our journey.

Tony Smurfit
Group Chief Executive Officer
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Our business model

Our drivers of value creation

We are a packaging leaderinagrowth
industry.

We design, manufacture and supply
sustainable and innovative packaging
solutions to promote and protect our
customers' products.

Our Integrated Model

We have an integrated system of containerboard mills and
corrugated box plants. Our recycling, wood procurement and
forestry operations provide raw material to our containerboard
mills, who produce a full line of containerboard which is
converted into corrugated containers.

Our vertical integration is key to guaranteeing security of
supply for our customers and enabling us to drive efficiencies
across the whole supply chain with technological advances,
paper machine optimisation and logistics management,
which in turn means we can offer optimal paper design,
quality and logistics. We have lower exposure to volatility in
containerboard prices and our integrated structure ensures
that we provide a stable outlet for our product through the
uncertainty of market falls and rises.

End-to-End Sustainability

From procurement and working with our suppliers,
to production and product delivery to our customers,
our economic goals are aligned with our social,
community and environmental responsibilities.

Asasignificant recycler of primarily post-consumer
materials, we are akey part of the circular economy. Our
embedded Chain of Custody programme ensures that close
to 100% of our raw material comes from sustainable and/or
certified sources regardless of whether itis virgin or recycled.

Asaleader in sustainable packaging, we have a responsibility
to respond to the challenge the world faces with litter and
inefficient use of materials. We are addressing this with

our Better Planet Packaging initiative.

© You canread more about this in our Sustainability
sectionon pages 58to 95

Our values underpin our business model
and guide the decisions we make
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Our integrated model

Recovered paper/
virgin paper fibres

Fibres sustainably sourced
from old corrugated
containers andforests

Recovered
paper facilities

Distributionand
consumption

—

Safety Integrity
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Value delivered for our stakeholders

Customers Employees Investors
Suppliers Communities

0 You canread more about this in our Stakeholder Engagement
sectiononpages48to 57

Innovation

We are a highly innovative, design-led company. Our
approach to innovation is both market and data-driven,
focused on solving our customers’ challenges, whether
through product promotion, process improvement,
carbon reduction or optimising supply chain efficiency.

We employ a range of ‘Innotools’, unique to Smurfit Kappa,
enabling us to create the optimal fit-for-purpose packaging
solutions for our customers.

Our unique approach to innovation for business success
isbased on combining science, experience, geographic
diversity, big data and creativity on a scale and with a
depth not seen elsewhere in the industry.

© You canread more about this in our Innovative products
sectiononpages 10to 15

e You canread more about our Strategic Framework
onpages2and3
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Our Strategy

We deliver for all
our stakeholders

Our visionis to be a globally admired business, dynamically and
sustainably delivering secure and superior returns for all stakeholders.

The Group's objective is to develop long term customer relationships
by providing customers with innovative, sustainable packaging
solutions that enhance the customers' prospects of success

in their end markets.

Our strategic priorities*

Market Position

Partner of Choice

Operational Excellence

@

Expand our market positionsin
Europe and the Americas through
selective focused growth.

Become the supplier/partner
of choice.

Enhance our operational
excellence through the continuous
upgrade of our customer offering.

Our objectives

— Organic growth from increased market
share through developing innovative
solutions in areas such as Better Planet
Packaging and e-commerce; and

— Pursuit of accretive acquisitions in higher
growth markets such as Eastern Europe
and Latin America.

© Read more in the Group Chief Executive Officer's
Statement on pages 22 to 25

*  Thestrategy outlined is Smurfit Kappa
onastandalone entity basis.
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— Deepening our understanding of our
customers’ world and developing proactive
initiatives to improve their offering;

— Constantly innovating our products, service,
quality and delivery in order to develop and/or
maintain preferred supplier status; and

— Pursuing superior performance measured
against clearly defined metricsinall
aspects of our business and at all levels
in our organisation.

© Read more in Our Innovative Solutions
onpages10to 15

— Improving the output from our high quality
asset base through judicious capital investment,
continuous improvement programmes,
transfer of best practice, industrial
engineering and other progressive initiatives;

— Increasing the proportion of differentiated
ideas, sustainability initiatives, products and
services on offer to our customers through
the use of the Group’s development and
technology centres, our sustainability
credentials and our innovation tools; and

— Ensuringthat the driving force behind all
our operations is one of customer satisfaction
and excellence in the marketplace.

© Read more in the Group Chief Executive Officer’s
Statement on pages22to 25
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Investment in People

Capital Allocation

Recruit, retain, develop and
motivate the best people.

Maintain a disciplined approach
to capital allocation and maintain
the focus on cash generation.

High quality graduate and other recruitment
initiatives, progressive goal setting, and
performance appraisal programmes;
Focused job training and coaching;
Cross-divisional in-house development
programmes; and

© Read more in the People section
on pages 96 to 109

Selective executive development programmes.

— Maintaining investment grade credit ratings;

— Capital spending to facilitate organic growth,
optimise our asset base and enhance
operating efficiency;

— Acquiring strategically attractive and
accretive assets; and

— Progressive dividend supported by strong
free cash flow.

e Read more in the Finance Review
on pages 40 to 47

Outlook

Driven by strong secular trends such as
e-commerce and sustainability, the outlook
for our industry remains positive. SKG has
positioned itself as the leading company within
the industry, with great people, providing our
customers with unique packaging solutions
centred around innovation, efficiency and
sustainability. The inherent strength of our
business provides us with an unrivalled
platform to accelerate our vision and the Group’s
next phase of growth and development. Going
forward, we will continue to implement our
strategy, creating a sustainable business that
builds on our strengths and will generate value
for all stakeholders over the long term.

We will continue to lead in innovative,
sustainable packaging solutions for our
customers, led by our ‘Better Planet Packaging’
initiative which provides our customers with
sustainable solutions today, ready for the
challenges of tomorrow. We continue to

build a platform for durable growth to meet
customer demand.

We remain relentlessly focused on attracting,
developing, motivating and retaining employees
to ensure delivery of all our strategic ambitions
and to help our people reach their full potential
within the organisation.

Our strategy remains flexible and agile and

we maintain a disciplined, returns focused
approach to capital allocation.
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Key Performance Indicators

Measuring our progress

The Group has arange of Key Performance Indicators
(‘'KPIs") which we use to monitor our performance

and measure progress.
Financial KPIs
EBITDA* Description Performance Strategicpriorities
(million) EBITDA is the key performance EBITDA for 2023 was €2,080 million,
measure of the Group’s operating €275 million down on 2022. @
segments. Itis an appropriate and Our 2023 EBITDA represents
€2 0 8 0 useful measure used to compare an excellent outcome set against
’ recurring financial performance achallenging year for the wider %
2022:€2,355 between periods. industry. This result reflects
the effectiveness of our capital
allocation programme, the security
of SKG’s integrated operating model
and the commitment and dedication
of our people in providing our
customers with industry-leading,
innovative and sustainable
packaging solutions.
EBITDA Margin* Description Performance Strategicpriorities

(%)

EBITDA margin is a measure of
profitability by taking our EBITDA

EBITDA margin was 18.5% in
2023 compared to 18.4% in 2022.

006

divided by revenue. In Europe, our overall margin
increased from 18.6% in 2022
u 10 18.8% in 2023. In the Americas,
2022:18.4 our margin increased from 19.0%
B EE—
2022 18.4
Net Debt* Description Performance Strategicpriorities
(million) Net debt comprises borrowings Net debtamounted to €2,840 million
net of cash and cash equivalents. at December 2023 compared to % @
We believe that this measure €2,992 million at December 2022.
highlights the overall movement The year-on-year decrease of
’ resulting from our operating and €152 million reflected free cash
2022:€2,992 financial performance. flow of €628 million for the year,

2023 €2,840

2022 €2,992

partly offset by outflows in respect
of dividend payments, the
purchase of businesses, share
purchases under the Deferred
Bonus Plan (‘DBP’) and negative
currency translation adjustments.

* Information in relation to the definition and calculation of these Alternative Performance Measures is included in the Supplementary Information section on pages 226 to 231.

30 Smurfit Kappa Annual Report2023



Overview

@ SstrategicReport

Governance

Financial Statements

Supplementary Information

Key to Strategic Priorities

© @

Market Partner Operational Investment Capital
Position of Choice Excellence inPeople Allocation
Net Debt to EBITDA* Description Performance Strategic priorities

(times) Leverage (ratio of net debt to With net debt of €2,840 million
EBITDA) isan important measure and EBITDA of €2,080 million, @
of our overall financial position. our leverage ratio was 1.4 times
x at December 2023 compared to
u 1.3times at December 2022. The
2022:1.3x Group is operating below its target
_ leverage range of 1.5x t0 2.0x.
2022 1.3x
Return on Capital Employed* (‘ROCE’) Description Performance Strategic priorities
(%) ROCE is an effective measure of ROCE at December 2023 was 17.1%.
ensuring that we are generating With alower level of operating profit @
profit from the capital employed. and a higher level of average capital
employed, our ROCE decreased
u from 21.8% at December 2022. @
2022:21.8
© SeeRemuneration Report for
2023 17.1 Performance Share Plan metrics,
pages 129to 150
2022 218
Free Cash Flow* ("FCF’) Description Performance Strategic priorities
(million) FCFistheresultofthe cashinflows  FCF of €628 million in 2023
and outflows from our operating was €83 million higher than % @
activities, and is before thosearising  the €545 million reported in 2022.
from acquisition and disposal Lower EBITDA of €275 million
activities. We use FCF to assess combined with higher outflows
2022: €545 and understand the total operating ~ on exceptional items, higher tax

2023 €628

performance of the business and
to identify underlying trends.

payments and a higher outflow for
changes in employee benefits and
other provisions were more than
offset by a positive swing in
working capital from an outflow
in 2022 to an inflow in 2023.

© SeeRemuneration Report
for Annual Bonus metrics,
pages 129to 150
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Key Performance Indicators continued

Financial KPIs

Earnings per Share (‘EPS’)
(cent)

Pre-exceptional BasicEPS*

348.7

Description

EPS serves as an effective indicator
of acompany’s profitability and,

in conjunction with other metrics
such as ROCE, is a measure of
acompany’s financial strength.
The calculation of EPS is shown

in Note 9 to the Consolidated

Performance

Our pre-exceptional basic EPS

in 2023 decreased by 21% from
444.1 centin 2022 to 348.7 cent,
reflecting alower pre-exceptional
profitattributable to owners of

the parent of €901 million in 2023
compared to €1,147 million in 2022.

Strategic priorities

006
®

2022:444.1 Financial Statements.
Basic EPS decreased to 293.5 cent
in 2023 compared to 365.3 cent
2022 4441 in 2022. This was mainly duetoa
lower operating profit partly offset
by alower exceptional charge in
BasicEPS 2023 resulting in a profit for the
financial year attributable to
owners of the parent of €758 million,
2 93 5 compared to €944 million in 2022.
- © SeeRemuneration Report for
2022:365.3 Performance Share Plan metrics,
E= N mr A
Non-financial KPIs
Health and Safety (TRIR) Description Performance Strategic priorities

0.53

2022:0.51

A safe and healthy workplaceis a
fundamental right for every person
at Smurfit Kappa, and is a business
imperative for the Group. Since
2018, Total Recordable Injury Rate
hasbeen the key health and safety
performance metric for the Group.

Our TRIR increased by 3.9%

in 2023 bringing the TRIR to 0.53
(2022: 0.51) but remaining below
0.55. The TRIR reduction to the
end of 2023 compared to the 2018
baseline was a 48% total reduction,
demonstrating the achievements
in safety over that period.

© SeeRemuneration Report
for Annual Bonus metrics,
pages 129to 150

006
©

*  Information in relation to the definition and calculation of these Alternative Performance Measures is included in the Supplementary Information section on pages 226 to 231.
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@ © 8 © ©

Market Partner Operational Investment Capital
Position of Choice Excellence inPeople Allocation
Non-financial KPIs
CO. Emissions Reduction Description Performance Strategicpriorities

We have committed to a 55%
reduction in Scope 1 and 2 fossil
fuel-based CO, emissions in our mill

(%) Although our industry is energy
intensive, itis also one of the most
energy efficient and is among the

006

43.7

mostsignificant users of renewable
energy. Climate change impacts
everyone, and in our case it
stimulates product design
improvements to lower customer
carbon footprints, encourages
production efficiency and informs
how we invest for the long-term.

We are reducing the carbon
intensity of our energy mix by
reducing the use of fossil fuels and
promoting renewable sources where
economically viable. We are also
saving energy by closingloopsin our
production process. We make a
significantimpactin the value chain
through smart packaging solutions
thatcan significantly lower customer
emissions. We help them optimise
their packaging to avoid product
waste, minimise over-specified
packaging and increase recycling.

system compared to 2005 levels by
2030 and we are targeting toreach at
leastnetzero CO, emissions by 2050.
In 2023, we reached a reduction of
43.7% compared to 43.9% in 2022.
The decrease in our relative CO,
emissions compared to 2022 is due
to significant commercial
downtime taken in 2023.

© SeeRemuneration Report for
Performance Share Plan metrics,
pages 129to 150

Chain of Custody

3.5

Description

Although recovered fibres are our
primary raw material, we arealsoa
significantuser of wood fibre and we
take responsibility to ensure its origin
is sustainable. The recyclability of
paper fibres is another important
factor in the sustainability of our
products, and we apply a balanced
approach to the use of both virgin
and recycled fibres.

We manage our forest holdings
based on three sustainable
development principles: to promote
economic growth, responsibly use
natural resources and foster social
equity wherever our plantations and
forests are located. We have certified
all our plantations and forestholdings
to FSCand/or PEFC where practical.
Independentthird party certification
isthe mostreliable meansto promote
sustainable forest management
and combat deforestation.

To extend our approach to our
customers, we have committed

to selling our packaging solutions
as Chain of Custody certified. This
transparent approach makes SKG’s
and our customers’ commitment
visible to the end consumer.

Performance

We have committed to selling over
95% of our products as Chain of
Custody certified to our customers.
We reached an initial target level
0f90% in 2016 and increased our
ambition to 95% in 2020. Our result
for the full year 2023 was 95.5%,
thereby reaching our targettwo
years early.
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Risk Report

Risk identification, assessment
and management

The Board determines the nature and extent of the principalrisks it is
willing to accept to achieve its strategic objectives. Risks are identified
and evaluated and appropriate risk management strategies are
implemented at each level in the organisation.

Risk Management and Internal Control
The Board has overall responsibility for the
Group’s system of risk management and internal
control and for monitoring and reviewing its
effectiveness, in order to safeguard shareholders’
investments and the Group’s assets. Such a
system is designed to manage rather than
eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives and can therefore only provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss. The Board
carries out areview of the effectiveness of the
Group’s risk management and internal control
systems atleast annually.

Group executive management is responsible

for implementing strategy and for the continued
development of the Group’s operations within
parameters set down by the Board. Day-to-day
management of the Group’s operations is
devolved to operational management within
clearly defined authority limits and subject to
timely reporting of financial and operational
performance. Managementatalllevelsis
responsible for internal control over the
respective operations that have been delegated
tothem. As such, the system of internal control
throughout the Group’s operations ensures that
the organisation is capable of responding
quickly to evolving operational and business
risks and that significant internal control issues,
should they arise, are reported promptly to
appropriate levels of management.

The Board is responsible for determining

the nature and extent of the principal risks

itis willing to accept to achieve its strategic
objectives. Risk assessment and evaluation
isanintegral part of the management process
throughout the Group. Risks are identified and
evaluated, and appropriate risk management
strategies are implemented at each level.

The key business risks are identified

by the Executive Risk Committee.

The Audit Committee and the Board in
conjunction with senior management, review
the key business risks faced by the Group and
determine the appropriate course of action to
manage these risks. The Audit Committee is
responsible for reviewing the effectiveness of
the Group’s system of internal control including
risk management on behalf of the Board and
reports to the Board on all significant matters.
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During 2023, the ongoing evolution of the Group
Risk Framework continued with the suite of risk
documents delivered to the Audit Committee
and the Board expanded to provide additional
risk appetite reporting and narrative for the
principal risks.

Risk Register Process

The Group’s risk register process is based

upon a Group standardised approach to risk
identification, assessment and review with a
clear focus on mitigating factors and assignment
of responsibility to risk owners.

The risk registers incorporate risk profiling
against: Group defined risk categories which
include; strategic, operational, environmental,
legal, economic/political/market, technological
and financial risks. Each individual risk identified
isassessed based upon potential impact and
likelihood of occurrence criteria. New or
emerging risks are added to the risk registers as
they are identified and assessed accordingly.

In addition, the Board reviewed the potential
risks associated with the proposed combination
with WestRock, details of which are outlined

on the following page.

Divisional management is responsible for
reviewing the Country/Cluster risk registers
and updating the Divisional risk registers
accordingly, which are reviewed and approved
by the Divisional risk committees.

The Group Risk Register is updated to reflect any
significant changes in the Divisional registers or
Group level risks following consultation with the
Group’s subject matter experts. The Executive
Risk Committee reviews and assesses the Group
Risk Register and identifies the principal risks.
The Group Risk Register is then reviewed by the
Audit Committee and the Board. Formal risk
reporting timetables and structures are in place
across the Group and are adhered to by Country/
Cluster, Divisional and Group senior management.

Viability Statement

The Directors have assessed the prospects of the
Group over a three-year period. The Directors
consider this period to be appropriate as the
Group’s strategic business plan is devised and
assessed over a three-year period in line with
the cyclical nature of the business in which the
Group operates. A three-year consolidated
financial model was built using a bottom-up
approach reflecting the Group’s current position

and including annual budgeting, medium-term
planning, and management’s estimates of future
profitability, taking into account anumber of
factorsincluding the budget, external economic
factors and assumptions as appropriate (including
the OECD expectations on GDP growth and the
Fastmarkets RISI paper packaging forecast). The
model incorporates and considers the important
indicators of performance of the operations of
the Group: EBITDA, EBITDA margin, free cash
flow, net debt, net debt to EBITDA, return on
capital employed and earnings per share.

The Directors have undertaken a robust
assessment of the principal risks facing the Group,
asdetailed in this section, which would threaten
the Group’s business model, future performance,
solvency or liquidity. Using the principal risks
identified, stress test scenario analysis has been
applied to the Group’s consolidated financial
model to assess the effect on the Group’s key
indicators of underlying performance. In the
scenarios reviewed including reverse stress
testing, the Group continues to have significant
headroom in relation to its financial covenants.

Based on the results of this analysis, the Directors
confirm they have a reasonable expectation that
the Group will be able to continue in operation
and meetitsliabilities as they fall due over

the three-year period of their assessment.

The financial model upon which the stress test
scenarios are applied to assess the viability of
the Group do notincorporate financial modelling
resulting from the proposed combination with
WestRock or the finance bridging facility put

in place.

Going Concern

After making enquiries, the Directors have a
reasonable expectation that the Company and
the Group as awhole have adequate resources to
continue in operational existence for the
foreseeable future. For this reason, they continue
toadopt the going concern basisin preparing the
Consolidated Financial Statements. See Note 2
Summary of Material Accounting Policies on
page 176 for further detail on Going Concern.

Emerging Risks

Emerging risks are considered as part of

the Group risk process. All identified emerging
risks are monitored and reported to the

Audit Committee and the Board. Following
consideration of emerging risks as part of the
risk process for 2023, there were no significant
emerging risksidentified that require disclosure.
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Combination of Smurfit Kappa

and WestRock Company

On 12 September 2023, Smurfit Kappa and
WestRock Company (‘WestRock’) announced
they had reached a definitive agreement on

the terms of a proposed combination (the
‘Transaction Agreement’) to be implemented
through (i) an acquisition by Smurfit WestRock
Limited (to be re-registered as a public limited
company under the laws of Ireland and renamed
Smurfit WestRock plc) (‘Smurfit WestRock’) of
the entire issued share capital of Smurfit Kappa
by means of a scheme of arrangement under
Section 450 of the Companies Act 2014 of Ireland
(the ‘Scheme’); and (ii) a merger of a subsidiary
of Smurfit WestRock with and into WestRock
(the ‘Merger’ and together with the Scheme,

the ‘Combination’).

The Combination is subject to certain conditions
setforthin the Transaction Agreement, including,
but notlimited to: certain regulatory clearances,

approval by the shareholders of Smurfit Kappa
and stockholders of WestRock, sanction of the
Scheme by the High Court of Ireland, the US
registration statement for the offer of the shares
of Smurfit WestRock being declared effective by
the US Securities and Exchange Commission,
approval of the shares of Smurfit WestRock for
listing on the NYSE, and approval of the shares
of Smurfit WestRock for listing on the Official
List of the Financial Conduct Authority.

Subject to shareholder approval and the other
closing conditions, the Combination is expected
to close in early July 2024.

The process completed for risk at the year-end
focused on the principal risks and uncertainties
for Smurfit Kappa as a standalone entity. As part
of that process, consideration was also given to any
risk to Smurfit Kappa which arises specifically
asaresult of the Combination, details of which
are outlined below.

Smurfit Kappa has incurred, and will incur, fees
and costs in connection with the Combination,
regardless of whether itis completed, and these
fees and costs may be greater than anticipated.
Any delay in the completion of the Combination
would likely incur additional fees and costs.

In the event of a valid termination of the
Combination by Smurfit Kappa, termination fees
may be payable by Smurfit Kappa to WestRock.

Further, Smurfit Kappa have been, and will
continue to, invest resources in the Combination
and the associated integration planning
activities. In the event that the Combination was
notto complete, these resources could otherwise
have been spentin connection with other
activities of Smurfit Kappa.

Risk Management Framework SKG plcBoard of Directors

The Group’s risk management framework

is embedded within our organisational
structure. Risk managementis owned by
management at each reporting level and is
evaluated and reviewed on a continuous basis.

Our risk management framework comprises:
operational management, who have
responsibility for identifying, managing and
mitigating risk within their local operations
on a day-to-day basis; Country/Cluster and
Divisional management who are responsible
for oversight and monitoring; and the
Executive Risk Committee who are
responsible for oversight together with the
identification, management and mitigation
of Group level risks. Group Internal Audit
acts as an independent assurance provider
over certain principal risks.

Audit
Committee

Group Internal
Audit Report

Group
Internal
Audit

Group Risk
Register

Executive Risk
Committee

Group Senior
Management

Subject Matter
Experts

Operationaland
Divisional
Management

External
Advisors
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Risk Report continued

Risk Description

Mitigation

Strategic priority

Trend

Economic

Ifthe current economic climate
were to deteriorate, for example
asaresult of geopolitical events
or uncertainty, trade tensions
and/or a pandemic, it could result
inan economic slowdown which,
if sustained over any significant
length of time, could adversely
affect the Group's financial
positionandresults of operations.

Asahighlyintegrated player, we are better able to cope

with the effects of an economic downturn than a pure paper

or corrugated producer.

The Group supplies approximately 70% of its packaging to FMCG
customers whose consumption volumes remain relatively stable
through market downturns.

The Group’s customer base is spread across Europe, the Americas
and Africa, spanning 36 countries across multiple industries.

The Group could significantly curtail capital expenditure and take
additional cost cutting measures within a relatively short period as
we have done in the past.

Stress testing for the Viability Statement indicates we will
continue to have significant headroom on our covenants even

in a sustained downturn.

The Group is considered an essential business as our packaging
serves many vital supply chains including medical equipment,
pharmaceutical, food and sanitation products.

06

Pricing

The cyclical nature of the
packagingindustry could result
in overcapacity and consequently
threaten the Group's pricing
structure.

Asahighlyintegrated player, we are better able to cope with

the effects of cyclicality and capacity additions than a pure paper
or corrugated producer.

Our differentiation programmes ensure we are at the forefront

of the industry in developing cost-efficient solutions for our
customers through performance packaging, quality management,
supply chain optimisation and strong sustainability credentials.
This service offering distinguishes the Group from pure
commodity suppliers, providing a support for more stable pricing.
Our continuous investment programmes in our operations

ensure we remain competitive and have alow cost mill system.

In an environment of overcapacity, our well invested, low cost
mill system will enable the Group to continue economic
production through a period of lower prices while higher
costmills will be forced to shut.

00®

Business Interruption

If operations at any of the Group's
facilities (in particularits key mills)
wereinterrupted forany
significant length of time, it could
adversely affect the Group's
financial position andresults

of operations.

The Group ensures that all facilities have adequate insurance

to mitigate the impact of significant interruption.

Operational contingency plans are in place for all mills and plants
inthe event of a shutdown, including damages caused by climate
change related to extreme weather patterns, which have been
demonstrated to work during shorter interruptions in the past.

In Europe, the Group has a network of operations which can
facilitate the transfer of significant volume to other millsin the
event of a shutdown. Furthermore, our European Paper Sourcing
operation centrally coordinates all external paper purchases for
the European operations.

There is continuous investment in a rigorous programme of
preventative maintenance for all key mills and other plants.

000
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Key to StrategicPriorities Key to Risk Trend

Market Partner Operational Investment Capital Increased Reduced Nochange
Position of Choice Excellence inPeople Allocation

Risk Description Mitigation Strategic priority Trend

Raw Materialsand
OtherInput Costs

Price fluctuationsin energy
and raw materials costs could
adversely affect the Group's
manufacturing costs.

The Group maintains a dedicated purchasing function @
which has responsibility for all input costs and ongoing @
costreduction programmes.

The Group maintains a strong supply arrangement for

approximately 77% of its recovered fibre requirements which

provides it with security of supply for its primary raw material

while maintaining an optimum level of flexibility with respect

to pricing.

Inline with the usual time lag, the Group would expect

implemented containerboard price increases to support

corrugated price recovery of increased input costs.

A proactive energy risk policy of forward pricing is in place which

is designed to minimise, where possible, material short-term

volatility in energy price risks within approved parameters.

The Group continually invests in a range of cost reduction projects,
primarily in the areas of energy and raw material efficiency that

can deliver demonstrable economic returns.

Currency
The Groupis exposed to currency
exchangerate fluctuations.

and, where practical, local operations are financed as much as
possibleinlocal currency.

The Group continually monitors and manages its foreign currency
exposures for all countries and constantly seeks opportunities to
reduce these exposures. The Group Treasury Policy sets out rules
and guidance for managing thisarea.

The Group ensures that short-term trading exposures are hedged @

Talent Management

and the Workplace

The Group may not be able
toattract, develop andretain
suitably qualified employees
asrequired forits business.

Continuous development by our HR department of a People €
Strategy to attract, engage, train, motivate and retain our people, @ @
to meet emerging talent expectations and to ensure talent
competitiveness.

Periodic MyVoice surveys and workforce engagement initiatives

are undertaken to measure employee engagement and set future

priorities as well as programmes to increase engagement

and recognition.

Processes are in place to identify and develop our high potential

people, together with a continuous focus on leadership training

and succession planning.

A Group wide Human Resource Information System, MyHub,

isin place to professionalise, modernise and simplify all our

HR systems for a greater employee experience.

Development of our existing competitive remuneration

and recognition packages and review processes.

Reinforcement of our talent recruitment strategy (universities,

graduate programmes, etc.), to attract highly talented people

with the potential to become the future leaders of the Group.
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Risk Report continued

Risk Description

Mitigation Strategic priority

Trend

Health, Safety and Wellbeing
Failure to maintain good health
and safety and employee
wellbeing practices may

have anadverse effect

onthe Group's business.

— Health, safety and employee wellbeing are core considerations
in all management reviews. The protection of the health, safety @ @
and wellbeing of the workforce is a continual focus in an industry
with a broad profile of hazards.

— Increased focusis given to the strictadoption of good
management, employee practices and a mindset that
complements existing risk mitigation measures. Divisional Health
and Safety managers are in place with responsibility for enforcing
good health and safety standards across their respective regions.

— The Group has an established formal practice of investigating
accidents and preparing safety bulletins which are shared
across divisions.

— A Group wide auditing process based on current high risk
activities.

— Annual safety improvement planning is undertaken.

— A Group wide health and safety management tool is in place
to efficiently and effectively track, report and analyse data.

Legislation and Regulation
—Environmental

The Groupis subject toagrowing
number of environmentaland
climate changelaws and
regulations, and the cost of
compliance or the failure to comply
with current and future laws and
regulations may negatively affect
the Group's business.

— The Group’s environmental and climate change policies ensure @
each site has a manager who is responsible for environmental @
issues including monitoring air, noise and water emissions
and ensuring that the site is running within its permits.

— The Group’s environmental managementis in contact with
appropriate local authorities and environmental upgrades are
made in consultation with them.

— All our paper and board mills are operated under an EMS
(Environmental Management System) (ISO 14001).

— We continuously invest in our operations, to ensure compliance
with environmental legislation.

— The Group hasanIT reporting system in over 300 sites ensuring
environmental data is reported on a regular basis.

— The Group has centralised coordination of all environmental
activity providing a key interface to the EU, supported by regular
review by senior executives.

— For newly acquired entities robust environmental due diligence
is performed.

Legislation and Regulation
—Anti-trust

The Groupis subject to anti-trust
and similar legislationin the
jurisdictionsin whichit operates.

— A comprehensive Group Competition Law Compliance Policy @
isin place and communicated to all employees. All managers @
and market-facing employees are required to formally confirm
adherence to the policy for the preceding calendar year by signing
a Competition Law Compliance Certificate on an annual basis.

— Group General Counsel advises and supports employees and
managementin thisarea.

— 32competition law ambassadors have been appointed at
cluster level to assist with competition law compliance initiatives
including regular communication and promotion to staff and
local management.

— Continuous process to ensure understanding of issues and
implications of regulatory practice and legislative amendments.

— Contracts with competitors are recorded in an online register.

— Reduced trade association participation.
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Market Partner Operational Investment Capital Increased Reduced Nochange
Position of Choice Excellence inPeople Allocation

Risk Description Mitigation Strategic priority Trend

Cyber and Information
Security

The Group, similar to otherlarge
global companies, is susceptible
to cyberattacks with the threat to
the confidentiality, integrity and
availability of datainits systems.

Formally documented policies in relation to information security
including cyber security are in place.

The Group maintains a framework to ensure awareness at each
level of the organisation with regard to the implementation of
cyber security. This framework is regularly tested.

Specific controls are in place to prevent and detect security issues
relating to business critical systems.

External Penetration testing is completed on an annual basis by
specialist third parties with any issues remediated in accordance
with formal procedures.

Defined business continuity and IT disaster recovery plans
arein place and are frequently tested.

The Group is committed to ongoing capital expenditure
asappropriate to continually enhance the IT infrastructure.

The Group continues to increase employee communications
relating to cyber security including the introduction of specific
cyber and information security campaigns to ensure vigilance
ismaintained.

Cyber security training is mandatory for all employees and

the Board.

Completion of a cyber security maturity risk assessment

by a third party.

0060

Climate Change

The globalimpact of climate
changeinthelong-term could
adversely affect the Group's
business andresults of operations.

Continuous reduction of Scope 1 and 2 emissions through specific
investments in energy generation, energy reduction and non-fossil
fuel-based energy sources (including renewables). The Group is
improving its understanding of its Scope 3 emissions inventory
and developing strategies to reduce them in 2024 and beyond.
Climate scenario analyses conducted in 2021 and 2023 indicates
thatthe proportion of asset value at risk is low.

Continuous development of innovative packaging solutions

for the Group’s customers that can demonstrably reduce their
carbon footprint.

Validation of the Group’s emission reduction targets as being
science-based and in line with the Paris Agreement.

g@@@
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Financial Review

Our Capital Allocation
framework has

been central to the
transformation of
our business.

Ourresultsin 2023 reflect our relentless focus on cost, quality and
efficiency, the strength of the integrated model and the incremental

benefits from our capital plans.

Our 2023 results represent an excellent outcome
setagainsta challenging year for the wider
industry. This performance reflects the resilience
of our integrated operating model, the ongoing
benefits of our investment programme and the
dedication and commitment of our people in
providing our customers across 36 countries with
the mostinnovative and sustainable packaging
solutions. Sustainability is not separate from our
financial performance, with a circular business
model, an ever improving environmental
footprintand a product portfolio that’s renewable,
recyclable and biodegradable - sustainability
and financial performance are clearly linked.

Revenue

Revenue for 2023 was €11,272 million, down 12%
on 2022 on areported basis and down 11% on an
underlying basis. Revenue in Europe was down
14% driven primarily by lower paper and box
pricing year-on-year and lower box volumes.

On an underlying basis, revenue in Europe was
down 12%. In the Americas, revenue was down
5% on 2022, or 6% on an underlying basis.

European revenue decreased by €1,404 million
t0€8,496 million in 2023, with an underlying
decrease of €1,179 million and net negative
currency and hyperinflationary movements

of €90 million, along with a net negative impact
of €135 million from acquisitions and disposals.

Revenue in the Americas decreased by

€139 million in 2023 to €2,776 million, with an
underlying decrease of €184 million, equating

to 6%, and an impact of €32 million from
acquisitions, along with net positive currency
and hyperinflationary movements of €13 million.
The underlying decrease was mainly driven by
lower volumes, partly offset by higher box prices.

EBITDA

EBITDA for 2023 was €2,080 million, 12% lower
than 2022. However, the Group EBITDA margin
for the year was 18.5%, up from 18.4% in 2022,
reflecting higher margins in both Europe and
the Americas. This result reflects our relentless
focus on cost, quality and efficiency, the
strength of the integrated model and
incremental benefits from our capital plan
along with the commitment and dedication

of our people. On an underlying basis, Group
EBITDA was down 9% on 2022, with Europe
down 10% while the Americas was flat.

Further information in relation to Alternative Performance
Measures referenced in this Statement is included in the
Supplementary Information section on pages 226 to 231.

Highlights

2023 2022

€m €m Change

Revenue €11,272 €12,815 (12%)
EBITDA €2,080 €2,355 (12%)
EBITDA margin 18.5% 18.4%
Basic EPS (cent) 293.5 365.3 (20%)
Pre-exceptional EPS (cent) 348.7 444.1 (21%)
ROCE 17.1% 21.8%
Netdebt to EBITDA (times) 1.4x 1.3x
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Trading Overview

2023 2022

Pre-exceptional Exceptional Total Pre-exceptional Exceptional Total

€m €m €m €m €m €m

Revenue 11,272 - 11,272 12,815 = 12,815
Costofsales (7,485) - (7,485) (8,752) = (8,752)
Gross profit 3,787 - 3,787 4,063 - 4,063
Distribution, admin costs & other expenses (2,384) (152) (2,536) (2,401) (223) (2,624)
Operating profit 1,403 (152) 1,251 1,662 (223) 1,439
Net finance costs (185) (13) (198) (149) - (149)
Share of associates' profit (after tax) 2 - 2 3 - 3
Profit beforeincome tax 1,220 (165) 1,055 1,516 (223) 1,293
Income tax expense (296) (348)
Profit for the financial year 759 945

In Europe, EBITDA decreased by 14% to

€1,593 million in 2023. The EBITDA margin was
18.8% up from 18.6% in 2022 with the move
reflecting lower box volumes and lower average
box prices, which were more than compensated
by the impact of lower recovered fibre, energy
and other raw material costs. EBITDA in Europe
was €253 million lower thanin 2022 ona
reported basis with an underlying decrease

of €192 million and a net negative contribution
of €30 million from acquisitions and disposals,
along with negative currency movements

of €31 million. While box volumes were down
3.3% year-on-year, each quarter showed
sequential improvementin demand and box
volumes in the fourth quarter of the year
remained flat compared to the same period of
2022. Demand weakness in Western European
markets was partly offset by a more resilient
performance in our Southern and Eastern
European operations.

Our European business continued to build

onits strong operating platform during the

year with a number of projects across our paper,
corrugated and specialty divisions. In our paper
division, we have approved investments right
across our mill network which will take out cost,
increase efficiency and enhance the Group’s
leadership position in sustainability. In our
corrugated division, we are investing in modern,
energy efficient equipment, including upgrades
to corrugators, new converting equipment and
expanding capacity in our Bag-in-Box division.
These investments will allow the Group to
increase production, reduce our environmental
footprint and expand our portfolio of value-
added packaging solutions.

In the first half of the year, the Group completed
itsinvestment projectin Poland resultingina
significant expansion of its Pruszkéw corrugated
plant. The expansion makes the plant Smurfit
Kappa’s largestin Poland and one of the most
advanced packaging plants in Europe.
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In 2023, the average price of testliner was

€221 per tonne lower and the average price of
kraftliner was €188 per tonne lower compared
to the prior year. Commercial downtime taken
by our recycled containerboard mills in Europe
was approximately 330,000 tonnes in 2023 with
almost no commercial downtime taken in our
kraftliner mills. In order to maintain our position
asakey player in the market and to address

the weak demand backdrop, SKG announced
the closure of its 75,000 tonnes per year

Alfa d’Avignon recycled containerboard

millin Le Pontet, France.

Earlier in the year, the Group announced
thatithad sold its Russian operations to local
management thereby completing its exit from
the Russian market. In July, the Group opened
anew integrated corrugated plant in Morocco,
making this SKG’s first operation in the attractive
growth market of North Africa. Also during the
year, the Group acquired a specialty packaging
operation in Spain and a folding carton business
in Poland.

Inthe Americas, EBITDA increased by 1% on
2022 to €557 million. The EBITDA margin
improved to 20.1% from 19.0% in 2022 with
Colombia, Mexico and the US accounting for
over 75% of the region’s earnings. Box volumes
inthe Americas, excluding acquisitions, were
down by 4.3% compared to 2022 with sequential
demand improvement seen through each
quarter and a return to growth realised in the
fourth quarter of 1.6% year-on-year.

SKG continued to invest in its Americas business
during the year, with growth and sustainability
related investments across our forestry, paper
and packaging businesses in Brazil, Colombia,
Mexico and the US. We approved investments

in our paper division to upgrade machines and
increase production efficiencies, investing

in automation in our forestry division to take

out costs, while investing in state-of-the-art
converting equipment in our corrugated division.

Allowing for a net negative impact from
acquisitions and disposals of €22 million

and net negative currency and hyperinflation
movements of €32 million, the underlying
year-on-year decrease in EBITDA for the Group
was €221 million, equating to 9%.

Pre-exceptional net finance costs
Pre-exceptional net finance costs at €185 million
were €36 million higher than 2022 primarily
due to a negative swing in the net monetary
hyperinflationary gain in 2022 to aloss in 2023
and a higher interest cost on net pension
liabilities, partly offset by lower cash interest.

Exceptional ltems

Exceptional items charged within operating
profitin 2023 amounted to €152 million,

€58 million of this related to costs associated
with the proposed Combination with WestRock,
€34 million related to currency recycling,
impairment of residual assets up to the date

of disposal and other costs associated with the
disposal of our Russian operations, €30 million
due to the devaluation of the Argentinian Peso,
€11 million related to redundancy and
reorganisation costs in the Americas and

€14 million and €5 million respectively for

the closure of our operations and impairment
of property, plantand equipmentin

Alfa d’Avignon, France.
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Summary Cash Flow

2023 2022
€m €m
EBITDA 2,080 2,355
Exceptionalitems (49) (3)
Cashinterestexpense (123) (132)
Working capital change 148 (358)
Capital expenditure (1,056) (970)
Changein capital creditors 73 (24)
Taxpaid (406) (321)
Change inemployee benefits and other provisions (66) (25)
Other 27 23
Free cashflow 628 545
Disposal of Russian operations 1 (50)
Share buyback - (41)
Purchase of own shares (28) (28)
Purchase of businesses, investmentsand NCI (30) (110)
Dividends (367) (333)
Bond consent and bridge facility fees (23) =
Derivative termination (payments)/receipts (3) 1
Net cash inflow/(outflow) 178 (16)
Acquired debt - (3)
Deferred debtissue costs amortised (7) (7)
Currency translation adjustments (19) (81)
Decrease/(increase)innet debt 152 (107)

Areconciliation of the Summary Cash Flow to the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows, a reconciliation of Other Non-cash Movements to Note 19 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements and a reconciliation of Free Cash Flow to Cash Generated from Operations are included in sections K and L in Alternative Performance Measures in the Supplementary

Information section on pages 229 to 231.

Exceptional items charged within operating
profitin 2022 amounted to €223 million,

of which €128 million related to the impairment
of assets in our Russian operations, €56 million
and €11 million respectively for the impairment
of goodwill in Argentina and Peru, €14 million
for redundancy and reorganisation costs in

the Americas along with €14 million for the
impairment of property, plant and equipment
in our North American operations.

Net exceptional finance items were €13 million
in 2023 and represented bond consent and
bridge facility fees regarding the proposed
Combination partly offset by an exceptional
item in relation to the devaluation of the
Argentinian Peso.

There were no exceptional finance items
charged in 2022.

Profit Before Income Tax

After exceptional items, the Group’s profit
before income tax amounted to€1,055 million
in 2023, comprising the pre-exceptional profit
of €1,220 million and an exceptional charge of
€165 million. In 2022, the profit before income
tax was €1,293 million, comprising the
pre-exceptional profit of €1,516 million and
an exceptional charge of €223 million.

Income Tax Expense

The income tax expense in 2023 was €296 million
compared to €348 million in 2022. The net
reduction of €52 million was mainly due to lower
profitability, the effects of the reversal of timing
differences and the recognition of tax losses and
other credits. The group recorded tax credits of
€22 million on exceptional items compared to
€20 million in 2022. Exceptional items increased
the effective tax rate by approximately 2% and
3% in 2023 and 2022 respectively. The resulting
group effective tax rate in 2023 was 28%
compared to 27% in 2022.

The group continues to make a positive
fiscal contribution to the countries in which
itoperates. It made corporate income tax
payments of €406 million and €321 million
in 2023 and 2022 respectively.

Earnings per Share

Basic EPS amounted to 293.5 centin 2023
compared to 365.3 centin 2022. On a diluted
basis, our EPSin 2023 amounted to 291.2 cent
compared to 361.8 centin 2022.

The year-on-year decrease in the Group’s

basic EPS reflected a €188 million decrease

in operating profit, along with an increase of
€49 million in net finance costs, partly offset by
adecrease of €52 million in income tax expense.
On a pre-exceptional basis, our EPS in 2023
decreased by 21% from 444.1 centin 2022
t0348.7 centin 2023.

Cash Flow

Free cash flow in 2023 was €628 million
compared to €545 million in 2022, an increase

of €83 million. Lower EBITDA of €275 million
combined with higher outflows on exceptional
items, higher tax payments and a higher outflow
for changes in employee benefits and other
provisions were more than offset by a positive
swing in working capital from an outflow in 2022
toaninflowin 2023 with capital outflows
remaining broadly stable.

Cash interest amounted to €123 million in 2023
compared to €132 million in 2022, with the
decrease largely as a result of additional interest
income earned on our deposits due to the higher
interest rate environment. This was partly offset
by higher interest costs on our variable rate
debtbalances.

The working capital inflow in 2023 was

€148 million compared to an outflow of

€358 million in 2022. The working capital inflow
in 2023 was a combination of a significant
decrease in debtors and stock, partly offset

by a decrease in creditors. These movements
reflected the combination of lower box prices,
lower paper prices and lower energy, recovered
fibre and other raw material prices. Working
capital amounted to €768 million at December
2023 and represented 7.0% of annualised
revenue compared to 8.3% at December 2022.
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Capital expenditure in 2023 amounted to

€1,056 million (equating to 171% of depreciation)
compared to €970 million (equating to 155%)

in 2022.

Tax payments of €406 million in 2023 were
€85 million higher than in 2022. The increase
in 2023 mainly arises due to higher profits

in prior periods and the associated timing

of tax payments.

The increase in the outflow for the change

in employee benefits and other provisionsis
primarily due to a higher outflow for retirement
benefits and alower inflow for current
provisions in 2023.

The ‘other’ netinflow in 2023 primarily
represented a hyperinflationary adjustment
inflow along with right-of-use asset modifications.

The ‘other’ netinflow in 2022 primarily
represented a hyperinflationary adjustment
inflow, the sale of property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use asset modifications.

Driven by the dividend payments of €367 million
and the purchase of businesses, investments
and non-controlling interests (NCI’) of

€30 million, investment and financing cash
flows for the year 2023 amounted to €450 million
compared to €561 million in 2022. Other
outflows mainly comprised €23 million for bond
consent and bridge facility fees for the proposed
Combination with WestRock and €28 million for
the purchase of shares under the Deferred
Bonus Plan (‘DBP’).

The outflow of €30 million in 2023 for the
purchase of businesses, investments and NCI
mainly related to the purchase of Cartonajes
Carrién in Spain and Asterias in Poland, along
with the payment of the deferred consideration
on previous acquisitions, Pusa Pack and PaperBox.

Driven by the dividend payments of €333 million
and the purchase of businesses, investments and
NCI of €110 million, investment and financing
cash flows for the year 2022 amounted to

€561 million. Other outflows mainly comprised
€50 million for the impairment of cash balances
held in our Russian operations, €41 million for
the share buyback and €28 million for the
purchase of shares under the DBP.

The outflow of €110 million in 2022 for the
purchase of businesses, investments and NCI
mainly comprised the acquisitions in Argentina,
the UK, Spain and Brazil along with €11 million
for the payment of the deferred consideration
for the Serbian acquisition.
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With our free cash flow of €628 million in 2023
partly offset by the netinvestment and financing
outflows of €450 million, the result was a net
cash inflow of €178 million compared to an
outflow of €16 million in 2022. After the
amortisation of deferred debt issue costs and net
negative currency translation adjustments, net
debt decreased by €152 million to €2,840 million
at December 2023 from €2,992 million at
December 2022.

The net negative currency translation
adjustment of €19 million in 2023 mainly related
to the Argentinian Peso, the Colombian Peso,
the Polish Zloty and the Mexican Peso, partly
offset by gains on the US dollar.

The net negative currency translation
adjustment of €81 million in 2022 mainly related
to the US dollar and the Swedish krona.

With net debt of €2,840 million and EBITDA of
€2,080 million, our leverage ratio was 1.4 times
at December 2023 compared to 1.3 times at
December 2022. The increase in our leverage
was driven primarily by the decrease in EBITDA
partly offset by alower level of net debt.

Capital Resources and Liquidity
Committed facilities (excluding short-term
sundry bankloans, overdrafts and the bridge
facility, which is available to finance the cash
consideration and/or fees, commissions,

costs and expenses in relation to the proposed
Combination) amounted to €5,002 million
(2022:€5,045 million) of which €3,344 million
(2022:€3,390 million) was utilised at

31 December 2023. The weighted average period
until maturity of undrawn committed facilities
is 2.2 years (2022: 3.2 years).

The Group has a €1,350 million sustainability-
linked Revolving Credit Facility (RCF’) with a
maturity of January 2026, which incorporates
five KPIs spanning the Group’s sustainability
objectives regarding climate change, forests,
water, waste and people, with the level of KPI
achievement linked to the pricing on the facility.
At 31 December 2023, the Group’s drawings on
this facility were €4 million, atan interest rate
0f4.6%.

At 31 December 2023, the Group had
outstanding €13 million variable funding notes
(‘VFNSs’) issued under the €230 million trade
receivables securitisation programme maturing
in November 2026 and €5 million VFNs issued
under the €100 million trade receivables
securitisation programme maturingin

January 2026.

Both these securitisation programmes are
sustainability-linked and incorporate five KPIs
spanning the Group’s sustainability objectives
regarding climate change, forests, water, waste
and people, with the level of KPI achievement
linked to the pricing on the programmes.

18.5+

EBITDA marginin 2023
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Investment

Europe
Our largest plant
in Poland

Investing €40 millionin
state-of-the-art technology, as
part of our expansionin Poland,
has created one of the most
high-tech packaging plants

in Europe.

We announced in May 2023 the completion
of this latest investment projectin Poland,
resulting in a significant expansion of our
Pruszkow corrugated plant. The expansion
makes the plant Smurfit Kappa's largestin
Poland and one of the most high-tech and
modern packaging plantsin Europe.

In addition to the state-of-the-art machinery
installed at the plant, we announced that

50 new jobs would be created, bringing
employment to more than 250 staffat the
location. These new jobs enable the plant to
further serve its customer portfolio, which
includes some of the leading brands in the
FMCG food and beverage sectors, and serves
both international and local customers.

The investmentin Poland included the
installation of a new high-tech corrugator and
arange of ultra-modern converting machinery.
The plant was also equipped with a new finished
goods warehouse, which canaccommodate
upwards of 12,000 pallets. The investment
increases the number of boxes produced
annually to 500 million and has extended

the facility toits current size of 37,500 m2.

Commenting at the official opening event, which
was attended by hundreds of our customers,
CEO of Smurfit Kappa North-East Europe,
Jacek Nieweglowski, said: “We are delighted
to officially unveil the new manufacturing
plant here in Pruszkow. This project took
just over one year to complete and will
enable us to continue to pursue our strategic
goal of being the supplier of choice to our
customers, particularly those looking

for the most innovative and sustainable
packaging solutions.”

@

This significant investment
marks our strategic
commitment to our presence
in Poland and in Eastern
Europe. The Pruszkow plant
isintegral to our business
and has a talented and skilled
workforce fully committed
todelivering the best service
to our customers.

Saverio Mayer
CEO of Smurfit Kappa Europe
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In connection with the proposed Combination,
we entered into a bridge facility agreementin
the amount of US$1,500 million which is
available to finance the cash consideration
and/or fees, commissions, costs and expenses
in connection with the proposed Combination.
At 31 December 2023, the bridge facility

was undrawn.

The Group remains strongly positioned within
its BBB-/BBB-/Baa3 credit rating. Following the
announcement of the proposed Combination,
Moody’s placed our credit rating on Review for
Upgrade, S&P Global Ratings placed our credit
rating on CreditWatch Positive and Fitch Ratings
placed our long-term default rating on Rating
Watch Positive.

At 31 December 2023, the Group’s average
interest rate was 2.79% compared to 2.89% at
31 December 2022. The decrease in our average
interest rate on debt was primarily due to the
repayment of debt during the year in certain

of our higher interest rate environments.

At 31 December 2023, over 95% of the Group’s
gross borrowing were at fixed interest rates.

At 31 December 2023, the Group’s diversified
funding base and long-dated maturity profile
of 4.0 years (2022: 4.9 years) provide a stable
funding outlook. At 31 December 2023, we

had a strong liquidity position of approximately
€2.56 billion comprising cash balances of

€905 million, undrawn available committed
facilities of €1,346 million on our RCF and

€312 million on our securitisation programmes.

Market Risk and

Risk Management Policies

The Board sets the Group’s treasury policies
and objectives, which include controls over the
procedures used to manage financial market
risks. These are set out in detail in Note 27 to
the Consolidated Financial Statements.

The Group’s fixed rate debt comprised

€250 million 2.75% senior notes due 2025,
US$292.3 million 7.50% senior debentures due
2025, €1,000 million 2.875% senior notes due
2026, €750 million 1.5% senior notes due 2027,
€500 million 0.5% senior green notes due 2029
and €500 million 1.0% senior green notes

due 2033.

The Group’s earnings are affected by changes
in short-term interest rates on its floating rate
borrowings and cash balances. If interest

rates for these borrowings increased by 1%,
the Group’s interest expense would increase,
and income before taxes would decrease,

by approximately €2 million over the following
12 months. Interestincome on the Group’s
cash balances would increase by approximately
€9 million assuming a 1% increase in interest
rates earned on such balances over the
following 12 months.

The Group uses foreign currency borrowings,

currency swaps and forward contracts in the
management of its foreign currency exposures.
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Sustainability

Sustainability is a key part of SKG’s strategy.
Focusing on delivering sustainable packaging
solutions made in an increasingly sustainable
way means that we also play an integral role
in the delivery of not only our customers’
sustainability goals but also those of the

end consumer.

Smurfit Kappa continues to make significant
progress towards achieving its sustainability
goals as outlined in its 16 Sustainable
Development Report (‘SDR’) published in 2023.
The report shows that the Group’s actions are
delivering today, and together with its ongoing
investments and continuous improvement, we
are well positioned to deliver on our long-term
ambition to have atleast netzero emissions

by 2050.

In 2023, as outlined in the Sustainability section
on pages 58 to 95, the Group made progress

on anumber of its key sustainability targets;
35.8% reduction in waste to landfill against
a2013 baseline, ahead of its 30%, 2025 target;
and 95.5% of packaging solutions sold as

Chain of Custody certified.

Following in the footsteps of alandmark

US$100 million investment announced in 2022
in a sustainable biomass boiler in our paper mill
in Cali, Colombia, further sustainability
initiatives were undertaken during 2023
including the installation of 12,000 solar panels
atour Sangtiesa paper mill in Spain. This solar
energy projectis the latest for Smurfit Kappa
which haslaunched similar green energy
initiatives at plants in Spain, Colombia, Mexico
and most recently, in our new facility in Morocco.

In 2023, we also completed a €27 million
investmentin a new waste management and
recovery facility at our Nervion paper mill
inIurreta, Spain. This investment sees the
mill adopt a fully circular production process
involving the biggest landfill reduction project
that the Group has undertaken to date.

In September, we inaugurated a pioneering
purification and wastewater treatment plant

in Belgrade, Serbia, the first of its kind in the
country. This innovative treatment purifies
water to the highest standards before it can be
returned to the environment. The purified water
can be reused thereby further reducing water
consumption by up to 90%.

35.8

reduction in waste to landfill
againsta2013 baseline
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During the year, we approved significant
investments to upgrade a combined heat and
power plantin one of our European paper mills
which will further reduce our carbon emissions
alongside upgrading a number of water
treatment plants and systems right across

our operations.

Having been awarded in 2023 asbotha
Regional Top Rated and Industry Top Rated
company by Morningstar Sustainalytics,
SKG has retained both honours this year for
its strong ESG credentials and continuous
improvement. The Group is now ranked first
in Paper Packaging in 2024, up from second
in 2023 and fourth in 2022.

Smurfit Kappa continues to be listed on various
environmental, social and governance indices
and disclosure programmes, such as CDP,
FTSE4Good, the Green Economy Mark from the
London Stock Exchange, Euronext Vigeo Europe
120, STOXX Global ESG Leaders, ISS Solactive
and Ethibel’s sustainable investment register.
The Group also performs strongly across a
number of third party certification bodies,
including MSCI, ISS ESG and Morningstar
Sustainalytics.

AtSmurfit Kappa we understand the importance
of developing a greater understanding of
nature-based risks and opportunities. The Group
announced its early adoption of the Taskforce
on Nature-related Financial Disclosures
(‘TNFD’) in January 2024. This is something we
look forward to seeing progress on in advance

of the 2025 commitment.

Capital Allocation

We aim to ensure that our capital allocation
takes into account all stakeholder groups. Itis
very much a returns focused allocation which
continues to be a key underpin to our success.

1.4x

We believe that capital allocated to internal
projectsis central to this success. Today, more
than ever before, we are seeing the benefits

of having a well invested asset base with an
integrated system of mills and box plants sitting
low on the cost curve and primed for future
growth. Well timed and well executed capital
expenditure programs are a hallmark for the
Group and are a testament to the experience
and tenure of our senior management team.

Net Debt to EBITDA times

The dividend is another cornerstone of our
capital allocation strategy. SKGis a highly cash
generative business and our dividend policy
isa progressive one and aims to ensure that
the allocation of cashflows to the dividend is
proportionate to other forms of allocated capital
over the long-term. The 10% increase in the
recommended final dividend for 2023 is
anillustration of our continuing confidence
inthe strength, quality and performance

of the Smurfit Kappa business.

The expansion of our capital allocation
framework to now include other forms of
shareholders returns underscores the flexibility
and agility of this framework and ensures that
all avenues to create and return value to our
shareholders are considered and benchmarked
againstall options.

Financial Strength

Our highly effective capital allocation
programme, which has deployed higher levels of
capital towards internal investments, M&A and
grown our dividend over the years, ultimately
ensures long-term value creation for all our
stakeholders, and with net debt to EBITDA at
1.4times, the strength of the Group’s investment
grade balance sheet continues to secure
long-term strategic and financial flexibility.

Ken Bowles
Group Chief Financial Officer
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Stakeholders

Engaging with
our stakeholders

We want to build a culture that fosters engagement
and enables us to build and maintain successful
relationships with our stakeholders.

Effective engagement Our Key Stakeholder Groups

Inline with the UK Corporate Governance Code,
Smurfit Kappa strives to understand the views
andinterests of all stakeholders. Feedback from
allengagement activities is considered by the
Board as part of its decision-making processes
and we believe that effective engagement helps
us inunderstanding the impact our decisions
have on all our stakeholders and improves and
fosters our relationships with them.

Customers

Employees

Engaging with our customers
allows critical information flow
about supply chain management,
packaging requirements and
sustainability goals, enabling

us to balance our customers'
short-term pressures with
long-termresilience.

Our people are at the centre of
everythingwe do. We want to be
recognised as a globally admired
company, a great place to work
and an employer of choice.

How we engage

— Ongoing Customer Engagement
— Award Winning

— Design2Market Factory

— Events

— Customer Experience

e Read more about customer engagement
onpage 50
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— Board Visits and Focus Groups
— Employee Meetings
— Employee Engagement Surveys

o Read more about employee engagement
onpages52to53
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Investors Suppliers Communities
We engage withourinvestorsto ~ Our sustainable andresponsible =~ We are proud to support

build and maintain confidence and
support from those thatinvest
inandlend to Smurfit Kappa.

sourcing programme ensures
that we partner with suppliers
who have compatible goals
and practices.

the communities in which
we operate and make positive,
long-lasting changes.

— Ongoing Investor Engagement
— Annual General Meeting (‘(AGM’)
— Annual Report

— ESG Ratings by Rating Agencies

o Read more about investor engagement
onpage 54

— Compliance with Our Policies
and Audits

— Training

— Standardisation

— Supplier Collaboration

— Innovation

— Sustainability

0 Read more about supplier engagement
onpage55

— Smurfit Kappa Foundation
— Community Initiatives

— Supporting Families

— Medical Treatment

e Read more about community engagement
onpages56to57
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Customers

How we engage

Ongoing Customer Engagement

In 2023, global recovery remained slow amid
achallenging macro backdrop of high inflation
and geopolitical instability. Reliable and
resilient supply chains that are better adapted
to emerging geopolitical uncertainties are now
often prioritised over lower cost. Across Europe
and the Americas, our sales teams continue to
strengthen our customers’ supply chains and
translate opportunities into tangible and
sustainable commercially impactful solutions.
One such example is our recently launched
SupplySmart digital solution.

SupplySmart has evolved to tackle increased
supply chain complexities and uncertainty ina
world that has seen one supply chain disruption
after another. Using insights from the analysis
of over 100,000 supply chains, itidentifies
opportunities for optimisation across the entire
length of the supply chain. Its new digital twin
feature also allows customers to test their updated
sustainable packaging in a virtual environment
to eliminate risks ahead of implementation.

In Our Innovative Solutions Section on

pages 10 to 15, we have examples of how our
commitment to innovation has made sizeable
differences in reducing carbon emissions and
driving growth for our customers.

Shaping the future of packaging in Europe is
the Packaging and Packaging Waste Regulation
(‘PPWR’). It envisions a future where all
packaging materials are reusable or recyclable
by 2030. This paradigm shift will see industries
seeking out alternative materials, rethinking
packaging design and investing in new waste
managementsystems. It presentsasboth a
challenge and an opportunity. Our whole
business at Smurfit Kappa is built around
reducing the impact of packaging on the planet
and improving supply chains for billions of
people. We are more than ready to support our
customers achieve their waste related targets.

Award Winning

During 2023, we were delighted to win

the prestigious PepsiCo ‘Supplier of the Year’
award. The prize recognises excellence across
sustainability, speed to market and overall
business performance. Smurfit Kappa supplies
PepsiCo’s European food business providing
innovative solutions for many of its brands
including Walkers, Doritos, Lay’s and Cheetos.
We also supply PepsiCo in several countries
inthe Americas including Argentina, Brazil,
Colombia, Mexico and the US. The award is
the latest milestone in a 15-year partnership
during which PepsiCo and Smurfit Kappa have
collaborated on various stand-out projects.
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Across the Smurfit Kappa Group, we continue
to be recognised for our innovative and
transformational packaging solutions.

In 2023, we received 74 awards. These awards
span packaging design, innovation and
sustainability, and recognise our unwavering
commitment to excelling in these areas on
behalf of our customers.

Design2Market Factory

Smurfit Kappa’s Design2Market Factory will

be expanding across Europe after a successful
firstyear in operation. The 3,000m? original
innovation hub in the Netherlands has been
home to over 50 successful projects for some

of the world’s biggest consumer brands.

The innovative facility, which enables customers
to testand adapt their packaging on a small scale
before market launch will be replicated across
Germany, Italy, Poland and the UK. Smurfit
Kappa’s multi-disciplinary team takes a customer
packaging challenge and designs a new solution
which is ready to be tested in the market in just
two weeks. The user-driven prototypes are
designed in collaboration with customers
combining creativity, technical expertise and
advanced Al models to address specific needs.

To date, the team has created, analysed

and launched on the market many innovative
solutions including shelf-ready packaging

for detergent, a paper-based replacement

for shrink wrap and a complete range

of e-commerce solutions.

In addition to reducing risk and turnaround
time, Design2Market Factory provides
customers with sustainable packaging solutions
that reduce their carbon footprint and support
their recyclability targets.

Events

The EU Green Deal along with the eco-conscious
consumer has prompted many of our customers
to commit to ambitious sustainability targets.
We meet their need to ‘know more’ and make
progress on their sustainability agenda with
our Better Planet Packaging (‘BPP’) Innovation
programme and its dedicated BPP days held
across Europe. The purpose of our BPP days
isto keep our customers informed of regulatory
developments, share the latest sustainability
trends and introduce our most innovative BPP
solutions. Throughout 2023, we hosted 12 BPP
days across both Europe and the Americas with
ahigh customer turnout across the board.

At Smurfit Kappa, we strongly believe that we
become better innovators by bringing discipline
to the process of selecting and choosing the best
innovations across our business. Our Innovation
Awards event held in early 2024 recognises the

Delivering on our Strategic Priorities:
Partner of choice

%

design talent across our business. Entries were
submitted by innovators across the Smurfit
Kappa Group in 2023, with the finalists selected
by ajury of customers.

Customer Experience

We are passionate about our customers and
their experience. In 2023, we carried outan
extensive customer experience survey with

our strategic accounts. Customer experience

is something that we continue to track.

The responses help us to understand where we
are delivering and where we can better meet our
customers’ emerging needs. We were delighted
to achieve our highest-ever customer
experience score; this speaks to the strength

of our relationships, quality of our service and
innovative packaging solutions that achieve real
and measurable benefits for our customers.

The survey responses will help to shape our
plansand investment for the year ahead.

Smurfit Kappa’s Experience Centres offer
another opportunity to collaborate with our
customers, and are a place to harness innovation
and creativity. Our exhibitions with their virtual
reality and inspiration rooms offer a hands-on
experience of the innovative strength of our
business. In July 2023, we opened our new
experience centre in Morocco, our first
Experience Centre in the country. This latest
investment, our 29" worldwide, is an
opportunity to foster enhanced collaboration
with our customers and provide creative ideas
and insights.

@

This ‘Supplier of the Year’ award
recognises Smurfit Kappa for
its outstanding performance
and unwavering dedication to
advancing our agendain being
faster, stronger and better.
Smurfit Kappa exceeded all
our expectationsin terms

of delivering value, showing
commitment to delivering our
objectives, driving innovation,
cost transformation and
sustainability.

SherifEskandar
ChiefProcurement Officer of PepsiCo Europe
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Mexicois the second largest economy in Latin
America, after Brazil, and has an ideal location a

foraccessing the US market.
Investment Thisimportantinvestment

The Mexican economy is estimated to = = =
The Americas be growing by up to 3% in 2024, boosted by Wll;leaddus tto |_r1\:crease ?a pamty

5 = = v increased manufacturing investment, accordin an roductivity sowere

Tapping into Mexico's ufacturing 79 7 o

to the most up-to-date government forecast. ready for the fast pace of
faSt'growmg economy our customers’ businesses.

Over thelast five years,

we have beenincreasing our
production capacity in Mexico
through investments of over
US$350 million.

Our latestinvestment of US$12 million in

our Tijuana plant includes new machinery
and process upgrades, which will significantly
improve both printing quality and efficiency.
Laurent Sellier, Smurfit Kappa CEO of the
Americas, commented: “Mexicois animportant
market for Smurfit Kappa. We have invested
substantial resources bothin paper machines
and corrugated plants while increasing our
network to support the country’s economy
and our customers’ needs.”

*  Source: https://www.reuters.com/markets/mexico-
draft-budget-sees-economic-growth-up-3-inflation-
cooling-2023-03-31

We will continue toinvestas
part of our firm commitment to
Mexico andits growing market.

Laurent Sellier
Smurfit Kappa CEO of the Americas

USS12 mitiion

Our latestinvestment of US$12 million

in our Tijuana plantincludes new machinery
and process upgrades, which will significantly
improve both printing quality and efficiency
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Stakeholders continued

Employees

How we engage

The Sustainability Committee of the Board

(‘the Committee’) is responsible for engagement
with the workforce on behalf of the Board.

Employee Meetings

Enhancing our Employee Experience at
Smurfit Kappa by creating an environment
where our people can thrive, be inspired and
are comfortable bringing their authentic selves
towork every day is a priority. We view the
engagement of our people as a core enabler for
business growth, performance and success.

During the year, we regularly reviewed employee
sentiment indirectly via people data and insights,
and directly by meeting and listening to
employees on many occasions across a variety
of topics. Additionally, we reviewed all feedback
on subjects such as ethics and health, safety and
wellbeing, while we also took into account
employee turnover and morale.

Each year, the needs of our people and our
business change and evolve. To ensure we are
providing the right supportand the bestemployee
experience, we regularly pulse-check our
employee engagement and act on the feedback
we receive from our people. We all value a
two-way dialogue, which is open, honestand
covers a breadth of topics that matter to our
employees. Open channels of communication
and a good pulse on employee sentiment

allows us to understand the engagement levels,
motivation, trust, and values that our employees
feel in Smurfit Kappa.

One of the responsibilities of the Committee is to
reportto the Board on matters such as employee
sentiment, views, and overall areas of interest
for employees across the year.

In 2023, the Committee continued its
engagement by attending several meetings
and interactions with employees directly

in addition to ongoing indirect engagement.
These meetings focused on ensuring positive
support and engagement with our workforce
on anumber of topics which included: Investing
in People Development; Health, Safety and
Wellbeing; Female Engagement; Inclusion,
Diversity and Equality (ID&E’); Workplace
Satisfaction and Career Development.
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Update from the Chair of

the Sustainability Committee,
Kaisa Hietala, and insights

on the Committee’s role

in Workforce Engagement.

As aBoard, we have always understood

the importance of maintaining a strong
people-centric culture and recognise the
value of engaging and listening to the diverse
views of colleagues across the organisation.

At the end of April 2023, | was appointed to the
role of Chair for the Sustainability Committee
as aresult of planned Board succession
changes. One of my roles as Chair of the
Sustainability Committee is to ensure the
Committee acts as acommunications
champion for all colleagues including Board
members across the business, to understand
the employee voice, and to ensure that voice
isheardin the boardroom and represented
inamanner thatis inclusive and fair.

With the support of the Group VP of Human
Resources, one of my roles is to keep the Board
informed and take into consideration the
interests of the workforce onabroadrange

of topics that matter to our people.

In January, the Committee attended an
employee engagement workshop and focus
group on Inclusion, Diversity and Equality.

It was great to hear the views and feedback
from our employees onimportant matters
such as our LGBTQ+ & Allies network, striving
for better gender balance, how we support
amultigenerational workforce across arange
of ages, and finally, how we can support a
more culturally diverse organisation.

Delivering on our Strategic Priorities:
Investmentin People

In July, the Board visited the Facture Mill

in France, and againin October we visited

our employees in the Dominican Republic.
During these visits, we met with many
colleagues and employees at each of these
locations, attended site tours and completed
a series of employee feedback sessions on
how they feel about working for Smurfit Kappa,
investment in people, our vision for the future,
and their overall sentiments and wellbeing.

These visits provided an opportunity to see
first-hand how employees are engaged, as well
as providing an understanding of the employee
needs and voice on topics like; health, safety
and wellbeing; leadership and management;
behaviours and culture; trainingand
development, as well as the compensation

and benefitsin place. It also provided an
opportunity to see the investments being
made in the facilities and the local community,
as well as giving us a good understanding of
the socialimpacts.

The Group Vice President of Human Resources
presented on three occasions to the Committee
during the year, reviewing trends, ethics, H&S,
and evolving our workforce engagement and
communications methods.

Overall, it'sbeen another year of strong
workforce engagement, and the Committee
islooking forward to a calendar of activities
in the year ahead with further opportunities
tomeet colleagues and ensure the employee
voiceis heard and valued. Those employees
we have met during the year have very much
appreciated the Committee’s engagement
and support, and | would like to thank them
for their time, openness, honesty and
engagement during our visits.

Kaisa Hietala
Sustainability Committee Chair
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2023 Key Themes- — The positive consequence of investing — Anenhanced focus on our communities

inan Employee Assistance Programme, and socialimpact.

supporting employees during the current — The understanding of our Code

X X : global economic and high inflationary of Conduct's compliance with the law
considerations emerging from challenges. and ethical behaviour ensuring an open

the Committee's workforce — The significance of talent development and and safe place to work.

The key themes and ongoing

. career planning for successionmanagement. = — The value of rewards and recognition
engagement meetmgs and — Therole that training and learning plays in programmes.
interactions during 2023 were: helping our employees successfully maintain ~~ — Theimportance of ID&E in our
and develop their careers. organisation.
— The enhanced focus on employee — The continued SK Wellbeing programme
communications, and overall engagement. to support employees.
— Recognition of the unique culture at Smurfit — Employee alignment with our Purpose —
Kappa and beliefin our values of Loyalty, to create, protect and care.
Integrity, Respect and Safety at work.
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Stakeholders continued

Investors

How we engage

Ongoing Investor Engagement

Our Executive Directors together with the
Investor Relations team maintain active
engagement with the investment community.
During 2023, the team met with over 400
analysts and portfolio managers from over 200
different investment firms. Conversations took
place at various in-person and virtual investor
conferences, in-person roadshows and site visits
aswell as ad hoc video and telephone calls.

Following the announcement on 12 September
2023 by the Smurfit Kappa Board and the
WestRock Board of the proposed Combination,
an extensive virtual roadshow was conducted
with a significant portion of our shareholder
base. Subsequently, the senior management
and investor relations team have undertaken a
series of in-person investor meetings in Europe,
Canada and the US, in addition to numerous

ad hoc engagements with investors.

Annual General Meeting ('AGM’)

The Company held its AGM on 28 April 2023.
The Group’s AGM provides each shareholder
the opportunity to engage with and question
the Chair of the Board, the Chairs of all Board
Committees and all other Board members.
The 2023 AGM was an in-person physical AGM.

54 Smurfit Kappa Annual Report 2023

Shareholders were also encouraged to submit
aForm of Proxy appointing a proxy to attend,
speak, ask questions and vote at the AGM

on their behalfto ensure their votes could be
represented at the AGM, if unable to attend the
AGM in person. Shareholders were also invited
to email any questions relating to the items on
the agenda in advance of the meeting. The
Notice of the AGM and related papers together
with the Annual Report are sent to shareholders
atleast 20 working days before the meeting.

In addition, the Group responds throughout

the year to numerous queries from shareholders
on abroad range of issues.

Annual Report

The Investors section on the Group’s website,
smurfitkappa.com, provides the full text of this
Annual Report (and including previous Annual
Reports) and copies of presentations to analysts
and investors. Press releases are also made
available in this section of the website
immediately after release to the stock exchanges.

ESGRatings by Rating Agencies

The Group continues to be listed on various
environmental, social and governance indices
and disclosure programmes, such as CDP,
FTSE4Good, the Green Economy Mark from the
London Stock Exchange, Euronext Vigeo Europe
120, STOXX Global ESG Leaders, ISS Solactive
and Ethibel’s sustainable investment register.
SKG also performs strongly across a number of
third party certification bodies, including MSCI,
ISSESG and Morningstar Sustainalytics.

Delivering on our Strategic Priorities:

Market Position
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Suppliers

How we engage

Compliance with Our Policies and Audits

We are committed to working with our suppliers
to ensure compliance with our Sustainable and
Responsible Sourcing Policy and our Supplier
Code of Conduct. These policies set out our
sustainability standards and objectives including
our requirements in relation to compliance,
performance risk management, social
responsibility, and governance. Suppliers are
required to submit a declaration of compliance
with our policies. The Global Sourcing team
setatarget for 2023 regarding the collection

of Compliance Declarations from our strategic
suppliers of key materials, we achieved this
target by collecting 100% of these declarations.

During the year, we continued to build and
maintain transparent and long-term relationships
with our suppliers. This partnership approach
enables us to work together on sustainability
improvement processes and provides the
opportunity to carry out audits on compliance
with our sustainable supply chain standards.
Where any shortcomings are identified,

we work together to improve sustainability

in their business.

During 2023, we have reviewed the approach

to SBTi targets within our strategic suppliers.
Itis our intention to monitor progress and
encourage adoption of third party
decarbonisation strategies and certification
schemes in 2024. Atthe end 0f 2023, 11.1% of our
strategic suppliers have an SBTi approved target
and a further 10.5% have committed to developing
targets and submitting these for validation

with the SBTi.

‘We have observed that the audit process has
motivated particularly our smaller suppliers,

to build or improve their sustainability
programmes and to align their programmes
with our sustainability priorities: climate change,
forest, water, waste, health and safety, people
and communities. We are also encouraged

to see that our suppliers who have sustainability
programmes in place for many years see their
sustainability programmes as an investment
ratherthanacost.

Training

During the audit process, we provide training to
our suppliers in relation to the different aspects
of sustainability in our organisation and set out
our expectations in terms of their deliverables
as our suppliers. We explain the importance

of supporting the sustainable development
goals (‘SDGs’) where they can have an impact.
We explain the future risks and opportunities
for our industry going forward and the
importance of our actions today for our future
tomorrow. In addition, we provide our suppliers
with specific training covering many topics
including print technology and process
improvement, as required.

Standardisation

We continue to standardise our capital
equipment purchases for our corrugated plants.
This allows our suppliers to achieve process
and manufacturing economies of scale and
toreduce their energy consumption and carbon
footprint while simultaneously allowing our
operations to reduce and share stocks of
equipment parts and consumables.

Delivering on our Strategic Priorities:
Partner of Choice + Operational Excellence

%

Supplier Collaboration

When we enter strategic supplier relationships,
we build a relationship based on trustand
continuous operational excellence. We work
with our suppliers to promote better health,
safety and wellbeing and continuous
improvement of the work environment.

This partnership approach enhances mutual
competitiveness as we work together to leverage
supplier and operational knowledge.

Innovation

Innovation is in our DNA and we expect the
same of our suppliers. Be itinvesting in shared
technology, best-in-class procurement tools,

or having close communication on process
improvement, knowledge sharing and insights,
innovation is always at the core.

Sustainability

We offer our suppliers the ability to collate
shipments so that volumes can be optimised
and the most sustainable transport options with
lower emissions can be selected. This improves
service levels and reduces costs.
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Stakeholders continued

Communities

How we engage

We remain deeply committed to our local
communities and have always believed strongly
in being part of, collaborating with, and giving
back to the communities in which we are
privileged to operate. During the year, our teams
across the world continued to donate their time,
effortand expertise to make a positive and
lasting impact on their local communities.

Through our operations, we actively support
projects that help build a sustainable future

for the communities in which we live and work.
We engage with and supportlocal economies
and livelihoods by creating opportunities
directly and indirectly for employment,
investing in infrastructure, and contributing
to community activities through our Open
Community initiatives.

SmurfitKappa 3“‘ v
b

Foundation

In addition to the direct involvement of our
operations in our local communities, the
Smurfit Kappa Foundation (the ‘Foundation’),
aregistered charity in Ireland, focuses on
delivering a positive impact on the lives of
underprivileged people in our communities.
Since being formed in 2011, the Foundation has
supported a total of 260 projects with a social
investment of over €15 million in 30 countries.

During 2023, we continued to focus on the
purpose of the Foundation which is to financially
support sustainable projects that positively
impact the lives of underprivileged people

in the areas of health and nutrition, education
and basic care, thus helping to reduce the
inequalities that exist.

Throughout 2023, the Foundation supported
more than 60 projects, donating over€2.8 million
to charitable causes dedicated to addressing

the issues of inequality within our communities,
with a further €500,000 already committed in
2024 to ongoing projects. We remain focused

on enhancing the health and education of
underprivileged people, with the goal of
supporting the inclusion of everyone in society,
and we supported humanitarian relief by making
adonation of €200,000 towards the relief efforts
in Morocco following an earthquake.

&
=

192 6,800

Open Community
initiatives

000

(i

Smurfit Kappa
employees

Delivering on our Strategic Priorities:
Investment in People

Using the United Nations Sustainable
Development Goals as a guide, we focused

on delivering impact for six SDGs: No Poverty,
Zero Hunger, Good Health and Wellbeing,
Quality Education, Gender Equality and
Reduced Inequalities.

Purpose and Culture

We are proud of all our community activities and
believe these are a demonstration not only of our
organisational culture, but also of our essential
and enduring purpose to create, protectand care.
Our Open Community initiatives cover all
aspects of our involvement with our communities
worldwide, which are captured under four
categories as outlined in the chart below.

In 2023, approximately 6,800 of our colleagues
participated in 192 initiatives across 24 countries.
We have committed to continuing this work as
partof our Better Planet 2050 targets with our
commitment to donate €24 million between
2020 and 2025, a target which was achieved

by the end of 2023.

Countries
involved

participated

Our Open Community Initiatives

\
192

totalinitiatives

@® Empowering Communities 39%
® Encouraging Wellbeing 38%
@ Inspiring our Future 17%
@ Protecting our planet 6%
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Protecting our Planet
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Improving employment prospects

Almost 3,000

People were given the opportunity to improve
their employment prospects through
vocational training, third level education,
skills workshops and more.

Supporting people with disabilities

3,200+

Over 3,200 people with physical

and/or learning disabilities were supported
through inclusion programmes, educational
opportunities and physical therapy.
Funding was also provided to support

the creation of educational facilities.

Benefiting individuals

100,000+

Over 100,000 people benefited from the
amazing efforts made through these initiatives
across a wide spectrum of our communities
from school-going children to the elderly,

and everyone in between.

Medical treatment

13,260

People were supported to get access to the
medical treatment they needed. This included
access to prosthetic limbs, cancer treatment
and end of life care.

Support for the financially vulnerable

7,550

People in our communities were supported
with essential food, hygiene and education
packages. Others received gifts and
opportunities to socialise, which helped
them enjoy special moments and create
meaningful memories.
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Sustainability

Delivering the
future together

Sustainability is a key part of SKG's strategy. As a customer-oriented,
market-led company, the satisfaction of customers, personal
development of employees and respect for local communities and
the environment are allinseparable from our goal of creating value
for all our stakeholders, guaranteeing them end-to-end sustainability
through a circular business model.

In their dailylives, people need food, clothing
and household goods. Circular, fit-for-purpose
packaging protects our customers’ product from
damage and waste, while delivering them in an
efficient and sustainable way. In response to
longer-term rising global economic and social
development, e-commerce and the worldwide
demand for sustainable packaging goods and
services will continue to grow. Sustainability
isimportantto all our stakeholders as well
astheir stakeholders.

Climate change, limited natural resources,
littering, deforestation, a growing population
and increased social inequality, are pressing
global challenges that require forward thinking
and a constructive response from the business
community. At SKG, we respond to these
challenges through our end-to-end approach
to sustainability: from sustainable sourcing

of our renewable and recyclable raw materials,
to responsible production of sustainable and
circular packaging products that help our
customers and eventually consumers to lower
their environmental footprint. At every
important step in our value chain - including
our governance, our people, our communities
and the environment - we are always
considering where we have a positive impact
and we are constantly aligning our economic
goals with our social, community and
environmental responsibilities.

This dedication to end-to-end sustainability
positions SKG to play its partin making the UN
Sustainable Development Goals (‘SDGs’) areality.
In our materiality assessment we compare the
SDGs against our business strategy and policies,
aswell as against stakeholder expectations. This
allows us to strategically build on opportunities
and minimise risks within the sustainability
context and transparently report our progress
towards these goals. SKG’s approach to positively
impacting the SDGs is covered both in this
Annual Reportand in our Sustainable
Development Report (‘SDR)).

Our Code of Conduct is the fundamental
guideline for everybody at Smurfit Kappa from
the Board of Directors, officers and employees,
aswell as all individuals, entities, agents or
anyone acting on the Group’s behalf - and we
also require the same from our suppliers. In
environmental matters our starting pointis that
all our sites operate atleast within their permits.
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SBTi-
validated

CO; reductiontargetinline
with the Paris Agreement

We ensure compliance by employing modern,
low environmental impact equipment,
monitoring our progress using our
environmental data, including information

on permits, incidents and fines to drive action
and deliver impact. We continuously invest

in our sites to keep them state-of-the-art, and
proactively follow environmental legislative
developments to ensure compliance. For details
onthe Non-Financial Key Performance
Indicators reporting statement, SKG publishes
its sustainability progress in our annual SDR,
available at our website: smurfitkappa.com.
Our 2023 SDR will be published simultaneously
with this Annual Reportin March 2024 and all
previous SDR’s are also available on our website.

43.7

CO; emissionsreduction
since 2005

SKGis committed to the principles of the UN
Global Compactand reports in accordance with
the Global Reporting Initiative (‘GRI’) Standards
and our sustainability data and reporting have
been independently assured since 2009. This
third party assurance ensures our transparency
and credibility to stakeholders, especially
customers, investors and the communities

in which we operate.

Transparency in our disclosures together with the
third partyassurance of our data are fundamental
to the Group’s sustainability strategy. Our EU
Taxonomy disclosure can be found in this
Reporton pages 69 to 77 and our Task Force on
Climate-Related Financial Disclosures (‘TCFD’)
reportcan be found on pages 78 to 95.

The Group announced in January 2024 its early
adoption of the Task Force on Nature-related
Financial Disclosures (‘TNFD’), building on
the Group’s existing nature-related targets

and disclosures.

®

Find out more about our commitment to
sustainability in our Sustainable Development
Report ilable on our website in March 2024
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Strategic Sustainability Priorities

As aresponsible company, operating globally,
Smurfit Kappa has a product that is naturally
sustainable and a circular process that is
increasingly sustainable, driven by a culture
with strong values of loyalty, integrity and
respect and safety at work. SKG understands
the challenges facing both our business and
the planet and is committed to doingits part
inresolving these critical issues. Therefore
our ambitionis to deliver sustainable growth
for the benefit of all our stakeholders based

© Read more about our commitment
tothe UNSDGsinour SDGreportat
smurfitkappa.com/sustainability
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onthree pillars: Planet, People and Impactful
Business. Within these pillars, our People and
our Communities, Climate Change, Forest,
Water and Waste are the main strategic
environmental and corporate social
responsibility priorities. We have set targets
that focus on our strategic areas and that
are designed to align the Group with the
2030 UN SDGs.

Our approach to the three pillars
is explained below:
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A greener, bluer planet
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The circular economy is at the core of our business.

1

9 INDUSTRY, INNOVATION
AND INFRASTRUCTURE

16 PEACE, JUSTICE
AND STRONG
INSTITUTIONS

>,

Impactful
business

Delivering for
all stakeholders

17 PARTNERSHIPS
FOR THE GOALS

&

Innovation/Governance and

We use renewable, recyclable, recycled and
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Having engaged employeesis critical

Human Rights/Sustainable Sourcing
As aglobal group, our activities create
sustainable value for our shareholders,
customers, employees, suppliers and
the communities where we operate.
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talented peoplein aglobal, culturally
diverse organisation.
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Sustainability continued

Planet

©

The circular economy is at the core of our business.
We use renewable, recyclable, recycled and
biodegradable materials to create new products
and to help our customers deliver on their

environmental strategies.

Highlightsin 2023

Climate Change
Completed second climate scenario analysis
ofthe Group's assets.

The successful completion of the second
stage of the Hyflexpower project in our mill
in Saillat, France.

Forest

Delivered our Better Planet 2050 forestry
target early (2025 target), achieving 95.5%
in 2023 (95% target), exceeding the target
level of our products sold as CoC certified
for the first time.

Water

Reported for 2023 a 1.8% reduction in water
usage intensity. We were pleased to open
anew state-of-the-art water treatment
plantin our millin Serbia, a first of its kind

for the country.

Waste

Delivered our Better Planet 2050 waste to
landfill target early (2025 target), reporting a
reductionin waste to landfill intensity for our
paper and board mills of 35.8% (30% target)
against a 2013 baseline.

1.8+

reductionin water usageintensity in 2023

35.8-

reduction in waste to landfillintensity
for our paperand board millsin 2023
againsta 2013 baseline
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A Greener, Bluer Planet

We are committed to sustainability throughout
our value chain. Our strategic environmental
priorities are climate change, forest, water and
waste. The circular economy is at the core of our
business. We use renewable, recyclable,
recycled and biodegradable materials to create
sustainable packaging solutions and play a part
in ensuring that at their end of life, our products
arerecycled.

We seek circular synergies where we can both
utilise our side streams and where thisis not
possible, we seek collaboration with partners.
As part of our commitment, we have rigorously
collected sustainability data on our operations
for 16 years, and we have been independently
assured since 2009. We use this information

to continually improve the efficiency of our
processes and use of resources, which helps us
meet our sustainability targets, such as reducing
CO, emissions.

Forests where our virgin fibres come from are a
closed loop from which we can positively benefit
when they are managed and used sustainably.
Within our industry, SKG has pioneered full Chain
of Custody (‘CoC’) certification, enabling us to sell
over 95.5% of our packaging products as FSC®,
PEFC or SFI® certified, driving a sustainable
loop for our raw materials.

Having integrated paper recycling operations

in our business, we can efficiently manage the
sustainable sourcing of our raw materials,
ensuring good quality in each region. We take our
producer responsibility seriously, having 100%
renewable and recyclable fibre, and of our final
packaging products, over 90% are recovered and
brought backinto the recycling loop. Sustainably
sourcing our fibres benefits us and our
stakeholders: with CoC certified raw material
sourcing and production, we have traceability
systems that comply with regulations, and with
customer and investor requirements.

We are resource efficient in our paper mills,
using raw materials and their by-products to
their fullest. Our Nettingsdorf mill in Austria,
Pited mill in Sweden, Nervion and Sangiiesa
millsin Spain and our Brazilian paper mills
Bento, Pirapetinga and Uberaba run almost
entirely on biofuels. In 2022, we announced
aUS$100 million investment in a sustainable
biomass boiler at our Cali paper mill in
Colombia which further enhanced our

commitment to fossil-free energy and CO,
emission reductions. In many mills, biogases
from waste water treatment are fuel for heatand
power production, our Pited and Nettingsdorf
mills are sending excess heat to warm the
neighbouring municipalities. Our Roermond
millin the Netherlands has been internationally
recognised for finding circular economy
synergies by collaborating with local partners.
Our recycling operations handle some 7.7
million tonnes of recovered paper, bringing
valuable fibres back into the paper-based
packaging production loop.

Building on our objective to dynamically and
sustainably deliver in 2023, the Group reached
another important milestone with the completion
of the state-of-the-art water treatment plant at
our Belgrade paper mill in Serbia. This water
treatment plantis the firstindustrial scale water
treatment plantin Serbia, setting an example

to other industries in the country.

Reductionin CO. Emissions compared
toits Baseline Year of 2005

(%)
I3 | 7
2022:43.9
2023 43.7
2022 439

Packaging Solutions Sold as CoC Certified
(%)

95.5

2022:94.3

2022 94.3
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This has a significantimpact on the mill's Commenting on the investment, Rafael
environmental performance by diverting 75,000  Sarrionandia, Smurfit Kappa Nervién General

tonnes of waste from landfilland eliminating Manager and CEO of Kraft Specialties Spain,
Investment approximately 450,000 km per year in said: "This investment marks Smurfit Kappa's

road transport. clear commitment to the Nervion paper mill,
Europe with over €75 millioninvested in the millin

e - Theinitiative has been developedinacollaborative  thelast decade. The investment reaffirms

€27 mllllon InveStment process between Smurfit Kappa Nervién and our clear commitment to acting sustainably,
in Sustalna blllty several technology ﬁrms: Th.e investment sees becoming |nc.reasmgly f:lrcular as asite, and
e el a . the expansion and optimisation of the plant, at the same time ensuring the long-term
|n|t|at|ve as well as the construction of astate-of-the-art  future of the facility.”

In February 2023, we announced
our investment of €27 million
ina state-of-the-art new waste
management and recovery
facility at our Nervion paper
millin lurreta, Spain.

With a production capacity of 120 tonnes

per day, the lime kiln and gas treatment system
provides significant environmental benefits.
The new circular system allows the calcium
carbonate waste thatis generated in the mill's
manufacturing process to be transformedinto
lime and subsequently reintroduced into the
production process as a raw material.

lime kilnand gas treatment system.

The treatment systemis compliant

with Directive 2010/75 EU of the European
Parliament and the Council which regulates
industrial emissions.

Commenting on the investment, Javier Rivas,
Smurfit Kappa COO of Paper & Board Europe,
said: “We are delighted about the installation

of this industry-leading system which helps
our mill to become more sustainable and
environmentally friendly. At Smurfit Kappa,

we care deeply about new ways in which we can
embed circularity into our business, particularly
when we are talking about the production
process. With this new lime kiln and gas
treatment system, we are able torecover

and reuse more of our materials.”

@

The new lime kiln system
allows us tobe even more
efficient and sustainable,
which ultimately benefits
both our employees and the
communities we operatein.
Rafael Sarrionandia

Smurfit Kappa Nervion General Manager
and CEO of Kraft Specialties Spain
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Sustainability continued

Planet

Climate Change

Forest

Priorities

Climate change is the most pressing issue of our time.
To counter rising global temperatures, carbon neutrality
by the mid-century is vital. Paper making with current
available technology is still energy intensive.

We are achieving CO, emission reductions by
improving our energy efficiency, as well as by
changing from fossil fuels to low or CO, neutral
energy sources.

Promoting sustainable forest management involves
managing supplies of sustainable, renewable fibre,
while protecting ecosystems and creating
employmentin rural areas. Virgin wood fibres will
always be needed for paper production to maintain
quality. Fibre can be recycled atleast eight times

and up to 25 times (according to a 2021 study

by the Technische Universitét Grazin Austria)

when producing paper-based packaging products.
Itis why using renewable wood fibre, paper recovery
and fibre recycling is at the core of our circular
economy approach. Furthermore, as our stakeholders,
customers and investors expect, we communicate
our impactin atransparent way.

Risks and Opportunities

Climate change poses different risks and opportunities
within the value chain. Risks vary from extreme
weather affecting our sites, to increasing costs for

the emission of CO, and pressure on availability of raw
materials. The circular economy is also an opportunity
for our business as we seek to use resources efficiently.
We are also investing in technology to reduce our
energy demands. Finally, we are improving resource
and energy efficiency when producing paper products
and optimising the use of raw material residual
streams, such as black liquor, in bioenergy production.

As growing consumption increases pressure
onresources, society places increased value on
sustainable consumption and production, integrity
of origin, recycling and avoiding litter and packaging
waste. Fit-for-purpose packaging has never been more
important. We are implementing forest certification
and CoC certification to guarantee origin traceability.
Using both recycled and virgin fibres in production,
we intend to use this opportunity to deliver fit-for-
purpose packaging with the best overall
environmental footprint for each product.

Our
Commitments

Our approach to the challenges of climate change

and energy efficiency sets out to achieve more energy
efficient production at our sites, lower energy use

in manufacturing and a switch from fossil fuels to
renewable and green sources wherever feasible. Our
success is measured by our reduction in CO, emissions
-we have targeted to reach net zero carbon emissions
by 2050 and we have committed to a 55% reduction in
Scope 1 and 2 fossil fuels based on CO, emissions in our
mill system compared to 2005 levels by 2030. Our CO,
emissions reduction target is Science Based Targets
initiative (‘SBTY’) verified and we are committed to
reportin line with the TCFD recommendations.

e Read moreinthe TCFD section on pages 78 to 95

At Smurfit Kappa, are committed to promoting
sustainable forest management at our sites and
throughout our value chain. This means producing
and sourcing our fibres, virgin or recycled, as CoC
certified. Our commitment is to deliver over 95% of our
packaging solutions sold as CoC certified to customers
by 2025, which was achieved early in 2023.
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Planet Water Waste
Priorities Clean fresh water is an increasingly scarce commodity, —Increasingscarcity of resources demands responsible
and often cited by our stakeholders as an important production and consumption. Avoidance of waste is
sustainability issue. akeyissue for all our stakeholders. Our products are
specifically designed to preventloss and damage to
We process large volumes of fresh water to produce our  the goods they protect.
products, and even though we are not alarge consumer
of water - we release over 90% of the water we take in Our processitselfis circular by nature. The fibres
back to the environment with the balance released our products are made from are renewable, recyclable,
backinto the atmosphere as steam - availability recycled and biodegradable. 77% of our primary raw
of fresh water is still essential to us. material is derived from recycled fibre and the
remainder is from sustainable sources. Our production
process itself generates almost no waste.
Risks and Opportunities Our global assessment shows that only 9.4% of our Avoiding packaging waste by simply focusing
paper production takes place in areas of fresh water on packaging weight might be seen as a quick way
scarcity, representing 3% of our water intake. The to decrease landfill. This, however, canlead to more
discharge of our water before or after treatmentcanbe ~ waste resulting from greater damage to goods or
avaluable input for some of our neighbours’ processes. ~ poor material choices. We see an opportunity to
create fit-for-purpose, sustainable packaging with
To help ensure that our water use is correctly mono-material solutions designed for optimal
understood, we became a signatory to the CEO Water performance and recyclability. We are also working
Mandate, and strive to understand local water related with the recycling and paper producing industries
risks and needs so we can address them. to keep our raw materials in the recycling loop.
Our Asa processor of water, our focus is on the long-term We have a strong focus on innovation. Our Better

Commitments

improvement of the quality of water we discharge,
and understanding the risks associated with water
availability and its use in the areas where we operate.
To increase our global and local impact, we will
continue to invest in water treatment facilities and
require the same standards from all our paper mills,
regardless of their location. In addition to our target
to reduce our Chemical Oxygen Demand (‘COD’)
discharge intensity by 60% by 2025 compared to 2005,
we also have an annual water intake reduction target
of 1% annually.

Planet Packaging initiative drives new efficiency
solutions for our raw materials while keeping them
in the recycling loop.

Asasignificant operator in the circular economy in
Europe and the Americas, we receive non fibre-based
waste from the collection of post-consumer waste
streams (such as plastic and metals). As aresult,

we work on recovering energy where a circular option
cannot be found and as a final resort, landfill. For
landfill, the Group has an intensity target to have 30%
less waste to landfill by 2025 compared to the reference
year 2013 which was achieved in 2023, delivering a
35.8% reduction.
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Sustainability continued

People

Having engaged employeesis critical for our
business. We work safely with talented people
inaglobal, culturally diverse organisation.

Highlightsin 2023

HR Strategy

Better Planet 2050 people target achieved
reporting 25.1% of our management
positions being held by women at the

end of 2023.

Communities

Better Planet 2050 communities target
achieved early, reaching €25.6 million as

a Group including our Foundation in 2023,
ahead of its target to donate over

€24 million to social, environmental and
community activities between 2020-2025.

Talent Management

Our hybrid approach to our Global
Learning Academy has increased access
to development opportunities for many
more of our people.

0 Read more on pages 96 to 109.

25.1-

management positions held by women

€25.6m

donatedto social, environmental and
communities activities between 2020-2025

64 Smurfit Kappa Annual Report 2023

Empowering People and Communities
SKG aims to keep attracting and retaining the
best employees. We have found that within our
global organisation, people of different
backgrounds and experiences will have different
skills, perspectives and solutions, which in turn
delivers better solutions and strategies for
long-term business success. SKG is committed
to managing its business in accordance with its
declared values which recognise that good social
citizenship, reflected in the manner in which it
interacts with its employees, business partners
and local communities, is an essential ingredient
in creating and maintaining a sustainable future.
SKGinvests in employee empowerment ensuring
human rights and dignity at work, through
freedom of association, fair compensation

and promotion of diversity in age, gender,
sexual orientation, ethnic origin, disability

or nationality. We take care that people from

all these groups are attracted and retained,

and we recruit and promote on merit.

SKG values open, constructive, regular and
timely dialogue with its employees and their
representatives, particularly in all matters
related to the business and the work
environment including safety, working
conditions, profitability, business outlook,
investment decisions or the terms and
conditions of employment. The European
Works Council (EWC’), which was created to
assistin the development of an open two-way
communication process for all employees and
unions on all such matters, had three meetings
during the year, with additional meetings held
with the Select Committee of the EWC. Matters
typically discussed atthe EWCinclude
employment opportunities, financial status,
projected developments, business conditions,
relocation, curtailment or business closures
and health and safety.

Implementing SKG’s Social Citizenship Policy
isthe responsibility of line management who are
supported by the Human Resource Managers
at country, segment and Group level.

Health, Safety and Wellbeing

The health and safety of our workforce is one
of the Group’s values. We promote a health and
safety culture founded on understanding,
responsibility and accountability.

We aim to continually improve our performance
by adopting a structured systematic approach
to the management of health and safety aspects
supported by continual improvement of our
systems. We regularly perform comprehensive
health and safety verification and audit
processes tailored specifically to our global
operations. The commitments within the
Group’s health and safety policies are consistent
with those of the internationally recognised
OHSAS 18001 occupational health and safety
system specification. Every facility in SKG
adopts a suite of good health and safety
management systems designed to protect
employees, visitors to its sites, contractors and
the public atlarge from injury and ill health.

All performance reviews at plant, country,
division and regional level include a review
of recent health and safety performance.
On a quarterly basis, the Board receives
aprogress report outlining key health and
safety developments.

Communities

Beyond our employees, we have a deep
commitment to our responsibilities to help the
local communities in which we live and work,
and by behaving as a good corporate citizen in
accordance with the UN Declaration of Human
Rights, and the Fundamental Principles and
Rights at Work. By supporting local education,
income generation, collaboration and
participation, we can help to strengthen our
communities. This is especially true in remote
areas with limited opportunities for work.

SKG s focused on breaking the cycle of poverty
in the communities in which we are located.
Using the UN SDGs as a guide, through our Open
Community initiative and aligned to the Smurfit
Kappa Foundation, we want to break down the
barriers which lead to people in these areas being
disadvantaged and remaining in poverty. We
work to improve their situation through the lens
of health and nutrition, basic care and education.

We believe, by working with key organisations
inthese areas, we can help to break the cycle
of disadvantage for underprivileged people.
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People Employee Strategy Health, Safety and Wellbeing Communities

Priorities Smurfit Kappa unites some 47,000 Our stakeholders expectusto providea  Ourimpactis notonly on the people we
people around the globe. Our peopleare  safe and healthy working environment ~ work with. Our responsibilities extend
atthe heart of all our operations which and promote a healthy and safe beyond, to supporting local economies
includes those for whom we directly lifestyle. We are committed to and livelihoods, especially in areas with
and indirectly create jobs, as well as maintaining a safe and productive limited opportunities for work and
those whose lives we impact. We can workplacein every partof our Company  where we are significant employers.
only achieve sustainable long-term by minimising the risk of accidents,
success by developing our people’s injury and exposure to health hazards
talent, expertise and innovation. for everyone on our sites.

Risks and Akey challenge is attracting the right Asanindustrial business operating in We see ourselves as a good ‘corporate

Opportunities talent to ensure succession planning 36 countries, we are responsible for the citizen’ in the communities in which
and leadership continuity, particularly ~ health and safety of alarge number of we are privileged to operate. All around
for sitesin rural locations, where the people. Our size creates a challenge to the world we actively support positive
education needed may notbe provided. =~ maintain the same standards for all. and lasting changes. If we were not
Although one of the bestknown brands ~ AtSmurfit Kappa, we believe thathealth ~ concerned about our locations, we
and top performers within our market, and safety extends from work to home. would risk damaging our licence to
our awareness among the wider public We engage our employees with policies ~ operate. By supporting local education,
to attract top talent is limited. This and proceduresto deliver,innovateand ~ income generation, collaboration and
makes it even more importantto gain producein asafe environment,andpay = participation, we can strengthen
recognition for our effortsinallaspects  specific focus to changing behaviours. communities and keep them attractive
of sustainability: environmental to our future workforce. The
responsibility, human rights, equal opportunity is to positively participate
opportunities and fair pay - all in communities, making it attractive
important elements for usto be seen for the best talent to join us.
asaresponsible, attractive employer
for the best talent.

Our We want to empower all employees to We are committed to maintaining Across Smurfit Kappa, we are

Commitments

help us achieve our business objectives.

We therefore:

— Offer employees at all levels the
chance to broaden their skillsets and
knowledge, fulfil their potential and
improve their career prospects;

— Stimulate and encourage employee
engagement through regular,
company-wide surveys and
follow-up;

— Compensate fairly, review
performance regularly and offer
gender neutral career opportunities
and pay; and

— Maintain a good faith
‘Whistleblower Code’ for reporting
any unethical orillegal conduct.

aproductive and safe workplace by
minimising the risk of accidents, injury
and exposure to health hazards for
every employee and all subcontractors.

committed to the communities in which
we operate, and our SK Foundation
empowers people to improve their lives.
Where the cycle of poverty and
dependence is an issue, we aim to help
end this, strengthening communities
around the world. Between 2020 and
2025, we will donate €24 million to
supportsocial, environmental and
community initiatives.

Asaresponsible business, we support
global human rights and labour
standards, and check that our suppliers
do sotoo. We are committed to ethical
business standards; we work against
corruption in allits forms, including
extortion and bribery (see Code of
Conduct on the Group’s website:
smurfitkappa.com).
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Sustainability continued

Impactful business

As a global group, our activities create sustainable
value for our shareholders, customers, employees,
suppliers and the communities where we operate.

Highlightsin 2023

Governance

In 2023, Smurfit Kappa was selected by

the Climate Governance Initiative (‘CGI’)

to showcase the Group's joined-up approach
toits climate and sustainability strategy. This
was profiled across CGl's 100,000 members
in over 70 countries worldwide. The CGI
focuses on mobilising boards of directors
around the world to address climate change
intheir businesses.

Innovation

During 2023, our Experience centres across
Europe and the Americas hosted Better
Planet Packaging events for our customers.
These events focused on such topics as
decarbonisation, plastic replacement

in packaging and regulatory areas such

as the EU PPWR and EUDR.

Sustainableand

Responsible Sourcing

100% of our strategic suppliers of

key materials have signed a declaration
of complying with our Sustainable and
Responsible Sourcing policies.

0 Read more on page 55

29

experience centres across Europe,
the Americas and Africa

100

of our strategic suppliers of key materials
have signed a declaration of complying
with our Sustainable and Responsible
Sourcingpolicies
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Delivering to all Stakeholders

SKG has specific policies on key areas of
sustainability which are integral in improving
future performance. These cover the
Environment, Sustainable Forestry, Sustainable
and Responsible Sourcing, Social Citizenship,
and Health and Safety. These policies
complement other policies in place, including:
Code of Conduct incorporating the Speak Up
Policy, Code of Ethics for Senior Financial
Officers, Group Financial Reporting Guide,
Group Treasury Policy, Financial Monitoring
Policy, Treasury Compliance Programme and
Competition Compliance Programme.

Governance and Human Rights
Areporton Corporate Governance is detailed
on pages 116 to 124 of this Annual Reportand

a Sustainability Governance review will be
available in the Governance and Human Rights
section of the 2023 SDR.

SKG maintains a zero-tolerance policy regarding
acts of bribery and corruption. We comply with
allanti-bribery and anti-corruption laws in the
countries where we conduct business, not only
because itis ourlegal duty to do so, butalso
because it supports the commitment we make
to conducting business ethically and honestly.

SKGis subject to the provisions of the UK
Modern Slavery Act. In keeping with the United
Nations Guiding Principles on Business and
Human Rights and the Fundamental Principles
and Rights at Work developed by the
International Labour Organisation, we are
committed to the principles of respect, diversity,
working fairly, fair pay, compensation and
benefits which are also applied to our
acquisition practices. They are maintained in
every country in which we have a presence and
are set out in our Code of Conduct, our Social
Citizenship Policy Statement and our SDR.

Innovation

Our products are designed to prevent the waste
of our customers’ product in their supply chains.
We are committed to continually reducing waste
and finding circular uses for our side-streams.
Product development and innovation at SKG is
data driven, with a proven scientific approach
informing good business decisions. Data
collected from our operations is combined with
ongoing research and analysis of customer
challenges and specific markets.

We employ a range of tools, ‘InnoTools’, uniquely
exclusive to SKG, enabling us to create the
optimal fit-for-purpose paper-based packaging
solutions for our customers, thereby adding
value and helping them deliver on their
sustainable goals. Furthermore, ‘InnoTools’
feeds information to our customer value-added
services: SupplySmart; ShelfSmart; and eSmart
inthe areas of supply chain optimisation, brand
growth and e-commerce.

Sustainable and Responsible Sourcing
We want to sustainably grow our business and
value chain. That means our materials, goods
and services not only have the right quality and
cost, but also must be sourced securelyina
sustainable and responsible way as described
in our Sustainable and Responsible Sourcing
Policy and in alignment with the objectives

of the 2030 UN SDGs.

By developing more sustainable supply chains
in collaboration with our suppliers, we can
manage risks and costs, develop new revenue
streams and add value across our stakeholder
base. We have a sustainable and responsible
audit programme which is an integral part of
our sustainability strategy, covering areas of
compliance, performance risk management,
social responsibility and governance.

SKG has thousands of suppliers globally and
we consider that our suppliers are an integral
part of the value chain of our business. We are
committed to working with our suppliers in
accordance with our sustainability principles
and objectives. Maintaining transparent and
long-term relationships with suppliersis
essential for our business. This partnership
approach ensures we can audit suppliers on
their compliance with our sustainable supply
chain standards and, where they fall short,
work with them to improve sustainability

in their business. By collaborating across our
value chain, we can deliver on our long-term
sustainability commitments and our suppliers
are key in achieving this.

In recognition of the nature and concern
about modern slavery, we expect our suppliers
to ensure compliance with the Modern
Slavery regulations.
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Impactful Governance and Innovation Sustainable and
business Human Rights Responsible Sourcing
Priorities We operate in an environment with We have a responsibility to respond Our value chain impact goes beyond
diverse legislation, regulations and to the challenge facing the environment ~ SKG and we must extend our ethical
cultures. Our Code of Conduct s the and society today - to inspire more and sustainable manner of conducting
fundamental guideline for everybody sustainable packaging solutions. With business to our supply chains, and to
at Smurfit Kappa from the Board of circularity in mind at the design stage, require our suppliers to continually
Directors, officers and employees as and by optimising both primary and improve their sustainable footprints.
well asindividuals, entities, agents secondary packaging, we can deliver
and anyone acting on the Group’s efficiencies in transport, emissions
behalf - and we require the same reductions, replace unsustainable
from our suppliers. packaging materials, storage and
display and ultimately ensure recovery
Our Code of Conduct expects adherence  and recycling of our packaging
to ethical standards and commitment products in recycling channels.
to quality and service.
Risks and Strong governance and a respect for Lightweighting packaging is not always In order to sustainably grow our
Opportunities human rights are key factors for our the most sustainable solution for our business and attract customers and
stakeholders when choosing customers, and if done incorrectly can investors, our sourcing of material,
investments, suppliers and employers. lead to more waste. We convertourdata  goods and services must have the right
By complying with regulations, having into intelligent design tools that help quality and cost, but also be ethically
effective corporate governance and a us measure the environmental impact and sustainably sourced. Working
respect for human rights we canremain  of the product designs we offer to our with and learning from our suppliers
areliable partner of choice for all our customers. We see an opportunity aswell as sharing our sustainability
stakeholders. In addition it enables to create fit-for-purpose, sustainable knowledge, experience and expertise
us to have a positive impactin the packaging with mono-material solutions  increases the sustainability of the
communities in which we operate. designed for optimal performanceand  whole value chain.
recyclability. We are also working with
therecycling and paper producing
industries to keep our raw materials
inthe recycling loop.
Our We are committed to maintaining We are committed to inspire more We are committed to working with

Commitments

astrong governance framework by:

— Making our Code of Conduct
accessible for all stakeholders;

— Ensuring our stakeholders adhere
to the principles of the Code; and

— Offering anindependentand
unbiased channel to raise concerns
about breaches to the Code.

sustainable packaging through:

— Thedevelopment of our Better
Planet Packaging initiative;

— Using our data to improve our
processes, products, supply chains,
logistics and markets; and

— Optimising the use of our InnoTools
to support our innovation and design
and leverage our globalideas.

our suppliers thatadhere to our:

— Sustainable and Responsible
Sourcing Policy and Supplier
Code of Conduct, are CoC certified
(where applicable); and

— Committo our Modern Slavery
Statement.

We regularly audit our suppliers to
ensure adherence to our key Sustainable
and Responsible Sourcing principles.
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Sustainability continued

Investment

Africa
Our expansion
into Africa

Theinauguration of the new
integrated corrugated plant
in Rabat, Morocco, marked
our first operationin Africa.

Morocco offers an exciting opportunity,
with an OECD projected growth forecast of
3.7%in 2024. The country's location enables
Smurfit Kappa to serve not only the local
market but also wider regions in Africa.

The Groupinvested over €35 millioninthe
25,000 m?facility, which was completed from
ground-break to operation in seven months
and will support 400 direct and indirect jobs.
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It serves domestic Moroccan businesses

and global companies across different sectors:
industrial, agricultural, FMCG, automotive,
pharma and ceramics. It also features our
newest Experience Centre, part of a network
of 29 centres worldwide, which showcase the
latestinnovations in packaging solutions.

Nearly 1,500 solar panels power the plant, making
it Morocco's first packaging facility which is
supplied by green energy, ensuring the process
is as sustainable as the product. This avoids 900
tonnes of CO, emissions per year. At the plant,
we also have a purification and water treatment
system that reduces consumption by 50%.

Speaking at the inauguration event, Tony
Smurfit, Group CEO, said: “Our first corrugated
operationin Africais an exciting step for
Smurfit Kappa and we're delighted to unveil our
state-of-the-art Moroccan facility. We continue
toinnovate and give our customers a great
productin a sustainable way. Morocco's
geographicallocation complements our
operations in Europe and adds to our global
footprint whichis a competitive advantage.”

o

We're combining our global
scale and expertise with our
local team’s best-in-class
knowledge to provide the best
service to our customers.

Tony Smurfit
Group CEO
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EU Taxonomy

The European Commission presented a growth
strategy based on environmental and sustainable
development, the Green Deal, in 2019. To direct
investments towards sustainable projects and
activities, the EU introduced Regulation ((EU)
2020/852) of the European Parliament and of the
Council of 18 June 2020 on the establishment of
aframework to facilitate sustainable investment,
and amending Regulation (EU) 2019/2088

(the ‘Taxonomy Regulation’) in 2020. Companies
arerequired to report on their taxonomy-eligible
and aligned activities in their Annual Report.

The first set of sustainable activity classification
criteria, The Delegated Act on Sustainable
Activities for climate change mitigation and
adaptation (‘the Climate Delegated Act’), was
published and adopted in 2021 and amended
in 2023. Further criteria on the four remaining
objectives were adopted and published as part
of the Environmental Delegated Actin 2023.
These are: sustainable use and protection

of water and marine resources; transition to
acircular economy; pollution prevention and
control; and protection and restoration of
biodiversity and ecosystems.

The current taxonomy classification criteria
does not yet cover the core business activities of
the Group. In producing paper-based packaging
solutions and having 77% of its raw material
from recycled sources, SKG has a strong position
inthe circular economy. We expect to be well
positioned as the scope of the Taxonomy is
widened to include further activities contributing
towards environmental objectives such as the
manufacturing of paper.

The information below is disclosed based

on the information available in relation to the
Taxonomy Regulation to date. The information
is subject to refinement as the Taxonomy
Regulation develops further and as practice
emerges, asitis embedded within the Group
and as we work through the other environmental
objectives when they are published. Inits
sustainable activity eligibility assessment, SKG
hastaken a careful approach and followed the
bestinterpretation of the currently available
guidelines of the European Commission.

We acknowledge that the interpretation may
change as common practice brings clarity to
definitions on activities and the amount of
eligible activities may grow.

Taxonomy-Eligible

and Aligned Activities

In accordance with Article 8 of the Taxonomy

Regulation, non-financial undertakings shall

reporton their EU Taxonomy aligned

Climate Change Adaptation and Climate

Change Mitigation activities for their reporting

period ended 31 December 2023. For the other

environmental objectives only eligibility is
required for this reporting period. The following
approach has been taken to classify SKG’s
activities in accordance with the Taxonomy

Regulation as either Taxonomy-non-eligible,

Taxonomy-eligible but not aligned or

Taxonomy-aligned:

— Taxonomy-non-eligible economic activity:
any economic activity that is not described
inthe Climate Delegated Act, itsamendments
and Complementary Delegated Act, or in the
Environmental Delegated Act;

— Taxonomy-eligible but not aligned
economic activity: an economic activity
thatis described in the Climate Delegated
Act, itsamendments and Complementary
Delegated Act, or in the Environmental
Delegated Act and does not meet any or
all of the technical screening criteria (‘TSC’)
laid outin these acts;

— Taxonomy-aligned (a sustainable activity):
an eligible economic activity which meets
three requirements:

1. Contributes substantially to one of the
six environmental objectives. This means
complying with technical criteria which
measure the environmental performance
of the activity.

2. Donosignificantharm to any other
environmental objective (DNSH’):

This means complying with criteria
which measure the negative impact of
the economic activity with respect to the
other five environmental objectives.

3. Complies with ‘minimum safeguards”
This means that the economic activity
complies with minimum safeguards
related to the topics of human rights
(including labour and consumer rights),
corruption and bribery, taxation and
fair competition.

Taxonomy-Eligible activities

We have undertaken a thorough review
involving all relevant divisions and functions
through our full value chain. We concluded
that our activities of providing paper-based
packaging solutions are not currently covered
by the activities within the six Taxonomy
defined environmental objectives and
consequently are Taxonomy-non-eligible.

All other business activities have been assessed
in line with the Climate Delegated Actand

the Delegated Regulation (EU) 2023/2486 of

27 June 2023 (Environmental Delegated Act)
(the ‘Environmental Delegated Act’) and their
annexes. The outcome can be seen in the tables
on pages 70to 71.

We have identified 15 sustainable activities

of which six are new. Four of the new activities
overlap with already existing activities which
we have indicated in the tables on pages 70 to 71.
By attributing our activities to one
environmental objective only, we avoid double
counting between multiple environmental
objectives, and when aligned, we have tested
the TSC of both. With regard to Climate Change,
our business practices are currently focused
towards pursuing the environmental objective
of climate change mitigation and to contribute
substantially to the stabilisation of greenhouse
gas emissions by avoiding or reducing them or
by enhancing greenhouse gas removals.
Therefore our assessment has mainly focused
onthe Climate Delegated Act Annex L, climate
change mitigation and we have reported under
this Objective.

Taxonomy-Aligned Activities

SKG has further assessed each of its Taxonomy-

eligible activities against the TSC and the

minimum safeguard requirements and
concluded that for 2023 the following activities
are Taxonomy-aligned:

— Climate Change Mitigation 1.3 Forest
management;

— Climate Change Mitigation 4.20
Cogeneration of heat/cool and power
from bioenergy;

— Climate Change Mitigation 5.3 Collection,
extension and operation of waste water
collection and treatment; and

— Climate Change Mitigation 5.5 Collection and
transport of non-hazardous waste in source
segregated fractions.

The remainder of the activities are Taxonomy-

eligible but not Taxonomy-aligned. Further

details on the alignment assessments for the
four aligned activities are outlined below.

Annual Report 2023 Smurfit Kappa 69



. StrategicReport

Sustainability continued
EU Taxonomy continued

Annex Sector Eligible economicactivity = Description of SKG activities NACE-Code
Climate Change  Disaster Risk 14.2 Flood risk prevention and Smurfit Kappa Wrexen paper mill is situated by the river NACE
Adaptation Management protection infrastructure Diemel in Germany. The site has dedicated grass land F42.91
between the operational site and the river to allow water
height changes and prevent flood risk.
Climate Change  Forestry 1.3 Forest management Smurfit Kappa owns 68,000 hectares of forest of which NACE
Mitigation approximately 46,000 hectares are in commercial A02.10A02.20
forestry use, and the remaining balance is dedicated A02.40
to forest conservation.
Overlaps with sustainable activities Sustainable Use and
Protection of Water and Marine Resources 3.1 on Nature-base
solutions for flood and drought risk and prevention and
protection; and Protection and Restoration of Biodiversity and
Ecosystems 1.1 on conservation including restoration of
habitats, ecosystems and species
Climate Change  Energy 4.2 Electricity generation using Smurfit Kappa corrugated sites are increasingly installing  NACE
Mitigation concentrated solar power (CSP) solar panels on their sites and operating them as part of D35.11
technology their electricity mix. F42.22
Climate Change  Energy 4.13Manufacture of biogas and Smurfit Kappa Pitea paper mill manufactures tall oil for NACE
Mitigation biofuels foruseintransportand  usein transport. D35.21
of bioliquids
Climate Change  Energy 4.15 District heating/cooling Smurfit Kappa Pitea and in the future Smurfit Kappa NACE
Mitigation distribution Nettingsdorfare part of the local, municipality district D35.30
heating system and send their excess heat to the
municipality system.
Climate Change  Energy 4.20 Cogeneration of heat/cool Smurfit Kappa virgin paper mills produce their energy NACE
Mitigation and power from bioenergy increasingly from bioenergy. Some recycled paper mills D35.11
use the biogas from their biological waste water treatment
as part of the gas mix for energy generation.
Climate Change =~ Water supply, 5.3 Construction, extension 30 of our 35 paper mills operate their own waste water NACE
Mitigation sewerage, waste  and operation of waste water treatment plant. E37
management collection and treatment
and remediation Overlaps partially with our activities regarding Sustainable Use
and Protection of Water and Marine Resources 2.2 Urban Waste
Water treatment and all items are reported under this item only.
Climate Change = Water supply, 5.5 Collection and transport of Smurfit Kappa recycling operations organise collection NACE
Mitigation sewerage, waste  non-hazardous waste in source and transport of paper and paper packaging waste in E38.11
management segregated fractions single fractions aimed at recycling of fibres.
and remediation
Overlaps with Transition to Circular Economy 2.3 Collection
and transport of non-hazardous and hazardous waste and all
items are reported under this item only.
Climate Change  Construction 7.3 Installation, maintenance Smurfit Kappa continually invests in installation, NACE
Mitigation and real estate and repair of energy efficiency maintenance and repair of energy efficiency equipment C33.12
equipment inits paper mills and corrugated plants.
Climate Change  Construction 7.4 Installation, maintenance Smurfit Kappa updates its forklift systems on its operating  NACE
Mitigation and real estate and repair of charging stations sites with electric forklifts and their charging stations. C17
for electric vehicles in buildings
(and parking spaces attached to
buildings)
Sustainable Use ~ Water supply, 2.2 Urban Waste Water Smurfit Kappa Morava operates a waste water treatment NACE
and Protection sewerage, waste  Treatment plantthat also treats municipality waste water for the city ~ E37.00
of Water and management of Morava. F42.9
Marine and remediation
Resources Overlaps partially with our activities regarding Climate Change
Mitigation 5.3 Construction, extension and operation of
wastewater collection and treatment. All items are reported
under Climate Change Mitigation 5.3 only.
Sustainable Use  Disaster Risk 3.1 Nature-based solutions Our Colombian Forestry Operations R&D centre NACE
and Protection Management for flood and drought risk researches wood species’ adaptability to climate change F42.91
of Water and prevention and protection with a focus on drought and drought risk prevention.
Marine
Resources This activity is part of our Forest Management (Climate Change

Mitigation item 1.3) and will be reported under that item.
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Annex Sector Eligible economicactivity = Description of SKG activities NACE-Code
Transition Manufacturing 1.1 Manufacture of plastic Smurfit Kappa manufactures Bag-in-Box packaging NACE
toaCircular - Transition packaging goods solutions that are based on a plastic pouch system that C22.22
Economy toacircular helps to increase the product shelflife and reduce plastic
economy packaging materials.
Transition Water supply, 2.3 Collection and transport Smurfit Kappa recycling operations organise collection NACE
toaCircular sewerage, waste  of non-hazardousand hazardous and transportof paper and paper packaging waste in E38.11
Economy management waste single fractions aimed at recycling of fibres. E38.12
and remediation F42.9

Overlaps with Climate Change Mitigation 5.5 Collection and

transport of non-hazardous waste in source segregated sections

and allitems are reported under Climate Change Mitigation

5.5 only.
Protection and Environmental 1.1 Conservation, including Smurfit Kappa Colombia Forestry Operations owns 67,500  NACE
Restoration of protection and restoration, of habitats, hectares of forests and plantations. 22,700 hectares of this ~ R91.04
Biodiversityand  restoration ecosystems and species land has been rehabilitated to natural state and protected.
Ecosystems activities We study the development of species in the protected areas.

This activity is part of our Forest Management activities

(Climate Change Mitigation item 1.3) and we report this under

that item only.
Substantial Contribution Do No Significant Harm We manage our forest plantations against FSC

In order to determine if an economic activity

is Taxonomy-aligned, it must contribute

substantially to one or more of the

environmental objectives.

— Climate Change Mitigation 1.3 Forest
management: Our Colombian forestry
operations, have met the substantial
contribution criteria consisting of five sub
criteria, including having an FSC®, certified
Forest Management plan in place.

— Climate Change Mitigation 4.20
Cogeneration of heat/cool power from
bioenergy: Our Pited and Nettingsdorf paper
mills combined heat and power plants meet
the substantial contribution criteria. These
sites operate Combined Heat and Power
plants that supply energy to our millson an
industrial scale, meeting the relevant EU
BREF requirements.

— Climate Change Mitigation 5.3 Construction,
extension and operation of waste water
collection and treatment. Our Ania (Italy),
Barbosa (Colombia), Barranquilla
(Colombia), Bernal (Argentina), Cali
(Colombia), Hoya (Germany) and Ziilpich
(Germany) paper mills operate best practice
waste water treatment plants that meet the
substantial contribution criteria. The
Ziilpich plant runs an industrial waste water
treatment process to supply a closed loop
water system at the mill.

— Climate Change Mitigation 5.5 Collection
and transport of non-hazardous waste in
source segregated fractions. Our recycling
operations meet the substantial contribution
criteria to the extent that all separately
collected and transported non-hazardous
waste segregated at source is intended for
preparation for reuse or recycling operations.

For all aligned activities a physical climate risk
and vulnerability assessment was carried out
pursuant to Appendix A of the Climate Delegated
Actin line with the Do No Significant Harm
(‘DNSH’) criteria for climate change adaptation.

For each of the sites we conducted a preliminary
screening of the climate related risk hazards as
mapped in Appendix A of the Climate Delegated
Act. Those risks, which were found to be
relevant, were further analysed in a climate

risk and vulnerability assessment. In 2021

we carried out an extensive climate risk and
opportunity assessment and this was repeated
in 2023. The results have been further discussed
in our TCFD report on pages 78 to 95. The project
was supported by an expert third party,
reviewing climate risks and opportunities for
Smurfit Kappa and utilising a climate scenario
modelling tool provided by TCS, Climanomics.

The analysis was conducted across all the
Group’s operating assets. The scenario analysis
and modelling was completed under different
Representative Concentration Pathways (RCP’)
scenarios 2.6 (0.9-2.3°C), 4.5 (1.7-3.2°C), 6.2
(2.0-3.7°C) and 8.5 (3.2-5.4°C). These model the
potential impact on assets from physical and
transitional risks in 10-year increments through
10 2100. The analysis focused on the critical
assets impacted across the RCP scenarios within
the period 2030-2040 and 2040-2050, these periods
are most critical for decision making in the near
to medium-term.

We have been preparing for climate-related
risks at our forestry operations for over 10 years.
This includes research on natural forests and
understanding how tree species adapt to
changing climate patterns. This has been
included in our FSC/PEFC certified long and
short-term forest management plans.

certified Forest Management Plans that set the
basis of sustainable forest management. A
thorough assessment against the TSC, including
DNSH on sustainable use and protection of
water and marine ecosystems, transition to a
circular economy, pollution prevention and
control as well as protection and restoration of
biodiversity and ecosystems concludes that the
activity is Taxonomy-aligned.

For the Recycling operations, we have assessed
the DNSH criteria for transition to a circular
economy in addition to climate change
adaptation. The assessment has been based on
compliance with EN643:2014, the European list
of standard grades of paper and board for
recycling.

Minimum safeguards

The minimum safeguards include all procedures
implemented to ensure that economic activities
are carried outin alignment with the OECD
Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises (OECD
MNE Guidelines); The UN Guiding Principles
on Business and Human Rights (UNGPs’),
including the principles and rights set out

in the eight fundamental conventions identified
in the Declaration of the International Labour
Organization on Fundamental Principles and
Rights at Work and The International Bill

of Human Rights.

The scope of the minimum safeguards covers
the topics of human rights (including labour
and consumer rights), corruption and bribery,
taxation and fair competition. We have
implemented adequate policies and processes
to prevent negative impacts. We also monitor
to ensure whether our processes are effective.

We disclose transparently on all these items in
thisreport as well as in our separate Sustainable
Development Report 2023 (to be published in
March 2024).
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Turnover, Capital Expenditure (‘CapEx’)
and Operating Expenditure ('OpEx’)
KPIs and our Accounting Policies

The key performance indicators (‘KPIs’) include
the turnover KPI, the CapEx KPI and the OpEx
KPI. For the financial year ended 31 December
2023, the KPIs have to be disclosed in relation

to our Taxonomy-aligned, Taxonomy-eligible
but not aligned and Taxonomy-non-eligible
economic activities as required by the Annexes
of the Delegated Acts.

The specification of the KPIs is determined
inaccordance with Annex I of the Article 8
Delegated Actand presented in the tables
onpages 72to77.

Aswe are not performing any of the activities
related to natural gas and nuclear energy, we are
notdisclosing the dedicated templates introduced
by the Delegated Regulation (EU) 2022/1214 of 9
March 2022 (Complementary Climate Delegated
Act) Complementary Delegated Act.

Turnover

The turnover-aligned KPI is defined as
Taxonomy-aligned turnover (numerator)
divided by our total turnover (denominator).
Similarly, the turnover-eligible but not aligned
KPIis defined as Taxonomy-eligible but not
aligned turnover (numerator) divided by

our total turnover (denominator).

The denominator is SKG’s external revenue as
reported in the Consolidated Income Statement.
The accounting policy applicable for revenue
recognition is addressed in detail in Note 2

to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Taxonomy-aligned turnover (numerator) is
defined as the turnover derived from products
and services associated with Taxonomy-aligned
economic activities:

— Activity 1.3 Forest management. We generate
turnover from the sale of roundwood from
forests owned by Smurfit Kappa Colombia
to third parties.

— Activity 5.5 Collection and transport of
non-hazardous waste in source segregated
fractions. We generate turnover from the
sale of recovered fibre to third parties.

Double counting was avoided by only allocating
revenue from third parties once to an economic
activity.

Allthird party revenue is related to contracts
with customers and there has been no key
elements of change compared to the prior year.

Proportion of turnover from products or services associated with Taxonomy-aligned economic activities —disclosure covering year 2023

Financial Year 2023

« M
@ £9
Economicactivities (1) (&) = a2
EUR million %
A.TAXONOMY-ELIGIBLEACTIVITIES %
A.1.Environmentally sustainable activities (Taxonomy-aligned)
Forest Management CCM1.3 3 0.0%
Cogeneration of heat/cooland power from bioenergy CCM4.20 0.0%
Construction, extensionand operation of waste water collection and treatment CCM5.3 0.0%
Collectionandtransport of non-hazardous wastein source segregated fractions CCM5.5 151 1.4%
Turnover of environmentally sustainable activities (Taxonomy-aligned) (A.1) 154 1.4%
Of Which Enabling
OfWhich Transitional
A.2 Taxonomy-Eligible but not environmentally sustainable activities (not Taxonomy-aligned activities)
Electricity generation using concentrated solar power (CSP) technology CCM4.2 0.0%
Electricity generation frombioenergy CCM4.8 0.0%
Manufacture of biogas and biofuels for use in transport and of bioliquids CCM4.13 0.0%
District heating/cooling distribution CCM4.15 0.0%
Cogeneration of heat/cooland power from bioenergy CCM4.20 0.0%
Construction, extension and operation of waste water collectionand treatment CCM5.3 0.0%
Installation, maintenance and repair of energy efficiency equipment CCM7.3 0.0%
Installation, maintenance and repair of charging stations for electric vehicles in buildings
(and parking spaces attached to buildings) CCM7.4 0.0%
Manufacture of plastic packaging goods CE1l.1 251 2.2%
Turnover of Taxonomy-eligible but not environmentally sustainable activities
(not Taxonomy-aligned activities) (A.2) 251 2.2%
A.Turnover of Taxonomy Eligible activities (A.1 +A.2) 405 3.6%
B. TAXONOMY-NON-ELIGIBLEACTIVITIES
Turnover of Taxonomy-non-eligible activities (B) 10,867 96.4%
Total 11,272 100.0%

Y Yes: Taxonomy eligible and Taxonomy aligned activity with the relevant environmental objective
N No: Taxonomy-eligible but not Taxonomy aligned activity with the relevant environmental objective

EL  Taxonomy eligible activity for the relevant objective

N/EL Taxonomy non-eligible for the relevant environmental objective

- Notapplicable
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Substantial contribution criteria DNSH criteria (‘Does Not Significantly Harm’)
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Y,N;N/EL  Y,N;N/EL  Y,N;N/EL Y,N;N/EL Y,N;N/EL Y,N;N/EL Y/N Y/N Y/N Y/N Y/N Y/N Y/N  Percent E T
Y - - - - - - - Y Y Y Y Y 100%
Y - - - - - - - Y - Y Y Y -
Y - - - - - - - Y - Y Y Y -
Y - - - - - - - - Y - - - 100%
1.4% 100%
E
T
EL;N/EL EL;N/EL EL;N/EL EL;N/EL EL;N/EL EL;N/EL
EL - - - - - 100%
EL - - - - - 100%
EL - - - - - 100%
EL - - - - - 100%
EL - - - - - 100%
EL - - - - - 100%
EL - - - - - 100%
EL - - - - - 100%
EL
2.2% -
1.4% 2.2%
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CapEx Additions resulting from business combinations ~ The numerator consists of the following

The CapEx-aligned KPI is defined as are also included. Goodwillis notincluded in categories of Taxonomy-aligned CapEx:

Taxonomy-aligned CapEx (numerator) divided CapEx. For further details on our accounting

by our total CapEx (denominator). Similarly, policies regarding CapEx, see Note 2 to the a. CapExrelated to assets or processes thatare

the CapEx-eligible but not aligned KPI is Consolidated Financial Statements. Our total associated with Taxonomy-aligned economic

defined as Taxonomy-eligible but not aligned CapEx can be reconciled to our Consolidated activities (‘category a’).

CapEx (numerator) divided by our total Financial Statements, see the additions and

CapEx (denominator). acquisitions lines, excluding additions to We consider that assets and processes are
goodwill, in Notes 11, 12, 13 and 14 to the associated with Taxonomy-aligned economic

The denominator is SKG’s total additions Consolidated Financial Statements. activities when they are essential components

to tangible and intangible assets before necessary to execute an economic activity.

depreciation, amortisation and any For the eligibility assessment of CapEx, we have

re-measurements, including those resulting identified the relevant purchases and allocated

from revaluations and impairmentsand excluding ~ themto only one economic activity in the

fair value changes. It includes acquisitions of Climate Delegated Act ensuring no capital

tangible fixed assets, intangible fixed assets, expenditure is considered more than once.

biological assets and right-of-use assets.

Proportion of CapEx from products or services associated with Taxonomy-aligned economic activities —disclosure covering year 2023

Financial Year 2023

o
§
kS
8 o S
Economicactivities (1) [§] [§) aQ
EUR million %
A.TAXONOMY-ELIGIBLEACTIVITIES %
A.1.Environmentally sustainable activities (Taxonomy-aligned)
Forest Management CCM1.3 26 2.4%
Cogeneration of heat/cooland power from bioenergy CCM4.20 (0] 0.0%
Construction, extensionand operation of waste water collection and treatment CCM5.3 1 0.1%
Collectionandtransport of non-hazardous wastein source segregated fractions CCM5.5 10 0.9%
CapEx of environmentally sustainable activities (Taxonomy-aligned) (A.1) 37 3.4%
Of Which Enabling
OfWhich Transitional
A.2 Taxonomy-Eligible but not environmentally sustainable activities (not Taxonomy-aligned activities)
Electricity generation using concentrated solar power (CSP) technology CCM4.2 5 0.5%
Electricity generation frombioenergy CCM4.8 0.0%
Manufacture of biogas and biofuels for use in transport and of bioliquids CCM4.13 0.0%
District heating/cooling distribution CCM4.15 (0] 0.0%
Cogeneration of heat/cooland power from bioenergy CCM4.20 13 1.2%
Construction, extension and operation of waste water collectionand treatment CCM5.3 24 2.2%
Installation, maintenance and repair of energy efficiency equipment CCM7.3 27 2.4%
Installation, maintenance and repair of charging stations for electric vehicles in buildings
(and parking spaces attached to buildings) CCM7.4 0 0.0%
Manufacture of plastic packaging goods CE1l.1 45 4.2%
CapEx of Taxonomy-eligible but not environmentally sustainable activities
(not Taxonomy-aligned activities) (A.2) 114 10.5%
A.CapExof Taxonomy Eligible activities (A.1 + A.2) 151 13.9%
B. TAXONOMY-NON-ELIGIBLEACTIVITIES
CapEx of Taxonomy-non-eligible activities (B) 932 86.1%
Total 1,083 100.0%
Y Yes: Taxonomy eligible and Taxonomy aligned activity with the relevant environmental objective
N No: Taxonomy eligible but not Taxonomy aligned activity with the relevant environmental objective

EL  Taxonomy eligible activity for the relevant objective
N/EL Taxonomy non-eligible for the relevant environmental objective
- Notapplicable
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Inthe financial year ending 31 December 2023
all CapEx related to the following areasis
considered in the numerator of the CapEx KPI:

Activity 1.3. Forest management. The CapEx
islinked to investments related to
sustainable forest management,
infrastructure and research.

Activity 4.20. Cogeneration of heat/cool and
power from bioenergy. The CapExis linked
to investments related to our combined heat
and power plants that use biofuels as energy
source and meet the TSC.

Activity 5.3. Construction, extension and
operation of waste water collection and
treatment. The CapEx islinked to
investments in our water treatment plants
that meetthe TSC.

Activity 5.5. Collection and transport of
non-hazardous waste in source segregated
fractions. The CapEx islinked to investments
in recovered paper collection infrastructure.

Quantitative breakdown of the CapEx numerator at economicactivity level, € million

Acquired

througha

Additions to Intangible  Right-of-Use Biological business

Activity PP&E Assets Assets Assets Total  combination
1.3 12 - - 14 26 -
5.5 8 - 2 - 10 -
4.20 - - - - - -
5.3 1 - - - 1 -
Total 21 - 2 14 37 -
b. CapExthatispartofaplantoupgrade c. CapExrelated to the purchase of output from

a Taxonomy-eligible economic activity

to become Taxonomy-aligned or to expand
a Taxonomy-aligned economic activity
(‘categoryb’). In the financial year ending
31 December 2023 we had no CapEx plans
as defined by the Taxonomy Regulation and
therefore no amounts from this category
are allocated to the numerator.

Taxonomy-aligned economic activities and
individual measures enabling certain target
activities to become low-carbon or to lead to
greenhouse gas reductions (‘category c’). In
this category we have identified CapEx spend
such as solar panels and the upgrade of waste
water treatment plants and biomass boilers.

No changes to the key elements of the CapEx
were made in 2023.

Substantial contribution criteria

DNSH criteria (‘Does Not Significantly Harm’)

[J) = [J) > 8 > 8‘ ";
_ _ % £ =
55§85 ©g = 3 55 £5 £5 =g s 8 58 8 Sge, 28 »E
£s £3 g3 2 8 _ S8 E2  ES  £3 2 35 8% £2 58%y £2 fis
CE R =9 & k) @ 8 CE€ G3R R & S w6 =8 &858 8% SEs
Y,N;N/EL Y,N;N/EL Y,N;N/EL Y,N;N/EL Y,N;N/EL Y,N;N/EL Y/N Y/N Y/N Y/N Y/N Y/N Y/N Percent E T
Y - - - - - - - Y Y Y Y Y  100%
Y - - - - - - - Y - Y Y Y -
Y - - - - - - - Y - Y Y Y -
Y - - - - - - - Y Y - - - 100%
3.4%
E
T
EL;N/EL EL;N/EL EL;N/EL EL;N/EL EL;N/EL EL;N/EL
EL - - - - - 100%
EL - - - - - 100%
EL - - - - - 100%
EL - - - - - 100%
EL - - - - - 100%
EL - - - - - 100%
EL - - - - - 100%
EL - - - - - 100%
EL -
6.3% 4.2%
9.7% 42%
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OpEx

The OpEx-aligned KPI is defined as
Taxonomy-aligned OpEx (numerator) divided
by our total OpEx (denominator). Similarly,
the OpEx-eligible but not aligned KPI is
defined as Taxonomy-eligible but not aligned
OpEx (numerator) divided by our total

OpEx (denominator).

The costincludes:

— Research and development expenditure
recognised as an expense during the
reporting period and disclosed in Note 5
tothe Consolidated Financial Statements.
Thisincludes all non-capitalised expenditure
thatis directly attributable to research or
development activities.

— The amount of non-capitalised short-term

With regards to the numerator, we refer to
the explanation provided under the CapEx
on page 74 and 75.

No changesto the key elements of the OpEx
were made in 2023.

Quantitative breakdown of OpEx numerator

The OpEx denominator consists of direct leases as disclosed in Note 12 to the €m
non-capitalised costs that relate to research and Consolidated Financial Statements. R&D Costs -
development, building renovation measures, — Maintenance and repairs and other direct Repair and Maintenance 13
short-term leases, repair and maintenance expenditures relating to the day-to-day Shorttermleases 1
and upkeep relating to the day-to-day servicing servicing of assets of property, plantand Total 15
of assets of property, plant and equipment. equipment. This also includes building
This does not include the expenditure relating renovation costs. See Note 5 to the
to the day-to-day operation of property, plant Consolidated Financial Statements.
and equipment such as: raw materials, cost
of employees operating the machine and
the cost of energy.
Proportion of OpEx from products or services associated with Taxonomy-aligned economic activities —disclosure covering year 2023
Financial Year 2023
x
w
Q
o
[t
(o]
S 5
z 5 vg
= 53
Economicactivities (1) (&) o aQ
EUR million %
A.TAXONOMY-ELIGIBLE ACTIVITIES %
A.1.Environmentally sustainable activities (Taxonomy-aligned)
Forest Management CCM1.3 5 0.8%
Cogeneration of heat/cooland power from bioenergy CCM4.20 1 0.2%
Construction, extensionand operation of waste water collection and treatment CCM5.3 1 0.2%
Collectionandtransport of non-hazardous wastein source segregated fractions CCM5.5 8 1.4%
OpEx of environmentally sustainable activities (Taxonomy-aligned) (A.1) 15 2.6%
Of Which Enabling
OfWhich Transitional
A.2 Taxonomy-Eligible but not environmentally sustainable activities (not Taxonomy-aligned activities)
Electricity generation using concentrated solar power (CSP) technology CCM4.2 0 0.0%
Electricity generation frombioenergy CCM4.8 0.0%
Manufacture of biogas and biofuels for use in transport and of bioliquids CCM4.13 (0] 0.0%
District heating/cooling distribution CCM4.15 0.0%
Cogeneration of heat/cooland power from bioenergy CCM4.20 2 0.4%
Construction, extension and operation of waste water collectionand treatment CCM5.3 0.6%
Installation, maintenance and repair of energy efficiency equipment CCM7.3 0.0%
Installation, maintenance and repair of charging stations for electric vehicles in buildings
(and parking spaces attached to buildings) CCM7.4 0.0%
Manufacture of plastic packaging goods CE1l.1 4 0.8%
OpEx of Taxonomy-eligible but not environmentally sustainable activities
(not Taxonomy-aligned activities) (A.2) 10 1.8%
A.OpEx of Taxonomy Eligible activities (A.1 + A.2) 25 4.4%
B. TAXONOMY-NON-ELIGIBLE ACTIVITIES
OpEx of Taxonomy-non-eligible activities (B) 552 95.6%

Total

577 100.0%

Y Yes: Taxonomy eligible and Taxonomy aligned activity with the relevant environmental objective
N No: Taxonomy eligible but not taxonomy aligned activity with the relevant environmental objective

EL  Taxonomy eligible activity for the relevant objective

N/EL Taxonomy non-eligible for the relevant environmental objective

- Notapplicable
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Substantial contribution criteria DNSH criteria (‘Does Not Significantly Harm’)
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Annual Report 2023 Smurfit Kappa 77



. Strategic Report

Sustainability continued

Task Force on Climate-Related
Financial Disclosures (‘“TCFD’)

A changing climate has implications across our
value chain from our raw material sourcing to
our customers product demand and packaging
requirements. It can affect our key raw
materials such as starch and forestry, and
natural resources like water that we rely on

to make our products. It can cause disruption
to our manufacturing sites and supply chain
through extreme weather. SKG recognises the
challenges climate presents both now and into
the future. Sustainability is at the heart of how
we think and actin everything we do, driven

by our values, vision and our purpose, to create,
protectand care. We use a combination of
long-term targets, interim targets and continued
action today. This multi-horizon approach
ensures we look beyond our continued delivery
today and also think and act strategically on
whatis required to deliver a just transition to
alow-carbon, circular economy in line with

the Paris Agreement. Our ambition is to have at
least Scope 1, 2 and 3 net zero emissions by 2050,
with a 55% reduction in relative CO, emissions
in Scope 1 and 2 by 2030.

During 2023, we have seen climate related
records being broken across the globe which
poses an ominous and immediate need for
action. The importance of managing today but
understanding potential impacts in the future
under different scenarios continues to be a
critical consideration for the Group.

Smurfit Kappa Group recognises the importance
of climate-related financial disclosures as part
of our commitment to sustainability and
responsible corporate citizenship. This section
of the Report provides information on how
climate-related risks and opportunities are
integrated into our business strategy and
financial planning, aligned with the
recommendations of the Task Force on
Climate-related Financial Disclosures (‘TCFD’).
Since 2021 we have significantly developed our
disclosure as outlined below which is in line
with recentlegislative updates in the UK and is
consistent with all the TCFD recommendations
and recommended disclosures. In completing
this disclosure, we have provided the
recommended disclosures in terms of:

— Governance (see pages 78 to 81)

— Strategy (see pages 82to 91)

— Risk Management (see page 92)

— Metrics and Targets (see pages 92 to 94)
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Our disclosures below should be read

in conjunction with the 2023 Sustainable
Development Report (‘SDR’), will be published
simultaneously with this Annual Reportin
March 2024 and also the Carbon Disclosure
Project (‘CDP’) Climate Change Response
made by the Group in 2023. Further
information can be found on our website

at smurfitkappa.com/sustainability.

Our progress and evolution of reporting in line
with the TCFD recommendations includes but
isnot limited to the following updates in 2023:

— The completion of an updated climate
scenario analysis taking into account aspects
of the Sixth Assessment Report (‘AR6’) from
the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate
Change (1PCC’)

— The successful trial of the Hyflexpower
projectin our Saillat site in France,

a concept project which successfully
used 100% Hydrogen;

— Inthis Annual Report we are reporting
an expanded disclosure of our taxonomy
eligibility and continued alignment;

— We completed our double materiality
assessment projectin line with the
ESRS standards;

— Board approval for anumber of climate
related investments such as an energy
upgrade in our Verzuolo mill (€26 million),
waste water treatment plantin our Facture
mill (€12 million) and an anaerobic reactor
for our Herzberg mill (€7 million);

— Board training on climate scenario analysis;

— The progression of our multi-year water risk
assessment process, which will help us
develop our understanding of the risks
specific to water and also improve our
water stewardship;

— Increasing the understanding across
our business of climate risks and
opportunities; and

— Asummary of our Transition Plan, which
sets out our strategy, the strength of which
is demonstrated through: delivering today,
having independently validated interim
targets for 2030 in line with the Paris
Agreement, and our long-term ambition
of atleast net zero by 2050.

In addition, as part of our reporting process, we
have considered the recommendations outlined
inthe FRCreports, ‘CRR Thematic review of
TCFD disclosures and climate in the financial
statements’ and ‘CRR Thematic review of
climate-related metrics & targets’.

We expect that certain aspects of our disclosure
will further develop and evolve over time.

We expect over the course of 2024 and beyond to:
— Continue to develop our strategy and
Transition Plan towards net zero inline
with the latest framework;
— Carry outadditional scenario analysis using
new and improved approaches and datasets;
— Incorporate insights from water risk
assessments carried out during the year; and
— Continue to evolve our Scope 3
understanding and strategy.

Governance

Board level
Board Oversight on Climate Change

BoardLevel

The Board is primarily responsible for the
long-term success of the Group, for setting

the Group’s strategic aims, for the leadership
and control of the Group and for reviewing

the Group’s system of internal control and risk
management. Given the nature of our business
and the importance of sustainability to our
stakeholders, sustainability, including climate
change, hasbeen a key focus for the Board for
many years. This evolved further with specific
consideration given to climate change. In
recognition of the importance of sustainability
in general and climate change in particular,
the Board formed a dedicated Sustainability
Committee in 2019, the responsibilities of
which are outlined on pages 79 and 154.

During 2023, the Sustainability Committee

of the Board was engaged across a number of
climate related topics which included external
training on climate scenario analysis, a review
of the World Economic Forum ‘How to Set Up
Effective Climate Governance on Corporate
Boards’, Scope 3 emissions and the Group
climate risk register. The Committee met six
times in 2023. As a principal risk for the Group,
climate change is reviewed regularly at both
Board and Executive level. Climate change has
beenrecorded as a material topic for the Group
since 2007. The development of the Group’s
competence in climate change in recent years
hasresulted in the development of a Group
climate change risk register, detailed scenario
analysis and an ongoing development of the
awareness across the business of both climate
change risks and opportunities.
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One of the key areas where we can manage our
impact on climate change is through mitigating
actions which are focused predominantly on
CO, emission reductions. This can be achieved
by using energy more efficiently, generating
energy in a more efficient way, by investing in
renewable energy and considering and trialling
new and emerging technologies as we address
the challenges of achieving net zero. Thisisa
strategic issue and a standing item at operational
review meetings. Itis an important element
considered in certain major capital expenditure
projects and in our overall corporate strategy.
Ttisalso partof our overall corporate purpose,
vision and strategy which has sustainability
atits core. We have set both interim and
long-term targets related to climate change and
our interim 2030 targets have been approved

by the SBTias in line with the Paris Agreement.

The Group identifies through its strategic
planning, significantinvestment opportunities
to deliver on our interim sustainability KPIs

and when relevant, the opportunity to reduce
CO; emissions continues to be considered as part
of our acquisitions and divestitures processes.

In 2023, further evidence of the Group’s strong
sustainability credentials was demonstrated

by the publication of our 16" SDR and the
publication of our second Green Bond Allocation
and Impact Report, both independently assured.

The diagram above shows our governance
structure, including sustainability which covers
climate-related issues.

Executive
Risk
Committee

Sustainability Committee

The Sustainability Committee has responsibility
for providing strategic guidance and support to
managementin the implementation of the
Sustainability Strategy for the Group, which is
based on three key strategic sustainability and
corporate responsibility pillars; People, Planet
and Impactful Business.

The Sustainability Committee updates the Board
ateach meeting on the matters considered on
their agenda, including climate change.

During 2023 an internal evaluation of the
Committee was undertaken, the conclusion
from that process was that the performance of
the Committee and the Chair of the Committee
were satisfactory.
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In addition, the Committee is responsible for:

— Reviewingand approving the annual SDR
and the Sustainability section of the
Annual Report;

— Reviewing TCFD compliance and reporting
of climate-related financial information;

— Reviewingthe climate risks and
opportunities of the Group including
consideration of emerging and mitigating
actions; and

— Engagementwith the workforce on behalf
of the Board as required by the UK Corporate
Governance Code (‘the ‘Code’).

In 2023, the Committee met six times and
covered a broad range of sustainability topics
atthese meetings. In addition, the Chair, the
Group Chief Executive Officer (‘CEQ’) and the
Group Chief Financial Officer (CFO’) are regular
attendees at meetings of the Sustainability
Committee. The key climate related topics
included review of: the Group’s climate risk
register, Scope 3 reporting, a comprehensive
third party report on climate scenario analysis
for the Group’s assets, the Group’s progress
onits key sustainability KPIs and climate related
regulatory updates. In 2021, building on the
detailed review of the World Economic Forum’s
‘How to Set Up Effective Climate Governance

on Corporate Boards’, which highlighted key
focus areas, the Group developed an action plan.
During 2023, the Sustainability Committee
reviewed the progress made against this action
plan and itwas further considered and updated.

The Sustainability Committee receives
updates from management on various matters
relating to sustainability and climate change
ateach meeting.

The Group’s Chief Sustainability Officer
(‘Group CSO’), was also tasked with ensuring
relevant sustainability related matters are
communicated and discussed at the Board
committee level as appropriate. The Group
CSO reports to the Group CFO. During 2023

the development of web-based tools to enhance
the understanding of sustainability, including
climate, was completed. This was done to
expand the knowledge and awareness of
relevant sustainability topics, explain what

it means for internal stakeholders across the
business, and, set out how they can all impact
and supportthe Group’s delivery on their
climate and sustainability targets. The intention
isto continue to develop this project to further
enhance the understanding of material
sustainability topics across our operations.

Non-executive Directors

Non-executive Directors also engage with the
Sustainability Committee. Since the formation
of the Sustainability Committee, the Chair of the
Board has been aregular attendee at meetings.
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Audit Committee

The Audit Committee and the Board, in
conjunction with senior management, review
the key business risks faced by the Group. In
reviewing and considering the principal risks of
the Group, any emerging riskis also considered.
Climate change is a principal risk of the Group
recognising that changes in weather patterns
could resultin catastrophic events which in turn
could give rise to business interruption and
increases in the cost of raw materials.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee has
responsibility for continually reviewing the
ongoing appropriateness and relevance of the
Remuneration Policy. Sustainability metrics
form part of the short-term and long-term
remuneration incentives. The ESG metrics
within the Performance Share Plan
cumulatively constitute 15% of the targets for
this award. As outlined in the Remuneration
Reporton page 133, these measures include
CO, reduction, water discharge reduction and
waste to landfill reduction targets.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee is responsible
for the succession planning of the Board,

and as part of this process, experience and
knowledge of sustainability is a consideration
in new appointments.

Board Level Knowledge and Training
AtBoard level, there is strong sustainability

and climate-related expertise. Lourdes Melgar
isrecognised for her expertise in the areas of
energy, sustainability and public policy. Kaisa
Hietala has a wealth of strategic and operational
experience in sustainability, helping companies
to transform the challenges of environmental
megatrends into business opportunities and
growth. Lourdes’s and Kaisa’s specific expertise
in the area of sustainability continue to bring
additional strength to and complements the
knowledge and international experience of
Jorgen Buhl Rasmussen and Anne Anderson.

We continue to support the development of
sustainability and climate related capabilities of
the Board in the area of climate change. In 2023,
third party experts carried out training for
Non-executive Directors on the importance of
climate scenario analysis, how to use it, and
what it means for SKG.

The Sustainability Committee also has regular
updates and presentations from the Group CSO
on various matters including climate change
and associated regulation.

Executive Level

Management Oversight

on Climate Change

Group Executive Committee

The development and implementation of the
Group’s sustainability strategy, objectives and
policies are managed by the Group Executive
Committee (‘the Excomm’) led by the Group
CEO. Alarge partof the Excomm are also
members of the Executive Sustainability
Committee.

Executive Sustainability Committee

(“the Sustainability Excomm’)

The Sustainability Excomm consists

of relevant members of the Excomm who
have responsibilities directly connected

to sustainability matters. This Sustainability
Excomm ensures the delivery of the
sustainability strategy of the Group throughout
the business. The Sustainability Excomm is
led by the Group CSO. Certain climate change
related issues are governed by some of the
members of this Committee as part of their
direct operational responsibilities.

Executive Risk Committee

This committee reviews and assesses the Group
Risk Register and identifies the principal risks
and emerging risks. The Group Risk Register is
then reviewed by the Audit Committee and the
Board. Climate change is a principal risk of the
Group. In addition, the growing number of
environmental and climate change laws and
regulations continues to be a principal risk of
the Group. Details of these risks are included in
the Risk Report on pages 34 to 39 and are subject
to the Group’s formal risk management process.

Executive Directors

The Group CEO through his overall responsibility
for the day-to-day oversight of the Group’s
business and the implementation of the Group
strategy and policies is directly responsible for
actions governing climate change. Heis also
responsible for ensuring that the Group’s
purpose, values and culture are instilled
throughout the Group. The Group CEOis also
aDirector of the Board and leads the Excomm.

In 2023, the Group CEO and Group CFO
presented a number of sustainability related
projects to the Board, such as projects aimed
at meeting best practices in terms of energy
reduction, water treatment and reduction

of waste to landfill.

The Group CFO is a member of Accounting
for Sustainability (‘A4S’), whose ‘aim is to
transform finance to make sustainable
business, business as usual’. The Group CEO
and Group CFO are regular attendees of the
Board Sustainability Committee.
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Group Chief Sustainability Officer

The Group CSO is a member of the Excomm
and is focused on delivering the sustainability
strategy for the Group, maintaining our strong
governance framework, and embracing new
strategic opportunities from both a capital
markets perspective and across all stakeholders.
Climate change is a key element of all aspects
of his role. During 2023, the Group CSO engaged
with colleagues and presented on both the
opportunities and risks of sustainability across
the Group, with climate a key consideration.

The Group CSO is a member of the ‘Corporate
Responsibility & Sustainability Council which
is part of the non-profit ‘Conference Board’ and
includes heads of sustainability from across
industries and regions and where best practice
isshared in the broader sustainability area.

During 2023, members of the Group’s
sustainability team attended training on TCFD
reporting and Transition Planning. Greenhouse
Gas (‘GHG’) protocol training was also provided
by the UN Global Compact Academy covering
carbon accounting for Scope 1, 2 and 3.

Management Level

Sustainability Working Group

The Sustainability Working Group consists

of relevant representatives from operations
and the Group’s head office, with different areas
of expertise and stakeholder interaction relating
to sustainability and climate change. The
Sustainability Working Group monitors the
progress and achievements of targets across all
key areas and supports the Group operations in
assessing and managing sustainability/climate
change strategies. The group which isled by the
Group CSO promotes our sustainability strategy
across our stakeholders. In addition, members
of the group coordinate the sustainability roles
with responsibility for local implementation of
the sustainability strategy within our business
operations. During 2023, it held four meetings,
discussing topics such as: customer expectations
on sustainability and climate, sustainability
communications and understanding (including
climate), decarbonisation strategies, Scope 3
emissions, Science Based Targets initiative
(‘SBTi’) updates, human rights, responsible
sourcing, and regulation covering areas

such as climate, packaging and deforestation.

The expectations of our stakeholders is that

we approach climate change responsibly and
provide regular, detailed progress reports. The
Group stays close to the areas that are important
to our stakeholders through continuous
engagement with them. The Group benefits from
engaging with customers, investors, employees,
communities and other relevant stakeholders at
different levels of the business, this is done both
formally and informally. Sustainable businesses
encourage diverse views, and we provide
opportunities for dialogue with the many
stakeholders who impact our business.

This was progressed in a significant and highly
structured way in 2023 with the conclusion of
our Group Double Materiality Assessment;
tounderstand and prioritise sustainability
topics which are fundamental to our business
and our stakeholders. The Double Materiality
Assessment was conducted to fulfil part of the
initial requirements mandated by the EU
Corporate Sustainability Reporting Directive
(‘CSRD’) in alignment with the European
Sustainability Reporting Standards (‘ESRS’).
This assessment included significant
stakeholder engagement and assessed their
view on Smurfit Kappa’simpact on nature and
society and vice-versa. More details related to
our Double Materiality Assessment will be
included in the Sustainable Development Report
which will be published simultaneously with
this Annual Report.

Our goalisto be the most sustainable paper-
based packaging solutions company globally.
To achieve this, we believe itis important to
share our sustainability experience with our
customers, suppliers and the wider industry.

This engagement includes:

— Organising meetings and round-table
discussions on sustainability with
our stakeholders;

— Collaborating in research and development
projects to decarbonise the industry such
asour projects in Saillat (Hydrogen),
Townsend Hook (Digital Twin) and Morava
(Heat Pumps);

— Participating in discussions within
and outside our industry through our
membership of Cepi, FEFCO, 4evergreen
initiative and World Business Council
for Sustainable Development (WBCSD’);
UN Global Compact; UN Global Compact’s
CEO Water Mandate;

— Participating across external benchmarking
bodies such as CDP, EcoVadis, FTSE4Good
and SEDEX surveys, and benchmarking
against 2030 UN Sustainable Development
Goals; and

— Participating in the development of Forest
Certification as a member of FSC and PEFC.

On an ongoing basis, discussions with
investors provide guidance on areas requiring
focus across the broader sustainability agenda.
This hasincreasingly highlighted the need

for emissions targets to be approved as
science-based and has also highlighted the need
for enhanced disclosure of our climate change
risks and opportunities. In addition, we also
performregular desktop research to evaluate
investors’ climate change agenda (e.g. letters
from investors and investment managers about
their expectations from companies on
climate-related issues).

The Group is aware that the investment
community is facing pressure to eliminate
green-washing and this often means requesting
greater disclosure on the ESG impacts of their
investments. Smurfit Kappa takes pride in its
strong reporting credentials with 16 years of
public disclosure and reporting on sustainability,
independently assured since 2009. Thisis further
supported by strong performances across third
party rating companies such as MSCI, ISS ESG
and Sustainalytics. The quality of the Group’s
reporting was also recognised by the WBCSD
for its approach to balanced reporting as well
asits approach to the UN SDGs.

Our emissions reduction targets have been
validated by SBTi as in line with the Paris
Agreement. We strive to be the sustainability
leader in our sector and to match our long-term
ambition with action and delivery today.

Our customer facing teams regularly engage
with our customers in relation to material
sustainability challenges including climate
change. For many of our customers their carbon
footprintis primarily Scope 3 emissions and so
we can often have significantimpact on their
decarbonisation strategies through our leading
sustainable packaging solutions and through
our own emissions reduction delivery. Our
customers are increasingly looking for supply
chain partners to engage with them on
delivering sustainable products with lower
carbon footprints.

Smurfit Kappa has a robust customer
engagement process to assistin demonstrating
the value of its sustainability approach and
successes. We use data to generate Life Cycle
Assessments and generate the most sustainable
packaging solutions for our customers.

Similar to the approach with investors we
generate greater understanding of our
customers sustainability and climate needs
through ongoing engagement and dialogue
on data requirements and a focus on issues
important to them. During 2023 we delivered
carbon reduction programmes across our
customer base includinglogistics optimisation
(fewer trucks), packaging optimisation

(less material) and material substitution
(removing less sustainable materials).

During 2023, the Group was an active member
of the Consumer Goods Forum where many

of our customers and their customers (retailers)
convene. This forum along with others such as
the WBCSD enhances the Group’s understanding
of its customers challenges as well as broader
industry challenges, opportunities and best
practice sharing.
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Strategy—-Climate Change

Overview and Background

SKGis committed to sustainability throughout
our value chain. Our circular business model
drives positive change end-to-end, from the
responsible sourcing of renewable raw
materials to the sustainable production of
recyclable, biodegradable and fit-for-purpose
packaging solutions to the collection of the
post-consumer packaging and re-integration
into the circular economy. Our sustainability
strategy is based on three pillars: Planet, People
and Impactful Business. The Planet pillar covers
four key focus areas of climate change, forest,
water and waste.

Our Sustainability Journey

Smurfit Kappa continues to build onits many
years of achievements. Please see examples,
dating back to the first SDRin 2007, of key
milestones of the Group's long-standing
objective to drive change and nurture

agreener andbluer planet.
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Our decarbonisation strategy is focused on
minimising energy use and moving from fossil
fuels to low-carbon, renewable sources. Our
focusis on increasing our own low-carbon and
energy efficient production systems, increasing
our use of low-carbon renewable fuels, lowering
our customers’ carbon footprints and
decreasing CO, emissions within our own
supply chain through actions such as transport
optimisation. These core elements are aimed at
reducing our fossil emissions in line with the
Paris Agreement, and reaching atleast net zero
by 2050.

0 See our net zero transition plan on pages
84 to 87 for more details

2005

— Baseline of our CO»
emissions target.

Key milestones

Climate Risks and Opportunities

The Group has a formal risk identification
methodology to assess climate change riskand
opportunities. The output of which is a Risk
Register. This register is reviewed twice a year
and presented to the Sustainability Committee
ofthe Board.

The tables on pages 89 to 91 outline some of

the key transition and physical risks as well as
opportunities which have been identified and
assessed and which enable SKG to prioritise
appropriately. A high-level impact assessment
hasbeen used to measure inherent and residual
risks based on identified mitigation actions,
their timeframes, and their potential financial
impact on our business.

2011

— Globally our mill system cut
relative CO, emissions by more
than 12% since 2005. This was

2007

— Firstsustainability report.
— New biomass boiler in Sweden.

delivered against a backdrop
of the EU publishing its
roadmap towards alow-carbon
economy by 2050.

2008

Colombia.

— Investments in CHP facilities
and bio-fuel investments.

— New Black liquor recovery
boilerinstalled in Cali,

2012

— Globally our mill system
cut relative CO, emissions
by 3.1% year-on-year.

— Supported by investments
such as a new shoe pressin
Cerro Gordo (Mexico) and a
rebuild of the biomass boiler

2009

— External assurance of our
annual SDR commenced.

in Sangtiesa (Spain).

2013

— 2020 target of 20% reduction
achieved with a 21% reduction

2010

(2005 baseline).

in France.

5.4% year-on-year.

— Set 2020 target of 20% reduction
in relative CO, emissions target

— Commissioned biomass boiler

— Globally our mill system cut
relative CO, emissions by

by the end of 2013.

2014

— New relative emissions
reduction target of 25%
reduction set for 2020.

— 28% reduction of COD
discharge (water)
compared to 2005.
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The timeframes used in the categorisation

of risks are defined as:

— Short-term (0-3 years): Typical capital
expenditure pay-back time and short-term
time frame for climate change risks and
opportunities; acting now with continued
year-on-year reductions using best available
technology and continuous improvement;

— Medium-term (3-10 years): Pay-back time for
astrategic capital expenditure investment in

— Long-term (10-30years): Thisislinked

tolong-term time horizon, for example

Smurfit Kappa, and medium-term for climate

change risks and opportunities; strategic
investment projects to replace high emitting
assets, continuous improvement, availing
of best available technology, collaboration
across the value chain, all leading us to
achieve our reduction target; and

2015

— New CHP plantin Hoya
(Germany) running for
its first full year.

— Finalised certification of our
production sites according to
FSC/PEFC or SFI CoC standards.

investment in paper manufacturing
machineryis expected to be valid for some
30years;itisthe long-term time frame for
climate change risks and opportunities.
Through collaborative projects, executing
controlled trials of new/emerging technology
today to understand the feasibility and cost
oflarge-scale implementation beyond 2030.

The riskidentification process is designed to
consider the risks and opportunities through
the specific lens of climate change. This means
thatthe climate risk register is considering risks
across alonger time frame than the traditional

risk assessment of principal risks.

2019

— Approval of €134 million new
recovery boiler in Nettingsdorf
(Austria).

— Globally our mill system cut
relative CO, emissions by 32.9%
againsta 2005 baseline.

2016

— New CHP investmentsin Ania
(Italy) and Barbosa (Colombia).

— Globally our mill system cut
relative CO, emissions by 22.9%
againsta 2005 baseline.

2017

— 2020 target of 25% reduction
achieved with a 26.1% reduction
by the end of 2017.

2018

— More ambitious relative
emissions reduction target of
40% by 2030 set, reflecting the
need for industry to act on the
Paris Agreement.

2020

— Long-term targetof atleast net
zero emissions by 2050 and
increased the 2030 emissions
reduction target to 55%.

— On deforestation and
biodiversity, we announced
anew alliance with the World
Wildlife Fund Colombia to
work together to promote
sustainable practices within
the forestry industry.

— Westarted reporting on the
recommendations of the TCFD
and the relevant SASB criteria.

2021

— Globally, our mill system cut
relative CO, emissions by 41.3%
againsta 2005 baseline.

— SBTiapproval received for our
emissions targets as beingin
line with the Paris Agreement
and well below 2°C trajectory.

— Launched Better Planet 2050
programme which enhanced
existing targets or introduced
new ones across water use,
diversity and inclusion
and communities.

— Successfullaunch of our
Green Finance Framework
and subsequent €1 billion
of Green Bonds issuance.

2022

— Achieved A- CDP Climate
Change Response (Bin 2021).

— Announced an investment of

almost US$100 millionina
sustainable biomass boiler in
our paper mill in Colombia
which will reduce our global
Scope 1and Scope 2 CO,

emissions by approximately 6%.
— Announced a new sustainable

districtheating projectin our
paper mill Nettingsdorf,
Austria, which will benefit
20,000 homes across three
communities.

— Completion of Ziilpich energy

project, an €11.5 million
investment reducing CO,
emissions annually by
55,000 tonnes.

— Invested US$23.5 million

toupgrade the Nuevo Laredo
plantin Mexico which will have
the two-pronged benefits of
reducing CO, emissions by up
t040% and doubling production
capacity.

— Successfully completed the first

stage of the HYFLEXPOWER
hydrogen project at our Saillat
paper mill (France) whichisa
world first for a paper mill.

2023

— Achieved A- CDP Climate
Change Response (A-in 2022).

— Completion of a€5 million
waste water treatment plant
investmentin Serbia, the first
of its kind for a private
business in Serbia

— Completion of €27 million
investmentinalimekilnin
our Nervion facility removing
75,000 tonnes of landfill and
eliminating over 450,000
kilometres of road transport

— Opening of our first
corrugated plantin Morocco
with 1,500 solar panels to help
provide clean energy to the
new facility

— Approval of new climate-
related investments including
an energy upgrade in our
Verzuolo mill (€26 million),
waste water treatment plant
in our Facture mill (€12m) and
an anaerobic reactor for our
Herzberg mill (€7 million)

— Announced €6 million
investmentin a solar energy
project at our Sangiiesa mill
in Spain which will reduce CO,
emissions by over 3,200 tonnes

— Successfully completed the
second stage of the
HYFLEXPOWER hydrogen
projectatour Saillat paper
mill (France) which is a world
firstfor a paper mill.

— Continued progress in our
understanding of the Group’s
Scope 3inventory.
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Our Net Zero Transition Plan

Our long-term ambition, third party validated targets and continued
action today have us well positioned to deliver on our commitments.

Our Ambition, Strategy and Accountability
Our Ambition

Our ambitionis to have at least net zero
emissions by 2050 across all 3 Scopes, with a
55% reductionin fossil fuel emissions intensity
for Scope 1and 2 by 2030.

The strength of our approach is demonstrated
through our:

—History of delivery
—Continued delivery today
—SBTiapprovalforinterimtargets

—Collaboration across the value chain
—Trialling emerging technology today

Our Strategy Across the Value Chain

Scope 1and 2 Emissions
Achieving a 55% reduction in fossil fuel
emissions intensity.

Investingin Fossil CO. Reductions
— Shifting to low or zero carbon fuels including CO; neutral
energy sources:
— Use of biofuels; and
— Electrification.
— Research and development into new and emerging technologies
with controlled trials:
— Green hydrogen, geo-thermal and heat pump technology.

Greening of Electricity Supply

Reducing Energy Use

— Investingin technologies that reduce energy consumption; and

— Re-engineering our processes and implementing smart
energy-efficient solutions.

Investingin Efficient Energy-generation

— Investingin highly efficient Combined Heat and Power (‘CHP’)
systems*; and

— Improving the efficiency of our existing boilers.

* Notethehydrogentrialsinour Saillat paper mill should facilitate the move from current
energy efficiency outcomes tolow or no carbon outcomes via the retro-fitting of existing

CHPassets.

Our Governance and Accountability

16years

of public disclosure on sustainability activity,
independently assured since 2009.
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SBTi validation

of Group targets as beinginline with
the Paris Agreement.

Management

Managementincentives linked to delivery

onkey sustainability KPIs (including emissions

reduction targets).
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Scope 3 Emissions

Supplier Engagement

— Requesting SBTi commitment from strategic suppliers:
— Expand beyond strategic suppliersin time.

— Sustainable and Responsible Sourcing programme.

Customer Engagement
— Better Planet Packaging programme delivering lower CO; solutions
for customers through:
— Material design;
— Packaging design; and
— Supply chain optimisation.

Transport

— Modal shift: CO; reduction by shifting transport from road to lower
emission transport models;

— Operational efficiency: CO. reduction by optimising transport
operations, sources and destinations; and

— Fuel efficiency: CO, reduction by leveraging new technology,
alternative fuels, engine efficiency.

Supported by our end-to-end approach to circularity

Residual Emissions

While the Group is focused on its direct impact on emissions reductions

across its value-chain, with significant scope wellinto the future, we

acknowledge that as we approach 2050 we may have residual emissions

which we cannot eliminate. In the event that this occurs, the Group
would consider neutralising these emissions through appropriate
and credible solutions.

Our Approach-Timelines

Short-term:
Acting now with continued year-on-year reductions using
best available technology and continuous improvement.

v

Medium-term:

Strategicinvestment projects to replace high emitting assets,
continuous improvement, availing of best available technology,
collaboration across the value chain, allleading us to achieve
our 55% reduction target.

v

Long-term:

Through collaborative projects, executing controlled trials

of new/emerging technology today to understand the feasibility
and cost of large-scale implementation beyond 2030.

These plans are expected to be financed by a combination of both
operational expenditure and capital expenditure.

Funding

Cost offundinglinked to delivery of key
sustainability KPIs (including emissions
reduction targets).

and experience.

Expertise

Engaged Board with appropriate expertise

Recognition

Strongexternal recognition by third parties.
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Our Net Zero Transition Plan continued

Our starting point

2005 is the
baseline year of
our CO, target

% CO, emission reduction

0%

2010

Set target of 20% reduction in
relative CO, emissions by 2020
(2005 baseline).

2013

2020 target of 20% reduction
achieved with a 21% reduction
by the end of 2013.

2014

New relative emissions
reduction target of 25% reduction
set for 2020.

2018

2020 target of 25% reduction
achieved and more ambitious
relative emissions reduction
target of 40% by 2030 set.

Our progress

2023

reduction target to 55%.

2019

Approval of €134 million new
recovery boiler in Nettingsdorf
(Austria).

2020

Long-term target of atleast net zero
emissions by 2050 and increased
the 2030 emissions reduction target
to 55%.

2021

SBTi approval received for our
CO, emissions targetas being
inline with the Paris Agreement
and a well below 2°C trajectory.
Launched Better Planet 2050
commitments.
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emissions by 2030

Long-term target of at least
net zero emissions by 2050 and
increased the 2030 emissions

Our target Our commitment
55% reduction To have at least net zero
inrelative CO, emissions by 2050

2030

SBTiapproval received for our CO,
emissions target as being in line with
the Paris Agreement and a well
below 2°C trajectory. Launched
Better Planet 2050 commitments.

2022

43.9% reduction in CO, emissions.
Successfully trialled hydrogen
projectat our Saillat paper mill
(France). Announced

amajor investmentin our Cali
paper mill (Colombia) of almost
US$100 million in a sustainable
biomass boiler.

2023

Significantinvestment

in our Hoya paper mill and board
manufacturing plant (Germany).
A CO, emissions reduction of 5,500
tonnes per annum is expected.

2024
Reviews of our third party
validation.

Consideration of residual carbon
neutralising solutions to achieve
‘atleast’ net zero by 2050.

2024-2030

Approximately 60 projects
identified to implement until
2030 in order to achieve our 55%
CO, emissions reduction target.

2025

Contribution from a state-of-the-
artsustainable biomass boiler at
our paper millin Cali, Colombia
which will reduce our global
Scope 1and Scope 2 CO»
emissions by approximately 6%.

Beyond 2030

Scaling new and emerging
technologies, as they become
available.
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Acting Today Across our Value-chain

Scope Time Horizon* Action today

Scopeland2 Short-term — In 2023, we achieved a reduction of 43.7% in CO, emissions intensity for our paper and board mills.

— Continuous improvement of our operations through the implementation of best operational practices,
insulation of pipes, LED lights, monitoring and improving processes, using data, reuse of residual steam
to reduce the need for fresh steam, using biogas from water treatment plants, efficiency improvement
in operations and energy efficiency.

— Inearly 2023, announced installation of 12,000 solar panels adjacent to our Sanguesa Mill in Spain which
will reduce CO, emissions by over 3,200 tonnes.

— InJuly 2023, inaugurated the Group’s first box plant in Africa (Morocco) which included 1,500 solar panels

— In2023, start up of new water treatment plantin our paper mill in Belgrade, Serbia. First of its kind
in the country. The €5 million investment in the state-of-the-art plant enables it to purify water to the
highest standards before it can be returned to the environment and also reduces electricity usage and
CO, emissions.

— In 2023, start up of €27 million state-of-the-art waste management and recovery facility at our Nervién
paper millin Spain, sees the mill adopta fully circular production process involving the biggestlandfill
reduction project Smurfit Kappa has undertaken to date to support the delivery of its 2025 sustainability
commitments; in addition eliminating approximately 450,000 km per year in road transport

— In2023, startup of Evaporator project in Cali, Colombia which is an important part of the Group’s
Biomass boiler project preparation due in 2025.

— Using Digital Twin technology in our Townsend Hook mill to reduce steam consumption by
approximately 5%.

— Nettingsdorf Biomass investment of €134 million completed in 2020 and now achieving its full run-rate
0f 40,000 tonnes of emissions reduction.

— Invested €11.5 million in our Ziilpich paper mill. A major redesign of the multi-fuel boiler provides
amore sustainable fuel source for generating steam and electricity and reduces CO, emissions
by 55,000 tonnes.

— Optimising starch use in our Hoya mill which requires less steam and energy to dry.

— Water treatment plant investments in Colombia and Brazil which will help improve our COD (water)
and capitalise on biogas from plants (CO.).

— Greening of energy supply in the Netherlands and UK.

Scopeland2 Medium-term — Approximately 60 projects identified between now and 2030 to deliver our interim target, reducing

our emissions by 55% by 2030, including:

— Investing almost US$100 million in a sustainable biomass boiler in our paper mill in Cali, Colombia
which will reduce our global Scope 1 and Scope 2 CO, emissions by approximately 6%, planned to
be operational by the middle of 2025.

— Controlled trialling of new/emerging technology and feasibility of large-scale implementation:
— Build on learnings from Digital Twin pilot in Townsend Hook Mill (UK); and
— Collaborative heat pump projectin Morava paper mill (Czech Republic).

Scopeland2 Longer-term — Controlled trialling of new/emerging technology today for the future:
— In2023 The HYFLEXPOWER consortium and SKG successfully completed the second stage of the
HYFLEXPOWER hydrogen project, the first in the world for a paper mill and a truly collaborative
projectincluding suppliers, academia and government support; and
— Geo-thermal being explored in our paper mills in the Netherlands and Germany.

Scope 3 Short-term — Customers: We have hundreds of examples where a collaborative approach has delivered a lower
carbon, circular solution, an example, by working together with a customer in Switzerland, we reduced
the CO, emissions in transport by switching from road to rail delivery. This reduced the transport
emissions by approximately 600 tonnes of CO..

— Customers: Developing products such as TopClip and Click-to-Lock which reduces the carbon footprint
of our customers’ packaging by over 30%. A number of customer examples are outlined in this Annual
Reporton pages 10 to 15and in the 2023 SDR.

— Continued progress in our understanding of the Group’s Scope 3 inventory.

— Engagement with suppliers: In our Sustainable and Responsible Sourcing programme, we audit our
suppliers on their energy reduction programmes and participation in commonly accepted best practice
and certification schemes such as SBTi commitments and validation.

Scope 3 Medium-term — Reviewing additional SBTi commitments, including Forest Land and Agriculture (FLAG') targets
— Considering Scope 3 targets.
— Internal: Trialled electric delivery vehicles in Germany and the Netherlands, biofuel trucks in Ireland
and continue to explore opportunities in transport.

*  Time-horizons are defined by when we believe they could be scaled, so we are actively exploring and trialling them now but their scalability could be now (short-term), 3-10 years

(medium-term) or 10-30 years (long-term).
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Understanding Climate Risks and
Opportunities for Smurfit Kappa
Climate change is a strategic concern for
Smurfit Kappa with an increasing understanding
on the direct and indirectimpacts climate
change has now and could have in the future.
According to the IPCC global emissions need to
fall by 43% by 2030 in order to limit temperatures
rising above 1.5°C. For Smurfit Kappa climate
change riskis expected to present itself either
through physical risks or transition risks.

The Group understandsits need to address its
impact on climate change and also the impact
from climate change on the Group.

Physical risks are those arising from the
increasing severity and frequency of climate
and weather-related events such as flooding.
Transition risks are those which could result
from the process of adjustment towards a lower
carbon economy such as the development of
policy and regulation and shifting societal
preferences. Transition and physical risks along
with opportunities have been identified and
assessed by the Group in conjunction with
external advisors and climate scenario
modelling partners.

SKG has identified many opportunities arising
out of climate change to leverage its full cycle
value chain and global operating model.

Inline with the identified key risks, the
opportunities represent areas of strategic,
operational and financial focus for SKG

in the medium to long-term.

In several areas, the identification of the
opportunity is linked to capital investment
programmes and medium to long-term strategic
planning. An example of how we consider
climate in our financial planning was during
our €660 million equity raise in 2020 when we
advised the capital markets that the equity raise
would be used not just for higher return projects
butalso for lower (financial) return projects
with a significant sustainability impact. Whilst
the continued delivery of strong financial returns
remains a key focus for senior management,
significant consideration for projects with
strong sustainability credentials is fundamental
to the Group delivering on its public targets. In
many instances, the most efficient and effective
sustainability projects deliver strong financial
returns, enabling continued progress against
our interim climate target, to reduce carbon
emissions by 55% by 2030 compared to 2005.

In our capital allocation plan, we take into
account which investments will be needed to
realise our strategic goal to decrease our fossil
CO, emissions by 55% by 2030 compared to 2005.
When we set the target of 55% in 2020, we
completed a gap analysis of what was needed

to come from a baseline level of emissions (2005)
and what was needed to reach the 55%
reduction level.
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Some of the key climate change risks and
opportunities for Smurfit Kappa are outlined on
pages 89 to 91; these are expected to evolve over
time with the benefit of deeper insights and the
ongoing changes and developmentsin thisarea.

Disclosure ofImpacts onand

by the Business

There are certain climate change related

risks that could have an impact on our

business including:

— Extreme weather patterns may affect our
operations and supply chain, potentially
impacting forests, water, carbon regulation
and taxation, and energy availability and
affordability; and

— Drought, flooding and local restrictions
on water usage may limit our access to water
and therefore water risk assessments are
conducted on a periodic basis at our
paper mills.

Forests play an important role in environmental
resilience. We therefore need to promote
healthy forests and manage these resources
sustainably. We source virgin fibres from
certifiably well-managed forests, or atleast of
non-controversial origin, or certified recycled
fibres. All materials must be delivered through
athird party verified Chain of Custody (‘CoC’)
certified supply chain. Our manufacturing sites
are CoC certified, and over 99% of our fibres are
sourced through CoC certified supply chains.
Our commitment is to deliver over 95% of our
sold products as CoC certified, alevel we
exceeded in 2023.

Furthermore, paper manufacturing is energy
intensive, with a risk of carbon leakage if
emission policies are not consistently applied.
We recognise that combatting climate change
will only be achieved by a global effort, across
societal stakeholders, as we generate 75%

of our revenue in Europe, we fully support the
EU Green Deal from both a climate and financial
perspective. The Forest Fibre Industry 2050
Roadmap to alow-carbon bioeconomy shows

a CO; reduction of 50%-60% compared with
1990 levels is possible for our sector, based on
available and emerging technologies. To reach
anindustry reduction of 80% or more by 2050,
breakthrough technologies must be available
by 2030. We play our partas aleaderin thisarea,
for example, by testing new technologies, such
as our hydrogen projectin our Saillat paper mill
in France, our geo-thermal projectin the
Netherlands and Germany; and our heat pump
trialin the Czech Republic.

The Group has considered the impact of climate
change in the application of its accounting
policies, judgements, estimates and
assumptions and the assessment concluded
that climate change in the medium-term is not
expected to have a material impact (for more
information please reference Note 2 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements).

The Group’s risk process is based upon a
standardised approach to risk identification,
assessment and review with a clear focus

on mitigating factors and assignment of
responsibility to risk owners. Each individual
risk identified is assessed based upon potential
impact and likelihood of occurrence criteria.
The likelihood of occurrence is based upon the
probability of the risk occurring using percentage
thresholds from remote up to probable.

The impact of risk on cost is measured based
upon applicable percentage thresholds of the
Group’s pre-exceptional EBITDA which for 2023
was€2,080 million. Reputational impactis

also considered.

Smurfit Kappa Group defines substantive
impact for this purpose as significant financial,
strategic or reputational damage that forces
usto change our business strategy significantly
eitherlocally or as a Group. Animpactis
considered substantive if its impact is more
than 10% of the Group’s pre-exceptional EBITDA
(2023: €2,080 million).

Business Resilience to Climate-related
Risks and Opportunities

Asaleading paper-based packaging business,
the Group understands the need to lead in the
area of climate. Smurfit Kappa was the firstin
the broader paper and packaging sector to
announce a target of at least net zero emissions
by 2050 and was pleased to see its emissions
reduction target approved as Science based and
in line with the Paris Agreement by SBTiin 2021.
The targets covering greenhouse gas emissions
from Smurfit Kappa’s operations (Scope 1 and 2)
are consistent with reductions required to keep
global warming to well below 2°C using the
Sectoral Decarbonisation Approach.

In addition to assessing our own emission
reduction targets and having them independently
approved, we also carried out an extensive
climate change risk and opportunity assessment
asoutlined above during 2021. The project was
supported by an expert third party, reviewing
climate risk and opportunity for Smurfit Kappa
and utilising a climate scenario modelling tool.
In 2023, an updated climate scenario analysis
was carried out using more up to date scenarios
from the Coupled Model Intercomparison
Project (‘(CMIP’) 6 as well as CMIP 5. The 2023
analysisis now starting to incorporate parts

of the Shared Socioeconomic Pathways (‘SSPs’)
approach which builds on the existing RCP
approach and incorporates how global society,
demographics and economics might change
over the next century in different scenarios.

The 2023 analysis was conducted across the
Group’s operating assets, with the identification
ofimpacts and high level mitigations also
completed, when appropriate. The analysis
allowed the Group to assess the impact on its
assets due to both physical and transition risks,
understand the potential changes over time,
and understand the impacts of climate beyond
itsimmediate operating base looking at areas
such as access to water, labour, energy and

raw materials.
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The scenario analysis and modelling was
completed under different Representative
Concentration Pathways (RCP’) scenarios 2.6
(0.9-2.3°C), 4.5 (1.7-3.2°C), 6.2 (2.0-3.7°C) and 8.5
(3.2-5.4°C). These model the potential impact
onassets from physical and transitional risks
in 10-year increments through to 2100. The
analysis focused on the critical assets impacted
across the RCP scenarios within the period
2030-2040 and 2040-2050, which is the period
mostcritical for decision making in the near
to medium-term.

The physical perils considered: coastal
flooding, drought, fluvial flooding, temperature
extremes, water stress, wildfire and tropical
cyclone; and the transition risk modelling
considered: reputational damage, new
technology, markets carbon pricing, and
current and emerging regulation.

The output of this assessment was positive,

temperature extremes and wildfires. Thisis
consistent with the location and type of assets
analysed. In addition no assets are anticipated
to be significantly or materially affected by
changes in physical climate perils by 2050.

A summary of some of the key outputs from
this processisincluded in the climate risk and
opportunities table on pages 89 to 91.

with the results indicating that the proportion
of asset value at risk was low. The main physical
risks highlighted within the portfolio are

Key to Strategic Priorities

@ © 6 0 ©

Market Partner Operational Investment Capital
Position of Choice Excellence inPeople Allocation
Physical Risks

Risk Type and Description OurResponse

Chronic

Climate-related chronic shortages

in availability or supply of key materials
for its production process

Link to Strategic Priority:

Horizon: Long-term

SKG business operations rely on raw materials that are key for the production of corrugated paper
packaging, such as wood and starch. Climate change and abnormal weather patterns may create
chronic shortages in availability or supply of such materials that could cause loss of yield,
interruptions to business and constraints on the supply of these critical materials.

Mitigation:

— Amulti-source strategy is in place that balances the local and global provision of materials
to ensure constant availability of raw materials and increases supply resilience.

— SKG'sintegrated model insulates the Company from certain key raw material supply
constraints as the raw material supply is under direct control of the Company.

— Continuous process optimisation which in turn results in alower material need.

— Continuous research into alternative and/or new materials to use as substitutes for its key
materials to ensure resilience of supply chain and business operations.

— Investmentin research and development to increase drought resistance of the Group’s
forestry assets.

Chronic

Changes in climate reduce the product
life cycle and durability of key products
Link to Strategic Priority:

Horizon: Long-term

Changing climate patterns such as changes in mean temperature, precipitation, humidity or
increased incidence of drought may affect product life cycle and durability of the Company’s key
products. This could ultimately lead to loss of customer revenue, require changes to production,
lead to increased transportation or storage costs, further product development costs and research
and development costs.

Mitigation:

— SKGhasan active research and development strategy that reviews the performance
requirements of its packaging to meet the demands of its customers’ supply chains and
how different environmental conditions could impact this performance.

— Proprietary tools such as SupplySmart are used to ensure SKG’s products meet or exceed
the supply chain requirements of its customers.

— Product characteristics are considered in SKG’s design process, matching this to customer
requirements and their respective supply chain challenges.

— SKG employs a customer-led approach to understand the needs and requirements necessary
to provide a sustainable, fit-for-purpose packaging solution.

— Through continuous research and development in its products, the Group aims to continuously
improve the durability and life cycle of its products with innovation and research programmes.
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Key to Strategic Priorities

@ © 6 0 ©

Market Partner Operational Investment Capital

Position of Choice Excellence inPeople Allocation

Transition Risks

Risk Type and Description OurResponse

Market Governmental regulatory decisions on alternative energy sources, prioritisation of energy security

Reduced energy grid stability/power outages
creating outages impacting product delivery

Link to Strategic Priority:

Horizon: Medium to Long-term

and/or lack of government investment in critical infrastructure could impact SKG operations.
Asaresult, power outages could cause issues with the effective running of its operations. These
events could create business interruption or losses, supply continuity issues, risk of contract
breaches, impact on plant maintenance costs and increased manufacturing costs.

Mitigation:

— SKGisfocused on investing in new energy sources, energy reduction, and on the efficient
generation of energy on site to avoid the potential impact of future interruption of the energy
grid and resulting power outages.

— SKGhasincreased its energy independence through on-site generation and a broadening
of its green energy sourcing.

— Continuous investment in lower emissions technologies.

— Review and trial of alternative low carbon energy sources.

— Processesin place to evaluate individual plants’ grid risks and identify back-up options
forlocations at higher risks of energy interruptions.

Policy and Legal

Externalinfrastructure and energy transition
planning resulting in increased costs and

requiring strategic capital investment

Link to Strategic Priority:

@

Horizon: Long-term

The availability of low carbon and reliable energy sources for energy intensive assets such as paper
mills, along with National Governments’ policies and investment in clean energy, or lack thereof,
could impact the continuity of production, increase costs of energy sources and require extensive
investment to ensure key assets have reliable, clean energy sources.

Mitigation:

— SKGhas strategic planning in place to assist the Group in ensuring that its energy needs
are met without interruption to its services and at optimal cost.

— The SKG operational excellence team focuses on innovations that reduce energy consumption
and materials while also seeking solutions such as ‘in plant’ energy generation.

— SKGregularly monitors the regulatory and policy trends in the countries where it operates
toidentify changes in the regulatory environment that could adversely affect SKG’s
energy requirements.

— The Group applies hedging of energy as appropriate to avoid energy price fluctuations.

— SKG continually reviews, investigates and trials alternative, lower carbon energy sources.

920
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Key to StrategicPriorities

@ © 6

Market Partner Operational Investment Capital
Position of Choice Excellence inPeople Allocation
Opportunities

Opportunity Type and Description OurResponse

Resilience/Resource Efficiency
Using the Group’s strong sustainability

credentials to promote SKG as an innovative,
sustainable, future focused organisation to
attract new talent and retain existing talent

Link to Strategic Priority:

The role of SKG as a sector leader in the packaging industry and in sustainability practices could
be further promoted to attract new and retain existing talent.

Action to Maximise:

— Further promotion of SKG’s positive action in moving towards a low carbon, circular economy.

— Further development of the communication strategy of the Group’s sustainability credentials
and story.

— Increased collaboration with research institutions such as universities and think tanks can
further increase the visibility of SKG as aleader in innovation and high-tech practices and in turn,
an attractive place to work to attract the best talent.

Markets
Identify and target new global markets
based on sustainability focus and scale

Link to Strategic Priority:

SKG has the potential to use its position as a global leader in sustainable packaging solutions
toidentify new markets that are transitioning to more demanding sustainable packaging
requirements driven by the consumer and/or regulation. This is grounded in SKG’s strategic
objective of expanding its market presence in Europe and the Americas through selective
and focused growth and could provide both revenue and margin opportunities.

Action to Maximise:

— Continue disciplined approach to consideration of possible acquisitions, investments
and other opportunities.

— SKGhasthe potential to use its global scale and ability to leverage best practice across
its value chain.

— Through its selective and focused growth the Group has the opportunity to develop and enhance
its profile in new markets which can further attract new talent to SKG.

Resource Efficiency

Use SKG's integrated model to generate
further control and efficiencies in the
sourcing and consumption of energy,
raw materials and operating costs

Link to StrategicPriority:

S

SKG’s integrated model could be used to further increase efficiencies in energy consumption,
use of raw materials, logistics and overall operating costs.

Action to Maximise:

— Through further integration of existing technologies and SKG intellectual property,
the Group could develop new techniques and practices that would further enhance
its operational performance.

— SKG could further reduce its costs while increasing its position as an industry leader
and innovator by increasing resource efficiency throughout its operations.

— Maintain investment in research and development, process optimisation and
product innovation.

Energy Source

Making decisions on future acquisitions
or capital investments dependent upon
reliable sustainable energy supply

Link to StrategicPriority:

Climate change transition towards cleaner and renewable energy presents SKG with the opportunity
to focus the development and acquisition of paper mills and other energy intensive assets on the
availability of reliable, sustainable energy. By accessing alternative low-cost sources of sustainable
energy, SKG could increase its energy and asset resilience while ensuring continuity and reducing
costs for its main assets. This would de-risk climate transition risks linked to energy but would

also contribute to the Group’s sustainability goals.

Action to Maximise:

— Continue to consider local government policy on renewable energy and low carbon technology
when considering acquisitions and internal investment.

— Explore retro-fitting opportunities on existing assets.

— Continued focus on clean and reliable energy supply to support the wider sustainability strategy
of SKG.
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Risk Management

The Group has a comprehensive climate change
risks and opportunities register, which reflects
acombination of existing risk controls and
approaches and includes the physical and
transitional climate risks in addition to the
opportunities. The process to develop the register
involved input from Smurfit Kappa participants
from across the business, with geographic and
functional diversity. Interactive risk workshops
and interviews were used to facilitate the
identification of climate risks and opportunities,
producing a climate risk register for the Group.
During 2022, we carried out a review of our
climate risks and opportunities and TCFD
reporting with participants from across the
business and the register is reviewed and updated
asnecessary on an ongoing basis. In 2023 the
Climate risk register was reviewed and presented
to the Sustainability Board Committee.

The Group has a formal and well established
framework to determine the nature and
extent of the principal risks it is willing to
acceptto achieve its strategic objectives with
climate-related risk integrated into our overall
risk management. The Board carries outa
review of the effectiveness of the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems
atleastannually. The process involves the
consideration of the existing risks to the Group
and also emerging risks. Climate changeisa
principal risk for the Group. Environmental
climate change laws and regulations are also
a principal risk of the Group for some time.

In addition, the Group has a Sustainable

and Responsible Sourcing Audit Programme,
which helps us deliver against our three pillars
of sustainability: Planet, People and Impactful
Business, through which it audits its principal
suppliers on a number of sustainability criteria.
Climate change criteria are part of the audit
programme with an assessment of the climate
change risk per supplier. By developing more
sustainable supply chains in collaboration with
our suppliers, we can manage risks and costs,
develop new revenue streams, and deliver

on our sustainability goals.

Metrics and Targets

Smurfit Kappa has ambitious sustainability
targets which focus on a further reduction

of our environmental footprint, increased
support for the communities in which we
operate and further enhancement to the lives
of its employees. These targets, which were
announced in February 2021, build upon the
Company’s well-established sustainability
record, on which ithas been reporting since
2007, independently assured since 2009, and
are contained in the Better Planet 2050 targets.
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The Group’s Better Planet 2050 targets quantify
our commitment to protect what we care about
- our planet, our people, our business - through
asetof ambitious goals, the sustainability targets
will sustain thriving communities, support
good business, and create a better planet.

The Group’s long-term commitment and action
across these targets, climate and sustainability
in general, is evidenced on the tables on pages 8,
9 and 94. Further details will be presented in
the 2023 SDR.

The progress against our publicly stated targets
and other key non-financial targets and metrics
of the Group will be disclosed in the SDR,
including the standards reference, scope,
boundary, and measurement methods applied.
Certain key non-financial metrics are disclosed
on pages 32 to 33 of this Annual Report.

All our metrics and data are disclosed in

our SDRincluding, Scope 1 and 2 emissions,
together with an update on our work on scope 3
emissions, electricity usage, grid supply and
cogeneration, fossil fuel and biofuels
consumption, water, waste, raw material,

and social data. Read more in our 2023 SDR.

To enhance the understanding of sustainability
data and the accuracy of its reporting across our
operations, we have added new self-assessment
requirements and explanations in our annual
Internal Control Questionnaire (ICQ’). The ICQ
provides an opportunity to communicate any
control issue considered to be of concern,
irrespective of materiality and mustbe
completed by alllocal plant managers. This
further increases the importance, level of
attention and need for careful review of
non-financial data delivery.

In addition, in our 2023 CDP response, within
section ‘C4. Targets and performance’ and
section ‘C6. Emission data’, we have reported our
metrics and targets related data, including the
consideration and methodology implemented.

The Group published its second Green Bond
Allocation and Impact Reportin October 2023.
The report provides details on the use of the
proceeds of its inaugural €1 billion dual-tranche
Green Bond issued in September 2021. The 2023
reportwas independently assured and builds
on Smurfit Kappa’s Green Finance Framework,
which is aligned with the ICMA Green Bond
Principles 2021 and the LMA Green Loan
Principles 2021 and have been confirmed

by ISSESG in a positive Second Party Opinion.

The proceeds of the Group’s inaugural Green

Bond were allocated to assets associated

with the following two categories:

1 Circular economy adapted products,
production technologies and processes and/
or certified eco-efficient products (96%); and

2 Environmentally sustainable management
ofliving natural resources and land use (4%).

Smurfit Kappa's Green Finance Framework
isreflective of the sustainable nature of its
business model, with eligibility criteria that
span the geographic scope of the Group’s
operations and take into account its strong
circular business practices. Thisis done

by using sustainable raw materials, with
post-consumer recovered paper, its main raw
material, and implementing circular production
processes that are subject to continuous
improvement. Accordingly, Smurfit Kappa’s
approach to sustainable financing mirrors
whatthe Group is: a global business which
places sustainability firmly at the centre

of its operating model.

Asnoted within the governance section,

the long-term incentive plan for the Group,

the Performance Share Plan, has anumber

of climate-related performance measures with
ESG metrics cumulatively constituting 15% of
the targets. As outlined in the Remuneration
Report on page 133, these measures include CO,
reduction, water discharge reduction and waste
tolandfill reduction targets.

Smurfit Kappa has five key ESG objectives in its
sustainability linked Revolving Credit Facility
(‘RCF’). The margin on our RCF is linked to

the achievement of our five key performance
indicators on climate change, forest, water,
waste and health and safety. All five targets
need to be achieved in order to attain
maximum margin benefit.

We have included disclosures in the Consolidated
Financial Statements prepared under IFRS to
indicate where we have considered the financial
impacts of climate change.

Our entire SDR has been independently third
party assured in accordance with the GRI
Standards. This covers all material metrics,
data and other reporting. For more information,
see our Assurance Report of the Independent
Auditor in the 2023 SDR.
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CO. Emissions Reduction against our 55% reduction target by 2030

(%)
2023
2022
2021

2020

2019

2018

2017

2016

2015

2014

2013

Investment

Europe
Embracing green
energy in Spain

Smurfit Kappaannounced an
investment of €6 million at our
Sanguesa paper millin Spainto
installup to 12,000 solar panels
onland adjacent to the mill. The
new solar panels are expected
toreduce CO; emissions at

the millby over 3,200 tonnes
annually and provide significant
cost savings.

Itis estimated that the panels willgenerate
more than 10 GWh of power annually, achieving
areductionin electricity consumption and
dependency of 7%.

The Spanish solar energy project follows
similar initiatives launched across the Group
in Colombia, Mexico, Morocco and Spain to
generate sustainable solar energy.

The mill at Sanglesa produces light MG kraft
paper, a packaging solution widely used across
industrialand consumer markets in products
such as grocery bags and wrapping paper.

Its customer base includes some of Europe's
largest consumer brands.

Pedro Mendarozketa, General Manager of
Smurfit Kappa Sanguesa, said: “The solar panels
will enable us to generate sustainable energy,
reduce our overall external energy consumption
and reduce our CO, emissions.”

3,200tonnescoz

Reduction of CO, emissions expected an‘nuaily
at the Sanguesa paper mill 1

15.7-

reductionin
SBTiCO; emissions
since 2019

@

Thisinvestment to harness
another renewable source

of energy is testament to
Smurfit Kappa's commitment
to sustainability and our desire
to make real environmental
change at a practical level.
Through collaboration and
hard work, together we can
make every aspect of our
operations as sustainable

as possible in our journey
towards net zero.

CEO of Smurfit Kappa's Virgin Fibre Cluster
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Sustainability continued
TCFD continued

Smurfit Kappa's Better Planet 2050 Targets

Achievementin

Key Area Targets Status* 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
Climate A 55% relative reductionin Scopel  Ontrackto 43.7% reduction in fossil 43.9% 41.3% 37.3% 32.9%
Change and 2 fossil fuel-based CO, achieve target fuel emissions intensity
emissions in our mill system since 2005
compared with 2005 levels by 2030.
Reach atleast net zero by 2050
Forest >95% of our packagingis certified ~ Target 95.5% packaging solutions 94.3% 93.45% 93.8% 92.1%
as CoC certified under FSC, PEFC achieved sold as CoC certified in 2023
or SFI
Water Reduce the organic content of Improvement 35.7% reduction in 36.9% 38.5% 38.2% 35%
water returned tothe environment  needed Chemical Oxygen Demand
from our mill plants (‘COD’) by since 2005
60% compared with 2005 levels
by 2025
Atleast 1% relative reduction Ontrackto 1.8% reduction of our 2.1% 6.2% - -
annually of water intake by our achievetarget = water usage annually
global paper and board mill
system with 2020 as reference year
Waste Decrease the waste sent to landfill Target 35.8% reduction in waste 24% 29.2% 23.7% 7.1%
by 30% per tonne of product achieved tolandfill since 2013
produced by our mill system
compared with 2013 levels by 2025
Health Reduce Total Recordable Injury 48% reduction  3.9% increase in Total 13.6% 1.7% 29% 17%
and Safety Rate by atleast 5% annually against 2018 Recordable Injury Rate
baseline in 2023

*  See our 2023 SDR for more details.
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TCFD Index
Area Recommended Disclosures Source Page(s)/Section
Governance
Disclose the a) AR 2023 AR: 34-35, 78-81
organisation's Describe the board’s oversight of SDR 2023 SDR 2023 section: Governance
governancearound climate-related risks and opportunities. CDP Climate Change CDP: Section C.1 Governance
climate-relatedrisks response 2023
and opportunities. b) AR 2023 AR: 34-35, 81
Describe management’s role in assessing SDR 2023 SDR 2023 section: Planet and Climate Change
and managing climate-related risks CDP Climate Change CDP: Section C.1 Governance
and opportunities. response 2023
Strategy
Disclose the actual a) AR 2023 AR: 8291
and potentialimpacts  Describe the climate-related risks and CDP Climate Change CDP: Section C.2 Risk and Opportunities
of climate-related opportunities the organisation hasidentified ~ response 2023
risksand over the short, medium and long-term.
opportunitieson b) AR 2023 AR: 8291
the _orgamsatlon's Describe the impact of climate-related risks SDR 2023 SDR 2023 section: Planet and Climate Change
busmesse_s, strategy  and opportunities on the organisation’s CDP Climate Change CDP: Section C.2 Risk and Opportunities and
and ﬁr.xanmal businesses, strategy and financial planning.  response 2023 C.3Business Strategy
p'a';‘"."‘fg “’het'.e ) AR2023 AR: 8291
suchinformation Describe the resilience of the organisation’s CDP Climate Change CDP: Section C.3 Business Strategy
is material. . . . .
strategy, taking into consideration different response 2023
climate-related scenarios, including a 2°C
or lower scenario.
Risk Management
Disclose how a) AR 2023 AR: 34-35,92
the organisation Describe the organisation’s processes CDP Climate Change CDP: Section C.2 Risk and Opportunities
identifies, assesses foridentifying and assessing response 2023
and manages climate-related risks.
climate-relatedrisks. 1, AR 2023 AR:34-35,92
Describe the organisation’s processes SDR 2023 SDR 2023 section: Planet and Climate Change
for managing climate-related risks. CDP Climate Change CDP: Section C.2 Risk and Opportunities
response 2023
0 AR 2023 AR: 92
Describe how processes for identifying,
assessing, and managing climate-related
risks are integrated into the organisation’s
overall risk management.
Metricand Targets
Disclose the metrics a) AR 2023 AR: 33,92-94
andtargetsusedto Disclose the metrics used by the SDR 2023 SDR 2023 section: Climate Change
assessand manage organisation to assess climate-related risks CDP Climate Change and Supporting Data
relevant climate- and opportunities in line with its strategy response 2023 CDP: Section C.4 Targets and Performance
relatedrisksand and risk management process. and Sections C.6 Emissions Data
opportunitieswhere 1, AR 2023 AR: 33,9294
suchinformation Disclose Scope 1, Scope 2, and, if SDR 2023 SDR 2023 section: Climate Change
is material. appropriate, Scope 3 greenhouse gas (GHG’) ~ CDP Climate Change and Supporting Data
emissions, and the related risks. response 2023 CDP: Section C.4 Targets and Performance
and Section C.6 Emissions Data
) AR 2023 AR: 33,9294
Describe the targets used by the SDR 2023 SDR 2023 section: Climate Change
organisation to manage climate-related CDP Climate Change CDP: Section C.4 Targets and Performance
risks and opportunities and performance response 2023

againsttargets.

AR - Annual Report

SDR - Sustainable Development Report
CDP - Carbon Disclosure Project
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People

A year of progress

and performance

During 2023, we delivered on many of the initiatives we had been
planning as part of our evolved HR strategy. This year the Group

celebratesits 90" year in business, and we would like to thankall

those who have contributed to our success as we look ahead

with great excitement to the future.

Our people are the cornerstone of our business,
and central to everything we do. Itis our
responsibility to provide a safe, inclusive
workplace where employees are inspired to
work to the very best of their ability. In doing
this, we enable our people to make this
organisation the best it can be, as we strive
towards our vision of being a globally admired
company and an employer of choice.

The four pillars of our HR strategy outline how
we can empower our employees to achieve their
potential in a culture of inclusion and belonging,
while also serving our wider business goals.
These pillars are People Development and
Talent Management, Employee Experience and
Internal Communications, Inclusion, Diversity
and Equality and Rewards and Recognition.

Our HR Foundations provide an anchor

for these pillars and enable us in bringing

our strategy to life. They include our Health,
Safety and Wellbeing commitments, our legal
framework, Code of Conduct and Speak Up ethics
service, commitments to employee relations,
and the evolution of our HR Information System.
These Foundations give us the means to fulfil
our responsibilities to our employees and embed
world-class practices for all our benefit.

Our HR Strategy

o LR
il 3
People
Development

and Talent
Management

Employee
Experience

and Internal
Communications

Health, Safety
& Wellbeing

Legal
Framework
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Additionally, we continue to evolve our support
structures, activities, and events to meet the

needs of our people and our business ambitions.

Thave been delighted to visit several of our sites
this year and to meet many of our employees
face-to-face and I very much look forward

to meeting many more in the weeks, months
and years ahead.

Iwantto thankall my colleagues for their
commitment to the organisation over the past
year. We look forward to 2024 with optimism
and hope for all the possibilities it may bring.

Sharon Whitehead
Group Vice President, Human Resources

@ @

Rewards and
Recognition

Inclusion,
Diversity
and Equality

HR Information
Systems

Employee
Relations

Our HR Strategy

People Development

and Talent Management

Our Ambition:

To help our people grow their careers and deliver
on their potential, so we can realise our ambition
forthem and the organisation, as we move forward.

Our Progress:

Developing our people to support our business
goals and to help them achieve their ambitions
is a continuing priority. Our hybrid approach

to our Global Learning Academy has increased
access to development opportunities for many
more of our people. In addition to Smurfit
Kappa’s in-house programmes and our
long-term INSEAD partnership, this year we
have successfully embedded two new programmes
to our suite of SK Academy programmes: SK Rise;
and the Harvard Business School’s ‘Advanced
Management Programme’. We have also
introduced a new e-learning platform to support
Inclusion, Diversity and Equality (ID&E’)
education and awareness. Access to this platform
is given to anyone who participates in any of our
global programmes such as the General Manager
Programme (‘GMP’) or the Advanced Manager
Development (AMD’) programme.

Smurfit Kappa’s Talent Management cycle took place
during the year, and for the first time we leveraged
our new Human Resources Information System
(‘HRIS’) MyHub, to capture quality talent data,
prepare succession plans and to assist with more
effective performance and career conversations.
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Employee Experience and
Internal Communications

Our Ambition:

To create a continuous two-way dialogue, to
ensure our people understand our strategy and
the role they play in its delivery and to inspire
them to perform attheir best every day.

OurProgress:

In 2023, we continued to progress our digital
workplace strategy along with our internal
communications channels and approach.
This has provided greater opportunities

for engagement with colleagues across the
organisation. The refresh of our Internal
Communications channelsincluding the
introduction of ‘MySK’, our new digital employee
appin early 2024, hasled to more seamless
employee communications.

Additionally, the introduction and piloting

of three key HR processes in our HRIS MyHub:
MyRewards; MyPerformance; and MyTalent,
has effectively kick-started our objectives to
professionalise, modernise and simplify all our
HR systems for a better employee experience.

Inclusion, Diversity
and Equality

Our Ambition:

To create an inclusive workplace where
everyone has areal sense of belonging and
can be their authentic selves at work every day.

Our Progress:

In terms of our commitment to Inclusion,
Diversity and Equality we believe that diverse
and inclusive teams work and perform better
together. They excel at solving complex
problems, innovate and make better decisions.
We accelerated many initiatives under our
global EveryOne programme during 2023.

Aspart of our commitment to improving
Inclusion, Diversity and Equality within
Smurfit Kappa, we are striving to create
adiverse workplace and ensure that female
gender representation across the Group reaches
above 30% over time. We successfully met our
Better Planet 2050 target of having 25% of

our management positions held by women.
This was delivered at the end of 2023, with
women holding over 25% of these roles.

Rewards and
Recognition

Our Ambition:

To attract, retain and recognise our employees,
through competitive work practices. Making
sure that people are not just appropriately
rewarded from a monetary perspective, butalso
see their achievements recognised and valued
in the workplace.

Our Progress:

We have continued to build on our fair and
competitive Rewards and Recognition
philosophy to attract and retain our key talent,
and to motivate employees at every level of the
organisation to achieve the Group’s strategic
objectives. We are resolute in our commitment
to gender pay equality. In December 2023, we
published our second Gender Pay Gap Report
for Ireland. We have also continued to digitalise
our Group rewards system which we used to
conduct annual pay reviews.
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People continued

People development
and talent management

Our Ambition: To help our people grow their
careers and deliver on their potential, sowe can
realise our ambition for them and the organisation,

as we move forward.

Our talent agenda continues to focus on
ensuring we have the right people in the right
places and atthe right stages of their careers

to fill critical positions as they become available.
Our talent cycle integrates talent identification,
succession planning and talent development

to ensure we invest in our people and support
them to achieve their ambitions. We are pleased
to see several successful moves of internal talent
into key vacancies in the last year.

This year, our talent planning cycle took place
for the first time using our HRIS, MyHub, which
streamlined our process, enabling quality
performance and career conversations. Italso
facilitated the focus on maturing the process of
talentidentification, assessment and succession
planning across all clusters and countries.

Our Smurfit Kappa Academy continues to offer
development opportunities to our existing and
future leaders, through Talent Acceleration and
Leadership Development programmes. This
year saw two new Open Leadership programme
cohorts of SKleaders start their first programme
modules on campus in INSEAD, Fontainebleau,
France. These participants will join our alumni
of leaders who have already successfully
completed the programme. We also ran our

SK Rise programme in Spanish during the year,
afirst for the SK Academy.

Thisis a snapshot of the work that is done to
supportthe development of our people. Many
other training and development programmes
take place at regional, country and site level.
These programmes delivered an average of
22 hours of career development for each of
the permanent members of our workforce.
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Case study

Open Leadership
@INSEAD

The Smurfit Kappa Open
Leadership programme joined
the SK Academy portfolio

in 2016.

The programmeis run in partnership with
INSEAD, one of the world's leading business
schools, who designed a fully customised
programme based on the Smurfit Kappa
Open Leadership model.

The programme gives participants an
opportunity to develop more breadth and
depthin the way that they lead and behave
in Smurfit Kappa. Sinceits launch, over 350
leaders have attended the programme, and
the feedback has demonstrated the value
of'the programme to our people and to

the business.

o

The Smurfit Kappa Open
Leadership @ INSEAD
programme was an inspirational
experience for me. It helped me
to develop tremendously as
aleader and as a person while
at the same time creating
friendships with colleagues
from all over the globe.

David Upton
VP Technical & Operational Excellence, Smurfit
Kappa Europe

With 71 additional leaders starting their

Open Leadership programme journey in 2023,
our commitment to developing our leaders
remains steadfast.
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Academy

RISE

PROGRAMME

Case study

RISE-Female
Development
Programme

New to the SK Academy suite

of programmesin 2022 was
SKRise. It set out to uniquely
support the development of
our female employees; to help
enhance their belief in their own
abilities and give them the skills
to manage challenges commonly
facedin the workplace.

Aunique element of this programme amongst
our suite of SK Academy programmes is that
access to the programme is by self-nomination
andis therefore open to all female employees,
regardless of their function, position, or location
who want to build and grow their careersin
Smurfit Kappa.

In 2023, we were pleased to furtherincrease
access to SK Rise by developing and running

the programme in Spanish, the very first

SK Academy non-English programme, thereby
offeringincreased access to Group programmes
for those who speak Spanish.

Since its launch we have had alarge number
of our female employees putting themselves
forward to participate in the programme and
have seen exceptional results.

In 2024, we will grow the programme further
by increasing the number of attendees at
each programme and we plan to add another
100 participants to our alumni this year.

The final word from a RISE participant:

o

| feel ready to be a support
for my teams, ready to be
direct and clear in my way
of communication, ready to
empower myself and those
around me. lam actually not
much different.I'mjusta
better version of myself.

VanessaFlores
Health and Safety Manager, Smurfit Kappa Mexico
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People continued

Employee experience and
internal communications

Our Ambition: To create a continuous two-way dialogue
to ensure our people understand our strategy and the
role they play inits delivery. To inspire our talent to

perform at their best every day.

How an employee feels about their time and
experience in Smurfit Kappa is extremely
importantto our organisation. We believe it
affects our success and drives our ability to
attract, retain, and motivate our people, while
ensuring their career in Smurfit Kappa is both
enjoyable and successful.

Working together, we contribute to building
apositive work environment and culture,

and within the HR section of our business in
particular, we put colleagues at the centre of
everything we do, because these are the people
who are atthe very heart of our success.

Employee Engagement and

Internal Communications

Over the pastyear we have focused on improving,
extending and digitalising the processes and
channels we have in place around our

employee communications.

We have transitioned, audited and restructured
all key communications channels to make them
more effective, multi-lingual and to ensure we
are able to communicate directly with both

our office and site-based employees.

Ourintranet has been re-designed, making itmore
accessible and user-friendly, while Smurfit Kappa
TV now has global, regional and multi-lingual
channels available. This has resulted in recent
campaigns such as H&S and ID&E cascading
seamlessly across the organisation.

Aswas requested through our last MyVoice
survey, we have been working with a global
multi-functional team to develop MySK, a
communications app which will be available to
all employees. Designed ‘mobile-first’ to appeal
to colleagues who do not have access to computers
and laptops, the build phase of the project has
now been completed and is set to be piloted
across 14 sites, with almost 4,000 colleagues

in the first quarter of 2024.
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The app includes strong governance capability,
workflow approval of all content, decentralised
aswell as centralised content creation and
distribution and on demand multi-language
translations. It will facilitate information flow
atevery level of the organisation, at the touch
of abutton, for our employees to access when
and where it suits them. We plan to roll out the
app to all sites during 2024.

We have also made significant progress

with MyHub, our first company-wide Human
Resources Information System. We have
completed pilots of three of our key HR
processes; MyRewards, MyPerformance and
My Talent. This has kick-started our journey
to digitalise our key HR processes and provide
animproved HR service to all employees.

For more information on MyHub, please refer
to our case study.

MySKlaunchedin Q12024
Our communications app enabling
all of our workforce, whether they
are office or site-based, to be equally
informed. It is available on both
Android andiOS platforms.

Employee Feedback

and Two-Way Dialogue

Providing opportunities for colleagues,

to give us direct feedback, remains a priority
for the organisation. During the year, two of
our key countries in Europe - Italy and the UK,
conducted pulse surveys across their entire
workforces. The results of these surveys are
currently being analysed and will be used to
help shape the people programmes in both
countries going forward.

In summary, we see employee experience
asavital part of our work, as it directly impacts
our ability to achieve our goals and maintain
acompetitive edge. It affects employee
satisfaction, engagement, and wellbeing,

and it can have a ripple effect on the overall
success and reputation of the organisation.
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Case study

MyHub -Embracing

aDigital HR Future

Having startedin 2022, our
Group-wide Human Resources
Information System for
Smurfit Kappa, called MyHub,
has evolved throughout the
course of 2023.

. Strategic Report Governance

Three modules have been successfully piloted
across the countries in which we operate:
MyRewards for the online pay planning of

our senior managers; MyPerformance for the
performance reviews of approximately 2,000
employees; and MyTalent for succession
planning for our senior managers.

Our global objective was to enhance our
overall employee experience, by empowering
our managers to manage and plan for
performance, talent, compensation,
engagement and learning. Over time our
employees will also gain autonomy over their
workplace experience, enabling them to grow
in their careers no matter where they are in
theirjourney, or career stage.

Financial Statements

Supplementary Information

Thanks to this new platform, we can start to
design standardisedreports, dashboards and
KPIs, enabling us to make data driven decisions
inamore efficient way for the benefit of

all stakeholders.

Our goal remains to deliver excellent HR
services that drive the right behaviours in our
business and deliver an excellent employee
experience. This new platform enhances the
HR team’s ability to enable the business to
deliver onits people strategy agenda.
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People continued

Inclusion, Diversity

and Equality

Our Ambition: To create aninclusive workplace
where everyone has areal sense of belongingand
can be their authentic selves at work every day

We continued to evolve our ID&E work through
our EveryOne programme during 2023. Our five
communities have continued to work with our
people to evolve our understanding and support
of diverse communities of people across
Smurfit Kappa. These communities are:
Disability, Family & Age, Gender, LGBTQ+

& Allies and Origin, Race & Ethnicity.

In 2023 we further evolved our EveryOne
council structure to ensure regional and local
accountability. This allowed us to embed new
ways of working into the organisation where
local and regional accountability is increased.

At Group level the focus is now on progressing
the ID&E strategic priorities.

These priorities were developed based on
feedback received in our EveryOne Discovery
survey, avoluntary survey in 2022, which attracted
almost 8,000 respondents and delivered over
9,000 employee comments.
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In order to advance our ID&E journey, we created

athree-year roadmap focused on these priorities

as follows:

1. ID&E education and awareness programme
of events;

2. Inclusive Infrastructure;

3. Inclusive recruitment; and

4. Smart Working - the future of work.

We continued to work across these priorities

in 2023. We made strong progress particularly
in ID&E education and awareness, where we
partnered with ‘Social Talent, an industry-leading
ID&E training platform, to help educate our
people. ID&E modules have now been built into
all our SK Academy Programmes and will be
further rolled out across the business.

We are also finalising details of our Inclusive
Infrastructure project. This will allow for our
businesses to apply for capital expenditure for
ID&E projects from a specific budget set aside
for this sole purpose.

During the year, we also came together to
celebrate a series of Inclusion, Diversity and
Equality events, including International
Women'’s Day (March), Pride (June), World
Mental Health Day (October), International
Men’s Day (November) and International
Day of Persons with Disabilities (December).

Celebrating these events helps us raise
awareness of our equality programmes, while
educating and inspiring everyone to focus and
participate in our wider ID&E agenda. Each

of these events were celebrated across the
organisation with many local activities.

Update on Gender Balance

Interms of the gender diversity goals we set

as part of our Better Planet 2050 commitments,
we successfully reached our target of 25% of
our management positions being held by women
atthe end of 2023. The female representation
on our Group Executive Committee and our
Board was 33.3% and 45% at the end of 2023,
respectively. These numbers demonstrate
progress on our journey to achieve a better
gender balance.

During the year, we also continued our

work with our strategic Inclusion, Diversity
and Equality partners, including the Trinity
Centre for People with Intellectual Disabilities,
the 30% Club and Social Talent.
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Every 'ne

for Inclusion, Diversity and Equality

ID&E Education
and Awareness

Our ID&E strategy continues
to evolve for our organisation
and our people, supporting
our strong and ambitious
commitment to ID&E.
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Inclusion
Diversity
Equality

Aligned to our clear strategy, sponsored by
our senior leadership team and endorsed by
the voice of our colleagues we have developed
plans to advance our ID&E journey in four key
areas. The focus for one of these areasis an
ID&E Education and Awareness programme
of events.

We have partnered with Social Talent, the
world's leading ID&E e-learning platform, as
they share our visions of enabling people and
teams with skills and training to hire, onboard,
engage, develop andretain great talent. We
are creating customised learning paths for
teams who will hear powerful stories from
leadingindustry experts, who will share
practical tips, advice and strategies to drive
change and shape diversity focused mindsets.

Financial Statements

In our pilot phase we have opened the platform
to 2501learners, who have taken over 400
courses on topics such as inclusive language,
allyship, ID&E 101 and how bias manifests

to support their education and awareness.

We will also launch specific paths to support
building capability for inclusive recruitment,
whichis another of our strategic priorities.

This partnership allows colleagues to access
learning at their own pace, which we follow
with facilitated live discussions to embed

the learning and grow ID&E awareness with
individuals and teams across the organisation.
In future phases we will scale the roll out of
this learning across the management and
supervisory roles in Smurfit Kappa and
extendit further where possible.
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People continued

Rewards and
Recognition

Our Ambition: To attract, retain and recognise our employees,
through competitive work practices. Making sure that

people are not just appropriately rewarded from a monetary
perspective, but also see their achievements recognised

and valuedin the workplace.

In 2023, we continued to challenge ourselves to .
ensure the compensation and benefits we offer Our Rewards Policy
atevery level of our organisation in terms of our
Rewards and Recognition packages are fair and

compare favourably with the market. The objectives of our 1

Rewards Policy are to:
Itis also critical that our Rewards and Create a framework to enable the Group
Recognition programmes are aligned to ensure to attractand retain talented employees;
our people can see a clear link between their

compensation package and their performance,

particularly when they perform above and 2
beyond what s expected. In setting our reward
packages, Smurfit Kappa takes into consideration
the employee’s performance, external
benchmark data for their role in companies

of similar size and scope, while also ensuring

Motivate employees at every level of
the organisation to achieve the Group's
strategic objectives;

internal equity within the Group. 3

During 2023, we began digitalising our Rewards Provide competitive rewards and benefits
and Recognition processes, which will continue thatare clearly linked to performance;

in the yearsto come. Our leaders completed all

the necessary details for these processes in the

new Human Resources Information System, 4

MyHub. This pilot will provide the organisation Digitalisation of our key processes.

with a scalable approach to the process, while
maintaining confidentiality and confidence.

Asan organisation, we are committed to gender
pay equality and we continue to proactively
monitor the pay of male and female colleagues
in similar roles, to ensure itis comparable.
Under UK legislation, employers with more than
250 employees are required to publish key metrics
on their gender pay gap. Our business continues
to show improvement on this key metric.

The Employment Equality Act 1998 (Section 20A)
(Gender Pay Gap) Regulations 2022 (the ‘Irish
Gender Pay Gap Reporting Guidelines’) came
into effect from 31 May 2022 and applied to all
Irish companies with over 250 employees.

In 2023, we reported a mean Gender Pay Gap
of minus 10.6% (in 2022 it was +1.6%) which
means that the mean total pay of women
ishigher than the mean total pay of men

by 10.6% in Smurfit Kappa Ireland.

The Groupis also very focused on ensuring
that positive employee and trade/labour
union relations are maintained to the highest
of standards, to ensure fair and sustainable
Collective Labour Agreements.
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Diversity of the Executive Team

We take partinthe FTSE

Women Leaders Review which
sets out recommendations for
FTSE 350 companies to improve
the representation of women.

The Board recognises the value of gender
diversity to the Group and has 45% female
representation which is in excess of the

FCA Listing Rules requirements and the
FTSE Women's Leaders target of 40%
representationin relation to gender diversity.

Board of Directors
(asat 31 December 2023)
(Gender splitout of 11)

Executive Committee
(asat 31 December 2023)
(Gender splitout of 12)

@ Male

@ Male 66.7%

® Female

® Female 33.3%

Regional Executive Committees
(Gender split)

Total Permanent Employees
(Gender split)

@ Male

@® Male 79.4%

® Female

® Female 20.6%
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People continued

Health, safety
and wellbeing

Safety remains at the centre of our organisationandis
one of our core values. Our approach to safety is focused
on self-empowerment and accountability, while our
health and wellbeing strategy is to support and assist.

In Smurfit Kappa our ethos is that nothing is so
important that it cannot be done safely. That is
why, no matter where we work, we are expected
to be self-aware and show concern for ourselves
and others. This drives our mostimportant goal,
which is to ensure that everyone gets home
safely every day.

This ethos has served us well and one of the
mostimportant achievements of our Health,
Safety and Wellbeing programme is the
continued overall performance of our TRIR
since it was introduced as the key performance
metricin 2018. Our TRIR increased by 3.9% in
2023 bringing the TRIR to 0.53 (2022: 0.51) but
remaining below 0.55. The TRIR reduction to
the end of 2023 compared to the 2018 baseline
was a48% total reduction, demonstrating the
achievements in safety over that period. There
were no fatalities in 2023. We continue to strive
forimprovements in safety and will not rest until
we deliver zero incidents on an ongoing basis.

Additionally, we have 144 sites at zero TRIR for
the year and a further five sites have achieved
750,000 hours with zero TRIR. Nettingsdorf was
also awarded the Austrian Association of Pulp
& Paper (‘OZEPA’) Occupational Safety Award
for 425 injury free days.

Our strategy is aimed at improving our health
and safety outcomes and ensuring we make
every effort to make our workplace safe forall.
This strategy is supported by a strong governance
model and an extensive audit programme.

Our Health and Safety Policies continue to
supporteverything we do. They are widely
implemented across the organisation, with all
new starters fully briefed to ensure they are
onboarded correctly, promoting strong and
consistent risk management across the
business. During 2023, we have added additional
health and safety resources in our paper and
corrugated divisions in Europe, whose focus
isonimplementation and governance.

Our health and safety management system
which was implemented in our plants across the
world has now been in operation for a full year.
The tool was designed to support supervisors,
managers and our health and safety teams with
their reporting responsibilities. In 2023, it was
used to track and report safety data, an auditing
module was rolled out to further enhance
accountability and action management and
ensure that we do what we say we do.

The health and safety management system
allows usto track and report safety data, analyse
trends, and draw insights, meet compliance
requirements, and reduce administrative work,
more efficiently. It has also helped to increase
visibility and continues to promote a safety
culture across our organisation.

During 2023 we progressed
our five year Health & Safety strategy
developedin 2022 that focused
on four pillars:

High Risk & Process Safety
Management;

Behavioural Based Safety;

Implementation of a Global Safety
Management System;

Health & Wellbeing.

Safety  Safety Improvement Planning S

Consistency and progressive improvement

for life.

Behavioural Safety Safety Day H&S Framework

« Safety for Leaders. «» Group wide tailored programme. » New Divisional H&S

« Safety for Colleagues.
« Safety Leadership Programme.
«» Task-based observations.

« Safety conversations (quality).
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Implementation Managers
in Q4,2023.

« Policy implementation.
« Risk-based approach to

operational stops (e-Safe).

« H&S audit quality, planning
andresponse.

Health & Wellbeing

« Employee Assistance
Programme service available
across Europe and The Americas.

« Formation of an SKG Health
and Wellbeing Committee.

« Inclusion within audit pro
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Code of Conduct and Speak Up
E-Learning Programme

Our Code of Conduct reflects Smurfit Kappa’s
values and standards, providing a guide to the
legal and ethical responsibilities we share as
members of the Smurfit Kappa family. Itis the
responsibility of our local Management and HR
teams in our sites to build awareness of Smurfit
Kappa’s Code of Conduct and Speak Up service
for their current staff and any new joiners.

Our Speak Up ethics reporting system encourages
transparency and drives accountability and
governance at every level of the organisation.
The factthat the use of the system increases every
year, demonstrates that our people have trustin it.

We also have an online e-learning programme
to supportthe Code of Conduct and Speak Up
service. The programme remains available
for everyone within Smurfit Kappa to ensure
thatevery employee fully understands their
responsibilities and expected conduct as
responsible corporate citizens, how they can
reportasuspected case of wrongdoing and to
learn about the various elements of the Code.

Case Study

Amsterdam

Health & Wellbeing
Workshop 2023

To provide the essential skills and
knowledge to ensure we have a
workplace culture that prioritises
mental health and wellbeing, we
held atwo-day Health & Wellbeing
workshop for our European HR
Directors and Health & Safety
Cluster Managers.

The first day of the workshop centred

on establishing a solid foundation in mental
health awareness. Participants delvedinto
theintroductory aspects of mental health and
engaged in reflective exercises and discussions.
These sessions were aimed at enabling leaders
to apply Mental Health First Aid skills in realistic
settings. The critical aspects of suicide
awareness were also addressed.

Serurlie WAoo  SRICHA 13 Coratnting Pasenln £ OOOENACE w T RigRast el et T oty et of

Fabwir, Leraky, infeprmy o ERRERT] BT 0L OO O G0 BORaE o o Go o B Cermiat
(ORAF) B AEARISY B IR SAMIRAH, BN AR AT &F L PR T RTRARAA PASSAS 1B T WA SRR IR

W ity o e prsiulis. ek ) A

THE LSO IPPRE M Bof DORAY B NRETA PIGHT BN BTOEYRHS AAAMVE VT D PO PANIOURS TS

B O B B O D DT 1 0Ty Y G S

Onday two, the workshop was aimed at helping
participants leverage their newly acquired
knowledge to help enhance overall wellbeing
within the organisation. Participants focused

on Smurfit Kappa's wellbeing strategy and the
synergies between well-looked after employees
and organisational success. Discussions
encouraged them to tailor their approach to

the unique workplace environments in which
each of them operate.

Overall, the workshop equipped HR Directors
and H&S Cluster Managers with a holistic
understanding of mental health and wellbeing.
By combining foundational awareness with
practical skills and strategies, these leaders
willbe able to drive this agenda within their
areas of responsibility, creating healthier,
more resilient workplaces that prioritise

the wellbeing of colleagues.

be

~ for life.
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Annual Safety
Improvement Plan

We also implemented the
following activities as part of
our Annual Safety Improvement
Plans to continue to drive
awareness and retain attention
onthis key topic:

— On World Safety Day (28 April 2023),
we continued with our ‘Safety for
Life' campaigns and this year we led
with our 'Safe Decisions —if only..."
initiative.

— We also developed this Safety Day . . :
topic further across the year, when — To ensure we embed our wellbeing — We continued to provide support

we undertook a ‘Safe Decisions’ strategy, we conducted seminars to our employees and their family
summer campaign to reinforce for each European Divisional members to cope with any work,
that two thirds of all non-reversible management team focusing on mental life, or health concerns, through
injuries in 2022 were associated with health awareness and implementation our free and confidential Global
a'lapse in concentration oramoment of our Wellbeing Framework. This was Employee Assistance Programme.
of complacency’, occurring mostly further supported by one and a half We have also invested significant
inthe summer months. day workshops for all European HR resources to make improvements
Directors and all health and safety to this programme.

We continued with our Safety cluster managers.
for Leaders programme, in Europe.
This programme is aimed at ensuring
our managers further develop their
impact and influence over their
teams. Here we focus on why

safety isimportant, to ensure our
employees 'see safety’ as part of
their daily role to ensure they and
those around them go home

safely every day.

Our Six High-Risk Areas

People & Vehicl
Across Europe we undertook eople & Vehicles

detailed reviews of Operating
Standards and machine specification.

Management of Warehouses

Our case management process, Contractors &Backyards

which supports colleagues when

a serious injury occurs was in place
for the first time across a full year
and helped support people involved
in safety incidents during 2023.

We continue focusing on our
Behavioural Based Safety initiative
with our Safety Leadership
Programme for Senior Management
and front-line leaders across the
Americas that will continue into 2024.

Working @ Contact with

atHeight Moving Machines

Energy Isolation
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Case study

Wellbeing for life

Preventative Health programme
in DACH

Smurfit Kappain DACH (Germany, Austria

and Switzerland) offers various health and
wellbeing programmes for its employees

and their families to support their workforce
needs under the five headings: Be Active,

Be Connected, Be Supported, Be Fulfilled and
Be Together. Courses offeredinclude online
yoga and cooking courses in addition to setting
up third party partnerships with local bicycle
stores and health service providers.

Be active

Be connected
Be supported
Be fulfilled

Be together

In addition, with our keen focus on mental
health first aid and prevention, we have
arranged for approximately 90 Mental Health
First Aiders (‘(MHFAs') to be trained. Our goal is
to have at least five MHFAs at each of our sites.

We also offer free services inrelation to
preventive measures for serious diseases
including colon cancer and diabetes. Employees
can access these services anonymously and
conveniently through online platforms or home
tests. The feedback from the participants has
been positive and grateful for the programme
and opportunity for testing.

Wellbeing

for life
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@ Governance

Board of Directors

Irial Finan
Chair

Committee Membership:

Anthony Smurfit
Group Chief Executive Officer

Ken Bowles
Group Chief Financial Officer

Nationality: Irish

Term of Office
Irial Finan joined the Board in February 2012.
He was appointed Chair in May 2019.

Independent
Yes*

Key External Appointments

Listed: Board member of Fortune Brands
Innovations, Inc.

Non-Listed: NeoArc Inc.

Experience

Irial Finan was Executive Vice President of
The Coca-Cola Company and President of the
Bottling Investments Group from 2004 until he
stepped down from the role in December 2017
and retired in March 2018. Prior to this, Irial
served as Chief Executive Officer of Coca-Cola
Hellenic Bottling Company SA. He joined the
Coca-Cola System in 1981.
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Nationality: Irish

Term of Office

Anthony Smurfit has served as a Director of the
Group since 1989** and was appointed Group
Chief Executive Officer in September 2015.

Independent
No.

Key External Appointments
Non-Listed: Member of the European Round
Table of Industrialists.

Experience

Anthony Smurfit has worked in various parts

of the Smurfit Kappa Group both in Europe and
the United States since he joined the Group.

He was appointed Group Chief Executive Officer
in September 2015, prior to which he was the
Group Chief Operations Officer from November
2002. He was also Chief Executive of Smurfit
Europe from October 1999 to 2002, prior to
which he was Deputy Chief Executive of Smurfit
Europe and previously Chief Executive Officer
of Smurfit France.

Nationality: Irish

Term of Office

Ken Bowles was appointed Group Chief
Financial Officer in April 2016 and was
appointed a Director in December 2016.

Independent
No.

Experience

Ken Bowlesjoined the Group in 1994 and has
occupied a number of finance roles in various
parts of the Group. He was appointed Group
Chief Financial Officer in April 2016, prior to
which he was the Group Financial Controller
from 2010. He was the Group’s Head of Tax from
2007 to 2010 prior to which he was appointed as
the Group’s first Head of Compliance in 2004.
He is an associate member of the Institute of
Chartered Management Accountants and holds
afirst class MBA from the UCD Graduate School
of Business.

* Onhisappointmentas Chair in May 2019 Irial Finan
was independent.

** For Smurfit Kappa Group plc or its predecessor
companies, SKG returned to Euronext Dublin
and the LSE on its IPO in March 2007.
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Anne Anderson
Non-executive Director

Frits Beurskens
Non-executive Director

Carol Fairweather
Non-executive Director

Committee Membership:

Committee Membership:

Committee Membership:

Nationality: [rish

Term of Office
Anne Anderson joined the Board
inJanuary 2019.

Independent
Yes.

Key External Appointments

Non-listed: Chair of the Board of Advisers
atthe Institute for the Study of Diplomacy

at Georgetown University, Washington DC.
Board member of the Druid Theatre Galway.

Experience

Anne Anderson is an experienced international
diplomat who most recently served as the
Ambassador of Ireland to the United States
from 2013 to 2017. She joined the Department
of Foreign Affairsin 1972 and was appointed
Assistant Secretary Generalin 1991 serving

in this post until 1995. She was then appointed
Ireland’s Permanent Representative to the
United Nations in Geneva after which she
became Permanent Representative of Ireland
to the European Union in 2001. Following this
she was appointed Ambassador of Ireland to
France in 2005, where she served until 2009.

In 2009, she became Permanent Representative
of Ireland to the United Nations in New York.

Nationality: Dutch

Term of Office
Frits Beurskens has served as a Director
of the Group since December 2005.**

Independent
No.

Experience

Frits Beurskens joined the Kappa Group in 1990
and held various Managing Director positions
until his appointment as its President and
CEO1in 1996 which he held until the merger
with Smurfit. He is a former Chair of both the
Confederation of European Paper Industries
and the International Corrugated Cases
Association and a former member of the Board
of Sappi Limited. In December 2007, he was
knighted and appointed by the Dutch Queen

as Officer in the Order of Oranje Nassau.

Nationality: British

Term of Office
Carol Fairweather joined the Board
in January 2018.

Independent
Yes.

Key External Appointments
Listed: Non-executive Director of Segro plc.

Experience

Carol Fairweather was Chief Financial Officer
and an executive Director of Burberry Group plc
from July 2013 to January 2017. She joined
Burberry in June 2006 and prior to her
appointment as CFO, she held the position of
Senior Vice President, Group Finance. Prior to
joining Burberry, she was Director of Finance
at News International Limited from 1997 to 2005
and UK Regional Controller at Shandwick plc
from 1991 to 1997. Carol is a Fellow of the
Institute of Chartered Accountants.

** For Smurfit Kappa Group plc or its predecessor
companies, SKG returned to Euronext Dublin
and the LSE on its IPO in March 2007.

Board Committees

@ Audit

. Remuneration
. Nomination
. Sustainability

@ Chair
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Board of Directors continued

Mary Lynn Ferguson-McHugh
Non-executive Director

KaisaHietala
Senior Independent
Non-executive Director

James Lawrence
Non-executive Director

Committee Membership:

Committee Membership:

Committee Membership:

Nationality: American

Term of Office
Mary Lynn Ferguson-McHugh joined the Board
in January 2023.

Independent
Yes.

Key External Appointments
Listed: Non-executive Director of Molson Coors
Beverage Company.

Non-listed: Board member of F] Management Inc.

Experience

Mary Lynn spent over 35 years at Procter &
Gamble, where she held a number of senior
leadership positions, including her roles as
Chief Executive Officer of Family Care (Paper
Products) and P&G Ventures, positions she held
since 2019 having served as Group President of
Family Care (Paper Products) since 2014 and
P&G Ventures since 2015. Prior to that, from
2011, she was based in Switzerland where she
held the position of Group President Western
Europe and then Group President Europe.
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Nationality: Finnish

Term of Office
Kaisa Hietala joined the Board in October 2020.

Independent
Yes.

Key External Appointments

Listed: Non-employee Director at Exxon Mobil
Corporation and Non-executive Director of
Rio Tinto Group.

Experience

Kaisa Hietala spent over 20 years at Neste
Corporation, where she was a key architect

in the strategic transformation of the company
to become the world’s largest producer of
renewable diesel and renewable jet fuel. She
served as Executive Vice President, Renewable
Products at Neste Corporation and was a
member of the Neste Executive Board from
2014 to 2019. Prior to this she held anumber of
senior positions including VP, Renewable Fuels,
Neste Oil Corporation. Kaisa was previously
aNon-executive Director of Kemira Oyj from
2016 to 2021.

Nationality: American

Term of Office
James Lawrence joined the Board in October
2015.

Independent
Yes.

Key External Appointments
Listed: Non-executive Director of Avnet, Inc.
and Aercap Holdings N.V.

Non-listed: Chair of Lake Harriet Capital, LLC,
aninvestmentand advisory firm.

Experience

James Lawrence served as Chair of Rothschild
North America from 2012 to 2015 and previously
served as Chief Executive Officer of Rothschild
North America from 2010 to 2012. Prior to this,
he served as Chief Financial Officer and an
executive Director of Unilever plc. He joined
Unilever from General Mills where he was
Vice-Chair and Chief Financial Officer.

He previously also held senior positions

with Northwest Airlines and PepsiCo Inc.



Overview

Strategic Report . Governance

Financial Statements

Supplementary Information

Lourdes Melgar
Non-executive Director

Jorgen Buhl Rasmussen
Non-executive Director

Committee Membership:

Committee Membership:

Gillian Carson-Callan
Group Secretary

Nationality: Mexican

Term of Office
Lourdes Melgar joined the Board
in January 2020.

Independent
Yes.

Key External Appointments

Listed: Board member of Banco Santander
Mexico S.A. and an Independent Director
of CEMEX, S.A.B.de C.V.

Non-listed: Research Affiliate at the Center for
Collective Intelligence of MIT ’s Sloan School of
Managementand an Independent Board member,
Global Energy Alliance for People and Planet.

Experience

Lourdes Melgar is an academic and strategic
advisor recognised for her expertise in energy,
sustainability and governance. As former Vice
Minister for Electricity from 2012 to 2014 and
Vice Minister for Hydrocarbons from 2014

t0 2016, she played a key role in the design,
negotiation and implementation of Mexico’s
2013 Energy Reform. Previously, asa career
diplomat, she held various positions in Mexico’s
Foreign Service and at the Ministry of Energy.

Nationality: Danish

Term of Office
Jorgen Buhl Rasmussen joined the Board
in March 2017.

Independent
Yes.

Key External Appointments
Non-listed: Chair of Uhrenholt A/S. Chair of

the Executive Advisory Board in Blazar Capital.

Experience

Jorgen Buhl Rasmussen is the former Chief
Executive Officer of Carlsberg A/S. He served
asthe Chief Executive Officer of Carlsberg A/S
from 2007 until he retired from this position
in 2015 having joined the company in 2006.

He previously held senior positions in several
global FMCG companies, including Gillette
Group, Duracell, Mars and Unilever over the
previous 28 years. He was a Board member of
Novozymes A/S from 2011 and Chair from 2017
until March 2023.

Nationality: Irish

Term of Office
Gillian Carson-Callan was appointed Group
Secretary in June 2020.

Key External Appointments
Non-listed: Board member of Smurfit Kappa
Foundation.

Experience

Gillian joined the Group in 2009. She held roles
within the Group Finance function before her
appointment as Assistant Group Secretary

in 2016. Gillian is a Fellow of the Institute of
Chartered Accountants of Ireland and holds

a Certificate in Company Secretarial Law

and Practice.

Board Committees

@ Audit

. Remuneration
. Nomination
. Sustainability

@ Chair
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@ Governance

Corporate Governance Statement

Governance at a glance

The Directors continue to be committed to maintaining the
highest standards of corporate governance. This Corporate
Governance Statement describes how throughout the financial
year ended 31 December 2023, Smurfit Kappa Group plc applied
the principles of the UK Corporate Governance Code (‘the Code’)
published by the Financial Reporting Council (‘FRC’).

Gender diversity Directorindependence* Nationalities
Asat 31 December 2023 Asat 31 December 2023

g

'

@ Male 55% @ Independent 70% @® American 2
Female 45% Non-independent 30% British 1

*  Excludes the Chair who was independent SHbanith !

on appointment as Chair in May 2019. ® Dutch g

Finnish 1

@ Irish 4

@ Mexican 1

Experience and Skills of the Non-executive Directors
Therange of key skills and experience includes the following:

Paper/Packaging

International

Finance Sustainability

Executive Experience Academic/Diplomacy
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Compliance with the Code

The Directors believe that the Group complies with the provisions

of the Code, apart from Provision 19 for which an explanation has been
provided inline with the Code. Please see Chair Succession on page 123.

Stock Exchange Listings

Smurfit Kappa Group plc, which is incorporated in Ireland and subject to
Irish company law, has a premium listing on the London Stock Exchange
and a secondary listing on Euronext Dublin. For this reason, Smurfit
Kappa Group plcis not subject to the same ongoing listing requirements
asthose which would apply to an Irish company with a primary listing
on Euronext Dublin.

Board Leadership and Company Purpose

Ensuring Long-term Success

The Board is primarily responsible for the long-term success of the
Group, for setting the Group’s strategic aims, for the leadership and
control of the Group and for reviewing the Group’s system of internal
control and risk management. There is a clear division of responsibilities
within the Group between the Board and executive management.

The Board retains control of strategic and other major decisions

under a formal schedule of matters reserved to it which includes:

Board Meetings

The Board meets at least five times each year with additional meetings
asrequired. The Board met 16 times in 2023, six of these meetings
were scheduled meetings, and ten additional ad hoc meetings primarily
related to the proposed Combination. Details of the meetings held
during the period are contained in the adjacent table, which also includes
information on individual attendance. The Board usually holds at least
one of its meetings each year at a Group operation site to give the
Directors an opportunity to meet with a wider range of management
and to see and remain familiar with the Group's operating activities.
During 2023, the July Board meeting was held in France which included
a visit to our Facture mill, and the October Board meeting was heldin
the Dominican Republicincluding a visit to our plant in Santo Domingo.

The Board s supplied, on a timely basis in advance of Board meetings,
with a Board report comprising strategic updates, operational, financial,
health and safety, and investor relations information together with Board
papers on key issues, in a form and of a quality to enable it to discharge its
duties effectively. At each Board meeting, the Chair of each Committee
gives areport on major agenda items discussed at Committee meetings
held since the last Board meeting. In addition, all Board members have
access to allBoard Committee papers and minutes.

All Directors attended all scheduled meetings of the Board that they
were eligible to attend during 2023.

When Directors are unable to attend a meeting, having been advised
by the Board papers circulated prior to the meeting of the matters to
be discussed, they are given an opportunity to make their views known
to the Chair or the Group Chief Executive Officer prior to the meeting.

— Approval of the Group’s strategy which is set out on pages 28 to 29;
— Board appointments including those of the Chair, Group Chief

Executive Officer and other Executive Directors;

— Appointment and removal of the Group Secretary;
— Agreement of terms of appointment of the Chair, Group Chief

Executive Officer and other Executive Directors;

— Agreement of any fundamental changes to the Group’s management

and control structure;

— Approval of the annual financial budgets;

— Approval of capital expenditure above fixed limits;

— Approval of material acquisitions and disposals of businesses;
— Approval of the Trading Statements, the Interim Report,

the Preliminary Results Release and the Annual Report;

— Establishment and review of corporate governance policy

and practices;

— Monitoring of the Group’s risk management and internal control

systems; and

— Confirming thatthe Annual Report, taken as a whole, is fair, balanced

and understandable and provides the information necessary for
shareholders to assess the position and performance of the Group,
its business model and strategy.

Attendance at Board Meetings
During the Year to 31 December 2023

Scheduled
B* C**

10
10
10
10
10
10
10
10
10
10

4
10

4

>
*

Attendance Record
I.Finan

A.Smurfit
K.Bowles
A.Anderson
F.Beurskens
C.Fairweather

ML. Ferguson-McHugh
K.Hietala
J.Lawrence
L.Melgar
J.Moloney***
J.BuhlRasmussen
G.Restrepo***

NI OINOO OO OO OO OO
NIOINOO OO OO OO OO

RO WN|O|WO O N VO O

* ColumnAindicatesthe number of meetings held during the period the Director was
amember ofthe Board and was eligible to attend and Column Bindicates the number
of meetingsattended.

Column Cindicates the number ofad hoc meetings held during the period the Director
wasamember ofthe Board and was eligible to attend and Column Dindicates the
number ofadhoc meetings attended.

*** John Moloney and Gonzalo Restreporetired from the Board following the AGM held
inApril2023.
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Corporate Governance Statement continued

Our Governance framework

The Directors have continued to evolve the Group’s
governance framework. The value in developing corporate
and Board culture is fully recognised in the knowledge that
culture plays a fundamental role in the delivery of our
strategy, stakeholder engagement and sustainability,
which, as this report highlights, are critical for SKG as we
continue to build a sustainable business, ensure compliance
with the Code and meet best practice requirements.

A copy of the Code can be obtained from the FRC'’s

website: www.frc.org.uk.

Division of Responsibilities

Board Committees

Asrecommended by the Code, the Board has established
three Committees to assistin the execution of specific matters
within its responsibility. These are the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee.
In addition, there is a Sustainability Committee with
responsibility to provide strategic guidance and support

to management in the implementation of the Smurfit Kappa
Sustainability Strategy.

The Sustainability Committee is also responsible for
engagement with the workforce on behalf of the Board as
required by the Code. The responsibilities of each of these
Committees are set out clearly in written terms of reference,
which are reviewed annually and are available on the Group’s
website. The Chair of each Committee reports to the Board
on the major agenda items discussed since the last Board
meeting and the minutes of all Committee meetings are
available to all of the Directors.

The current membership of each Committee, details of
attendance and each member’s tenure are set outin the
individual Committee reports on pages 125to 155.

Roles and Responsibilities

As recommended by the Code, the roles of Chair and Group
Chief Executive Officer are held by separate individuals

and the division of responsibilities between them is clearly
established and has been set outin writing and approved

by the Board. The Board has delegated responsibility for

the day-to-day management of the Group through the Group
Chief Executive Officer to executive management. The Board
has also delegated some of its responsibilities to Committees
of the Board. The powers of Directors are determined by Irish
legislation and the Articles of Association. The Directors have
access to independent professional advice at the Group’s
expense, if and when required. No such advice was sought

by any Director during the year. The Board Committees are
provided with sufficient resources to undertake their duties.

The Board with the support of the Group Secretary is satisfied
thatit has the policies, processes, time and information to
function effectively.

Group Secretary

The Directors have access to the advice and services of the
Group Secretary who is responsible to the Board for ensuring
that Board procedures are followed, applicable rules and
regulations are complied with and that the Board is advised
on its corporate governance obligations and developments in
best practice. The Group Secretary is responsible for formal
minuting of any unresolved concerns that any Director may
have with the operation of the Company. During the year,
there were no such unresolved issues. The Group Secretary
also acts as secretary to all of the Board Committees.
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Board of Directors

The Boardis primarily responsible for the long-term success of

the Group, for setting the Group's strategic aims, for the leadership
and control of the Group and for reviewing the Group's system

of internal control and risk management. There is a clear division

of responsibilities within the Group between the Board and
executive management.

Chair

Irial Finan, as the Chair, is responsible for the leadership of the Board
and the efficient and effective working of the Board. He sets and
manages the Board agenda so that it (at appropriate times)
addresses allmatters reserved to the Board and ensures that
adequate time is available for discussion on strategy and the
strategicissues facing the Group. He ensures that the Directors
receive accurate, timely and clear information, and that the
Directors are updated periodically on the views or concerns of major
investors. He also ensures that a culture of openness and debate is
fostered to facilitate constructive Board relations and the effective
contribution of the Non-executive Directors to the Board. Please
see update on the Chair Succession on page 123 and on page 152

of the Nomination Committee Report.

Senior Independent Director

Kaisa Hietala's duties as the Group's Senior Independent Director
include being available to shareholders if they have concerns which
cannot be resolved through the Chair or Group Chief Executive
Officer or where contact with either of them s inappropriate.
Sheis available to serve as anintermediary for other Directors where
necessary. The Senior Independent Director also conducts an
evaluation of corporate governance compliance, the operation and
performance of the Board, the Directors, its Committees and the
Chair's performance in conjunction with the other Non-executive
Directors on an annual basis exceptin the year when an externally
facilitated evaluation takes place.
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Financial Statements

Supplementary Information

Audit Committee

The Committeeisresponsible for:

— Providing oversight and
assurance to the Board
regarding:

— Theintegrity of the
published financial
statementsandthe
significant financial
reportingjudgements;

— Internal financial controls
and risk management and
internal control systems;

— The Internal Audit function;

— The External Audit
arrangements; and

— Whether the Annual
Report taken as awhole
is fair, balanced and
understandable and
provides the information
necessary for shareholders
toassessthe Group's
position and performance,
business modeland
strategy.

Remuneration Committee

The Committeeisresponsible for:

— Determining the remuneration
framework or broad policy for
the Company'’s Chair, Chief
Executive Officer, Executive
Directors and Group Secretary
and other senior executives;

— Continually reviewing the
ongoing appropriateness,
competitiveness and
relevance of the
Remuneration Policy;

— Approving the design
and determining targets
for any performance related
pay schemes;

— Determining the policy
forand scope of pension
arrangements for Executive
Directors and other senior
executives;

— Reviewing the workforce
remuneration trends and
related policies across the
Group and the alignment
of incentives and reward
with the Company'’s culture;

— Overseeing any major changes
inemployee benefits
throughout the Group; and

— Ensuring effective

engagement with relevant

stakeholdersinrelation to
remuneration andrelated
policies and practices.

Group Chief Executive Officer

Nomination Committee

The Committeeisresponsible for:

— Leading the process for
appointments to the Board
and making recommendations
to the Board;

— Evaluating the balance of skills,
knowledge, experience and
diversity, including
geographical, gender, age and
ethnic diversity, on the Board
and its Committees to ensure
they operate effectively;

— Setting measurable objectives
and targets for diversity and
inclusion for the Board and
senior Board positions
(having consideration of the
requirements under the UK
Listing Rules);

— Preparing descriptions
of therole and requirements
for new appointees; and

— Give full consideration to
succession planning for
Directors and senior
managers.

Sustainability Committee

The Committeeisresponsible for:

— Providing strategic guidance
and support to management
intheimplementation of
the Smurfit Kappa
Sustainability Strategy;

— Reviewing and approving
the annual Sustainable
Development Reportand
the Sustainability section
of the Annual Report;

— Reviewing the Task Force
on Climate-related Financial
Disclosures compliance and
reporting of climate related
financial information;

— Reviewing the climate risks
and opportunities of the
Group including consideration
of emerging trends and
mitigating actions; and

— Engagement with the
workforce on behalf of the
Board as required by the Code.

Tony Smurfit as the Group Chief Executive Officer has overall responsibility for the day-to-day oversight of the Group's business and the
implementation of the Group strategy and policies as approved by the Board. He is also responsible for ensuring that the Group's purpose,

values and culture are instilled throughout the Group.
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Communication with Shareholders

The Board places a high level priority on effective communications with
shareholders and recognises the benefits of shareholder engagement in
order to foster mutual understanding of the Company’s strategy and the
views of major investors. On a day-to-day basis, contact with institutional
shareholders is the responsibility of the Group Chief Executive Officer,
the Group Chief Financial Officer and the Head of Investor Relations.

Thereisregular dialogue with individual shareholders and the
investment community. During the year, there was ongoing engagement
with shareholders, various in-person and virtual investor conferences
and roadshows, and numerous conference calls and presentations. This
engagement takes place as and when itis necessary, as well as at the time
of the release of the Annual Report, preliminary and interim reports, and
trading statements. The Chair, the Senior Independent Director and any
other member of the Board are available to meet or virtually engage with
investors as required.

The Board reports provided in advance of Board meetings include a
comprehensive report summarising investor relations activity during the
preceding period, including contacts between executive management and
current and prospective institutional shareholders.

The Group issues its Annual Report, preliminary and interim reports, and
trading statements promptly to shareholders and also publishes them on
the Group’s website: smurfitkappa.com. The Group operates an investor
relations section on the website, which in addition to the above reports
and statements contains investor presentations and all press releases
immediately after their release to the relevant Stock Exchanges.

The Group’s Annual General Meeting (AGM’) affords each shareholder the
opportunity to engage with and question the Chair of the Board, the Chairs
of all Committees and all other Board members. The 2023 AGM was an
in-person physical AGM. Shareholders were encouraged to submit a Form
of Proxy appointing a proxy to attend, speak, ask questions and vote at the
AGM on their behalfto ensure their votes could be represented at the AGM,
ifthey were not attending the AGM in person. Shareholders were also
invited to email any questions relating to the items on the agenda in
advance of the meeting. All resolutions proposed at the 2023 AGM were
duly passed by way of a poll. The Notice of the AGM and related papers
together with the Annual Report are sent to shareholders atleast 20
working days before the meeting. In addition, the Group responds
throughout the year to numerous queries from shareholders on a broad
range of issues.

Shareholder Meetings and Shareholder Rights

Shareholders’ meetings are governed by the Articles of Association of the
Company (the ‘Articles of Association’) and the Irish Companies Act 2014
(asamended) (the ‘Companies Act’).

The Company is required to hold an AGM each year in addition to any
other shareholder meeting in that year, and must specify whether the
meeting isan AGM or an Extraordinary General Meeting (EGM’) in the
notice calling such meeting. An EGM may be convened in accordance with
the Companies Act, including by Directors. Notice of a general meeting
must be provided in the manner required by the Companies Act.

Atits general meetings, the Company proposes a separate resolution
on each substantially separate issue and does not bundle resolutions
together inappropriately. Resolutions on consideration of the Annual
Report, the Directors’ Remuneration Report and the Remuneration
Policy (on adoption or renewal) are put to shareholders at the AGM.

The Chair of the Board or, in his absence, another Director nominated by
the Directors, will preside as Chair of a general meeting. Ordinary shares
carry voting rights. Two members entitled to vote at the meeting present
either in person or by proxy constitute a quorum. Votes may be cast either
personally or by proxy. Under the Articles of Association, voting can take
place either by a show of hands, where each shareholder has one vote, or
by way of a poll, where each shareholder has one vote for each ordinary
share held.
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The Companies Act provides for a number of key powers of general
meetings, including the right to elect or re-elect a Director, the right to give
authority to the Company to disapply pre-emption rights, the right to give
authority to the Company to buy back shares and the right to amend the
Memorandum and Articles of Association.

The Companies Act also provides for a number of shareholder rights in
respect of general meetings and the methods of exercising those rights,
which are set outin the notes to the Notice of the AGM, including the right
a) to table agenda items and resolutions for inclusion on the agenda of an
AGM, b) to table a draft resolution in respect of an item already on the
agenda of the general meeting, c) to ask questions in relation to an item on
the agenda of a general meeting and d) to appoint a proxy electronically.

Sustainability

In order to create long-term value, the Company has built its business

on three pillars of sustainability - Planet, People and Impactful Business.
This means respecting the social environment we are in and ensuring that
the impacts on nature and natural resources do not exceed the needs of
future generations. SKG manages its business in a way which recognises
its key responsibilities in all material aspects of sustainability especially
inthe areas of Environment, Sustainable Forestry, Social Citizenship and
Health and Safety. The Group’s Sustainability priorities are summarised
on pages 62 to 67 and are described in detail in the Sustainable Development
Report for 2023 which will be available on the Group’s website.

The Board Sustainability Committee is responsible for providing strategic
guidance and support to management in the implementation of the
Smurfit Kappa Sustainability Strategy. Please see the Sustainability
Committee Report on pages 154 to 155 for details on the role and activities
of the Sustainability Committee during the year under review.

Composition, Succession and Evaluation,

Membership and Board Size

There are currently 11 Directors on the Board, comprising: a Non-executive
Chair, two Executive Directors and eight Non-executive Directors. Mary
Lynn Ferguson-McHugh was appointed as an independent Non-executive
Director effective 5 January 2023. John Moloney and Gonzalo Restrepo
retired from the Board following the AGM in April 2023.

The Board considers the size of the Board appropriate, thatitis not
solarge as to be unwieldy and that the Directors, having a broad spread
of nationalities, backgrounds and expertise, bring the breadth and depth
of skills, knowledge and experience that are required to effectively lead
the Group.

The Board recognises the value of gender diversity to the Group and has
45% female representation which is in excess of the FCA Listing Rules
requirements and the FTSE Women’s Leaders target of 40% representation
inrelation to gender diversity. The Board also meets the requirements of
the FCA Listing Rules and the recommendation of the Parker Review to
have atleast one Board member from an ethnic minority background.

The Group also complies with the FCA Listing Rules requirement to have
asenior board position held by a woman with Kaisa Hietala holding the
position of Senior Independent Director of the Board.

The following tables set out the information required to be included in
the Annual Report under the UK Listing Rule 9.8.6R(10), as set outin the
Annex 2to UKLR9, as at 31 December 2023. The 31 December reference
date is used to align with the Company’s financial statements. Board and
Executive Management diversity related data are collated directly from
each Director/Executive on a self-identifying basis.



Overview Strategic Report

. Governance Financial Statements Supplementary Information

Board and Executive Management reporting on genderidentity or sex

Number of senior

positionsonthe Number of Percentage of

NumberofBoard Percentageofthe Board(CEO,CFO, executive executive

members Board SID and Chair) management* management*

Men 6 55% 3 8 66.7%

Women 5 45% 1 4 33.3%

Other - - - - -

Not specified/prefer not to say specified/prefer not to say - - - - -
Board and Executive Management reporting on ethnic background

Number of senior

positionsonthe Number of Percentage of

NumberofBoard Percentageofthe Board(CEO,CFO, executive executive

members Board SIDand Chair) management* management*

White (including minority-white groups) 10 91% 4 12 100%

Mixed/Multiple Ethnic Groups - - - - -

Asian/Asian British = = = = =

Black/African/Caribbean/Black British - - - - -

Other ethnic group, including Arab 1 9% - - =

Not specified/prefer not to say

*  Executive management is defined as our Group Executive Committee.

The Board of Directors and their biographical details are set out
onpages112to 115.

The Group has an effective Board which provides the highest standards

of governance to an internationally diverse business with interests
spanning four continents and 36 countries and whose role is to promote
the long-term sustainable success of the Company, generating value

for shareholders and contributing to wider society. Each of the Group’s
Non-executive Directors has broad-based international business expertise
and many have gained significant and relevant industry specific expertise
over anumber of years. The composition of the Board reflects the need, as
outlined by the Code, for an effective Board to maintain a balance of ‘skills,
knowledge and experience’. The experience of each Director is also set out
in their biographies which are detailed on pages 112 to 115. The Board
continues to include an appropriate balance of longer serving and more
recently appointed Directors.

In particular, a central aspect of maintaining Board effectivenessis an
ongoing programme of Board refreshment to ensure robust debate, where
challenge, supportand teamwork are essential features and where the
sharing of diverse perspectives in the boardroom and the generation

of new strategies and business ideas is fostered.

The Board, through the Nomination Committee, reviews the composition
of the Board on an annual basis. This includes a review and refreshment
of Board policies, Board diversity, including gender diversity and the
skills, knowledge and experience of the Directors.

Board Independence

The Code recommends that, apart from the Chair, atleast half of the Board
of Directors of a listed company should comprise Non-executive Directors
determined by the Board to be independent. During the year under
review, the Company complied with the Code recommendation

on composition and independence.

The Board reviewed the current composition of the Board and determined
that Anne Anderson, Carol Fairweather, Mary Lynn Ferguson-McHugh,
Kaisa Hietala, James Lawrence, Lourdes Melgar and Jergen Buhl
Rasmussen are independent. In reaching that conclusion, the Board took
into account the principles relating to independence contained in the Code
and specifically whether any Non-executive Director:

— Isorhasbeenan employee of the Group within the last five years;

— Hasorhashad within the last three years, a material business
relationship with the Group;

— Hasreceived or receives remuneration from the Group apart from
aDirector’s fee, participates in the Group’s share plans, oris a member
of the Group’s pension scheme;

— Hasclose family ties with any of the Group’s advisers, Directors or
senior employees;

— Holds cross-directorships or has significant links with other Directors
through involvement in other companies or bodies;

— Represents a significant shareholder; or

— Hasserved on the Board for more than nine years from the date of their
firstappointment.

The Board is satisfied that the independence of the relevant Directors
isnot compromised by these or any other factors.

While Frits Beurskens was previously an employee of the Group and
receives fees from a Group subsidiary, the Board does not believe these
facts compromise his independence of judgement, his contribution to the
Board or the quality of his oversight. Irial Finan, Chair of the Board, was
independent on appointment. Please see Chair Succession on page 123.

Executive and Non-executive Directors Experience and Skills

Each of the Executive Directors’ has extensive experience of the
paper-based packaging industry. Their knowledge is supported by the
general business skills of the individuals involved and previous relevant
experience. The Non-executive Directors use their broad-based skills,
their diverse range of business and financial experience and their
international backgrounds in reviewing and assessing any opportunities
or challenges facing the Group.
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These characteristics play an important role, enabling the Executive
Directors to develop the Group’s strategy and scrutinise the performance
of managementin meeting the Group’s goals and objectives. Frits Beurskens
has the additional benefit of many years’ exposure to paper-based
packaging companies either as an employee, director or stakeholder
which complements the experience of the Executive Directors and which
isareason for the Board to continue to recommend Frits for re-election

to the Board. The diversity of skills and experience are set outin the
biographies of the Directors on pages 112 to 115 and in the Governance
ataGlance on page 116.

Appointments, Retirement and Re-election to the Board

Any Director co-opted to the Board by the Directors is subject to election
by the shareholders at the first AGM after their appointment and, pursuant
to the Articles of Association, all Directors are subject to re-election at
intervals of no more than three years. However, in accordance with the
Code, the Directors individually retire at each AGM and submit themselves
for re-election.

The procedures governing the appointment and replacement of Directors
are contained in the Articles of Association. Changes to the Articles of
Association must be approved by the shareholders in accordance with
Irish company law.

The standard letter of appointment of Non-executive Directors will be
available for inspection at the AGM and is available on request from the
Group Secretary.

All of the Directors are offering themselves for re-election at the 2024 AGM.

Induction and Development

On appointment, all Non-executive Directors receive comprehensive
briefing documents on the Group, its operations and their dutiesas a
Director. They are also given presentations by the senior management
team, external legal counsel and other advisors. In addition, they are
encouraged to visit sites and meet with the local management. During
2023, the Nomination Committee reviewed and approved an enhanced
induction programme for Non-executive Directors including committee
specificinduction.

For both new and existing Non-executive Directors, the ongoing training
and development programme continued in 2023 with sessions that
included specific business areas, climate scenario analysis, cyber security
and legal and governance. The Directors received their annual update
onthe Regulation (EU) 596/2014 of the European Parliament and of the
Council of 16 April 2014 on market abuse (the ‘Market Abuse Regulation’)
during the year under review.

During 2023, the July Board meeting was held in France which included
avisitto our Facture mill and the October meeting, which was held in
the Dominican Republic, included a visit to our plant in Santo Domingo.
The Board travelled to both of these meetings and fully availed of the
opportunity to visit the Group’s operations in both countries. As part

of their visits the Directors met with management and employees and
experienced first-hand the Group’s operations in these countries.

Directors also receive regular briefings and presentations on a wide range
of the Group’s activities together with all significant analyst and rating
reports. In addition to the opportunities offered by the Group to director
development, all Directors are encouraged to undergo training to ensure
they are kept up to date on relevant legal developments or changesin

best practice.
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External Directorships and Time Commitments

The Board believe that there is benefit from the experience and
perspective Non-executive and Executive Directors can bring to the Group
from other appointments such as directorships of other companies they
may hold. In addition, the Executive Directors are encouraged to accept
asmall number of external appointments as Non-executive directors
onindustry associations.

Intheir roles, Directors are required to devote adequate time to perform
their duties which includes attendance at Board and Committee meetings,
their preparation in advance of meetings, their attendance at training and
development programmes and visits to the Group’s operations. For roles
such asthe Chair of the Board, Chair of a Committee and the Senior
Independent Director, additional time is allocated and required to fulfil
theseroles.

Prior to appointment, potential Non-executive Directors are required to
disclose details of their other significant commitments to ensure that they
have adequate capacity. For existing Directors, approval of the Board is
required prior to accepting any significant additional roles or directorship.
In considering additional roles consideration is given to the factors set out
in the Code, including the additional time commitment.

The Board is satisfied that each Director has demonstrated that they have
sufficient time to meet their Board responsibilities.

External Board Evaluation

In 2022, a Board effectiveness review was conducted by Ffion Hague

of Independent Board Evaluation (IBE’). The process was completed

in accordance with the requirement to have an externally facilitated
evaluation every three years under Provision 21 of the Code. The
evaluation considered the performance of the Board, its Committees,

the individual Directors and the Chair. Following the evaluation, there
were certain actions and areas for consideration that were agreed by the
Board. These included: additional structure to the Board meeting agendas
with the inclusion of predefined, measurable, Board specific objectives;
strategy discussions being further supplemented with more longer-term,
blue-sky discussions; enhancement of the existing comprehensive
induction process to tailor it more specifically to individual non-executive
director background and their specific role on the Board including
committee specific induction; development of a mentor programme for new
appointments to the Board or for new Committee Chairs as appropriate; and
review of the process around Board refreshment and the planning of future
appointments. These actions were considered and developed during 2023.

Internal Board Evaluation

Following the externally facilitated Board evaluation which was
completed in 2022, the Senior Independent Director (‘SID’) coordinated
arigorous annual internal evaluation of the operation and performance
of the Board, the Directors, the Committees and the performance of the
Chair during 2023. This evaluation process involved the completion of
adetailed questionnaire by each Director and separate discussions with
each Director. In addition, the Chair conducted an annual evaluation

of the performance of the Directors. The Committees also undertook an
annual evaluation of their performance and reported back to the Board.
Atleast once ayear the Chair meets with the Non-executive Directors
without the Executive Directors being present. The Board discussed the
results of its evaluation conducted in 2023 in order to identify and address
areas in which the effectiveness of the Board might be improved and the
resulting recommendations will be putin place during 2024.
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Succession Planning and Diversity

The Board has a Board Diversity Policy in place and believes that,
asaglobal business, inclusion, diversity and equality are integral to how
we do business. The Board Diversity Policy recognises and supports the
importance of these values throughout the organisation to building
long-term success. The Board believes that a truly diverse Board includes
varying perspectives and career experience as well as diversity of gender,
ethnicity, nationality and age, all of which are considered in determining
the optimum composition of the Board and, wherever possible, are
balanced appropriately. All Board appointments and succession plans
are based on merit and against objective criteria, in the context of the
appropriate balance of skills, diversity of knowledge and thinking,
professional and geographic backgrounds and experience which the
Board as a whole requires to be effective and to be essential aspects

of diversity for a company with businesses in 36 countries worldwide.

During 2023, the Nomination Committee evaluated the composition

of the Board with respect to the balance of skills, knowledge, experience
and diversity, including geographical, gender and ethnic diversity on the
Board. The Board recognises the need for orderly succession and has a
comprehensive succession plan in place. Mary Lynn Ferguson-McHugh
was appointed to the Board in January 2023, there were no further
appointments to the Board during the year, with the proposed Combination
with WestRock a conditioning factor in the latter months of the year.

Chair Succession

Tenure

Irial Finan joined the Board in February 2012 and was appointed Chair in
May 2019. He was independent at the time of appointment, as recommended
by the Code. He was appointed as Chair designate in October 2018 and
became Chair at the conclusion of the AGM in May 2019.

In 2021, as Irial had then exceeded nine years on the Board,
acomprehensive review of the Chair’s tenure including a shareholder
consultation was conducted. On completion of the review, the Board
concluded that it was in the best interests of the Company and its
stakeholders, including its shareholders, that the tenure of Irial be
extended by a period of up to three years (or up to the 2025 AGM) as it
would provide clarity and certainty for all stakeholders of the Group.

Full details of the review process undertaken and the rationale for the
Board’s recommendation are outlined in the 2021 Annual Reporton

pages 84 and 85, and in the 2022 Annual Report on page 111. At the 2022 AGM
and the 2023 AGM there was strong support from the Company’s shareholders
for the Chair with approximately 93% of votes cast in favour of his
re-election at both meetings.

During 2023, the Chair Succession process remained a priority for the
Senior Independent Director.

Inline with the commitments outlined in the 2022 Annual Report,
anindependent external recruitment firm was appointed following a
formal selection process led by the SID and the Chair of the Nomination
Committee. A comprehensive exercise was also undertaken to prepare
and approve a detailed specification for the role. This process included
external benchmarking, interviews with each individual Board member
and input from the external recruitment firm, the output of which was
approved by the Board.

Aninternal evaluation of the Chair’s performance was conducted by

the SID as part of the overall Board evaluation process during 2023. This
followed the externally facilitated evaluation that was conducted in 2022.
The feedback from the external evaluation of Irial was highly positive
with recognition of the interpersonal dynamics Irial has established in
whatis considered a diverse and engaged Board. The external review also
noted Irial’s strong people, investor and customer focus as well as his
notable understanding of our business. The outcome of the internal
evaluation in 2023 reinforced this highly positive feedback of the Chair.

On 12 September 2023, Smurfit Kappa and WestRock announced the
signing of a definitive transaction agreement to create Smurfit WestRock,
agloballeader in sustainable packaging. The announcement noted that
Smurfit WestRock will bring together the best of both companies’
management teams to create a world class leadership team and
announced that Irial Finan will be Chair of the Board of Directors

of Smurfit WestRock.

Inlight of the developments relating to the proposed Combination,

the SID gave due consideration to the continuation of the Chair Succession
process and proposed that the process be postponed. The Board
concluded that stability, effective leadership and the continuity of the
Chair position during this time of significant change for the Company
was critical. As aresult the Board decided that itis in the best interests

of all stakeholders that the Chair Succession process be postponed
(subject to shareholder approval of the proposed Combination in 2024).

In conclusion, the Board believes that while the decision has been taken
to postpone the process, it remains in the best interests of all stakeholders
thatIrial continue as Chair during this time of significant change for the
Company. The Board is therefore recommending to shareholders the
re-election of Irial Finan at the forthcoming AGM in April 2024.

Audit Risk and Internal Control

Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board has overall responsibility for the Group’s system of risk
management and internal control and for monitoring and reviewing its
effectiveness, in order to safeguard shareholders’ investments and the
Group’s assets. Details in relation to Risk Management and Internal
Control are included in the Risk Report on pages 34 to 39.

The Directors confirm there is an ongoing process for identifying,
evaluating and managing the emerging and principal risks faced

by the Group which is in accordance with the FRC’s Guidance on Risk
Management, Internal Control and Related Financial and Business
Reporting. This process has been in place throughout the accounting period
and up to the date of approval of the Annual Report and Consolidated
Financial Statements and is subject to regular review by the Board.

The Directors confirm that they have carried out a robust assessment

of the emerging and principal risks facing the Group’s business model,
future performance, solvency and liquidity. The Directors also confirm
they have conducted an annual review of the effectiveness of the Group’s
risk management and system of internal control up to and including the
date of approval of the Annual Report and Consolidated Financial
Statements. This review had regard to the emerging and principal risks
that could affect the Group’s business (as outlined on pages 36 to 39), the
methods of managing those risks, the controls that are in place to contain
them and the procedures to monitor them.
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Financial Reporting

As partofits overall system of internal control, the Group hasin place
control and risk management systems to govern the Group’s financial
reporting process and the process for the preparation of the Group’s
Consolidated Financial Statements. The requirements for producing
financial information are governed by the Group’s Financial Reporting
Guide and Financial Monitoring Policy which gives guidance on the
maintenance of records that accurately and fairly reflect transactions,
provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded correctly
to permit the preparation of Consolidated Financial Statements in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and that
require reported data to be reviewed and reconciled. These systems
include the following financial reporting controls: access controls,
reconciliations, verification controls, asset security controls and
segregation of duties. Segment management and the Group’s executive

management team review the results of the operations on a monthly basis.

The Group’s executive management team receive detailed monthly
reports from all operations and meet with segment managementatleast
on a quarterly basis to review the year-to-date results against budget and
rolling forecasts enabling them to monitor and challenge any variance
against the expected financial outcome for the period. Internal Audit
review financial controls in different locations on a test basis each year
and report quarterly to the Audit Committee. Each operation through to
segment level is required to self-assess on the effectiveness of its financial
control environment. This includes the completion of an Internal Control
Questionnaire which is reviewed by the Group Financial Controller and
audited on a test basis by Internal Audit. Senior management
representations with respect to the Group Consolidated Financial
Statements showing a true and fair view are also required and supplied
atyear-end.

Code of Conduct

The Smurfit Kappa Code of Conduct includes principles of best practice
which apply to the Group’s Board, officers and employees worldwide.
We also require individuals, entities, agents or anyone acting on the
Group’s behalf to comply with the Code of Conduct. The Code of Conduct
incorporates the Speak Up Policy and is available on the Group’s website:
smurfitkappa.com and is translated into 21 languages. During 2023,
completion of the Group’s Code of Conduct incorporating the Speak Up
Policy e-learning programme was mandatory for new entrants and
remained accessible for all colleagues at country/site level.

Securities Dealing Code and Share Ownership

The Group has a policy on dealing in Company securities that applies
to restricted persons comprising all Directors, senior management
and certain other employees. Under this policy, restricted persons are
required to obtain clearance from prescribed persons before dealing.
Restricted persons are prohibited from dealing in Company securities
during designated closed periods and at any other time when the
individualis in possession of Inside Information (as defined by

the Market Abuse Regulation).

Details of Directors’ shareholdings are set out on pages 147 to 150.
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Directors’ Report

The Change of Control, Capital Structure and Purchase of Own Shares
information are set out on page 157 of the Directors’ Report and form part
of this Corporate Governance Statement.

Please see the Audit Committee Report on pages 125 to 128 for details on the
role and activities of the Audit Committee during the year under review.

Remuneration
Details of remuneration paid to Directors, (Executive and Non-executive)
are set outin the Remuneration Report on pages 129 to 150.

Asdisclosed in previous years the Remuneration Committee committed
to aligning the Executive Directors’ pension contribution rate to the wider
workforce rate by means of a phased reduction. Effective 1 January 2023,
the Group CEO and Group CFO’s non-pensionable cash allowance reduced
to 10% of salary, which is aligned to the workforce rate.

Non-executive Directors are paid fees for their services and none of their
remuneration is performance related. They are not eligible to participate
in the Group’s annual bonus scheme or long-term incentive plan (LTIP’).

Non-executive Directors’ fees are not pensionable.

The Remuneration Report will be presented to shareholders for the
purposes of a non-binding advisory vote at the AGM on 26 April 2024.

In addition, the Remuneration Policy that was approved by shareholders
in 2021, will be rolled over with only minor wording changes to aid clarity
and will be presented to shareholders as a non-binding advisory resolution.
Please see the Remuneration Committee Report on pages 129 to 150 for
details on the role and activities of the Remuneration Committee during
the year under review.
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Audit Committee Report

o

Dear Shareholders, |lam
pleased to present the Audit
Committee Report for the
2023 financial year.

Carol Fairweather
Chair of Audit Committee

5March 2024

Committee Members Attendance Record A* B* Appointment Date
C. Fairweather (Chair) C. Fairweather (Chair) 7 7 2018
ML. Ferguson-McHugh ML. Ferguson-McHugh 7 7 2023
J.Lawrence K.Hietala** 2 2 2021
L. Melgar

J.Lawrence 7 7 2015
The Role of the Audit Committee L.Melgar 7 7 2020
The Committee is responsible for providing oversight and assurance J.Moloney** 2 2 2014

to the Board regarding:

— Theintegrity of the published financial statements and the
significant financial reporting judgements;

— Internal financial controls, risk management and internal
control systems;

— The Internal Audit function;

— The External Audit arrangements; and

— Whether the Annual Report taken as a whole, is fair, balanced
and understandable and provides the information necessary
for shareholders to assess the Group's position and performance,
business model and strategy.

Therole and responsibilities of the Committee are set out inits
Terms of Reference which are available on the Group's website:
smurfitkappa.com. The Terms of Reference were reviewed and
updatedin November 2023.

* ColumnAindicatesthe number of meetings held during the period the Director was
amember ofthe Committee and was eligible toattend and ColumnBindicates the
number of meetings attended.

** KaisaHietalaand John Moloney retired from the Committee followingthe AGM
inApril2023.

Membership of the Committee
The Committee is currently comprised of four independent
Non-executive Directors.

Mary Lynn Ferguson-McHugh joined the Committee in January 2023.
Kaisa Hietala and John Moloney retired from the Committee following

the AGMin April 2023.

Each Committee member has considerable commercial experience
and Jim Lawrence and | bring recent and relevant financial experience.

The biographical details of each member are set out on pages 112 to 115.
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Audit Committee Report continued

This report details how the Committee has discharged its responsibilities
together with the other areas we have focused on during the year, as well
as the Committee's priorities for the year ahead.

Meetings

The Committee met seven times during the year under review. Details of
the Committee members and meetings attended are provided in the table
onthe previous page.

The Group Chief Financial Officer, the Group Head of Internal Audit and
Risk, the Group VP Human Resources and senior members of the Group
finance team normally attend meetings of the Committee. The Group

Chief Executive Officer periodically attends meetings of the Committee.

The External Auditor also attends all meetings and together with the
Group Head of Internal Audit and Risk has direct access to the Committee
Chair atall times.

In advance of every meeting, the Committee Chair meets individually

with the Group Chief Financial Officer, the Group Secretary, the Group
finance team, the Group Head of Internal Audit and Risk, the External

Auditor and the Group VP Human Resources.

Committee papers and minutes are available to all members of the Board.

Areas of Focusin 2023

The key focus of the Committee during the year continued to be the

review and monitoring of the integrity of the financial statements and

the significant reporting judgements; reviewing internal controls and risk
management systems; the Internal and External Audit arrangements;
ensuring the process followed to support the Viability Statement and going
concern recommendations to the Board remained robust; and advising
the Board on whether the Annual Report taken as a whole is fair, balanced
and understandable. More details on the work carried outin these areas
are set out on the following pages.

In addition, we spent time on the following:

— Reviewing the continued evolution of the Group Risk Framework
(including risk appetite and associated KPIs) see pages 34 to 39;

— Considering a presentation by external experts on the political
landscape of the countries where SKG operate in Latin America;

— Reviewing the progress on evolving the mandate of Internal Audit;

— Considering the quarterly reports on cyber security and the continued
investments in this area to respond to current trends and increasing
cyber security threats;

— Reviewing the results of an external cyber security maturity assessment;

— Receiving an annual tax update covering tax strategy and
developments in the external tax landscape and compliance;

— Receiving an update on the Group’s insurance cover in relation to
property, business interruption, climate and cyber security and the
continued capital investment in risk protection;

— Receiving an update from the Group’s Legal Counsel on Competition
Law Compliance, Sanctions, Screening and Data Protection
compliance;

— Receiving regular updates on cases raised via the Speak Up process
from the Group VP Human Resources;

— Considering the IAASA Quality Assurance Review Reporton the
External Auditors;

— Working closely with KPMG to ensure a smooth transition of the lead
audit partner;
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— Continuing to follow developments on audit reform and evolving
best practice and considering any other new regulations, guidance
or recommendations;

— Considering work of the Sustainability Committee on emerging
sustainability reporting requirements including CSRD and ESRS’s;
Corporate Sustainability Due Diligence Directive and International
Sustainability Standard Board developments;

— Reviewingthe proposed disclosures in the Annual Report against
the recommendation of the Task Force on Climate-Related Financial
Disclosures (‘TCFD’) and EU Taxonomy, see pages 78to 95 and
pages 69to 77; and

— Considering the reporting implications of the proposed Combination
with WestRock including SEC compliance requirements including
US GAAP and SOX reporting.

Committee Evaluation

Aninternal evaluation of the Committee was undertaken in 2023.
The conclusion from that process was that the performance of
the Committee and the Chair of the Committee were satisfactory.

Priorities for the Year Ahead

This year, we will focus on:

— Continuing to follow developments on audit reform and evolving
best practice, including sustainability reporting, and considering
any other new regulations, guidance or recommendations; and

— Thereporting and internal control framework implications of the
proposed Combination with WestRock including any future SEC
compliance requirements including US GAAP and SOX reporting.

Carol Fairweather
Chair of Audit Committee
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Financial Reporting and Significant Matters Related

to the Consolidated Financial Statements

The Group’s Consolidated Financial Statements are prepared by the
Group finance team who have the appropriate level of qualifications and
expertise. The Committee reviewed all published financial and narrative
statements of the Group, including the annual and interim reports,
preliminary results announcement and trading statements released
during the year and reported its views to the Board to assistin the Board’s
approval of the results announcements.

The Committee assessed whether suitable accounting policies had been
adopted and whether management has made appropriate estimates and
judgements. The Committee considered management’s position in
relation to the main significant matters and financial reporting
judgements, as detailed below.

The Committee also reviewed reports by the External Auditor on the
hard-close and year-end audit procedures which highlighted any matters
identified from the work undertaken on the external audit.

Fair, Balanced and Understandable

The Code requires that a fair, balanced and understandable assessment of
the Company’s position and prospects be presented by the Board and that
it considers that the Annual Reportand Financial Statements, taken asa
whole, is fair, balanced and understandable and provides the information
necessary for shareholders to assess the Group’s position and
performance, business model and strategy.

The Committee, on behalf of the Board, considered and discussed with
management the key processes that they have in place for the preparation
of the Annual Reportincluding their comprehensive review procedures.
This allowed the Committee to confirm to the Board that the Annual
Report, taken as a whole, is fair, balanced and understandable and that it
provides the necessary information for shareholders to assess the Group’s
position and performance, business model and strategy. In addition, the
Committee noted the formal processes performed by KPMG in relation

to the Annual Report.

Viability Statement and Going Concern

The Committee is responsible for ensuring that the process in place to allow
the Board to provide the Viability Statement is robust. The Committee
reviewed the process thathad been followed and the stress testing scenarios
thathad been applied based on the Group’s principal risks. The Committee
confirmed to the Board that it was comfortable with the process that had
been followed to provide the Viability Statement on page 34.

The Committee reviewed and was comfortable with the recommendation
setting out the support for adopting the going concern basis in preparing
the Financial Statements. The Board’s statement on going concern is set
outon page 34.

Internal Audit
The Group operates an internally resourced Internal Audit function which
reports directly to the Committee.

The Internal Audit Plan for 2023, which was approved by the Committee
in 2022 included financial and IT audits, a review of the governance on two
business transformation projects, and preliminary reviews of controls
over the collation and reporting of ESG data.

The Committee received and reviewed the quarterly reports from

the Head of Internal Audit and Risk summarising audit findings, agreed
actions and recommendations and reviewed progress on addressing those
actions and recommendations.

In compliance with the Chartered Institute of Internal Auditors (1IA)
requirements, an independent review of the Internal Audit function

must be conducted at least once every five years by a qualified assessor.
The lastindependent review of Group Internal Audit took place in 2020 and
was performed by EY. The assessment concluded that the Internal Audit
function was performing well in accordance with its mandate at that time
but that there were opportunities to develop the mandate of Internal Audit
which have now been progressed.

The Committee reviewed the effectiveness of the Group’s Internal Audit
function and was satisfied it was operating effectively within the current
remitand is appropriate for the business. The Committee met privately
with the Head of Internal Audit and Risk during the year with no
significant matters of concern raised.

Significant Matters Related to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Significant Matter

Action Taken/Conclusions

Assessment of the Carrying

Value of Goodwill

The Group has goodwill of €2,475 million at
31December 2023. The Group performs an
impairmentreview atleast annuallyandatany
time animpairmentis considered to exist.

Through discussions with management and KPMG:

— The Committee considered management'’s assessment of the carrying value of goodwill relating
to groups of cash-generating units (‘CGUs'). The Committee considered the methodology applied
and the key assumptions (including future profitability and terminal value and discount rates)
usedinthe assessment; and

— The Committee considered a number of different scenarios to test the sensitivity of the model

to changesinits key drivers and to understand the level of headroom available ata CGU level.

The Committee was satisfied that the judgements made by management were reasonable and that
noimpairment to goodwill was required, and the disclosuresin Note 13 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements are appropriate.

Valuation of Defined

Benefit Obligations

The Group has net defined benefit liabilities
totalling€511 millionat 31 December 2023.

The Committee considered the key assumptions management used in determining the defined benefit
liabilities (whichincluded a full actuarial valuation of the unfunded liabilities undertaken by independent
experts) and was satisfied that they were reasonable, appropriate and consistent with market practice.

Exceptional ltems
The Group has recognised exceptional
chargestotalling€165 millionin 2023.

The Committee considered management's proposed treatment of each of the items included within
exceptional charges which totalled €165 million, of which €81 million related to costs associated with the
proposed Combination, €34 millionrelated to the disposal of our Russian operations, €20 million for the
devaluation of the Argentinian Peso, €11 million for redundancy and reorganisation costs in the Americas,
alongwith €14 million closure costs and €5 millionimpairment of property, plant and equipment for one
of our Frenchmills.

The Committee was satisfied that the nature and size of the items included within the exceptional charge
were consistent with the Group's accounting policy and were appropriately disclosed.
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Audit Committee Report continued

Whistleblowing
The Committee is responsible for ensuring that the Group maintains
suitable whistleblowing arrangements.

The Group has a Code of Conduct in place which incorporates the Speak
Up Policy (Whistleblower Code). There is a Speak Up service which allows
employees to raise concerns across all key communication channels
which is available in 21 different languages and provides confidentiality
and/or anonymity and assurance of non-retaliation (see page 107 for
further details).

The Committee received regular updates on cases raised via the Speak Up
process from the Group VP Human Resources. No material cases were
reported to the Committee during 2023.

Risk Management and Internal Control
The Group’s internal control and risk management systems are embedded
within the organisation structure.

The Committee is responsible for reviewing the adequacy and effectiveness

of the internal control and risk management systems on behalf of the Board.

The Group Risk Framework continued to mature during the year. The risk
appetite statements and associated KPIs were reported to the Committee
and the Board. The Committee was also updated on the trends in relation
to the interconnectivity of risks.

The Committee has reviewed the adequacy and effectiveness of the

Group’sinternal control systems regularly through various activities

including reviewing:

— The effectiveness of its risk management processes including
the consideration of emerging risks;

— Challenging management’s self-assessment of the internal
control framework;

— The work undertaken by internal and external auditors
inrelation to internal controls; and

— Theregular reporting on any control, fraud related
or whistleblowing issues.

Having completed its review of the effectiveness of the Group’s system of
internal controlsincluding risk management, the Committee confirms that it

hasnotbeen advised of, or identified, any significant failings or weaknesses.

For further details on the Group’s Risk Management and Internal Control,
please see the Risk Report on pages 34 to 39.

External Auditor

The Committee is responsible for overseeing the relationship with,

and the performance of, the External Auditor. This includes making
arecommendation on the appointment, reappointment and removal

of the External Auditor, assessing their independence and effectiveness,
involvement in fee negotiations and assessing their performance.
KPMG has been the Group’s external auditor since 2018, following
aformal tender process.

Asnotedinlastyear’s Audit Committee Report, the External Auditor is
required to rotate the audit partner responsible for the Group audit every
five years. Barrie O’Connell replaced Roger Gillespie and was the lead
partner for the 31 December 2023 audit. The Committee closely monitored
the progress on the transition of the audit partner and is satisfied that the
transition has been effective.

Prior to the commencement of the 2023 year-end audit, the Committee
reviewed, challenged and approved the External Auditor’s strategy and
planand agreed the scope of the audit, the key risks, the proposed audit
fee and the terms of engagement.
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During the year, the Committee considered the effectiveness and
independence of the External Auditor and confirmed its satisfaction on
both. This review involved discussions with both Group management and
Internal Audit; feedback provided by divisional management; consideration
of the robustness of the audit process and the level of scepticism and
challenge by the External Auditor particularly in relation to key judgements;
review of the ratio of audit to non-audit fees; and the most recent publicly
available results of IAASA’s quality assurance review of KPMG. Following
these considerations, the Committee has recommended to the Board that
KPMG be proposed for reappointment at the forthcoming AGM.

KPMG attended all of the Audit Committee meetings during the year and
had a number of private meetings with the Committee during the year
where no significant matters of concern were raised.

External Auditor Non-audit Services

The Committee recognises that the independence of the External Auditor
isan essential part of the audit framework and the assurance thatit
provides. The Committee has adopted a policy which sets out the types of
permitted and non-permitted non-audit services and those which require
explicit prior approval.

Non-audit services provided by the External Auditor must be considered
by the Committee to be necessary in the interests of the business and by
their nature, these services could not easily be provided by another
professional auditing firm.

The provision of tax advisory services and due diligence/transaction
services may be permitted with the Committee’s prior approval. The
provision of internal audit services, valuation work and any other activity
that may give rise to any possibility of self-review are not permitted under
any circumstance.

All contracts for non-audit services in excess of €50,000 must be notified
to and pre-approved by the Chair of the Committee.

Asaresult of the proposed Combination, KPMG were engaged to provide
additional services relating to regulatory reporting and extended
assurance work. All appropriate approvals were obtained and KPMG
received a derogation from IAASA in relation to the statutory fee cap

for 2023 and 2024 given the exceptional circumstances. The Committee
considered this in the context of the assessment of effectiveness and
independence of KPMG.

Details of the amounts paid to the External Auditor during the year
for audit and other services are set out in Note 5 on page 185. Fees paid
to KPMG for non-audit work in 2023 amounted to €7 million and total
62% of the fees paid for the statutory audit (2022: 5%).

During the year, there were no circumstances where KPMG was engaged
to provide services which might have led to a conflict of interests or
compromised their independence.
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Remuneration Report

o

Dear Shareholders, | present
the Remuneration Report
for the financial year ended
31 December 2023.

Jorgen BuhlRasmussen
Chair of Remuneration Committee

5March 2024

Committee Members Attendance Record A* B* Appointment Date

J. Buhl Rasmussen (Chair) J.BuhlRasmussen

C. Fairweather (Chairfrom 2023 AGM) 7 7 2017

ML.Ferguson-McHugh C.Fairweather 7 7 2018
ML. Ferguson-McHugh** 7 7 2023

The Role ofthe Remuneration Committee

— Determine the remuneration framework or broad policy for J.Moloney (Chairupto
. . . K . . 2023 AGM)*** ¥ 15 2015
the Company's Chair, Chief Executive Officer, Executive Directors,
Group Secretary and other senior executives; G.Restrepo*** 3 3 2015

— Continually review the ongoing appropriateness, competitiveness
and relevance of the Remuneration Policy;

* ColumnAindicatesthe number of meetings held during the period the Director was

amember ofthe Committee and was eligible to attend and Column Bindicates the

— Approve the design and determine targets for any performance number of meetingsattended.
related pay schemes; ** Mary Lynn Ferguson-McHughwas appointed to the Committee in January 2023.
— Determine the policy for and scope of pension arrangements *** John Moloney and Gonzalo Restreporetired from the Committee followingthe AGM

. - . . in April 2023.
for Executive Directors and other senior executives; ?

— Review the workforce remuneration trends and related policies
across the Group and the alignment of incentives and reward
with the Company'’s culture;

— Oversee any major changes in employee benefits throughout
the Group; and

— Ensure effective engagement with relevant stakeholders in relation
toremuneration and related policies and practices.

Therole andresponsibilities of the Committee are set outinits
Terms of Reference which are available on the Group's website:
smurfitkappa.com. The Terms of Reference were reviewed and
updatedin November 2023.

Annual Report 2023 Smurfit Kappa 129



@ Governance

Remuneration Report continued

Tam pleased to report that the Group has delivered an excellent
performance over the pastyear againsta challenging macroeconomic
backdrop. Our results in 2023 reflect the excellence of our people and their
dedication in providing the most innovative and sustainable packaging
solutions for our customers.

This Remuneration Report and Remuneration Policy have been prepared
onthe basis of Smurfit Kappa as a standalone entity.

Remunerationin Context

Over the course of 2023, the Remuneration Committee monitored the

rise ininflation and the cost of living in many of the countries in which
the Group operates. In terms of the salary reviews of the wider workforce,
the level of inflation in each of the countries varies, and on an overall basis
the increases of the wider workforce were on average 4%. The Committee
will continue to monitor the economic backdrop and take further steps
thatare deemed appropriate to ensure that our workforce is adequately
supported. In addition to financial benefits, our ‘wellbeing for life’
programme continued during the year. This programme is part of

our EAP (Employee Assistance Programme) and includes support for
employees on their financial wellbeing in addition to overall physical
health and mental wellbeing.

Executive Director Salaries

The review of the salaries for the executive Directors at the year-end
considered the performance of the Group and the Directors, increases
of the wider workforce and the macroeconomic environment. Following
consideration, the Committee approved an increase of 4% for both the
Group CEO and Group CFO from 1 January 2024 which is in line with the
average increase for the wider workforce.

In addition, the Board approved an increase in the fees of the
Non-executive Directors and the Chair by 4% in line with the increase
for the Executive Directors and with the average increase for the
wider workforce.

Executive Director Pensions

Inline with the requirements of the UK Corporate Governance Code
and reflecting external sentiment on executive Director pensions,

the Committee agreed with the executive Directors in 2020 that their
pension contributions would be reduced on a phased basisto be in line
with the workforce by the end of 2022 (i.e. effective 1 January 2023).
The final reduction in their pension rates to 10% of salary was effective
from 1 January 2023 and brought the contribution rate in line with

the workforce.
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2023 Performance and Incentive Out-turns

Smurfit Kappa reported strong results for 2023, with adjusted EBIT
0f€1,404 million and a free cash flow of €628 million. In this context,

the Committee reviewed performance against the metrics and the
operational and strategic objectives under the annual bonus plan for 2023
and approved a bonus of 90.7% of maximum for the Group CEO and Group
CFO, with 50% of the annual bonus being deferred into shares for three
years, in line with the Policy.

The Committee reviewed the outcome of the Performance Share Plan
(‘PSP’) for the performance period 2021-2023, which resulted in an
adjusted cumulative three-year earnings per share (‘EPS’) of 1,078 cent;
an adjusted three-year average return on capital employed (‘ROCE’)

0f 19.4%; and a total shareholder return (‘TSR’) performance which was
below median versus the global paper and packaging peersin the TSR
benchmark. In addition, the results for the ESG metrics were 43.00%
for adjusted CO, emission reduction, 36.93% for adjusted water
discharge reduction and 36.10% for adjusted waste reduction.

Overall, the 2021 PSP award outcome was 64.44% of maximum.

In determining the outcomes of the 2023 annual bonus and the

2021 PSP cycle, including consideration of potential for windfall gains,
the Committee was satisfied that the outcomes reflected the underlying
performance of the Company and the experience of stakeholders, and
therefore deemed it unnecessary to apply any discretionary overrides
or adjustments.

Further details on performance against the targets are set out
on pages 142 144.

2024 Performance and Incentive Plans

There are no changes proposed to the operation of the annual bonus and
PSP for 2024. The award levels and performance measures are consistent
with those applied in 2023. Each year, the Committee reviews targets for
the annual bonus and PSP to ensure that they continue to supportthe
strategy and incentivise executives to deliver clearly defined and stretching
goals. Performance targets for the 2024 award cycles have taken into
account the Group’s annual budgeting, medium-term strategic planning
and Viability Statement processes, which consider a number of factors
including external economic factors such as the OECD expectations

on GDP growth.

In line with previous years, targets for the annual bonus will be
published in full on a retrospective basis in next year’s Annual Report.
Targets for the 2024 PSP award are set out on page 133. The Committee
believes the proposed targets for the period are suitably stretching to
reward out-performance whilst also incentivising the management team.
The EPS targets are set on a cumulative basis and ROCE targets are set

on athree-year average basis. In addition, the ESG metrics (CO, emission
reduction, waste reduction and water discharge reduction) which
cumulatively constitute 15% of the targets for this award, are central
inreinforcing the Company’s focus on sustainability.
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As ever, the Committee will use its judgement to review the formulaic
outcomes across all the metrics, to ensure that vesting levels accurately
reflect the underlying performance of the business and the experience

of wider stakeholders. Any adjustment to the formulaic outcome will be
communicated to investors at the end of the relevant performance period.

Employee Engagement

The Remuneration Committee continues to support the Group’s goal of
creating greater social, economic and environmental value, with metrics
linked to these aims included in the incentive plans. As the Remuneration
Committee is responsible for overseeing pay arrangements for all
employees, the Committee recognises the need to engage with the wider
workforce as part of its efforts to align with the Group’s sustainability
strategy and make the right decisions on pay. We have already made good
progressin this area, voluntarily adopting a number of the requirements
of UK remuneration reporting regulations and in 2022 and 2023 reporting
on Gender Pay Gap for Ireland (as detailed further on page 104), in
recognition of the importance of transparency around matters of pay.

In 2023, the Sustainability Committee once again undertook a programme
of employee engagement in 2023 with employees from across Europe and
the Americas in a number of sessions promoting two-way dialogue, read
more on page 155. As market practice evolves, the Committee will
continue to explore new ways of bringing the voice of the workforce into
the boardroom, affirming our mission of being a sustainable company
thatbuilds excellent relationships with employees and other stakeholders.

Committee Evaluation

Aninternal evaluation of the Committee was undertaken in 2023.
The conclusion from that process was that the performance of the
Committee and of the Chair of the Committee were satisfactory.

Remuneration Policy Review

Asindicated in lastyear’s report, during 2023 the Committee undertook a
review of the Remuneration Policy which was last approved by shareholders
atthe 2021 AGM, with the intention that approval would be sought at the
2024 AGM for a new Policy. However, following announcement of the
proposed Combination with WestRock in September 2023, and the
expected timing of completing the Combination being early July 2024,

the Committee has concluded that the 2021 Policy will be rolled over

atthe 2024 AGM with only minor wording changes to aid clarity.

Conclusion

On behalf of the Committee, I thank you for your continued supportand I
hope that you will feel able to support the remuneration related resolutions
atthe upcoming AGM. As ever, I welcome any comments you have.

Jorgen Buhl Rasmussen
Chair of Remuneration Committee
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Remuneration Report continued

Remuneration at aglance

Our 2023 Performance

Adjusted* EBIT Adjusted** Return on Capital Employed (three-year average)
(€m) )

5

2023

2022

Free Cash Flow Adjusted** Pre-exceptional Basic EPS (cumulative over three years)
(€m) (cent)

2023 2023 1,078

2022 545 2022 1,014
*  TheEBITachievementusedinthe calculation of the 2023 Annual Bonus outcome ** The EPSandROCE achievementusedinthe calculation of the 2021 PSP award
was adjusted fortheimpact ofacquisitions. The purpose of the adjusted measures outcome were adjusted foritems suchas acquisitions and disposals and the impact
isto ensure the same basisis used when assessing the performance outcomes, ofthe 2022 share buyback. The purpose of the adjusted measuresis to ensure the same
toensure comparability. basisis used whenassessing the performance outcomes, to ensure comparability.

Theseadjustments did notimpact onthe vesting outcome ofthe 2021 PSP award.

Impact on Director Pay

Annual Bonus Outcomes Performance Share Plan Outcomes

©® ROCE (28%) 28.00%
Adjusted EBIT (35%) @ EPS(28%) 28.00%
Health, Safety & Wellbeing (10%) ® ESG(15%) 8.44%
O TSR(29%) 0%
People &ESG (10%) 64.44-
Personal/Strategic Goals (10%)
Thefiguresinbracketsrepresent the performance metricweighting. Thefiguresinbracketsrepresentthe performance metricweighting.
The bonus out-turn for the Group CEO and Group CFO was 136% The outcome of the 2021 PSP award was 64.44% of the maximum
of salary. 50% of the bonuses were paid in cash and 50% are deferred as aresult of the achievement of the relevant performance targets
under the Deferred Bonus Plan. inthe three-year period ending on 31 December 2023.
Total Remuneration
A.Smurfit
€4,724k

A
@
o
g
[]
]

€2,690k

@ Basic Salary @ Pension @ Benefits @ Annual Bonus LTIP

Jury
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2024 Implementation-Executive Directors

Component of Pay

Implementationin 2024

Group Chief Executive Officer Group ChiefFinancial Officer

Basic Salary

The Group CEO’s and Group CFO's salaries are beingincreased by 4% from 2024 whichisinline with the average
increase for the wider workforce.

A.Smurfit=€1,232,954p.a. K.Bowles =€757,120p.a.

Benefits Market competitive benefits providedin line with Remuneration Policy.

Pension A.Smurfit = 10% of salary (cash allowance) K.Bowles = 10% of salary (cash allowance)
Aligned with workforce rate from 1 January 2023. Aligned with workforce rate from 1 January 2023.

Annual Bonus

Performance willbe measured over one year against the following key financial, operational/strategic and individual
performance metrics:

Measure Weighting
EBIT 35%
Free Cash Flow 35%
Health, Safety and Wellbeing 10%
People &ESG 10%
Personal/Strategic Goals 10%

Inline with previous years, the actual targets have not been disclosed prospectively. The target setting process will
beinline with the prior year and the targets will be published retrospectively in the Annual Report.

50% willbe deliveredin cash and 50% will be deferred into Company shares for three years.

A. Smurfit (maximum) = 150% of salary K.Bowles (maximum) = 150% of salary

Performance Share Plan

Performance measured over three years against four quadrants. Awards are subject to a post-vesting holding
period such that they arereleased following the fifth anniversary of the grant date.

Threshold Vesting Maximum Vesting
Measure Weighting (25% of maximum) (100% of maximum)
EPS (pre-exceptionalitems—cumulative over three years) 28% 970c 1,190c
ROCE (three-yearaverage) 28% 15.0% 18.5%
Relative TSR* 29% Median Performance Upper Quartile
ESG-Planet
CO, Emissions Reduction’ 5% 51.0% 54.0%
Water Discharge Reduction? 5% 54.0% 63.0%
Waste to LandfillReduction® 5% 40.0% 50.0%

Straight line vesting between points

* Measuredagainst the following peers: Billerud Korsnas, Cascades, DS Smith, Empresas CMPC, Graphic Packaging, International Paper,
Klabin, Mayr-Melnhof, Metsa Board, Mondi, Packaging Corporation of America, Stora Enso, UPM Kymmene and WestRock.

1 Intensityreductioninfossil CO,emissionsinour global paperandboard mill system compared with our baseline year 2005.

2 Intensity reduction of COD content of water returned to the environment from our global paper and board mill system compared with
ourbaselineyear2005.

3 Intensity reductionin waste sent to landfillby our global paper and board mill system compared with our baseline year 2013.

A. Smurfit (maximum) = 250% of salary K.Bowles (maximum) = 205% of salary

Share Ownership
Requirements

A. Smurfitis required to build a shareholding equivalent K.Bowlesisrequiredto build a shareholding equivalent
to 300% of basic salary. to 200% of basic salary.

Post-employment Share
Ownership Requirements

The share ownership requirement willapply for the first year post-departure and 50% of the requirement willapply
forthe secondyear post-departure.
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The following table summarises how the Remuneration Policy fulfils the factors set out in Provision 40 of the UK Corporate Governance Code 2018:

Code SKG Remuneration

Clarity Remunerationarrangements should be The annualbonusand PSP have been designed toincentivise
transparent and promote effective engagement executives toachieve clearly defined stretching targets.
with shareholders and the workforce. Performance measuresandtargets are reviewed each year

by the Committee to ensure that they continue to be clear
and appropriate.

Simplicity Remuneration structures should avoid We operate a simpleremuneration structure with asingle
complexity and their rationale and operation long-termincentive plan operating separately from the
should be easy tounderstand. annualbonus.

Risk Remunerationarrangements should ensure The policy has been designed to support the Group's business
reputationaland other risks from excessive strategy and the objective of developing superior, sustainable
rewards, and behavioural risks that can arise returnsand value atacceptable levels of risk but with a clear
fromtarget-basedincentive plans, areidentified andintelligible link to performance and the financial prosperity
and mitigated. ofthe Group.

Predictability Therange of possible values of rewards to The Committee believesitisimportant for executive

individual Directors and any other limits or
discretions should be identified and explained
atthetime of approvingthe policy.

Directors and senior management that a significant portion
ofthe packageis performance related. The potential value
and composition of the executive Directors’ remuneration
packages at below threshold, target and maximum (including
share price performance) scenarios under our Remuneration
Policy are set out on page 139.

Proportionality

Thelink betweenindividual awards, the delivery
of strategy and the long-term performance of
the Company should be clear. Outcomes should
notreward poor performance.

Payments from the annualbonus and PSP require delivery
against stretching performance conditions. The performance
conditions aredirectly linked to the Group's strategy and KPIs.

The Committee has discretion to override formulaic
out-turnsto ensure that they are appropriate and reflective
of overall performance.

Alignment to Culture

Incentive schemes should drive behaviours
consistent with company purpose, values
and strategy.

Smurfit Kappais amultinational Group anditisimportant that
remuneration packagesin each geographicallocation are fair
and competitive for that locationand atamost seniorlevel,
onaninternational basis.

Details of how our remuneration arrangements support
delivery of the Group's strategy (including changes to
increase the emphasis on sustainability metrics) are set
outonpages 133to139.

Non-executive Directors

The table below sets out a summary of Non-executive Director fees. The fees have increased by 4% in line with the salary increase of the Group CEO and
Group CFO which isin line with the average increase for the wider workforce.

AnnualFee
Chair €378,560
Non-executive Director base fee €75,712
Additional Fees:
SeniorIndependent Director fee €64,896
Committee Chairfee €64,896
Committee membership fee €21,632

Alignment with the Workforce

Smurfit Kappa unites some 47,000 people around the globe. The Group’s reward policies are designed to attract and retain the best employees, providing
fair and competitive reward packages and motivating employees at every level of the organisation to achieve the Group’s strategic objectives. Whilst exact
structures differ by level and geography, our reward programmes are strongly aligned with the Group’s pay for performance culture, enabling people
toseeaclearlink to their remuneration packages when they perform above and beyond what is expected.
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Remuneration Policy

Introduction

Asindicated in last year’s report, during 2023 the Committee undertook a review of the Remuneration Policy which was last approved by shareholders
atthe 2021 AGM, with the intention that approval would be sought at the 2024 AGM for a new Policy. However, following announcement of the proposed
Combination in September 2023, and the expected timing of completing the transaction being early July 2024, the Committee has concluded that the
2021 Policy will be rolled over at the 2024 AGM with only minor wording changes to aid clarity, and it is this Policy which is described over pages 135 to 141.

Executive Director Policy Table

Purpose andLink to Strategy,
Long-termInterestsand

Component Sustainability Operation Opportunity Performance Metrics
(i) Basic Salary Competitive salaries are Reviewed annually; changes are Whilst there is no maximum Notapplicable.
settoattract, retainand generally effective on 1 January. salarylevel, basic salary
motivate executives increases willnormally
todeliver superior Set by takinginto consideration beinlinewiththerange

performanceinlinewiththe  theindividual's skills, experience, ofincreasesforthe

Group'sbusiness strategy. performance and position wider workforce.
against peers.

The Committee may
Whendeterminingincreases, atitsdiscretionaward
considerationis givento: (i) scope largerincreasesin certain
ofrole and responsibility; (i) personal circumstances, suchas
performance; (i) Group performance; achangeinresponsibilities
(iv) step changesinresponsibility; ordevelopmentintherole.
(v)remunerationtrends across
the Group; and (vi) competitive
market practice.
(ii) Benefits Competitive benefits Benefitsrelate principally Thelevel of benefit provision Notapplicable.

takingintoaccount market
value ofrole.

to the use of company cars.

Other benefits may be provided,
includingbut notlimited to club
subscriptions.

Inthe event of recruitment or
relocation, additional benefits
may be provided as considered
appropriate by the Committee.

isdeterminedbased onthe
costtothe Companyandas

such nomaximum levelis set.

(iii) Pension

Toprovideamarket
competitive package
toattractandretain
executives.

Contributions are made to

the Group's defined contribution
pensionarrangement, or equivalent
cash allowances are paid.

Current executive Directors
—maximum Company
contribution, or cash
equivalent, setat 10%

of salary forthe CEO

and CFO, aligned with

the workforcerate.

The rate for new hires willbe

aligned with the rate available

to the majority of employees
intherelevantjurisdiction.

Notapplicable.
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PurposeandLinkto Strategy,
Long-terminterestsand

Component Sustainability Operation Opportunity Performance Metrics
(iv) Annual Toincentivise the Performance measures, their Themaximumbonus Performanceis
Bonus Plan executives toachieve respective weightings and targets opportunityinrespect measuredagainsta

clearly defined stretching

annual targets (financial
and non-financial) which
arealignedwiththe
Group's strategy.

Adeferral element
insharesprovidesa
retentionelementand

arenormally seteachyearbythe
Committee to ensure continued
alignment with the Group strategy.

Payouts are determined by the
Committee after the year-end taking
intoaccount performance against
targets. The Committeeretains the
discretiontoreview out-turnsto

ofafinancialyearis 150%

ofbasicsalary.

Upto 25% ofthe bonus
pays out for threshold
performance.

range of key financial,
operational/strategic,
sustainability and
individual
performance metrics.

Nolessthan 60%
ofthe bonuswillbe
based on financial

aligns executives with ensuretheyare appropriateinthe measures.
shareholderinterests. context of overall performance and
howitwas delivered.
50% of any bonus award is normally
deferredinto sharesforaperiod of,
normally, three years.
Deferred awards may include theright
toreceive (in cash or shares) the value
ofthe dividends that would have
accrued during the vesting period.
Malus and clawback provisions
areinplace.
The Committee may adjustandamend
awardsinaccordance with therules.
(v) Performance Toincentivise the Annual awards are normally subject The maximum PSP award Performance
SharePlan executives toachieve toaperformance periodofnolessthan  opportunityinrespect measures for the PSP
clearly defined stretching threeyears. Subject to performance, ofafinancialyearis 250% areselectedbythe
long-termtargets which awards willthen normally be subject ofbasic salary. Committeetobe
arealignedwiththe Group’s  toaholdingperiod of two years. alignedwiththe
long-term strategicand Upto25% oftheaward Group'slong-term
sustainability ambition. Performance measures, their pays out for threshold strategic priority of
weightings and targets are normally performance. delivering sustainable
reviewed each year by the Committee returnsto
to ensure continued alignment with shareholders.
the Group'slong-term strategy.
Priortoeachgrant,
Vestinglevels are determined by the Committee will
the Committee after the end of the select performance
performance period takinginto measuresandtargets.
account performance against targets. Measures may be
The Committee retains the discretion financial, non-financial,
toreview formulaic outcomes to share-price based,
ensuretheyare appropriateinthe strategic,and
context of overall performance and sustainability-focused
how it was delivered. Any adjustment oronany other basis
to the formulaic outcome willbe that the Committee
communicated toinvestorsat the considers appropriate.
end ofthe performance period.
PSP awards for 2024
Awards mayinclude theright to willbe subject tothe
receive (in cash or shares) the value of followingperformance
the dividends that would have accrued measuresincluding
during the performance periodand any their percentage
holding period. weighting:
— Earnings per share
Malus and clawback provisions (28%);
areinplace. — Returnon capital
employed (28%);
The Committee may adjustand amend — Relative TSR (29%);
awardsinaccordance with therules. and
— Sustainability
(15%)
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PurposeandLink to Strategy,
Long-termInterestsand

Component Sustainability Operation Opportunity Performance Metrics
Shareownership  Toaligntheinterestsof The Group Chief Executive Officer Notapplicable Not applicable
requirements executive Directors with isrequiredto build a shareholding

those of shareholdersand equivalent to 300% of basic salary,

incentiviselong-term and other executive Directorsa

performance. shareholding equivalent to 200% of

basic salary. Executives willnormally
alsobe subjecttoapost-cessation
shareholdingrequirement. The share
ownership requirement willapply for
thefirstyear post-departure and 50%
ofthe requirement will apply for the
second year post-departure.
Recovery Recovery provisions (clawback and malus) may apply where stated in the table above. The provisions may be enforced
provisions inthe eventof:
— A material misstatement of the Group's consolidated audited financial statements;
— Where an award was determined by reference to an assessment of a performance condition which was based on an error,
orinaccurate or misleading information;
— Fraud or other material financial irregularity affecting the Group;
— The occurrence of an event that causes or is likely to cause reputational damage to the Group;
— Serious misconduct by a participant;
— Corporate failure; or
— Other circumstances which the Committee inits discretion considers to be similar in their nature or effect as the above.

Recovery provisions may be enforcedinrespect of the cash bonus for three years following payment, inrespect of deferred
shares for three years from grantandinrespect of PSP awards for five years from grant.

Notes to the Remuneration Policy Table

Committee Discretionin Relation to Existing Commitments

The Committee reserves the right to make any remuneration payments and payments for loss of office, notwithstanding that they are not in line with the
Policy set out above, where the terms of the payment were agreed: (i) before the Policy set out above, or (ii) at a time when a previous Policy, approved by
shareholders, was in place, provided the paymentisin line with the terms of that policy, or (iii) at a time when the relevant individual was not a Director
of the Company and the payment was not in consideration for the individual becoming a Director of the Company. For these purposes, payments include
the Committee satisfying awards of variable remuneration. This means making payments in line with the terms that were agreed at the time the award
was granted.

Committee Discretionin Relation to Future Operation of the Remuneration Policy

The Committee will also retain flexibility in a number of areas regarding the operation and administration of variable pay plans, including (but not
limited to): change of control, variation of share capital, demerger, special dividend, winding up or similar events. The Committee retains the discretion
within the Policy to amend targets and/or set different measures and weightings if events happen that cause it to determine that the original targets or
conditions are no longer appropriate and the amendment is required so that the targets or conditions achieve their original purpose. Revised targets/
measures will be, in the opinion of the Committee, no less difficult to satisfy than the original conditions.

The Committee may make minor amendments to the Remuneration Policy without obtaining shareholder approval for regulatory, exchange control,

tax or administrative purposes or to take account of a change in legislation. The Committee may accelerate the vesting and/or the release of awards
if an executive Director movesjurisdictions following grant and there would be greater tax or regulatory burdens on the award in the new jurisdiction.
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Approach to Setting Performance Measures and Targets

Performance measures and targets (both short and long-term) are set each year taking into account a range of internal and external factors including
internal forecasts, prior year performance, degree of stretch within the business plan, market conditions and expectations, and sector and regulatory
developments. Performance targets will take account of market expectations with regards to future developments in the Group’s external environment,
which in turn feed into specific objectives based on strategy.

The combination of performance measures and targets for the incentive arrangements (both short and long-term) are chosen to create direct alignment
to the successful implementation of our strategy which will result in the delivery of sustainable long-term shareholder value.

The following table sets out why the performance measures for the purpose of the incentive plans were chosen.

Element of Reward Bucket of Metrics Rationale/Types of Metrics Used

Annual Bonus Plan Financialmetrics Measures chosen to support delivery of the Group's annual business plan.
Metrics vary annually but may include metrics linked to:
— Profitability;

— Cash generation; and
— Any other performance perspective considered appropriate by the Committee.

Non-financial metrics Measures chosento support delivery of the Group's annual strategic priorities.
Metrics vary annually but may include metrics linked to:
— Health, Safety and Wellbeing;
— Peopleand ESG;
— Personal/Strategic Goals; and
— Any other performance perspective considered appropriate by the Committee.

Performance SharePlan  Financial/sustainability metrics Measures chosen to support delivery of the Group'slong-term strategicand
sustainability priorities. Metrics may vary by cycle but may include metrics linked to:
— Profitability (e.g. EPS);
— Efficient use of capital employed (e.g. ROCE);
— Total shareholder return (e.g. relative TSR); and
— Sustainability (e.g. water reduction/climate change/waste reduction).

Value and Composition of Remuneration Packages

The Committee believes it is important for executive Directors and senior management that a significant portion of the package is performance related
and a significant portion is delivered in shares to align their interests with shareholders. The potential value and composition of the executive Directors’
remuneration packages at below threshold, target and maximum scenarios under the proposed Policy are set out in the charts on the following page.
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Value and Composition of Package
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In developing the scenarios the following assumptions have been made:

Salary: Salary at 1 January 2024.

Benefits: Estimate based on benefits received in 2023.

Pension: Cash in lieu rate or contribution rate applied to salary.

Below Threshold: No pay-outs under any incentive plan.

— Target: Up to 50% of the maximum potential under the annual bonus plan and 25% of the maximum PSP awards to be made in 2024 are earned.
Maximum: The maximum potential under the incentive plans for 2024 is earned.

Maximum plus share price growth of 50%: The maximum potential under the incentive plans for 2024 is earned, plus share price growth of 50%.
Other: No share price (unless otherwise stated), dividends or discount rate assumptions have been included.

Recruitment Policy

In determining the recruitment package for a new executive Director, the Committee would have regard to the following principles:

The package should be market competitive to facilitate the recruitment of individuals of sufficient calibre to lead the business. At the same time,
the Committee would intend to pay no more than it believes is necessary to secure the required talent.

setoutabove.

So far as practical, the Committee would seek to align the remuneration package for any incoming executive Director with the Remuneration Policy

— Interms of fixed pay (including basic salary, benefits and pension), these would be set in line with the Policy table and at a suitable level to recruit

individuals with the required calibre, skills and experience to deliver the Company’s strategy.
— Interms of variable pay (including short and long-term incentives), the maximum level of variable remuneration which may be awarded
(excluding ‘buy-outs’) in the first year of appointment is 400% of salary (which is made up of the maximum annual bonus opportunity (150%)
and maximum PSP opportunity in the plan rules (250%)).
— Where an individual forfeits outstanding variable pay opportunities or contractual rights at a previous employer as a result of appointment, the
Committee may offer compensatory payments or awards, in such form as the Committee considers appropriate taking into account all relevant
factorsincluding the form of awards, expected value and vesting timeframe of the forfeited opportunities. When determining such a ‘buy-out’
the guiding principle would be that awards would be on a ‘like-for-like’ basis to those forfeited.
To facilitate the awards outlined above, the Committee may make awards under Company incentive plans, or other available structures
as appropriate, for the purpose of making ‘buy-out’ awards.
Inthe case of internal promotions, the Committee will honour existing commitments entered into before promotion.
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Executive Directors’ Service Contracts and Loss of Office Payment Policy
Details of the service contracts of the executive Directors are as follows. Contracts are available for inspection at the Company’s office:

Effective Date of Contract Notice Period Termination Payments

A.Smurfit 9March 2007 12 months'notice Annual salary, the highest annual bonus for the most recent

(amended 1 September 2015)

threeyears, theregular pension contributioninrespect
ofthe annual salary and the cash value of any benefits.

K.Bowles 1April2016 12 months' notice Annual salary, the regular pension contributioninrespect

ofthe annual salary and the cash value of any benefits.

Policy going forward n/a 12 months'notice Forany new executive Director, any paymentinlieu of notice

would solely include salary, pension and other benefits.

The Committee reserves the right to make any other payments (including appropriate legal fees) in connection with an executive Director’s cessation
of office or employment where the payments are made in good faith in discharge of an existing legal obligation (or by way of damages for breach of such
an obligation) or by way of settlement of any claim arising in connection with the cessation of that executive Director’s office or employment.

Treatment of Incentives on Cessation

Inthe event of an executive Director’s departure from the Group, any outstanding share awards will be treated in accordance with the relevant plan rules.

The following table sets out the treatment of annual bonus, deferred share awards and PSP awards for good and bad leavers. A good leaver is an executive

Director who ceases to be an employee of the Group by reason of:

— Death;

Il health, injury or disability;

— Redundancy;

— Retirement with the agreement of the Committee;

— Thesale of the individual’s employing business or company out of the Group; or

— Other circumstances at the discretion of the Committee.

Awards BadLeavers

Good Leavers

Annual Bonus Plan Not eligible toreceive abonus,
exceptwhereacontractual
entitlement exists.

Ifthe termination date falls during the performance year, eligible for abonus
pro-ratedfor time and performance as appropriate.

Awards willbe paid in the normal manner, includingan appropriate balance of cash
and shares, subject to the Committee determininga different approach should apply
(e.g.ondeath).

Deferred bonus awards Awards lapse in full on cessation
of employment.

Outstanding awards willbe retained by participants and would vestinfullat the
normal time.

The Committee retains discretion to accelerate vestingwhereitis considered
appropriate (e.g. ondeath).

PSP awards Forleavers during the
performance period, awards
lapsein fullon cessation
of employment.

During the performance period, outstanding awards will be retained and would
vestat the normaltime takinginto account the extent to which the performance
conditions have beenachieved (measured at the normal time) and timein
employmentas a proportion of the performance period.

Foranyleavers during the holding period, outstandingawards willbe released at
the normaltime, except where a participantis summarily dismissed, in which case
awards lapsein fullon cessation of employment.

The Committee retains discretionto accelerate the vesting or release of awards
whereitis considered appropriate (e.g. on death).
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Non-executive Directors and the Chair
Terms and Conditions for Non-executive Directors

All Non-executive Directors have letters of appointment for a period of three years which are renewable but generally for no more than three

termsin aggregate. In compliance with the UK Corporate Governance Code, all Directors will retire at each AGM and offer themselves for re-election.

A copy of the letter of appointment is available for inspection at the Company’s registered office during normal business hours and at the AGM.
Non-executive Directors are not eligible to participate in the annual bonus plan or the long-term incentive plans and their service as a Non-executive

Director is not pensionable.

Non-executive Director Policy Table

ApproachtoFees Operation Otherltems
Fees for the Chair and Non-executive Directors The Chairreceives anaggregate fee. Non-executive Directors arereimbursed
are setatanappropriate level toreflect the time fortraveland reasonable personal expenses
commitment, responsibility and duties of the The Remuneration Policy for Non-executive (including any related tax liability on such
positionand the contribution thatis expected Directorsisto pay: (i) abasic annual fee; and expenses).
from Non-executive Directors. (ii) fees for additional Board responsibilities

(including the Senior Independent Directorand Additional fees or benefits may be provided
Theremuneration ofthe Non-executive the Chairand membership of acommittee). atthediscretion ofthe Board.
Directorsis determined by the Board within
thelimits set outinthe Articles of Association. Additional fees may also be paid where the time

commitmentin a particular year was significantly
more thananticipated.

The Boardretains discretiontoremunerate the
Non-executive Directorsin sharesrather than
cashwhere appropriate.

If anew Chair or Non-executive Director is appointed, the remuneration arrangements will normally be in line with those detailed in the table above.

Consideration of Remuneration Arrangements Throughout the Group

Asthe Group is multinational, remuneration packages in each geographical location must be fair and competitive for thatlocation and at a most
senior level, on an international basis. Our objectives are to a) ensure that SKG can attract and retain talented employees of the calibre necessary for
itto compete in all its markets, b) motivate employees at every level of the organisation to achieve the Group’s objectives, both short and long-term,
in order to create sustainable value and ¢) align remuneration packages with the Group’s values of supporting a performance culture.

The employees are rewarded in line with their individual and business performance. In setting remuneration levels, SKG takes into consideration the

employees’ performance appraisal, external benchmark data for their role in companies of similar size and scope in their geographical area while also

ensuring reasonable internal equity within the Group.

Consideration of Shareholder Views

The Company is committed to ongoing shareholder dialogue when considering changes to the Remuneration Policy. The intention had been to engage
with major shareholders during 2023 on the Policy renewal, prior to the 2024 AGM, but this consultation programme was cancelled in light of the

proposed Combination with WestRock.

Annual Report 2023 Smurfit Kappa

141



@ Governance

Remuneration Report continued

Annual Report on Remuneration

Total Executive Directors’ Remunerationin 2023
The following table shows a single figure of total remuneration for each executive Director for the years 2023 and 2022.

Total Annual Bonus LTIP?
Share

Basic Deferred PSP  Depreciation® Total Total Total

Salary Pension Benefits' Cash Shares Shares  Appreciation* LTIP Fixed Variable Total

€'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000
2023
A.Smurfit 1,186 119 4 806 806 1,980 (177) 1,803 1,309 3,415 4,724
K.Bowles 728 73 29 495 495 957 (87) 870 830 1,860 2,690
2022
A.Smurfit 1,140 177 11 837 837 2,124° 408° 2,532 1,328 4,206 5,534
K.Bowles 700 95 44 514 514 987° 190° 1,177 839 2,205 3,044

1 Benefitsinclude the use of a company car, club subscriptions or cash equivalent.

2 For2023, thisrepresents conditional share awards granted under the Group’s 2018 Performance Share Plan in 2021 (‘the 2021 PSP award’) at their grant price. The outcome of the
2021 PSP award was 64.44% of the maximum as a result of the achievement of the relevant performance targets in the three-year period ended 31 December 2023. The 2021 PSP award
(post-tax) is subject to a two-year holding period post-vesting.

3 Share price depreciation element - the devaluation generated through share price decline over the grant price in 2021. In estimating the devaluation for the 2021 grants a share price
0f €37.39, the average market price for the February 2024 vesting to eligible employees, was applied compared to the weighted average grant price of €41.07. Two grants of performance
shares were made in 2021; the firstin March 2021 at a grant price of €40.76, with a second tranche granted in May 2021 at a grant price of €43.93, to reflect the increased PSP opportunity
approved atthe AGM as part of the 2021 Remuneration Policy.

4 Share price appreciation element - the additional value generated through share price growth over the grant price in 2020. For the 2020 grants, the share price used was €31.83
compared to the grant price of €26.70 per share.

5 The vesting of the 2020 PSP award to Executive Directors was delayed until September 2023 due to the existence of inside information in relation to the proposed Combination.

The numbers used in the 2022 Total Executives Directors Remuneration were estimates based on the vesting of the 2020 PSP award to eligible employees in February 2023.
The 2022 comparatives included in the table above have been updated to reflect the actual number of shares which vested and the average market price for the September vesting
to Executive Directors.

Pensions

Tony Smurfit and Ken Bowles previously participated in a Group contributory defined benefit pension plan based on an accrual rate of 1/60*" of
pensionable salary for each year of pensionable service, designed to provide two thirds of salary at retirement for full service. The defined benefit plan
which Tony Smurfit and Ken Bowles are members of closed to future accrual with effect from 30 June 2016 and was replaced by a defined contribution
plan. All pension benefits are determined solely in relation to basic salary. As explained in more detail in Note 23, during the year the Group made a
Transfer Value Option available to all employed members of the Irish defined benefit pension schemes. The terms of the Transfer Value Option were
consistent across all members. On acceptance of the option all associated defined benefit pension obligations in respect of Tony Smurfit and Ken Bowles
have been removed.

For 2023, the non-pensionable cash allowance for Tony Smurfit and Ken Bowles represented 10% of salary, which is aligned to the workforce rate.
Annual Bonus

Executive Directors participate in an annual bonus scheme based on the achievement of clearly defined stretching annual financial targets, together
with targets for Health, Safety and Wellbeing, People & ESG and personal/strategic goals for each of the executive Directors.

2023 Annual Bonus

The key target areas, as well as their weightings and the specific targets for the 2023 annual bonus plan are set out in the table below:

Performance Metrics (weighting) Threshold Target Maximum Resultant Payout (% of max.)

Adjusted EBIT (35%) €1,404m 25.7%(73.3%)
€974m €1,267m €1,560m

FCF (35%) €628m 35.0% (100%)
€218m €417m €616m

Health, Safety and Wellbeing (10%) 100% payout forlessthan0.55. The Group TRIRwas 0.53. 10% (100%)

People &ESG (10%) Strong progress against People & ESG goals. Further details set out overleaf for the 10% (100%)

Executive Directors.

Personal/Strategic Goals (10%) Strong progress against personal/strategic goals. Further details set out overleaf, 10% (100%)
individually for the CEO and CFO.
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People and ESG Outcome for Executive Directors (10% weighting)

Resultant Payout

Focusarea Objectives Assessment (%)
People Develop next generation — Carried out successful strategic talent review for top talent. 100%
ofleaders, increase — Continued to focus on and build the talent pool of high potential leaders.
employee engagement, — Created a development plan to ensure the readiness for the future Group
promote and champion CEO and Group CFO positions.
Inclusion, Diversity and — Developed and completed a detailed workforce engagement schedule which
Equality ('ID&E’) included frequent direct and indirect engagement opportunities.
programmes. — Progressed the Group's ID&E agenda and delivered onits target of having
25% of our management positions held by women by 2024, with a level of
25.1% at the end of 2023.
Sustainability Drive the Grouptobea — Continued to make significant progress towards achieving the Group's 100%

fully sustainable circular
business.

sustainability goals. The Group made progress on a number of its key
sustainability targets, such as selling over 95% of our packaging solutions
as Chain of Custody certified two years earlier than our target.

— Undertook a number ofimportant sustainability projects during the year.

— SKG awarded both a Regional Top Rated and Industry Top Rated company
by Morningstar Sustainalytics.

— Continued to achieve strong scores with key rating agencies such as MSCI,
ISS ESG and Sustainalytics.

Total: 10% (100%)

Personal/Strategic Goals (10% weighting)
The following table sets out the executive Directors’ achievements against their personal/strategic objectives for 2023:

Resultant Payout

Executive Objectives Assessment (%)
A.Smurfit Strategy for Growth — Continued to evolve the Group's strategy through the development 100%
Development of strategic of an updated strategic planning process during 2023.
plans for the Group. — Enhanced the strategic direction of the Group by reaching a definitive
agreement on the terms of the proposed Combination.
— Ambitious investment and strategic plans developed, presented and
approved by the Board.
— Identification of new key areas for expansion and development including
the completion of two acquisitions which strategically support the Group's
growth plan.
Digital enablement — Continued implementation and evolvement of the multi-functional Digital 100%
Oversee completion Strategy transformation plan and delivered on operational efficiencies
of Digital Strategy outlined in the plan.
forthe Group. — Completed the move from aregional reporting structure to a functional
reporting structure and the introduction of a Service Management Structure.
Total: 10% (100%)
K.Bowles Strategy for Growth — Continued to evolve the Group's strategy through the development 100%
Development of strategic of an updated strategic planning process during 2023.
plans for the Group. — Enhanced the strategic direction of the Group by reaching a definitive
agreement on the terms of the proposed Combination.
— Ambitious investment and strategic plans developed, presented and
approved by the Board.
— Identification of new key areas for expansion and development including
the completion of two acquisitions which strategically support the Group's
growth plan.
Digital enablement — Continued implementation and evolvement of the multi-functional Digital 100%

Oversee completion
of Digital Strategy
forthe Group.

Strategy transformation plan and delivered on operational efficiencies
outlinedinthe plan.

— Completed the move from aregional reporting structure to a functional
reporting structure and the introduction of a Service Management Structure.

Total: 10% (100%)

Following the consideration of performance against the targets, and in the context of the wider performance of the Group, the Committee did not
consider it necessary to apply discretion to the out-turns and approved the following annual bonuses for 2023:

2023
Bonus Annual Deferred Total
Payable CashBonus Shares Bonus
Executive Directors (% Maximum) (% Salary) €'000 €'000 €000
A.Smurfit 90.7% 136.0% 806 806 1,612
K.Bowles 90.7% 136.0% 495 495 990

Inline with the Remuneration Policy, half of the bonuses shown above were paid in cash and half are deferred into Company shares which vest after
three years subject to the continuity of employment.
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Performance Share Plan

Awards Vestingin Respect of Performance to 31 December 2023

In 2021, Tony Smurfit and Ken Bowles were granted awards under the 2018 PSP. These awards were based on the following performance criteria:
EPS (pre-exceptional); Return on Capital Employed; Total Shareholder Return against a bespoke peer group; and sustainability measures.
Performance was measured on a straight-line basis between threshold and maximum.

Inline with our normal approach for EPS and ROCE, we adjust the achievement for items which would affect comparability such as acquisitions and
disposals. These adjustments did not impact on the vesting outcome for the 2021 award. We have also applied this approach to the ESG-Planet metrics,
which were adjusted for an acquisition, resulting in a marginal reduction in the vesting outcome.

Threshold Maximum

Performance Metrics (weightings) (25% Vesting) (100% Vesting) Achievement Level of Vesting
Adjusted EPS (pre-exceptional items —cumulative over three years) (28%) 635¢C 775¢ 1,078c 28.00%
Adjusted ROCE (three-year average) (28%) 13.0% 16.0% 19.4% 28.00%
Relative TSR vs. aselect peer group (29%) Median  Upperquartile = Belowmedian 0.00%
ESG-Planet

Adjusted CO; Emissions Reduction (5%) 39.5% 45.5% 43.00% 3.44%
Adjusted Water Discharge Reduction (5%) 45% 55% 36.93% 0.00%
Adjusted Waste to LandfillReduction (5%) 25% 27% 36.10% 5.00%
Overallvesting 64.44%

The peer group used for the TSR measure comprised the following companies: Billerud Korsnas, Cascades, DS Smith, Empresas CMPC, Graphic
Packaging, International Paper, Klabin, Mayr-Melnhof, Metsa Board, Mondi, Packaging Corporation of America, Stora Enso, UPM-Kymmene and
WestRock. SKG finished below median in terms of TSR outcome, as calculated by our external remuneration advisors Ellason, against the peer group
for the performance period and was therefore below the threshold in terms of the achievement for the 2021 award.

The Committee reviewed performance against the targets in the context of the wider performance of the Group and also considered potential windfall
gains. Given the share price at the time of this vesting determination was lower than the share price at the time of grant of these awards (€40.76 for the
main awards in March 2021 and €43.93 for the additional post-AGM awards made in May 2021) the Committee was satisfied that windfall gains had not
arisen. The Committee agreed it was not necessary to apply discretion to the out-turns and approved the level of vesting of the 2021 PSP awards. PSP
Awards although vested, are subject to an additional holding period such that they are released following the fifth anniversary of the grant date.

Share Awards Granted During the Year

During the year, executive Directors were granted Deferred Share Awards in respect of the 2022 annual bonus. They were also granted PSP Awards that
may vest based on the achievement of performance targets for the three-year period ending on 31 December 2025. PSP Awards are subject to an additional
holding period such that they are released following the fifth anniversary of the grant date. Details of the performance conditions attached to these
awards are set out on page 121 of the 2022 Annual Report.

Details of the executive Directors’ awards are set out below. Further detail on the executive Directors’ outstanding shares are set out on page 148.

Face Value Grantedin Basis on Which % Vestingat

TypeofInterest €'000 2023 Award Made Threshold Performance Period
Deferred Bonus'
A.Smurfit Deferred shares 837 23,049 Deferredbonus n/a n/a
K.Bowles Deferred shares 514 14,154 Deferred bonus n/a n/a
Performance Shares?
A.Smurfit Performance shares 2,964 91,816 250% of salary 25% 01/01/2023-31/12/2025
K.Bowles Performance shares 1,492 46,233  205% of salary 25% 01/01/2023-31/12/2025

1 Share price of deferred shares granted in September 2023 was €36.32. Awards will vest based on continued employment to February 2026 (subject to leaver provisions within the
planrules).

2 Share price of performance shares granted in September 2023 was €32.28. These awards are subject to the following performance conditions and weightings: EPS (pre-exceptional,
28%); ROCE (28%); relative TSR (29%) against a bespoke peer group; CO2 emissions reduction (5%); water discharge reduction (5%); and waste to landfill reduction (5%). Details of the
underlying targets are set out in the 2022 Annual Report. The Committee retains discretion to review the formulaic out-turn at the end of the performance period to ensure thatitis
appropriate and reflective of overall performance and to ensure that no windfall gains will arise on vesting.
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Annual Percentage Change in Remuneration of Directors and Employees
Details of the percentage change in the salary, annual bonus and benefits from 2022 to 2023 for the Directors of the Company, along with that applicable
to an average FTE employee of Smurfit Kappa, is set out below:

Change 2022-2023 Change 2021-2022

Basic Salary’ Total Bonus Benefits Basic Salary Total Bonus Benefits
Executive Directors
Group Chief Executive Officer—A. Smurfit 4% (4%) (61%) 3% 1% (62%)
Group ChiefFinancial Officer—K. Bowles 4% (4%) (35%) 3% 1% 16%
Non-executive Directors?
I.Finan 4% n/a n/a 0% n/a n/a
A.Anderson® 35% n/a n/a 0% n/a n/a
F.Beurskens 2% n/a n/a 0% n/a n/a
C.Fairweather 4% n/a n/a 0% n/a n/a
ML.Ferguson-McHugh? n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a
K.Hietala® 37% n/a n/a 10% n/a n/a
J.Lawrence 4% n/a n/a 0% n/a n/a
L.Melgar 4% n/a n/a 0% n/a n/a
J.Moloney* (65%) n/a n/a 0% n/a n/a
J.BuhlRasmussen 4% n/a n/a 0% n/a n/a
G.Restrepo* (65%) n/a n/a 0% n/a n/a
Average employee of Smurfit Kappa Group (‘FTE') 9% (9%) n/a* 6% 22% n/a*
1 The Executive and Non-executive Directors received an increase in basic salary/fees of 4% effective from 1 January 2023.
2 Page 149 provides the underlying single figure of remuneration for Non-executive Directors used to calculate the figures above.
3 MaryLynn Ferguson-McHugh joined the Board in January 2023.
4 John Moloney and Gonzalo Restrepo retired from the Board following the 2023 AGM.
5 Anne Anderson was appointed Chair of the Nomination Committee following the 2023 AGM and Kaisa Hietala was appointed Senior Independent Director in October 2022.
*

Due to data availability, it is not possible to calculate the percentage change in benefits for all employees for the purpose of this table.

Chief Executive Officer Pay Ratio
Although thislegislation does not apply to SKG, the Committee has voluntarily published the ratio. The following table sets out the Group CEO pay ratio
against Irish employees within the Group, which is considered the most relevant reference point as the Group’s headquarters are in Ireland.

Year Population 25thpercentile 50th percentile 75th percentile
2023 Irish employees 121 89 61
2022 Irish employees 137 101 70
2021 Irishemployees 152 116 83
2020 Irishemployees 132 97 72
2019 Irishemployees 92 68 50

Total remuneration for each individual in the above data has been calculated on the same basis as the Group CEO’s annual total remuneration for the
same period in the single figure table. For part-time employees, their relevant pay and benefit components have been adjusted to the equivalent full-time
figure for the relevant business.

The pay ratio reflects how remuneration arrangements differ as responsibility increases for more senior roles within the organisation; with a significant
proportion of the CEO’s remuneration derived from at-risk, performance-based pay linked to the Group’s overall performance and also to Smurfit Kappa’s
share price performance through the equity-based incentives. The Committee is comfortable that the pay ratio reflects the pay progression policies at
Smurfit Kappa and acknowledges that there will be volatility in the reported pay ratio year-on-year, driven by the performance-based pay outcomes.
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Relative Importance of Spend on Pay
The following tables set out the change in profit, share buyback, dividends and total employee costs for the financial year ended 31 December 2023
againsta five year comparative.

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018

€m €m €m €m €m €m

Profit beforeincome tax and exceptionalitems 1,220 1,516 944 779 872 938
Dividends/share buyback paid to shareholders 367 374 302 260 238 213
Totalemployee costs’ 2,627 2,547 2,292 2,218 2,195 2,139
Directors’' Remuneration 9 10 11 9 7 6

1 Totalemployee costs (excluding Directors) for continuing operations includes wages and salaries, social insurance costs, share-based payment expense, pension costs and
redundancy costs for all employees. The average full time equivalent number of employees and part-time employees in continuing operations was 46,982 (2022: 48,624).

Percentage Change of Spend on Pay 2023 vs 2022
(%)

5.0%

(1.8%)

(5.0%)

(10.0%)

(15.0%)
(19.5%)
(20.0%) PBT and Share buyback/ Total
exceptionals* Dividends paid employee costs

*  Profitbeforeincome taxand exceptionalitems.

Total Shareholder Return Performance

The performance graph below shows the Group TSR performance from 31 December 2013 to 31 December 2023 against the performance of the FTSE 100
and FTSE 250 over the same period. Both the FTSE 100 and FTSE 250 have been chosen, as during the relevant period these are the two broad equity
market indices of which the Group has been a member.

Total Return Indices-Smurfit Kappavs FTSE 100and FTSE 250
(Total Shareholder Return—rebased to 100)
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200
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0 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
@ Smurfit Kappa Group FTSE 100 Index (euro) @ FTSE 250 Index (euro)
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Group Chief Executive Officer Remuneration
The table below summarises the single figure of total remuneration for the Group Chief Executive Officer for the pastten years as well as how the actual
awards under the annual bonus and LTIP compare to the maximum opportunity.

Single Figure Annual Bonus LTIP
of Total Award Against Award Against
Remuneration Maximum Maximum
€000 Opportunity* Opportunity

Group Chief Executive Officer
2023 A.Smurfit 4,724 90.7% 64.44%"
2022 A.Smurfit 5,534 97.9% 75%*
2021 A.Smurfit 6,237 99.8% 62.02%*
2020 A.Smurfit 5,263 82.6% 78.35%"
2019 A.Smurfit 3,670 71% 100%°
2018 A.Smurfit 3,372 97.3% 51.6%°
2017 A.Smurfit 2,477 41% 45%°
2016 A.Smurfit 2,407 35% 45%°
2015 A. Smurfit (appointed 1 September) 1,180 42% 67%"°
2015 G.McGann (retired 31 August) 3,837 42% 67%"°
2014 G.McGann 7,203 55% 75%°

1 The Performance Share award granted in 2021 had an outcome of 64.44% of the maximum based on the achievement of the relevant performance targets for the three-year period
ending on 31 December 2023. Awards will be released after a two year holding period.

2. ThePerformance Share award granted in 2020 vested in September 2023 based on the achievement of the relevant performance targets for the three-year period ending
on 31 December 2022. Awards will be released after a two year holding period.

3 The Performance Share award granted in 2019 vested in February 2022 based on the achievement of the relevant performance targets for the three-year period ending
on 31 December 2021. Awards will be released after a two-year holding period.

4 The Performance Share award granted in 2018 vested in February 2021 based on the achievement of the relevant performance targets for the three-year period ending
on 31 December 2020. Awards are being released in three equal tranches.

5 TheMatching and Conditional Matching Awards granted in 2017, 2016, 2015, 2014, 2013 and 2012 vested in February 2020, 2019, 2018, 2017, 2016 and 2015 respectively based
on the achievement of the relevant performance targets for the three-year periods ending on 31 December 2019, 2018, 2017, 2016, 2015 and 2014.

* Theannual bonus award was paid 50% in cash and 50% in Deferred Share Awards.

The information below on pages 147 to 150 forms an integral part of the audited Consolidated Financial Statements as described in the Basis
of Preparation on page 176.

Pension Entitlements-Defined Benefit

Increase/  Transfer Value of

(Decrease)in Increase/ 2023
Accrued Pension (Decrease)in Total Accrued
DuringYear  AccruedPension Pension’
€'000 €'000 €000
Executive Directors
A.Smurfit - - -
K.Bowles - - -

1 At31December 2023, the defined pension payable to A. Smurfitand K. Bowlesis nil as they both accepted the Transfer Value Option which was made available to all employed
members of the Irish defined benefit pension schemes during the year.

Additional Information
Payments to Former Directors
There were no payments made to former Directors in the year.

Payments for Loss of Office
There were no payments for loss of office made in the year.

Executive Directors’ Interestsin Share Capital at 31 December 2023
The table below summarises the personal shareholdings of each executive Director. The figures include beneficially owned shares and unvested share
awards which are not subject to further performance criteria (other than continued employment) on a net of tax basis.

Unvested Awards Total
Beneficially Beneficially Not Subjectto Shareholding
Ownedat Ownedat Performance asat Shareholding
31December 31December Criteria 31December Shareholding Guideline Shareholding
Name 2022 2023 (Net of Tax) 2023 (% of Salary) (% of Salary) Guideline Met?
A.Smurfit 1,383,253 1,478,528 29,844 1,508,372 4,369% 300% Yes
K.Bowles 78,423 100,326 17,955 118,281 558% 200% Yes

External Appointments

The Company recognises that, during their employment with the Company, Executive Directors may be invited to become Non-executive Directors of
other companies and that such duties can broaden their experience and knowledge. Executive Directors may, with the written consent of the Company,
accept such appointments outside the Company, and the policy is that any fees may be retained by the Director. The Executive Directors do not hold any
paid appointments at present.
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Deferred Bonus Plan Awards

Deferred Share Awards

Deferred Share Awards were granted to eligible employees in 2023 in respect of the financial year ended 31 December 2022. These awards are not subject
to performance conditions.

31December Granted (Lapsed) 31December Market Price on
2022 inYear2023 Sharesvested 2023 AwardDate Deferral Period
Directors
A.Smurfit
17,460 (15,714)" 1,746 33.91 01/01/2020-31/12/2022
17,114 17,114 40.24 01/01/2021-31/12/2023
17,779 17,779 46.81 01/01/2022-31/12/2024
23,049 23,049 36.32 01/01/2023-31/12/2025
K.Bowles
9,798 (8,818)" 9807 33.91 01/01/2020-31/12/2022
9,940 9,940 40.24 01/01/2021-31/12/2023
10,836 10,836 46.81 01/01/2022-31/12/2024
14,154 14,154 36.32 01/01/2023-31/12/2025
Secretary
G.Carson-Callan
1,969 (1,969)" = 33.91 01/01/2020-31/12/2022
2,746 2,746 40.24 01/01/2021-31/12/2023
3,435 3,435 46.81 01/01/2022-31/12/2024
5,024 5,024 36.32 01/01/2023-31/12/2025

1 Thedeferred sharesvested and were released in September 2023. The market price at date of distribution was €31.83.

2 The 2020 DBP award of the Executive Directors was subject to an underpin pending the final outcome of appeals by Smurfit Kappa Italia of fines imposed on the Group subsidiary
in 2019. As the outcome is not yet known, the Committee considered the vesting of the 2020 DBP and in their discretion decided to withhold 10% of the award pending the final outcome
of the process for Smurfit Kappa Italia.

The market price of the Company’s shares at 31 December 2023 was €35.88 and the range during 2023 was €29.30 to €40.17.
Performance Share Plan Awards

PSP Awards were granted to eligible employees in 2023. Awards may vest based on the achievement of the relevant performance targets for the
three-year period ending on 31 December 2025. Details of the status of the original awards is included below.

31December Granted (Lapsed) 31December Market Priceon
2022 inYear2023* Shares Vested 2023 Award Date Performance Period**
Directors
A.Smurfit
93,719 (23,430) (70,289)" = 26.70 01/01/2020-31/12/2022
61,391 = = 61,3912 40.76 01/01/2021-31/12/2023
6,3293 = = 6,329 43.93 01/01/2021-31/12/2023
70,384 = = 70,384 40.49 01/01/2022-31/12/2024
- 91,816 - 91,816 32.28 01/01/2023-31/12/2025
K.Bowles
43,547 (10,887) (32,660)" = 26.70 01/01/2020-31/12/2022
28,954 = = 28,954* 40.76 01/01/2021-31/12/2023
3,731° = = 3,731 43.93 01/01/2021-31/12/2023
35,441 = = 35,441 40.49 01/01/2022-31/12/2024
- 46,233 = 46,233 32.28 01/01/2023-31/12/2025
Secretary
G.Carson-Callan
7,865 (1,966) (5,899)" = 26.70 01/01/2020-31/12/2022
9,495 = = 9,495 40.76 01/01/2021-31/12/2023
11,114 = = 11,114 40.49 01/01/2022-31/12/2024
- 16,109 = 16,109 32.28 01/01/2023-31/12/2025

1 Basedontheachievementof relevant performance targets for the three-year period ending on 31 December 2022, the conditional share awards including dividend equivalents vested
at75% in September 2023. The market price at the time of vesting was €31.83. The dividend equivalents that vested amounted to 9,272, 4,306 and 775 shares for A. Smurfit, K. Bowles
and G. Carson-Callan respectively.

2 The Performance Share award granted in 2021 had an outcome of 64.44% of the maximum based on the achievement of the relevant performance targets for the three-year period
ending on 31 December 2023.

3 Two grants of performance shares were made in 2021; the firstin March 2021, with a second tranche granted in May 2021 to reflect the increased PSP opportunity approved at the AGM
as partof the 2021 Remuneration Policy.

*  Awardsare eligible to accrue dividend equivalents during the performance period.

** The executive Directors awards (post-tax) are subject to a two-year holding period post-vesting.
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Directors’ Remuneration

2023 2022
€000 €'000
Executive Directors
Basicsalary 1,914 1,840
Annualcashbonus 1,301 1,351
Annualbonus deferred shares 1,301 1,351
Pension 192 272
Benefits 33 55
TotalLTIP 2,673 3,709
Executive Directors’' remuneration 7,414 8,578
Average number of executive Directors 2 2
Non-executive Directors
Fees 1,416 1,389
Non-executive Directors’' remuneration 1,416 1,389
Average number of Non-executive Directors 10 10
Directors’ Remuneration 8,830 9,967
Individual Remuneration for the Financial Year Ended 31 December 2023
Total Total
2023 2022
€000 €000
Non-executive Directors*
I.Finan 364 350
A.Anderson 121 90
F.Beurskens' 154 150
C.Fairweather 135 130
ML.Ferguson-McHugh 94 -
K.Hietala 135 99
J.Lawrence 94 90
L.Melgar 94 90
J.Moloney 45 130
J.BuhlRasmussen 135 130
G.Restrepo 45 130
1,416 1,389
*  Non-executive Director remuneration is entirely fixed.
1 Frits Beurskens’feesinclude additional fees of €60,000 (2022: €60,000) for services as a Director of a Group subsidiary and advisory services.
Share-based Payment
The executive Directors receive Deferred Share Awards and Performance Share Awards, details of which are outlined on page 148 of this report.
The share-based payment expense recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement for the executive Directors in the year totalled €4 million
(2022: €5 million).
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Non-executive Directors’ Interests in Share Capital at 31 December 2023
The interests of the Non-executive Directors and Secretary in the shares of the Company as at 31 December 2023 which are beneficial unless otherwise
indicated are shown below. The Directors and Secretary have no beneficial interests in any of the Group’s subsidiary or associated undertakings.

31December 31December
Ordinary Shares 2023 2022
Directors
I.Finan 30,209 24,709
A.Anderson* 6,911 6,911
F.Beurskens 7,250 7,250
C.Fairweather 3,000 3,000
K.Hietala 1,471 1,471
ML.Ferguson-McHugh - -
J.Lawrence - 30,000
L. Melgar - -
J.BuhlRasmussen 6,146 6,146
Secretary
G.Carson-Callan 6,752 2,617

*  From October 2021, Anne Anderson has an indirect interest in 1,000 SKG shares, held by a connected person.

The changes in the Secretary’s interest between 31 December 2023 and 1 March 2024 was as follows:
— Gillian Carson-Callan increased her holding by 2,170 shares in February 2024 following the vesting of the share plans.

There were no changes to the Non-executive Directors interests during this time.
End of information in the Remuneration Report that forms an integral part of the audited Consolidated Financial Statements.

The Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee is chaired by Jorgen Buhl Rasmussen and currently comprises three Non-executive Directors. John Moloney and
Gonzalo Restrepo retired from the Committee following the Group’s AGM held on 28 April 2023. Mary Lynn Ferguson-McHugh joined the Committee
in January 2023. The Directors’ biographical details on pages 112 to 115 demonstrate that the members of the Committee bring to it a wide range of
experience in the area of senior executive remuneration in comparable companies.

The Committee receives advice from independent remuneration consultants, as appropriate, to supplement its knowledge and to keep the Committee
updated on current trends and practices. In 2023, the Committee received advice from its independent advisors, Ellason LLP, in relation to the external
governance landscape and on the approach to executive remuneration in the Group going forward. The Committee considers that the advice provided
by Ellason, who do not have any other affiliation with the Group, was objective and independent. The total fees paid to Ellason LLP in relation to
Remuneration Committee work during 2023 were £103,020 and were charged on a time and materials basis. Ellason were appointed in 2021, following
acompetitive tender process. Ellason are signatories to the Remuneration Consultants’ Group code of conduct in relation to executive remuneration
consulting in the UK.

The role and responsibilities of the Committee are set out in its Terms of Reference which were updated and approved in November 2023 and are
available on the Group’s website: smurfitkappa.com.

The Committee met seven times during the year. Details of Committee members and meetings attended are provided in the table on page 129. The Group
Chief Executive Officer normally attends the meetings and the Group Chief Financial Officer and Group VP Human Resources attend when appropriate
(none are involved in discussions concerning their own remuneration).

Statement on Shareholder Voting
The Company is committed to ongoing dialogue with our shareholders regarding executive remuneration. The Company’s intention had been to engage
with major shareholders during 2023 on the Policy renewal, but this consultation programme was cancelled in light of the proposed Combination.

The following table shows the voting outcomes at the 28 April 2023 AGM for the 2022 Directors’ Remuneration Report and the voting outcome at the
30 April 2021 AGM for the Directors’ Remuneration Policy.

VotesForand % Votes Cast % Votes Cast
ltem Discretionary For Votes Against Against  Total Votes Cast Votes Withheld
Directors' Remuneration Report 156,754,868 86.5% 24,437,034 13.5% 181,191,902 2,862,012
Directors’ Remuneration Policy (2021 AGM) 146,576,022 94.0% 9,420,688 6.0% 155,996,710 1,266,390

150 Smurfit Kappa Annual Report 2023



Overview Strategic Report

@ Governance Financial Statements

Nomination Committee Report

o

Dear Shareholders, | am pleased
to present the Nomination
Committeereport, my first

as Chair, covering the work the
Committee performed during
the 2023 financial year.

Anne Anderson
Chair of Nomination Committee

5March 2024

Committee Members
A. Anderson (Chair)
F.Beurskens

I.Finan

K Hietala

J.Lawrence

The Role of the Nomination Committee

— Leadthe process for appointments to the Board and make
recommendations to the Board;

— Evaluate the balance of skills, knowledge, experience and diversity,
including geographical, gender, age and ethnic diversity, on the Board
and its Committees to ensure they operate effectively;

— Set measurable objectives and targets for diversity and inclusion
for the Board and senior Board positions (having consideration
of the requirements under the Listing Rules);

— Prepare descriptions of the role and requirements for new
appointees; and

— Give full consideration to succession planning for the Board
and senior management.

Theroles andresponsibilities of the Committee are set outinits
Terms of Reference which are available on the Group's website:
smurfitkappa.com. The Terms of Reference were reviewed and
updatedin November 2023.

Supplementary Information

Attendance Record A* B* Appointment Date
A.Anderson (Chair from

the 2023 AGM)** 5 5 2019
G.Restrepo (Chairup to

the 2023 AGM)** 1 1 2019
F.Beurskens 5 5 2013
I. Finan*** 4 4 2019
K.Hietala** 4 4 2023
J.Lawrence 5 4 2015

*  ColumnAindicates the number of meetings held during the period the Director was
amember ofthe Committee and was eligible to attend and Column Bindicates the
number of meetings attended.
Gonzalo Restreporetired from the Board and as Chair of the Committee at the
conclusion ofthe AGMin April 2023 and was succeeded by Anne Anderson as Chair
ofthe Committee. Kaisa Hietala was appointed to the Committee followingthe AGM.
*** |rial Finan was not eligible tojoin one of the meetings as it was in convened to discuss
the Chair succession.

*

*

Membership of the Committee

The Committee is currently comprised of five Non-executive Directors.
The Committee met five times during the year under review. Details of
Committee members and meetings attended are providedin the table
above. The Group Chief Executive Officer normally attends meetings
of the Committee and the Group VP Human Resources attends as
appropriate. At the conclusion of the AGM in April 2023, | succeeded
Gonzalo Restrepo as Chair of this Committee following his retirement
from the Board and Kaisa Hietala, Senior Independent Director (‘SID’)
was appointed to this Committee.
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Nomination Committee Report continued

Areas of Focus

The Committee has fully complied with the principles of the Code, which
includes up-to-date guidance for Nomination Committees of companies
listed on the London Stock Exchange and Euronext Dublin throughout
the accounting period.

The primary role of the Committee is to monitor and maintain an
appropriate balance of skills, experience, independence and diversity on
the Board while regularly reviewing its structure, size and composition. It
isalso responsible for ensuring there is a formal, rigorous and transparent
process for the appointment of new Directors to the Board.

Where necessary, the Committee uses the services of external advisors

in order to assistin the search for new appointments to the Board. Advisors
are provided with a brief which takes into consideration the skills,
experience and diversity required at the time to give balance to the Board.
When suitable candidates have been identified, some Committee members
will meet with them and if a candidate is agreed upon, the Committee will
then recommend the candidate to the Board. All appointments to the Board
are approved by the Board as a whole. All newly appointed Directors are
subject to election by shareholders at the AGM following their appointment
and in compliance with the Code, all Directors are required to retire at
each AGM and offer themselves for re-election.

Succession planning is a fundamental aspect of the Committee’s work
both for Directors and senior management. A detailed succession
planning processis in place which has been developed and has evolved
inrecent years. The Committee and the Board regularly review succession
plans for Directors and senior management of the Group and are assisted
by comprehensive updates from the Group VP Human Resources.

There were a number of recommendations in relation to the Committee
arising from the externally facilitated evaluation of the Committee which
was conducted by Ffion Hague of Independent Board Evaluation (‘IBE’)
during 2022. The Committee considered the recommendations during
the year and agreed steps in relation to the following: enhancement of the
existing comprehensive induction process to tailor it more specifically
toindividual non-executive director background and their specific role
onthe Board including committee specific induction; development

of amentor programme for new appointments to the Board or for new
Committee Chairs as appropriate; and review of the process around
Board refreshment and the planning of future appointments.

Refreshing the Board and its Committees

During the year, the Committee evaluated the composition of the Board
with respect to the balance of skills, knowledge, experience and diversity,
including geographical, gender, age and ethnic diversity.

Mary Lynn Ferguson-McHugh was appointed as an independent
Non-executive Director effective 5 January 2023. As outlined in the 2022
Annual Report, this appointment was made following a process which
involved Russell Reynolds Associates, who had no other affiliation

with the Group.

Following the retirement of John Moloney and Gonzalo Restrepo from the
Board atthe conclusion of the 2023 AGM, Jergen Buhl Rasmussen succeeded
John as Chair of the Remuneration Committee, Kaisa Hietala succeeded
Jorgen as Chair of the Sustainability Committee and I succeeded

Gonzalo as Chair of this Committee. There were no further changes or
appointments to the Board during the year, with the proposed Combination
with WestRock a conditioning factor in the latter months of the year.

Subsequent to these changes the Committee further considered the
composition of the Board which it concluded was currently compliant with
all Group and governance requirements. The Committee will review the
composition again in 2024.
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Chair Succession

Tenure

Irial Finan joined the Board in February 2012 and was appointed Chairin
May 2019. He was independent at the time of appointment, as recommended
by the Code. He was appointed as Chair designate in October 2018 and
became Chair at the conclusion of the AGM in May 2019.

In 2021, as Irial had then exceeded nine years on the Board, a
comprehensive review of the Chair’s tenure including a shareholder
consultation was conducted. On completion of the review, the Board
concluded thatitwas in the bestinterests of the Company and its
stakeholders including its shareholders, that the tenure of Irial be
extended by a period of up to three years (or up to the 2025 AGM) as it
would provide clarity and certainty for all stakeholders of the Group. Full
details of the review process undertaken and the rationale for the Board’s
recommendation are outlined in the 2021 Annual Report on pages 84 and
85, and in the 2022 Annual Report on page 111. Atthe 2022 AGM and the
2023 AGM there was strong support from the Company’s shareholders for
the Chair with approximately 93% of votes cast in favour of his re-election
atboth meetings.

During 2023, the Chair Succession process remained a priority for the
Senior Independent Director.

Inline with the commitments outlined in the 2022 Annual Report,
anindependent external recruitment firm was appointed following a
formal selection process led by the SID and the Chair of the Nomination
Committee. A comprehensive exercise was also undertaken to prepare
and approve a detailed specification for the role. This process included
external benchmarking, interviews with each individual Board member
and input from the external recruitment firm, the output of which was
approved by the Board.

Aninternal evaluation of the Chair’s performance was conducted by

the SID as part of the overall Board evaluation process during 2023. This
followed the externally facilitated evaluation that was conducted in 2022.
The feedback from the external evaluation of Irial was highly positive
with recognition of the interpersonal dynamics Irial has established
inwhatis considered a diverse and engaged Board. The external review
alsonoted Irial’s strong people, investor and customer focus as well as
his notable understanding of our business. The outcome of the internal
evaluation in 2023 reinforced this highly positive feedback of the Chair.

On 12 September 2023, Smurfit Kappa and WestRock announced the
signing of a definitive transaction agreement to create Smurfit WestRock,
agloballeader in sustainable packaging. The announcement noted that
Smurfit WestRock will bring together the best of both companies’
management teams to create a world class leadership team and announced
thatIrial Finan will be Chair of the Board of Directors of Smurfit WestRock.

Inlight of the developments relating to the proposed Combination, the SID
gave due consideration to the continuation of the Chair succession process
and proposed that the process be postponed. The Board concluded that
stability, effective leadership and the continuity of the Chair position during
this time of significant change for the Company was critical. As a result
the Board decided thatitisin the bestinterests of all stakeholders that the
Chair Succession process be postponed (subject to shareholder approval
of the proposed Combination in 2024).

In conclusion, the Board believes that while the decision has been taken
to postpone the process, it remains in the best interests of all stakeholders
that Irial continue as Chair during this time of significant change for the
Company. The Board is therefore recommending to shareholders the
re-election of Irial Finan at the forthcoming AGM in April 2024.
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Board and Committee Evaluation

The SID coordinated a rigorous annual internal evaluation of the
operation and performance of the Board, its Committees, the Directors
and the performance of the Chair during 2023. Please see further details
of this internal evaluation in the Corporate Governance Statement
onpage 122.

Aninternal evaluation of the Committee was undertaken in 2023.
The conclusion from that process was that the performance of the
Committee and the Chair of the Committee were satisfactory.

Board Balance and Effectiveness

Asisthe case each year, the Committee reviewed the size and
performance of the Board during 2023. Key elements of ensuring the
Board continues to operate at a high standard are independent oversight
and adiverse background of skills, which allow Non-executive Directors
to scrutinise and, when necessary, challenge management proposals
and strategy. The Committee continues to review that each of the
Non-executive Directors, excluding the Chair, remain impartial and
independentin order to meet the challenges of their roles. Throughout the
year, over half of the Board was comprised of independent Non-executive
Directors. The Board has had due regard to various matters which might
affect, or appear to affect, the independence of certain Directors.

The Board considers that other than Frits Beurskens, each of the
Non-executive Directors is independent. In determining the independence
of the Non-executives, the Committee scrutinised any issues relating to
actual or perceived conflicts of interest.

Boardroom and Senior Management Diversity

Asaglobal business, inclusion, diversity and equality are integral to how
we do business. The Board and Committee recognise the importance

of these values at Board level, senior management level and throughout
the organisation.

Aspart of our Better Planet 2050 Targets, we set an ambitious target of 25%
of management positions to be held by women by 2024. We successfully
reached this target with 25.1% of management positions held by women at
the end 0f 2023. The Board is committed to ensuring that gender diversity
continues to be a focus on its Board and senior management agendas and
to increasing the representation of women within senior management
roles. At Board level, female representation is currently 45% and therefore
in excess of both the FCA Listing Rules target and the FTSE Women'’s
Leader target of 40% representation in relation to gender diversity. In
addition, the female representation of our Group Executive Committee is
33% atthe year end. We also continue to be compliant with the FCA Listing
Rule requirement to have atleast one senior board position held by a
woman, with Kaisa Hietala in the position of Senior Independent Director.
You can read more about diversity at Smurfit Kappa in our Corporate
Governance Statement and our People section on page 123 and 96 to 109.

The Board and Committee gives due regard to all aspects of diversity
including ethnic and social diversity. The Board includes Directors from
seven different nationalities. The Board and the Committee are mindful
of the requirements of the FCA Listing Rules and recommendation of the
Parker Review to have atleast one Board member from an ethnic minority
background and the Board currently meets this recommendation.

We are also mindful of the additional voluntary requests from the Parker
Review: to provide a target percentage on ethnic diversity of our senior
management team for December 2027; and to report on the current ethnic
diversity of the senior management team.

We emphasise that any search for Board candidates and any subsequent
appointments are made on merit and against objective criteria, in the
context of the appropriate balance of skills, diversity of knowledge and
thinking, professional and geographic backgrounds and experience
which the Board as a whole requires to be effective.

We are committed to appointing the best people and ensuring thatall
employees have an equal opportunity of developing their skills within

the Group. We have been on an accelerated journey to achieve step
changes across many of the initiatives within our EveryOne programme.
(Further information on EveryOne is available on pages 102 to 103 of the
Report.) With significant input and effort from our teams across the world,
many of our key areas of focus for Inclusion, Diversity, and Equality have
seen substantial progress over the past few years. This is testimony to the
shared commitment to creating a globally admired company with diverse
talent, where all employees feel respected and all have a sense of belonging.

Anne Anderson
Chair of Nomination Committee
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Sustainability Committee Report

o

Dear Shareholders, | am pleased
to present the 2023 report of
the Sustainability Committee,
my first as Chair, and outline
the Committee’s continued
development, its objectives

and activities.

KaisaHietala
Chair of Sustainability Committee

5March 2024

Committee Members
K. Hietala (Chair)
A.Anderson

L. Melgar
J.BuhlRasmussen

The Role of the Sustainability Committee

The Committee has responsibility for:

— Providing strategic guidance and support to managementin the
implementation of the Smurfit Kappa Sustainability Strategy which
isbased on three key strategic sustainability and corporate
responsibility pillars, People, Planet and Impactful Business;

— Reviewingand approving the annual Sustainable Development
Report and the Sustainability section of the Annual Report;

— Reviewing the TCFD (Task Force on Climate-related Financial
Disclosures) compliance and reporting of climate-related
financialinformation;

— Reviewing the climate risks and opportunities of the Group including
consideration of emerging trends and mitigating actions; and

— Engagement with the workforce on behalf of the Board as required
by the Code.

Therole and responsibilities of the Committee are set outinits
Terms of Reference which are available on the Group's website:
smurfitkappa.com. The Terms of Reference were reviewed and
updatedin November 2023.
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Attendance Record A* B* Appointment Date
K. Hietala (Chair fromthe

2023 AGM) 6 6 2021
A.Anderson 6 6 2019
L.Melgar 6 6 2020
J.BuhlRasmussen (Chair

uptothe 2023 AGM) 6 6 2019

*  ColumnAindicates the number of meetings held during the period the Director was
amember of the Committee and was eligible to attend and Column Bindicates the
number of meetings attended.

Membership of the Committee

The Committee is currently comprised of four Non-executive Directors.
The Committee met six times during the year under review. Details of
Committee members and meetings attended are providedin the table
above. The Group Chief Sustainability Officer normally attends meetings
of the Committee and the Group Chair, Group Chief Executive Officer,
Group Chief Financial Officer and the Group VP Human Resources attend
as appropriate. | replaced Jgrgen Buhl Rasmussen as Chair of the
Committee at the conclusion of the AGM in April 2023. Jgrgen remains
amember of this Committee.
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Strategic Sustainability Priorities

Asaresponsible company, operating globally, Smurfit Kappa hasa
product that is naturally sustainable and a process thatis increasingly
sustainable, driven by a culture with strong values of loyalty, integrity,
respect and safety at work. Smurfit Kappa understands the challenges
facing both our business and the planet and is committed to doing its part
inresolving these critical issues. Driven by our purpose to create, protect
and care, Smurfit Kappa Group is dedicated to sustainable growth for our
stakeholders across three pillars: Planet, People and Impactful Business.
Our main strategic sustainability priorities are, our People and our
Communities, Climate Change, Forest, Water and Waste.

Strategic Guidance

The Board upholds the highest standards of corporate governance and
ethical business conduct, and is focused on creating sustainable value for,
amongst others, our customers, investors, employees, suppliers and the
communities in which we are privileged to operate. The Committee is
responsible for providing strategic guidance to managementin the
implementation of the Smurfit Kappa sustainability strategy, ensuring
alignment with global best practices.

Asaprincipal risk for the Group, climate change is reviewed regularly
atboth Board and Executive level. Climate change has been recorded as
amaterialissue for the Group since 2007. Climate risk and opportunities
reporting continued during the year including the consideration of
emerging and mitigating actions, in addition to reviewing TCFD
compliance and reporting of climate-related financial information.

A disclosure consistent with the recommendations of TCFD is outlined
on pages 78 to 95 of this report. There is continuous evolution in the laws
and regulations in relation to climate change which are constantly
monitored as part of the Group’s risk management process.

Areas of Focusin2023

The Committee had another very active and productive year with
the Group completing many projects across its sustainability agenda,
which have been outlined below and throughout this Annual Report.

The Group has ambitious goals and sustainability targets, Better Planet
2050, that quantify our commitment to protect what we care about - our
planet, our people and our business. Our interim emissions target has
been approved by the Science Based Targets initiative (‘SBTi’) asin line
with the Paris Agreement.

During 2023, the Committee was engaged across anumber of climate
related topics which included external training on climate scenario
analysis, areview of the World Economic Forum ‘How to Set Up Effective
Climate Governance on Corporate Boards’, Scope 3 emissions and the
Group climate risk register.

Ithasbeen ayear since the Kunming-Montreal Global Biodiversity
Framework (‘GBF’) was successfully adopted in Montreal, Canada
in December 2022. At Smurfit Kappa we understand the importance
of developing a greater understanding of nature-based risks and
opportunities and as a result were delighted to approve the Group
announcing its early adoption of the Taskforce on Nature-related
Financial Disclosures (‘TNFD’). The Committee look forward to the
ongoing progress and disclosure with respect to nature in advance
of the 2025 commitment.

The Board considered a number of strategic investments including an
energy projectin Italy and water projects in France and Germany. These
projects support the delivery of the Group’s mid-term targets and enable
the continued improvement in its sustainability performance. The Board
also had aregulatory update at each meeting reflecting the importance
of draftlegislation specific to the Group’s business.

The Committee was pleased to see the delivery of some of our 2025 targets
in 2023. In 2023, SKG reported the highest CoC certification percentage
in the Group’s history at 95.5%, ahead of its 95%, 2025 target. The Group
also reported a 35.8% reduction in waste to landfill, ahead of its 30%, 2025

target. In addition, the Group has reported 25.1% of management positions

being held by women at the end of 2023.

Details of our progress against the targets in our Better Planet 2050
commitments are included on pages 8 and 9.

During 2023, Iwas proud to see recognition of the Group from a number
of third parties such as, the Climate Governance Initiative (in collaboration
with the World Economic Forum) which profiled Smurfit Kappa for its
cohesive approach to climate and sustainability strategy.

In relation to our customers and their demands for more sustainable
packaging solutions, the Committee was also pleased to see the number
of awards for innovation and also global companies, such as PepsiCo,
awarding Smurfit Kappa ‘Best supplier’ reflecting the hard work and
dedication of the approximately 47,000 employees. Our Better Planet
Packaging initiative also provides us with a key platform for differentiation
in a competitive market. Details of some of the innovations and solutions
we have provided to customers are included on pages 10 to 15.

In March 2023, further evidence of the Group’s strong sustainability
credentials was demonstrated by the publication of our 16t Sustainability
Development Report (‘SDR’). The Group’s 17" SDR will again be published
simultaneously with this Annual Report. In October 2023, the Group
published its second Green Bond Allocation and Impact Report. This
report provided details on the use of the proceeds of the Group’s inaugural
€1 billion dual-tranche Green Bond issued in September 2021.

Workforce Engagement
Inline with the requirements of the Code, the Committee is also
responsible for engaging with the workforce on behalf of the Board.

During 2023, the Committee continued its engagement by attending
several meetings and interactions with employees directly. These
included a virtual employee workshop in January, with a focus on
Inclusion, Diversity and Equality, in addition to site visits and meetings
with employees in France and the Dominican Republic. The Committees
ongoing indirect engagement continued during the year through data
review. These meetings focused on ensuring positive supportand
engagement with our workforce on a number of topics which included:
Investing in People Development, Health, Safety and Wellbeing, Female
Engagement; Inclusion, Diversity and Equality (ID&E’); Workplace
Satisfaction and Career Development. Additionally, the Committee
reviewed feedback on subjects such as ethics and reported to the Board
on matters such as employee sentiment, views and overall areas of interest
for employees while also taking into account employee turnover and
morale. For further details on employee engagement, see pages 52 to 53.

Committee Evaluation

Aninternal evaluation of the Committee was undertaken in 2023.
The conclusion from that process was that the performance of the
Committee and the Chair of the Committee were satisfactory.

Looking Ahead

This Committee will continue to provide guidance and support to
management in the development of the Group’s sustainability strategy
asthe Group continues its sustainability journey in 2024. There are many
projectsin the areas of Planet, People and Impactful Business which will
be delivered in 2024 and beyond.

The Committee has approved a Sustainability training and development
programme which will do a deep dive into various, relevant topics
during 2024.

The Committee is encouraged by the progress the Group has made so far

and we look forward to reporting on our continued progress to all of our
stakeholdersin the years ahead.

Kaisa Hietala
Chair of the Sustainability Committee
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Directors’ Report

Report of the Directors
The Directors submit their Report and Audited Financial Statements
for the financial year ended 31 December 2023.

Principal Activity and Business Review

The Group is an integrated paper and paperboard manufacturer and
converter whose operations are divided into Europe and the Americas and
one in Africa. Geographically, the major economic environments in which
the Group conducts its business are Europe (principally the Eurozone,
Sweden and the United Kingdom) and the Americas (principally
Argentina, Brazil, Colombia, Mexico and the United States).

The Chair’s Statement, Group Chief Executive Officer’s Statement,

Strategy Statement, Finance Review (including financial risk management
policies), Stakeholder Engagement, Sustainability Report and People
Reporton pages 18 to 29 and pages 40 to 109 report on the performance

of the Group during the year and on future developments.

Results for the Year
The results for the year are set out in the Consolidated Income Statement
on page 168.

Key Performance Indicators are set out on pages 30to 33. The Consolidated
Financial Statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2023 are
setoutin detail on pages 168 to 225.

Dividends

In May 2023, a final dividend of 107.6 cent per share was paid to holders of
ordinary shares, and in October 2023, an interim dividend of 33.5 cent per
share was paid to holders of ordinary shares. The Board is recommending
afinal dividend of 118.4 cent per share for 2023. Subject to shareholders’
approval at the AGM on 26 April 2024, it is proposed to pay the final
dividend on 10 May 2024 to all holders of ordinary shares on the share
register at the close of business on 12 April 2024.

Research and Development

The Company’s subsidiaries are engaged in ongoing research and
development aimed at providing innovative paper-based packaging
solutions and improving products, processes and expanding product
ranges. Expenditure on research and development in the year amounted
to €10 million (2022: €8 million).

Accounting Records

The Directors are responsible for ensuring that adequate accounting
records, as outlined in Section 281-286 of the Companies Act, are kept

by the Company. The Directors are also responsible for the preparation
of the Annual Report. The Directors have appointed professionally
qualified accounting personnel with appropriate expertise and have
provided adequate resources to the finance function in order to ensure
thatthose requirements are met. The accounting records of the Company
are maintained at the Group’s principal executive offices, located at
Beech Hill, Clonskeagh, Dublin 4, D04 N2R2.
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Directors

The current members of the Board are named on pages 112 to 115
together with a short biographical note on each Director. Mary Lynn
Ferguson-McHugh was appointed to the Board on 5 January 2023,
John Moloney and Gonzalo Restrepo retired from the Board following
the AGM held in April 2023.

Any Director co-opted to the Board by the Directors is subject to election
by the shareholders atthe first AGM after their appointment. Pursuant
to the Articles of Association, all Directors are subject to re-election at
intervals of no more than three years. However, in compliance with the
Code, all Directors will retire at the 2024 AGM and will put themselves
forward for re-election.

To enable shareholders to make an informed decision on the re-election
of each Director, reference should be made to pages 112 to 115 which
contains a biographical note on each Director offering themselves for
re-election and to the Notice of the AGM which explains why the Board
believes the relevant Directors should be re-elected. The Directors intend
to confirm atthe AGM that the performance of each individual seeking
re-election continues to be effective and demonstrates commitment
totherole.

Shareholders are referred to the information contained in the Corporate
Governance Statement on pages 116 to 124 concerning the operation of the
Board and the composition and functions of the Committees of the Board.

Directors’ and Secretary’s Interests

Details of the Directors’ and Group Secretary’s interests in the share
capital of the Company are set out in the Remuneration Report on
pages 147, 148 and 150 and are incorporated into this Directors’ Report.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

Under Irish company law (Section 327 of the Companies Act), the Directors
are required to give a description of the principal risks and uncertainties
which the Group faces. These principal risks and uncertainties are set out
on pages 36 to 39, and form part of this report as required by Section 327

of the Companies Act.

Corporate Governance

Under Section 1373 of the Companies Act, the Directors’ Report s required
toinclude a Corporate Governance Statement. The Directors’ Corporate
Governance Statement is set out on pages 116 to 124 and forms part of this
Annual Report. The Audit Committee Report, the Remuneration Report
and the Nomination Report are set out on pages 125 to 153.

Subsidiary and Associated Undertakings

Alistof the Group’s principal subsidiaries and associates as at

31 December 2023 is set out in Note 30 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements.

Audit Committee
The Group has established an Audit Committee. The responsibilities
of the Audit Committee are outlined on page 125.
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Substantial Holdings

31December2023

% ofIssued
Ordinary Share

1March 2024

% of Issued
Ordinary Share

Number of Shares Capital Number of Shares Capital
BlackRock, Inc. 22,316,323 8.57% 23,716,279 9.08%
Norges Bank 16,592,130 6.37% 17,411,326 6.67%
Goldman Sachs Groups, Inc.* - - 16,067,101 6.16%
AmundiAsset Management 10,416,845 4.02% 10,336,065 3.96%

*  Shareholding was below 3% as at 31 December 2023.

The table above shows all notified shareholdings of 3% or more of the issued ordinary share capital of the Company as at 31 December 2023 and

1 March 2024.

Non-financial Information

Pursuant to the European Union (Disclosure of Non-Financial and Diversity Information by certain large undertakings and groups) Regulations 2017
(the ‘Non-Financial and Diversity Information Regulation’) together with the Disclosures Delegated Act supplementing Article 8 of the Taxonomy
Regulation, (together, the ‘Non-Financial Regulations’), the Group is required to report certain non-financial information to provide an understanding
of its development, performance, position and the impact of its activities. We have set out the location below of the information required by the
Non-Financial Regulations in this Annual Report. Each referenced section of the Annual Report is deemed to form part of this Directors’ Report:

Requirement Relevant Policies Section(s)in Annual Report Pages
Environmental Matters Environmental Policy, Sustainable Sourcing Policy, Sustainable Sustainability 58t095
Forestry and Fibre Sourcing Policy

Social Matters Social Citizenship Policy Sustainability, People 58to0 109
Employee Matters Code of Conduct, Health and Safety Policy, Social Citizenship Policy ~ Sustainability, People 58t0 109
HumanRights Code of Conduct, Social Citizenship Policy Sustainability 58t095
Anti-corruptionandBribery =~ Code of Conduct Sustainability 58t095
Business Model Our Business Model 26to27
Principal Risks Risk Report 34t039
Non-Financial KPIs Key Performance Indicators 30to33
EU Taxonomy Sustainability 58t095

In addition to the information required by the Non-Financial Regulations,
the Group publishes a comprehensive, assured Sustainable Development
Reportwhich details our sustainability strategy, corporate social
responsibilities and commitments to social matters. The 2023 Sustainable
Development Report will be published on our website in March 2024.

Purchase of Own Shares

Special resolutions will be proposed at the 2024 AGM to renew the
authority of the Company, or any of its subsidiaries, to purchase up to

10% of the Company’s ordinary shares in issue at the date of the AGM and
in relation to the maximum and minimum prices at which treasury shares
(effectively shares purchased by the Company and not cancelled) may be
re-issued off-market by the Company. If granted, the authority will expire
on the earlier of the date of the 2025 AGM or 25 July 2025.

A similar authority was granted at the AGM in 2023, which is due to expire
onthe earlier of the date of the AGM in 2024 or 27 July 2024.

Change of Control

Inthe event of a change of control, the lenders under the Revolving
Credit Facility which has been entered into by the Group would have

the option to cancel the commitments under the facility and/or to declare
all outstanding amounts immediately due and payable, and under the
Senior Notes Indentures the Group may be obliged to offer to repurchase
the notes.

Capital Structure

Details of the structure of the Company’s capital are set out in Note 21 to
the Consolidated Financial Statements and are deemed to form part of this
Directors’ Report. Details of the Group’s long-term incentive plans are set
outin the Remuneration Report and Note 24 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements and are incorporated into this Directors’ Report.
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Directors’ Report continued

Directors’ Compliance Statement

The Directors acknowledge that they are responsible for securing
compliance by the Company of its relevant obligations as set outin the
Companies Act (the ‘Relevant Obligations’).

The Directors further confirm that there is a Compliance Policy Statement
in place setting out the Company’s policies which, in the Directors’
opinion, are appropriate to ensure compliance with the Company’s
Relevant Obligations.

The Directors also confirm that appropriate arrangements and structures
are in place which, in the Directors’ opinion, are designed to secure
material compliance with the Company’s Relevant Obligations. For the
financial year ended 31 December 2023, the Directors, with the assistance
of the Audit Committee, have conducted a review of the arrangements and
structures in place. In discharging their responsibilities under Section 225
of the Companies Act, the Directors relied on the advice of persons who
the Directors believe have the requisite knowledge and experience to
advise the Company on compliance with its Relevant Obligations.

Financial Instruments

In the normal course of business, the Group has exposure to a variety of
financial risks, including foreign currency risk, interest rate risk, liquidity
risk, refinancing risk and credit risk. The Group and Company financial
risk objectives and policies are set out in Note 27 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements.

Disclosure of Information to the External Auditor

For the purposes of Section 330 of the Companies Act, each of the Directors

individually confirm that:

— Insofarastheyareaware, there is no relevant audit information
of which the Company’s External Auditor is unaware; and

— They have taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as Directors
in order to make themselves aware of any relevant audit information
and to establish that the Company’s External Auditor is aware of such
information.

External Auditor

KPMG, Chartered Accountants, were first appointed statutory auditors
on 4 May 2018 and have been reappointed annually since that date and

pursuant to Section 383(2) of the Companies Act will continue in office.

A. Smurfit K.Bowles
Director Director
5March 2024
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Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities

The Directors as at the date of this Annual Report, whose names and
functions are listed on pages 112 to 115, are responsible for preparing
the Annual Reportand the Group and Company Financial Statements,
inaccordance with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the Directors to prepare Group and Company
Financial Statements for each financial year. The Directors are required to
prepare the Group Financial Statements in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS’) as adopted by the European Union
and applicable law including Article 4 of Regulation (EC) No 1606/2002

of the European Parliament and of the Council of 19 July 2002 on the
application of international accounting standards (the TAS Regulation’).
The Directors have elected to prepare the Company Financial Statements
inaccordance with IFRS as adopted by the European Union as applied

in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act.

Under company law, the Directors must not approve the Group and
Company Financial Statements unless they are satisfied that they give
atrue and fair view of the assets, liabilities and financial position of

the Group and Company and of the Group’s profit or loss for that year.

In preparing each of the Group and Company Financial Statements,

the Directors are required to:

— Select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

— Make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

— State whether applicable IFRS (as adopted by the European Union)
have been followed, subject to any material departures disclosed
and explained in the financial statements; and

— Prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless
itisinappropriate to presume that the Group and its Parent Company
will continue in business.

The Directors are also required by Statutory Instrument 277/2007
Transparency (Directive 2004/109/EC) Regulations 2007 (as amended)
(the ‘Transparency Directive’) and the Central Bank (Investment Market
Conduct) Rules 2019 to include a management report containing a fair
review of the business and a description of the principal risks and
uncertainties facing the Group.

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records
which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the assets, liabilities,
financial position and profit or loss of the Company and which enable
them to ensure that the Financial Statements of the Company comply with
the provisions of the Companies Act. The Directors are also responsible
for taking all reasonable steps to ensure such records are kept by its
subsidiaries which enable them to ensure that the Financial Statements
of the Group comply with the provisions of the Companies Actincluding
Article 4 of the IAS Regulation. They are responsible for such internal
controls as they determine necessary to enable the preparation of
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error, and have general responsibilities for safeguarding
the assets of the Company and the Group, and hence for taking reasonable
steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The Directors are also responsible for preparing a Directors’ Report that
complies with the requirements of the Companies Act.

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the
corporate and financial information included on the Group’s and Company’s
website. Irish Law concerning the preparation and dissemination of
financial statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

Responsibility Statement as Required by the Transparency

Directive and Code

Each of the Directors, whose names and functions are listed on pages 112

to 115 of this Annual Report, confirm that, to the best of each person’s

knowledge and belief:

— The Group Financial Statements, prepared in accordance with IFRS
(as adopted by the European Union) and the Company Financial
Statements prepared in accordance with IFRS (as adopted by the
European Union) as applied in accordance with the provisions
of Companies Act, give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities
and financial position of the Group and Company, as applicable
at 31 December 2023 and of the profit or loss of the Group and
the Company for the year then ended;

— The Directors’ Report contained in the Annual Reportincludes a fair
review of the development and performance of the business and the
position of the Group and Company, together with a description of the
principal risk and uncertainties that they face; and

— The Annual Report and Financial Statements, taken as a whole,
provides the information necessary to assess the Group’s performance,
business model and strategy and is fair, balanced and understandable
and provides the information necessary for shareholders to assess the
Group’s position and performance, business model and strategy.

On behalf of the Board

A. Smurfit K.Bowles
Director Director
5March 2024
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Independent Auditor’s Report
to the Members of Smurfit Kappa Group plc

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the Financial Statements of Smurfit Kappa Group plc
(‘the Company’) and its consolidated undertakings (‘the Group’) for the
year ended 31 December 2023, set out on pages 168 to 225 and including
the information on pages 147 to 150, that is described as being an integral
partof the Financial Statements, and contained within the reporting
package 635400CPLP8HSITDVT56-2023-12-31-en.zip, which comprise
the Consolidated Income Statement, Consolidated Statement of
Comprehensive Income, Consolidated Balance Sheet, Company Balance
Sheet, Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity, Company Statement
of Changes in Equity, Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows, Company
Statement of Cash Flows and related notes, including the Summary of
Material Accounting Policies set out in Note 2.

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their
preparation is Irish Law, including the Commission Delegated
Regulation 2019/815 regarding the single electronic reporting format
(‘ESEF’) and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS’)
asadopted by the European Union and, as regards the Company
Financial Statements, as applied in accordance with the provisions
of the Companies Act 2014.

In our opinion:

— The Financial Statements give a true and fair view of the assets,
liabilities and financial position of the Group and Company as at
31 December 2023 and of the Group’s profit for the year then ended;

— The Group Financial Statements have been properly prepared in
accordance with IFRS as adopted by the European Union;

— The Company Financial Statements have been properly preparedin
accordance with IFRS as adopted by the European Union, as applied
in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2014; and

— The Group and Company Financial Statements have been properly
prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act
2014 and, as regards the Group Financial Statements, Article 4 of the
IAS Regulation.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on
Auditing (Ireland) (ISAs (Ireland)) and applicable law. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities section of our report. We believe that the audit evidence

we have obtained is a sufficient and appropriate basis for our opinion.

Our audit opinion is consistent with our report to the Audit Committee.

We were appointed as auditor by the members on 4 May 2018. The period
of total uninterrupted engagement is the six years ended 31 December
2023. We have fulfilled our ethical responsibilities under, and we
remained independent of the Group in accordance with, ethical
requirements applicable in Ireland, including the Ethical Standard issued
by the Irish Auditing and Accounting Supervisory Authority (TAASA’)
asapplied to public interest entities. No non-audit services prohibited

by that standard were provided.

Conclusions Relating to Going Concern

In auditing the Financial Statements, we have concluded that the
Directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation
of the Financial Statements is appropriate. Our evaluation of the Directors’
assessment of the Group’s and Company’s ability to continue to adopt the
going concern basis of accounting included: considering the inherent
risks to the Group’s and Company’s business model and analysing how
those risks might affect the Group’s and Company’s financial resources
or ability to continue operations over the going concern period.

We incorporated additional downside sensitivities to management’s
underlying cash flow models. There were no risks identified that we
considered were likely to have a material adverse effect on the Group’s
and Company’s available financial resources over this period.

162 Smurfit Kappa Annual Report 2023

Based on the work we have performed, we have notidentified any material
uncertainties relating to events or conditions that, individually or
collectively, may cast significant doubt on the Group or the Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern for a period of at least twelve months
from the date when the Financial Statements are authorised for issue.

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the Directors with respect
to going concern are described in the relevant sections of this report.

Inrelation to the Group and the Company’s reporting on how they have
applied the UK Corporate Governance Code and the Irish Corporate
Governance Annex, we have nothing material to add or draw attention to
in relation to the Directors’ statement in the Financial Statements about
whether the Directors considered it appropriate to adopt the going
concern basis of accounting.

DetectingIrregularities Including Fraud

We identified the areas of laws and regulations that could reasonably

be expected to have a material effect on the Financial Statements and

risks of material misstatement due to fraud, using our understanding of

the Group’s industry, regulatory environment and other external factors
and inquiry with the Directors. In addition, our risk assessment
procedures included:

— Inquiring with the Directors and other management as to the Group’s
policies and procedures regarding compliance with laws and
regulations, identifying, evaluating and accounting for litigation and
claims, as well as whether they have knowledge of non-compliance
or instances of litigation or claims;

— Inquiring of Directors, the Audit Committee and Internal Audit and
inspection of policy documentation as to the Group’s policies and
procedures to prevent and detect fraud, including the Internal Audit
function, and the Group’s channel for ‘whistleblowing’, as well as
whether they have knowledge of any actual, suspected or alleged fraud;

— Inquiring of Directors, the Audit Committee, Internal Audit regarding
their assessment of the risk that the Financial Statements may be
materially misstated due to irregularities, including fraud;

— Inspecting the Group’s regulatory and legal correspondence;

— Reading Board and sub-committee meeting minutes;

— Considering remuneration incentive schemes and performance
targets for management and Directors including the earnings per
share target for management remuneration; and

— Performing planning analytical procedures to identify any unusual
or unexpected relationships.

We discussed identified laws and regulations, fraud risk factors and the
need to remain alert among the audit team. This included communication
from the Group to component audit teams of relevant laws and regulations
and any fraud risks identified at the Group level and requests to
component audit teams to report to the Group audit team any instances

of fraud that could give rise to a material misstatement at Group.

The Group is subject to laws and regulations that directly affect the
Financial Statements including companies and financial reporting
legislation, taxation legislation and distributable profits legislation.
We assessed the extent of compliance with these laws and regulations
as part of our procedures on the related financial statement items,
including assessing the financial statement disclosures and agreeing
them to supporting documentation when necessary.
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The Group is also subject to many other laws and regulations where the
consequences of non-compliance could have a material effect on amounts
or disclosures in the Financial Statements, for instance through the
imposition of fines or litigation. We identified the following areas as those
most likely to have such an effect: health and safety, anti-bribery,
competition law, employment law, environmental law, regulatory capital
and liquidity and certain aspects of company legislation recognising the
financial and regulated nature of the Group’s activities and its legal form.

Auditing standards limit the required audit procedures to identify
non-compliance with these non-directlaws and regulations to inquiry
of the Directors and other management and inspection of regulatory and
legal correspondence, if any. These limited procedures did not identify
actual or suspected non-compliance.

We assessed events or conditions that could indicate an incentive or
pressure to commit fraud or provide an opportunity to commit fraud.
Asrequired by auditing standards, we performed procedures to address
the risk of management override of controls and the risk of fraudulent
revenue recognition. We did not identify any additional fraud risks.

In response to the fraud risks, we also performed procedures including:
Identifyingjournal entries to test based on risk criteria and comparing
the identified entries to supporting documentation;

Evaluating the business purpose of significant unusual transactions;
Assessing significant accounting estimates for bias; and

Assessing the disclosures in the Financial Statements.

Asthe Groupis regulated, our assessment of risks involved obtaining
an understanding of the legal and regulatory framework that the Group
operates and gaining an understanding of the control environment
including the Group’s procedures for complying with regulatory
requirements.

Group Key Audit Matters

Owing to the inherentlimitations of an audit, there is an unavoidable

risk that we may not have detected some material misstatements in

the Financial Statements, even though we have properly planned and
performed our auditin accordance with auditing standards. For example,
the further removed non-compliance with laws and regulations
(irregularities) is from the events and transactions reflected in the
Financial Statements, the less likely the inherently limited procedures
required by auditing standards would identify it.

In addition, as with any audit, there remains a higher risk of non-detection
of irregularities, as these may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal controls.

We are not responsible for preventing non-compliance and cannot

be expected to detect non-compliance with all laws and regulations.

Key Audit Matters: Our Assessment of Risks of Material Misstatement
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in the audit of the Financial Statements and
include the most significant assessed risks of material misstatement
(whether or not due to fraud) identified by us, including those which had the
greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy; the allocation of resources in
the audit; and directing the efforts of the engagement team. These matters
were addressed in the context of our audit of the Financial Statements as
awhole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on these matters.

In arriving at our audit opinion above, the key audit matters, in decreasing
order of audit significance and which were unchanged from 2022,
were as follows:

Net Defined Benefit Pension Liability - Valuation €511 million (2022: €517 million)

Refer to Note 2 (accounting policy) and Note 23 (financial disclosures)

The key audit matter

How the matter was addressed in our audit

The Group operates anumber of defined benefit
pension schemes.

Accounting for such schemes givesrise toan
element of judgement and volatility arising from
movementsinactuarialassumptions and the
selection of same across the Group.

We focus on this area due to the level of estimation
uncertainty involved and the sensitivity of the
pension liabilities to changesinassumptions applied,
inparticular the discount rate.

We determined this matter to be a Key Audit Matter
forthereasons setoutabove.

We obtained and documented our understanding of the process for the accounting for defined
benefit pension schemes and tested the designand implementation of the relevant control.

Weinquired as toany changes or proposed changes to pensionarrangements to assess anyimpact
ontheaccounting treatment applied.

Weinspected Board minutes to identify any items arising that may impact on the pension
arrangementsin place.

We performed substantive testing on the key data underlying the actuarialassessment and the
maintenance of each scheme's membership data.

We challenged, with the support of our actuarial specialist, the assumptions applied to this data to
determine the Group's gross obligation, being the discount rates, inflation rate and mortality/life
expectancy. This included a comparison of these assumptions against externally derived data.

We also considered the adequacy of the Group's disclosuresin respect of the sensitivity of the net
deficit to these assumptions.

We found the assumptions usedin, and the resulting estimate of, the valuation of the defined
benefit pension liability within the Group to be reasonable and the related disclosures to
be adequate.
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Goodwill Impairment Assessment €2,475 million (2022: €2,455 million)
Refer to Note 2 (accounting policy) and Note 13 (financial disclosures)

The key audit matter

How the matter was addressedin our audit

The Group has significant goodwill arising
from acquisitions amounting to €2,475 million
at 31 December 2023.

Goodwillisrequired to be tested atleast annually
forimpairmentirrespective of whether there
areindicators ofimpairment. The Group has
performed animpairment assessment as of

31 December2023. The goodwillis allocated

to 16 groups of cash-generating units ('CGUs') -
three of which individually account for between
12% and 18% of the total carryingamount.

Therecoverable amount of goodwillis arrived at
by forecasting and discounting future cash flows
to determine value-in-use for each CGU.

Wefocus onthis area due to the significance of
the goodwill balance to the Balance Sheet and
thejudgementinvolvedinforecastingand
discounting cashflows.

We determined this matter to be a Key Audit
Matterforthereasons setoutabove.

We obtained and documented our understanding of the process followed by management
in calculating the recoverable amount of each CGU.

We assessedthe Group's valuation models and calculations by:

— Checkingthe mathematical accuracy of the model;

— Assessing the methodology applied within the modelin the context of the requirements
oftherelevantaccounting standard;

— Assessing and challenging the appropriateness of the discount rates applied and the future
operating cash flow assumptionsin determining the value-in-use of each CGU with the assistance
of our valuation specialist and by comparing the assumptions, where possible, to externally derived
dataaswellas our ownassumptions;

— Assessingand challenging the reasonableness of the long-term economic growth rate applied for
each CGU by comparing the Group's assumptions, where possible, to externally derived data;

— Performing sensitivity analysis by applying downside scenarios to certain assumptions and
considering how likely itis that the changes may arise; and

— Comparing the Group's market capitalisation to the carrying value of the Group’s net assets.

We assessed the disclosuresinthe Financial Statements relating to theimpairment testing
methodology, sensitivity analysis and other matters.

We found that management's judgements were appropriate and supported by reasonable
assumptions. We found the disclosures to be adequate.

Company Key Audit Matter

Investment in Subsidiaries = Carrying Value €2,987 million (2022: €2,955 million)
Refer to Note 2 (accounting policy) and Note 30 (financial disclosures)

The key audit matter

How the matter was addressed in our audit

Theinvestmentin subsidiary undertakings

is carriedin the Balance Sheet of the Company
at costlessimpairment. Thereis ariskinrespect
ofthe carrying value of these investments

if future cash flows and performance of these
subsidiaries is not sufficient to support the
Company'sinvestments.

We focus on this area due to the significance
ofthe balance to the Company Balance Sheet
and the judgementinvolvedin forecasting
and discounting future cash flows.

We determined this matter to be a Key Audit
Matterforthereasons setoutabove.

We obtained and documented our understanding of the process surrounding impairment
considerations.

We considered management's assessment ofimpairmentindicators by comparing the carrying value
ofinvestmentsinthe Company's Balance Sheet to the net assets of the subsidiary Financial
Statements and to the market capitalisation of the Company.

We considered the audit work performed over theimpairment testing of goodwill as outlined
inthe Group Key Audit Matterabove.

We found management's assessment of the carrying value of the investment in subsidiary
undertakings to be appropriate.
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Our Application of Materiality and an Overview of the Scope of our Audit

Materiality

Materiality for the Group and Company Financial Statements, as a whole, was determined as follows:

Group financial statements

Company financial statements

Overall materiality

€54.4million (2022: €51 million)

€29 million (2022: €29 million)

Benchmarkapplied and %

Group EBITDA of which materiality represents 2.6%
(2022:2.2%)

Totalassets of which materiality represents 1%
(2022: 1%)

Rationale for the benchmark applied
and judgementinvolved

Inapplying our judgementin determining the most

appropriate benchmark, the factors, which had

the most significantimpact were:

— Ourunderstanding that the principalitemon
which the attention of the users of the Group's
Financial Statements tends to be focused
isEBITDA;and

— EBITDAIs the principalitem used by Management
inassessing performance.

Inapplying our judgement in determining the most

appropriate benchmark, the factors, which had the

most significantimpact were:

— The elements of the Financial Statements; and

— Thenature ofthe Company and the fact that
the Companyisaninvestmentholding
company for the Group.

Inapplying our judgement in determining

the percentage to be applied to the benchmark,

the following qualitative factors had the most

significantimpact:

— The Group has a high public profile and operates
inaregulated environment;

— The Group has debt arrangements whichinclude
covenantslinked to operatingresults; and

Inapplying our judgement in determining

the percentage to be applied to the benchmark,

the following qualitative factors had the most

significantimpact:

— The Company s listed and has a high public
profile;and

— The Company, throughits underlying
operations, has operationsin 36 countries.

— The Group has operationsin 36 countries.

We applied Group materiality to assist us determine the overall audit
strategy. The scope of our audit was influenced by materiality, tailored
to reflect the Group’s structure, activities and financially significant
operations. We used materiality in our scoping procedures to identify
those reporting units for which we deemed that a complete financial
audit was required due to size, potential risks identified and to ensure
appropriate coverage. Refer to the Scoping paragraph for further detail
inrespect of this.

Performance materiality was set at 75% (2022: 75%) of materiality

for the Financial Statements as a whole, which equates to €41 million
(2022: €38 million) for the Group and €22 million (2022: €22 million) for the
Company. We use performance materiality to reduce to an appropriately
low level the probability that the aggregate of uncorrected and undetected
misstatements exceeds overall materiality. In applying our judgementin
determining performance materiality, we considered a number of factors
including: the low number and value of misstatements detected and the
low number and severity of deficiencies in control activities identified in
the prior year financial statement audit.

In addition, we applied materiality of €1 million (2022: €1 million) to
amounts described as audited within the Remuneration Report for which
we believe misstatements of lesser amounts than materiality for the
Financial Statements as a whole could be reasonably expected to influence
the Company’s members’ assessment of the financial performance of

the Group.

We reported to the Audit Committee any corrected or uncorrected
identified misstatements exceeding €2.5 million (2022: €1 million),

in addition to other identified misstatements that warranted reporting
on qualitative grounds.

Scoping

The scope of our audit was influenced by materiality, tailored to reflect
the Group’s structure, activities and financially significant operations.
The Groupis structured across two operating segments, Europe and the
Americas. The operations of the Group are significantly disaggregated,
splitacross alarge number of operating plants in 36 countries. Reporting
components are considered by individual operating plants, a combination
of plants or on a geographical basis.

We used materiality in our scoping procedures to identify those reporting
units for which we deemed a complete financial audit was required,

due to size, potential risks identified and to ensure appropriate coverage.
We also subjected certain reporting units to specified risk-focused audit
procedures. The reporting units identified amounted to 87% (2022: 92%)
of the Group’s EBITDA, 77% (2022: 76%) of the Group’s revenue and 81%
(2022: 75%) of the Group’s total assets.

The approach to the audit scoping is consistent with that applied in
previous years with some components subject to rotational scoping
tointroduce alevel of unpredictability.

Involvement with Component Teams

In establishing our overall audit approach to the Group audit, we
determined the type of work to be undertaken across the Group’s
components. The Group audit team interacted regularly with the local
KPMG component audit teams during each stage of the audit, as set out
below. The Group audit team instructed component auditors as to the
significant areas to be addressed, including the relevant risks detailed
above, and the information to be reported to the Group audit team and
was responsible for the overall scope and direction of the audit process.

Annual Report 2023 Smurfit Kappa 165



@ Financial Statements

Independent Auditor’s Report continued
to the Members of Smurfit Kappa Group plc

The Group audit team approved the materiality for components,

which ranged from €2.6 million to €10.3 million (2022: €2.1 million

to€9.4 million), having regard to the mix of size and risk profile of the
components across the Group. The work on all components was performed
by component auditors and the audit of the Company was performed by
the Group team. For the residual components, we performed analysis at
an aggregated Group level to re-examine our assessment that there were
no significant risks of material misstatement within these components.

We maintained continuous and open dialogue with the component

audit teams in addition to holding formal meetings to ensure that we
were fully aware of their progress and results of their procedures. These
communications and meetings were held physically or virtually using
video and telephone conference meetings. At these meetings, a review
of workpapers was undertaken by the Group audit team using technology
and share-screen functionality. We used materiality to assist usin
determining the scope of these reviews, and the findings reported to

the Group audit team by the component auditor were discussed in detail.
The Group team also visited a number of componentlocations in the year
in Mexico, Argentina, Spain, the United Kingdom, France and Austria.
Audit closing meetings with Group, Divisional and local management
were also carried out physically and virtually.

Other Information

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the other information
presented in the Annual Report together with the Financial Statements.
The other information comprises the information included in the
Directors’ Report, the Overview, Strategic Report, Governance and
Supplementary Information Sections of the Annual Report, excluding

the information within the Governance Section on pages 147 to 150,

thatis described as being an integral part of the Financial Statements.

The Financial Statements and our auditor’s report thereon do not
comprise partof the other information. Our opinion on the Financial
Statements does not cover the other information and, accordingly,

we do not express an audit opinion or, except as explicitly stated below,
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether, based on our Financial Statements audit work, the
information therein is materially misstated or inconsistent with the
Financial Statements or our audit knowledge. Based solely on that work
we have notidentified material misstatements in the other information.

Based solely on our work on the other information undertaken during the

course of the audit we report thatin those parts of the Directors’ Report

specified for our consideration:

— We have notidentified material misstatements in the Directors’ Report;

— Inour opinion, the information given in the Directors’ Reportis
consistent with the Financial Statements; and

— Inouropinion, the Directors’ Report has been prepared in accordance
with the Companies Act 2014.
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Corporate Governance Statement

We have reviewed the Directors’ statement in relation to going concern,
longer-term viability, that part of the Corporate Governance Statement
relating to the Company’s compliance with the provisions of the

UK Corporate Governance Code and the Irish Corporate Governance
Annex specified for our review by the Listing Rules of Euronext Dublin
and the UK Listing Authority.

Based on the work undertaken as part of our audit, we have concluded that
each of the following elements of the Corporate Governance Statement is
materially consistent with the Financial Statements and our knowledge
obtained during the audit:

— The Directors’ statement with regards the appropriateness of adopting
the going concern basis of accounting and any material uncertainties
identified set out on page 34;

— The Directors’ explanation as to their assessment of the Group’s
prospects, the period this assessment covers and why the period is
appropriate set out on page 34;

— The Directors’ statement on whether it has a reasonable expectation
that the Group will be able to continue in operation and meets its
liabilities set out on page 34;

— The Directors’ statement on fair, balanced and understandable
and the information necessary for shareholders to assess the Group’s
position and performance, business model and strategy set out on
pages 127 and 159;

— The Board’s confirmation that it has carried out a robust assessment
of the emerging and principal risks and the disclosures in the Annual
Reportthat describe the principal risks and the procedures in place
toidentify emerging risks and explain how they are being managed
or mitigated set out on page 34;

— The section of the Annual Report that describes the review of
effectiveness of risk management and internal control systems set out
on pages 34 and 128; and

— The section describing the work of the Audit Committee set out
on pages 125to 128.

The Listing Rules of Euronext Dublin also requires us to review certain
elements of disclosures in the report to shareholders by the Board of
Directors’ Remuneration Committee.

We have nothing to reportin this regard.

In addition as required by the Companies Act 2014, we report, in relation

toinformation given in the Corporate Governance Statement on

pages 116 to 124 and in the Directors’ Report on pages 156 to 158 that:

— Based on the work undertaken for our audit, in our opinion, the
description of the main features of internal control and risk
management systems in relation to the financial reporting process,
and information relating to voting rights and other matters required
by the European Communities (Takeover Bids (Directive 2004/EC))
Regulations 2006 and specified for our consideration, is consistent with
the Financial Statements and has been prepared in accordance with
the Act;

— Based on our knowledge and understanding of the Company and its
environment obtained in the course of our audit, we have not identified
any material misstatements in that information; and

— The Directors’ Report contains the information required by the
European Union (Disclosure of Non-Financial and Diversity
Information by certain large undertakings and groups)

Regulations 2017.

We also report that, based on work undertaken for our audit,
the information required by the Actis contained in the Corporate
Governance Statement.
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Our Opinions on Other Matters Prescribed by the Companies
Act 2014 are Unmodified

We have obtained all the information and explanations which we consider
necessary for the purposes of our audit.

In our opinion the accounting records of the Company were sufficient to
permit the Financial Statements to be readily and properly audited and the
Financial Statements are in agreement with the accounting records.

We have Nothing to Report on Other Matters on which

we are Required to Report by Exception

The Companies Act 2014 requires us to report to you if, in our opinion:

— Thedisclosures of Directors’ remuneration and transactions required
by Sections 305 to 312 of the Act are not made;

— The Company has not provided the information required by
Section 1110N in relation to its Remuneration Report for the financial
year 31 December 2022;

— The Company has not provided the information required by
section 5(2) to (7) of the European Union (Disclosure of Non-Financial
and Diversity Information by certain large undertakings and groups)
Regulations 2017 for the year ended 31 December 2022 as required
by the European Union (Disclosure of Non-Financial and Diversity
Information by certain large undertakings and groups) (amendment)
Regulations 2018.

‘We have nothing to reportin this regard.

Respective Responsibilities and Restrictions on use
Responsibilities of Directors for the Financial Statements

As explained more fully in the Directors’ responsibilities statement set
out on page 159, the Directors are responsible for: the preparation of the
Financial Statements including being satisfied that they give a true and
fair view; such internal control as they determine is necessary to enable
the preparation of Financial Statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; assessing the Group and
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern; and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless they either intend to liquidate the Group or the Company
or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
Financial Statements as a whole are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes
our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, butis nota
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (Ireland) will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can
arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these Financial Statements.

A fuller description of our responsibilities is provided on IAASA’s website
athttps://iaasa.ie/publications/description-of-the-auditors-
responsibilities-for-the-audit-of-the-financial-statements/.

The Purpose of our Audit Work and to Whom

we owe our Responsibilities

Our reportis made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, in
accordance with Section 391 of the Companies Act 2014. Our audit work
has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s members
those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for
no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept
or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Company and the
Company’s members, as a body, for our audit work, for this report,

or for the opinions we have formed.

Barrie O’Connell

for and on behalf of

KPMG

Chartered Accountants, Statutory Audit Firm
1 Stokes Place

St. Stephen’s Green

Dublin 2

Ireland

D02 DE03

5March 2024
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Consolidated Income Statement

For the Financial Year Ended 31 December 2023

2023 2022
Pre-exceptional Exceptional Total Pre-exceptional Exceptional Total

Note €m €m €m €m €m €m
Revenue 4 11,272 - 11,272 12,815 - 12,815
Costofsales 5 (7,485) - (7,485) (8,752) - (8,752)
Gross profit 3,787 - 3,787 4,063 - 4,063
Distribution costs 5 (927) - (927) (961) = (961)
Administrative expenses 5 (1,457) - (1,457) (1,440) = (1,440)
Other operating expenses 5 - (152) (152) = (223) (223)
Operating profit 1,403 (152) 1,251 1,662 (223) 1,439
Finance costs 7 (234) (23) (257) (184) = (184)
Financeincome 7 49 10 59 35 = 35
Share of associates' profit (after tax) 2 - 2 3 - 3
Profit beforeincome tax 1,220 (165) 1,055 1,516 (223) 1,293
Income tax expense 8 (296) (348)
Profit for the financial year 759 945
Attributable to:
Owners ofthe parent 758 944
Non-controllinginterests 1 1
Profit for the financial year 759 945
Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share—cent 9 293.5 365.3
Diluted earnings per share—cent 9 291.2 361.8
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the Financial Year Ended 31 December 2023

2023 2022
Note €m €m
Profit for the financial year 759 945
Other comprehensiveincome:
Items that may be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss
Foreign currency translation adjustments:
Arisingin the financial year 12 (63)
Recycledto Consolidated Income Statement 28 -
Effective portion of changes infair value of cash flow hedges:
Movement out of reserve 5 -
Fair value loss on cash flow hedges (1) (5)
Changesinfair value of cost of hedging:
Movement out of reserve - (1)
a4 (69)
Items which will not be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss
Defined benefit pension plans:
Actuarial (loss)/gain 23 (46) 51
Related tax 8 11 (8)
(35) 43
Total other comprehensive income/(expense) 9 (26)
Total comprehensiveincome for the financial year 768 919
Attributable to:
Owners of the parent 767 918
Non-controllinginterests 1 1
Total comprehensiveincome for the financial year 768 919
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Consolidated Balance Sheet
At 31 December 2023

2023 2022
Note €m €m
ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plantand equipment 11 5,129 4,631
Right-of-use assets 12 353 345
Goodwillandintangible assets 13 2,670 2,672
Otherinvestments 10 10
Investmentinassociates 19 16
Biological assets 14 156 100
Otherreceivables 17 39 39
Employee benefits assets 23 21 17
Derivative financialinstruments 27 - 2
Non-currentincometaxassets 12 -
Deferredincome taxassets 15 138 141
8,547 7,973
Current assets
Inventories 16 1,023 1,231
Biological assets 14 13 10
Trade and other receivables 17 2,084 2,399
Derivative financialinstruments 27 17 46
Currentincome taxassets 39 -
Cash and cash equivalents 20 905 788
4,081 4,474
Assets classified as held for sale - 35
4,081 4,509
Totalassets 12,628 12,482
EQUITY
Capitalandreserves attributable to owners of the parent
Equity share capital 21 - -
Share premium 21 2,646 2,646
Otherreserves 21 311 236
Retained earnings 2,603 2,143
Total equity attributable to owners of the parent 5,560 5,025
Non-controllinginterests 30 14 1%
Total equity 5,574 5,038
LIABILITIES
Non-currentliabilities
Borrowings 22 3,570 3,600
Employee benefits liabilities 23 532 534
Derivative financialinstruments 27 1 4
Deferredincome tax liabilities 15 171 190
Non-currentincome taxliabilities - 16
Provisions for liabilities 25 41 37
Capital grants 34 26
Other payables 26 11 10
4,360 4,417
Currentliabilities
Borrowings 22 175 180
Trade and other payables 26 2,378 2,642
Currentincome tax liabilities - 49
Derivative financialinstruments 27 17 21
Provisions for liabilities 25 124 100
2,694 2,992
Liabilities associated with assets classified as held for sale - 35
2,694 3,027
Totalliabilities 7,054 7,444
Total equity and liabilities 12,628 12,482

A. Smurfit K.Bowles
Director Director
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Supplementary Information

Company Balance Sheet
At 31 December 2023

2023 2022
Note €m €m
ASSETS
Non-current assets
Investmentin subsidiaries 30 2,987 2,955
2,987 2,955
Currentassets
Amountsreceivable from Group companies 17 634 474
634 474
Totalassets 3,621 3,429
EQUITY
Capitalandreserves attributable to owners of the parent
Equity share capital 21 - -
Share premium 21 2,646 2,646
Share-based paymentreserve 288 256
Retained earnings 564 429
Total equity 3,498 3,331
LIABILITIES
Currentliabilities
Other payables 26 10 -
Amounts payable to Group companies 26 113 98
Totalliabilities 123 98
Total equity and liabilities 3,621 3,429
A. Smurfit K. Bowles
Director Director
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
For the Financial Year Ended 31 December 2023

Equity Non-
Share Share Other Retained controlling Total
Capital Premium Reserves* Earnings Total Interests Equity
€m €m €m €m €m €m €m
At 1 January 2023 - 2,646 236 2,143 5,025 13 5,038
Profit for the financial year - - - 758 758 1 759
Other comprehensiveincome
Foreign currency translation adjustments - - 40 - 40 - 40
Defined benefit pension plans - - - (35) (35) - (35)
Effective portion of changesin fair value
of cashflowhedges - - 4 - 4 - 4
Total comprehensiveincome for the financial year - - a4 723 767 1 768
Hyperinflation adjustment - - - 104 104 - 104
Dividends paid - - - (367) (367) - (367)
Share-based payment - - 59 - 59 - 59
Shares acquired by SKG Employee Trust - - (28) - (28) - (28)
At 31December2023 - 2,646 311 2,603 5,560 14 5,574
At 1 January 2022 = 2,646 260 1,473 4,379 13 4,392
Profit for the financial year = = = 944 944 1 945
Other comprehensiveincome
Foreign currency translation adjustments - - (63) - (63) - (63)
Defined benefit pension plans - - - 43 43 - 43
Effective portion of changes in fair value
of cash flow hedges - - (5) = (5) = (5)
Changes infair value of cost of hedging - - (1) - (1) - (1)
Total comprehensive (expense)/income
for the financial year - - (69) 987 918 1 919
Hyperinflation adjustment = = = 66 66 = 66
Dividends paid - = = (332) (332) (1) (333)
Share-based payment = = 63 = 63 = 63
Share buyback = = (41) = (41) = (41)
Share cancellation = = 41 (41) = = =
Shares acquired by SKG Employee Trust - - (28) - (28) - (28)
Derecognition of equity instruments - - 10 (10) - - -
At 31 December 2022 - 2,646 236 2,143 5,025 13 5,038

*  Ananalysis of Other Reserves is provided in Note 21.
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Company Statement of Changes in Equity
For the Financial Year Ended 31 December 2023

Equity Share-based

Share Share Payment Own Retained Total

Capital Premium Reserve Shares Earnings Equity

€m €m €m €m €m €m

At 1January 2023 - 2,646 256 - 429 3,331

Profit for the financial year - - - - 502 502
Dividends paid - - - - (367) (367)

Share-based payment - - 32 - - 32
At 31 December2023 - 2,646 288 - 564 3,498

At 1 January 2022 = 2,646 216 = 283 3,145

Profit for the financial year = = = = 519 519
Dividends paid - - - - (332) (332)

Share-based payment - - 40 - - 40
Share buyback - - = (41) = (41)
Share cancellation - - - 41 (41) -

At 31 December 2022 - 2,646 256 - 429 3,331
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
For the Financial Year Ended 31 December 2023

2023 2022
Note €m €m

Cash flows from operating activities
Profit beforeincome tax 1,055 1,293
Adjustment for:
Net finance costs 7 198 149
Depreciation charge 11,12 587 581
Impairment of non-current assets 11,12 5 66
Impairment of goodwill 13 - 85
Disposal of Russian operations 28 -
Amortisation ofintangible assets 13 48 49
Amortisation of capital grants (4) (4)
Share-based payment expense 24 61 65
Profit on sale of property, plantand equipment (12) (7)
Devaluation of the Argentinian Peso 30 =
Lease modifications (1) (3)
Share of associates' profit (after tax) (2) (3)
Net movementin working capital 18 167 (350)
Change inbiological assets 14 (19) (2)
Change inemployee benefits and other provisions (43) (19)
Other (primarily hyperinflation adjustments) 3 8
Cash generated from operations 2,101 1,908
Interest paid (178) (135)
Income taxes paid:
Irish corporation tax (net of tax refunds) paid (34) (24)
Overseas corporation tax (net of tax refunds) paid (372) (297)
Net cashinflow from operating activities 1,517 1,452
Cash flows frominvestingactivities
Interestreceived 28 9
Additions to property, plant and equipment and biological assets (841) (873)
Additions tointangible assets 13 (18) (17)
Receipt of capital grants 13 6
Purchase of investments - (1)
Disposal of property, plant and equipment 16 12
Dividendsreceived fromassociates 1 1
Purchase of subsidiaries (net of acquired cash) (26) (90)
Deferred consideration paid (4) (14)
Net cash outflow frominvesting activities (831) (967)
Cash flows from financing activities
Share buyback 21 - (41)
Purchase of own shares 21 (28) (28)
(Decrease)/increase in other interest-bearing borrowings (46) 8
Repayment of lease liabilities (106) (103)
Derivative termination (payments)/receipts (3) 1
Dividends paid to non-controllinginterests - (1)
Dividends paid to shareholders (367) (332)
Net cash outflow from financing activities (550) (496)
Increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 136 (11)
Reconciliation of opening to closing cash and cash equivalents
Cashand cashequivalentsat 1 January 19 771 841
Currency translation adjustment 19 (17) (59)
Increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 19 136 (11)
Cashand cash equivalents at 31 December 19,20 890 771
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Company Statement of Cash Flows

For the Financial Year Ended 31 December 2023

2023 2022

Note €m €m
Cash flows from operating activities
Profit before income tax 29 502 519
Adjustment for:
Net finance costs (3) (1)
Increaseintrade and other payables 26 10 =
Increaseinamounts payable to Group Companies 26 24 -
Cash generated from operations 533 518
Interest paid (1) =
Net cashinflow from operating activities 532 518
Cash flows frominvestingactivities
Interestreceived 4 1
Net cashinflow frominvesting activities 4 1
Cash flows from financing activities
Group loan movements 17,26 (169) (146)
Share buyback - (41)
Dividends paid to shareholders (367) (332)
Net cash outflow from financing activities (536) (519)
Movementin cash and cash equivalents - -
Reconciliation of opening to closing cash and cash equivalents
Cashand cashequivalentsat 1 January - =
Movementin cash and cash equivalents - =
Cashand cash equivalents at 31 December - -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Financial Year Ended 31 December 2023

1. General Information

Smurfit Kappa Group plc (‘SKG plc’ or ‘the Company’) and its subsidiaries
(together ‘SKG’, ‘Smurfit Kappa’ or ‘the Group’) primarily manufacture,
distribute and sell containerboard, corrugated containers and other
paper-based packaging products. The Company is a public limited
company with a premium listing on the London Stock Exchange and a
secondary listing on Euronext Dublin. Itis incorporated and domiciled
in Ireland. The address of its registered office is Beech Hill, Clonskeagh,
Dublin 4, D04 N2R2, Ireland

Transaction Agreement with WestRock

On 12 September, 2023, Smurfit Kappa and WestRock Company, a public
company incorporated in Delaware (‘WestRock’) announced they had
reached a definitive agreement on the terms of a proposed combination
(the ‘Transaction Agreement’) to be implemented through (i) an
acquisition by Smurfit WestRock Limited (to be re-registered as a public
limited company under the laws of Ireland and renamed Smurfit
WestRock plc) (‘Smurfit WestRock’) of the entire issued share capital of
Smurfit Kappa by means of a scheme of arrangement under Section 450
of the Companies Act 2014 of Ireland (the ‘Scheme’); and (ii) a merger of
asubsidiary of Smurfit WestRock with and into WestRock (the ‘Merger’
and together with the Scheme, the ‘Combination’).

Under the terms of the Transaction Agreement:

1) foreach share of common stock of WestRock (a ‘WestRock Share’),
the common stockholders of WestRock will receive one new Smurfit
WestRock share and US$5.00 in cash; and

2) foreach ordinary share of the Company (a ‘Smurfit Kappa Share’),
the shareholders of the Company will receive one new Smurfit
WestRock share.

In conjunction with the Combination, Smurfit Kappa entered into a
Commitment Letter under which Citibank, N.A., London Branch and
Citicorp North America Inc. arranged and underwrote a US$1,500 million
senior unsecured bridge term loan for the purpose of financing (directly
or indirectly) the cash consideration and/or fees, commissions, costs and
expenses payable in relation to the Combination. On 13 October, 2023,
Smurfit Kappa entered into a US$1,500 million bridge facility agreement
with Citibank, N.A., London Branch and certain other financial
institutions. Upon entering into the bridge facility agreement,

the commitments under the Commitment Letter were cancelled.

Following completion of the Combination (‘Completion’), Smurfit
WestRock will be the parent company of the combined group. The
combined group will be headquartered and domiciled in Dublin, Ireland,
with North and South American headquartersin Atlanta, Georgia,

U.S. Smurfit WestRock will have a dual listing on the New York Stock
Exchange (NYSE’) and the standard listing segment of the Official List

of the Financial Conduct Authority (FCA’), and the shares of Smurfit
WestRock (the ‘Smurfit WestRock Shares’) will be admitted to trading

on the NYSE and the main market for listed securities of the London
Stock Exchange (‘LSE’).

The Combination is subject to certain conditions set forth in the
Transaction Agreement, including, but notlimited to: certain regulatory
clearances, approval by the shareholders of the Company and
stockholders of WestRock, sanction of the Scheme by the High Court of
Ireland, the US registration statement for the offer of the shares of Smurfit
WestRock being declared effective by the Securities and Exchange
Commission (‘SEC’), approval of the shares of Smurfit WestRock for listing
onthe NYSE, and approval of the shares of Smurfit WestRock for listing
on the standard listing segment of the Official List of the FCA.

Subjectto shareholder approval and other closing conditions,
the Combination is expected to close in early July 2024.

The Transaction Agreement contains certain termination rights for both
parties. Each of the Company and WestRock may be required to make
payments to the other party in connection with the termination of the
Transaction Agreement under specified circumstances.
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The Consolidated Financial Statements of the Group for the financial year
ended 31 December 2023 were authorised for issue in accordance with
aresolution of the Directors on 5 March 2024.

2.Summary of Material Accounting Policies
The Group has consistently applied the following material accounting
policies to all periods presented, unless otherwise stated.

Statement of Compliance

The Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS’) issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board (TASB’) as adopted by the
European Union (‘EU’), those parts of the Companies Act 2014 applicable
to companies reporting under IFRS and Article 4 of the IAS Regulation.
The Company Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance
with IFRS adopted by the EU as applied in accordance with the provisions
of the Companies Act 2014. IFRS adopted by the EU differ in certain
respects from IFRS issued by the IASB. References to IFRS hereafter
refer to IFRS adopted by the EU.

Basis of Preparation

The Consolidated Financial Statements are presented in euro rounded
to the nearest million. They have been prepared under the historical cost
convention except for the following which are recognised at fair value:
certain financial assets and liabilities including derivative financial
instruments; biological assets; share-based payments at grant date;
pension plan assets; and contingent consideration. The financial
statements of subsidiaries whose functional currencyis the currency
of ahyperinflationary economy are stated in terms of the measuring
unit currency at the end of the reporting period. This is the case for
the Group’s subsidiaries in Argentina.

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires
the use of accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect
the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses.

The areas involving a higher degree of judgement and areas where
assumptions and estimates are significant are discussed in the Significant
Accounting Judgements, Estimates and Assumptionsnote.

The Consolidated Financial Statements include the information in the
Remuneration Reportthatis described as being an integral part of the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

Climate Change

In preparing the Consolidated Financial Statements, the Group has
considered the impact of climate change in the application of its accounting
policies, judgements, estimates and assumptions. The Group has assessed
the impact of climate change, particularly in the context of the risks
identified in the Risk Report and the Task Force for Climate-related
Financial Disclosures (‘TCFD’) and on achieving its sustainability targets,
all of which are outlined in the Strategic Report. The assessment included
the impact on the useful life of assets, the impairment of non-financial
assets and provisions for liabilities. The assessment concluded that
climate change in the